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FOREWORD

URING the carly part of 1916 a number of eitizens recognizing

the historie importance of the year in connection with the life

of Ridgewood, brought to the attention of the Village authorities and

the Independenee Day Association, the idea of ineluding in the usual

cclebration on Independence Day, the formal opening of the new station

improvements and the Fiftieth Anniversary of the adoption of the
name—Ridgewood.

The Independenee Day Association, thercfore, called a meeting of
the citizens, whicl developed the faet that the station improvements
would not be ecompleted by Independence Day.

As a result, the Citizens Semi-Centennial Association was incor-
porated to arrange for a proper cclebration during the fall of the
year., Committees were formed and plans developed to make the affair
an epoeh in the history of the community.

On account of the prevalence of infantile paralysis in the adjacent
communities and the danger of its being brought into the Village, it
was neeessary to abandon the plans.

The Association felt, however, that the event should not pass with-
out some recognition of a permanent character and, as a result, it was
decided to enlarge upon the plans previously contemplated for a souvenir
booklet of the occasion, with a consequent inerease in the labor and
time requirved in its preparation.

This book is dedicated, therefore, to the present and future residents
of our community in commemoration of the Fifticth Anniversary of
the adoption of the name Ridgewood, and is intended not only for
the eitizen who would know something of Ridgewood’s past, but also
for those who are interested in its present life and welfare.

The Association is indebted to the Historieal Committee for the story
of our community’s life whieh it contains, to the Publicity Committee
for the fitting manner in which it is published, and to its members,
who through their generosity have made the publication possible.

Crrizins SEMI-CENTENNIAL ASSOCIATION. -

Notiz—VYor list of oflicers and members of association, sce Appendix.






PREFACE

S directed by the general committee of the Citizens’ Semi-Centen-
nial Association, the Iistorical and Publicity Committees herein
present the story of Ridgewood’s past and present life.

The history of many communities of our present day discloses the
story of a development that would not be complete without recording
therein the place taken by each seetion—some older, others younger—
which now compose their component parts, ineluding those also whieh,
due to governmental chunges, no longer form a part of a particular
territory.

‘While this is also true of the present municipality of Ridgewood,
Bergen County, N. J., in a book of this kind it is impracticable to tell
in detail the story of ecach section, although, in the pages which follow,
their relationship from the carliest times of the community will be found
interwoven with its history.

Our object has been to show not only a record, as complete as pos-
sible, of Ridgewood’s past, but also its present life, and in a manner
that besides being of historieal interest will be of practical value to
those of the present and future who are interested in our ecommunity.

‘With this objeet in view, the Historical Committee has spared no
effort in secking out and obtaining the necessary faets, ineluding the
solicitation of contributed articles from those of our citizens who are
active in a particular phase of our community life. These articles, some
of which appear praectically as econtributed, while others have béen
modified only as neeessity demanded to adapt them to the general plan
end scope of the booklet, were furnished by the following persons:

Berier, Mrs. de L.

De Yoe, J. Willard
Dimock, F. A.

Doremnus, Judge Cornelius
Drinker, W. W,
Graydon. Snmuel D,
Haight, W. H.

Hopper, Dr, John B.
Howland, Miss Caroline E,
Keyser, T, L.

Le Roy, Howard R,
Muaier, Willinm TI,
Marinus, John A.

Milliken, F. W,
Moloney, M. J.
Ockford, Dr. George M.
Parsons, J. B.
Rouclere, Harry
Sowter, E. T.

Vail, C. Waldemar
Van Neste, Rev. J. A,
Vroom, Dr, W, L,
Watson, Frederick V.
White, . T,

White, Hon, George U.
Willard, Dr, H. S,

To these and to I, H: Bogert, Miss Florence De L. Bunce, I. J.
Carroll, Mrs. Jos. W. Edwards, J. R. Eschelman, T. J. Foster, Hon.
D. A. Garber, Robert Groves, Dr. A. G. Hopper, A. T. Hubschmitt, 1. B.
Hutton, Miss Irene C. Kelly, D. W. La Fetra, T. W. McMullen, Wilbur
Morris, H. S. Patten, H. C. Pennal, Peter Pulis, A. B. Stearns, T. V.
Terhune, H. A. Tice, Dr. W. A. Tracy, Carl M. Vail, W. W, Wilsey and

Vil



Geo. R. Young, as well as the citizens in general who have aided in the
work, the Historical Committee takes this oppmtumty of acknowledging
its nz]debtedncss and expressing its appreciation of the assistance re-
ceived.

Tao the following publications and articles and to others less exten-
sively consulted, the Historieal Committee also wishes to acknowledge
its indebtedness as sourees of information relating to the various periods,
subjeets and phases of its work:

Address by Rev, William H. Vroom, D.D.—Dedication of Tablet,
Reformed Church of Paramus, July 4, 1914,

Addresses of Judge David D. Zabriskic relating to the history of

- Ridgewood and vicinity.

All the Days of My Life—An Autobiograply by Amelia E. Barr.

Annual Reports of the Village of Ridgewood.

Appraisal of the property of the Bergen Aqueduct Company and
Bergen Water Company, by I8, D. Winters, 1915.

“Archives of the State of New Jersey.

Atlas of Bergen County, N. J., by A. H. Walker and C. C. Pease,
1876.

Between the Ocean and The Lakes, The Story of the Erie, by
- B. H. Mott, 1899.

Genealogieal Ihstmy ‘of Hudson and Ber gen Counties, N. J., by
C. B. Harvey, 1900,

Historic Houses of Bergen County. by B. G. Allbee.

Hlst012y of Bergen and Passaic Counties, N. d., by W. W. Clayton,
188

History of Bergen County, N. J., by J. M. Van Valen, 1900.

History of the Classis of Paramus of the Reformed Church in
America, 1902,

I-Iistoiy of the County of Hudson, New Jersey, by C. . Winfield,
-1874.

History of Ridgewood, by George Edgar Knowlton.

Ttinerary of General Washington, by W. S. Baker.

Official Programs. —-Indcpendcnee Day Association of Ridgewood.

- Papers and I’Loccedm«rs The Bergen County Historieal Socicty.

Program.—250th Amnvclsaly of the Founding of the Village of
Bergen, 1660.

‘Publiec Papers of George Clinton, First Governor of New York.

Ridgewood, New Jelscy, by C. H. Dunn, 1898.

‘Ridgewood, N. J., by Henry P. Phelps, 1912.

Ridgewood Guide, by Baxter and Breuseh, 1896.

Ridgewood of Yesteryear, by Judge Cornelius Doremus.

- Ridgewood’s History, by Hareld A. Cheel.

-The Architeetural Record.

- The Citizens’ Book, Cineinnati Chamber of Commerce, 1916.

The Improvement of Ridgewood, N. J. Report by Chas. M. Robin-
son to Board of Trade, 1908,

‘The Pageant of Ridgewood, N. J., June 19, 1915.

The Ridgewood Herald.

The Ridgewood News.
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If the results of our cfforts furnish a source of information of value
to those who seck it and also stimulate a devotion to our community’s
welfare, we will feel our mission has been fulfilled.

HistoricAL COMMITTEE
Ricnarp T, Wirsox, Chairman

Frauk A. Daxter Rebecen W, Hawes Ira W, Travell
John 11, Ward Judge David D, Zabriskie Everett L. Zabriskie

Punricrry CoMMITTEE
H. W, Caster, Chairman
W. I, Senzrr, Viee-Chairman

¥. Al Dimock B. G, Smith . C. Miles W. 8, Moore
C. IL Green D. R. Dusenberry A. T Gamble W W, Wilsey
L. B, Lilly B, D. ilton I R. LeRoy

Ridgewood, Bergen County, N. J.,
Deeember 31, 1916.
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Ridgewood: Past and Present

CHAPTER I
GENERAL HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT

N an analysis of the history of a community it will be found that

the greatest influences in determining its character have been the
ideals and endeavors of its inhabitants.

A narrative, therefore, of the history of Ridgewood is really one
of the life of its people. While the development of particular phases
of its life will be found elsewhere in this book, the general historical
development of the community may well be divided into the following
periods:

INDIAN OCCUPATION

Before the appearance of Europeans on’this continent it is well:
known that nations of men speaking widely different languages, and
vommonly ecalled Indians, existed here. The nation inhabiting the
greater part of New dJersey was called the Delawares or Lenni Lenape,
signifying, in their tongue, ‘‘The original people.”’

Several sub- d1v1s1ons of the Dela\\ ares have been made by writers.
The tribes who occipied and roamed over the counties of Bergen and
Passaic were those of the Unalachtgo or Turkey, and the Minsi or Wolf.
A further division has also been made into sub-tribes known as Hacken-
sacks, Acquakanonks, Pomptons, Tappans and HHaverstraws, all”sng-
gestive of well-known distriets. .

In 1643 the ecarliest white explorers into the region of the Hacken-
sack and Passaie valleys found seattered villages, embraeed under the
name of Hackensacks, and varying in size from one to four or five
houses, distributed over an area now bounded by points located approxi-
mately near Jersey City, Staten Island, Newark, Passaie, and the upper
waters of the ITackensack, Passaic and Saddle Rivers.

Investigators have found actual evidenee of Indian occupation in
many places along the streams and erecks of the Bergen County water-
shed. The vicinity of Ridgewood, the banks of the Saddle River, and
of the Ho-Ho-Kus and Sprout Brooks, have proven to be most promising
localities for these researches.

As a result of plowed ficlds and washouts, evidences have been
traced of primitive scttlements in many places along the Saddle River
and its branches. One branch in particular, Sprout Brook, below
Arcola, has yiclded a considerable quantity of material at three dif-
ferent points on its banks, all within a radius of a mile. At one point
on the farm of Mr. Koch, where the brook crosses the Paramus Road,
a quantity of imrplements and pottery was taken from the former site
of 2 small village. Turther down on Sprout Brook, back of the Board
farm, is the site of what was presumably -a large palisaded grass house;
while one of the best preserved sites of occupation,‘ in fact the most
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typical, has been found on a high bank of the Saddle River, just below
the point where it is erossed by the trolley.

‘Within the present limits of Ridgewood and also covering an area
with a radius of from ten to twelve miles from the village, during the
past fifteen ycars explorations have been eavried on by one of its
citizens, Mr. J. R. Eschelman, that have brought to light a most valu-
able colleetion (still in the possession of Mr. BEschelman) of approxi-
mately two thousand pieees of Indian objeets, eonsisting of arrow-heads,
spear-heads, axes, fish spears, skin serapers; knives, shait polishers, hand
hammers, a granite mortar, pestles, celts (chisels), hoes, winged objeets,
Tuna- (half-moon) knives, and others unelassified.

These relies have been found along the Indian trails, usually on
the high side of a rumming stream or at some spring. In Ridgewood
and its immediate vieinity the localities whieh have produced the best
results are the shores of the Ilo-ITo-ICus Brook, along the Mastin and
Graydon ficlds and continuing above ITarrison Avenue, opposite the
home of 1i; L. Zabriskie; the grounds avound the Board springs at
Paramus Road and Duncker ITook (Dark Corner); and the fields be-
yond the Valleau Cemetery and along the Diamond Brook at the sites
of its various springs to its junection with the Passaic River.

Formerly within the limits of Ridgewood Township, but now within
the Borough of Glen Rock, a great block of stone stands on Rock Avenue
near the Main Line Station of the Irie Railvoad. Tradition says that
this rock was a meeting place for the Indians, who ealled it Pamacka-
puka. It was also known by the carly settlers as the Big Roek at Small
Lots. It was mentioned as a landmark in 1687, when a Patent was
granted for 5,320 aeres of land upon the sccond attempt to settle lands
west .of the Saddle River. .

In 1710 a tract of land eontfaining 42,500 aeres, called the ‘‘Ramapo
Patent,”” including most of the northwestern portion of Bergen County,
was surveyed, heginning at the “‘Big Rock, four or five miles north-
west of Paterson.”” A copper pin, placed by the surveying party at
this time on the highest point of the vock, is still in evidence.

Sinee the carly times, many of the land records of this vieinity
refer to the stone as one of the points in determining the loeation of
the property they cover. On August 26, 1912, as a result of the cfforts
of a number of citizens who appreeiated its historieal value, a deed
-was executed transferring the site of the vock, from the South Ridge-
wood Improvement Company and from Mr. and Mrs. John T, Walter,

1o the Borough of Glen Rock. Sinee that date the rock has heen
suwrrounded by a conerete walk and has heen placed in a condition {hat
- guarantees its preservation for many years to come.

TEARLY SETTLERS -

The first permanent Dutch settlement in New Jersey was called
Bergen: and was made during the year 1660 ‘on the site now known
as 'Bergen Squarve, within the present corporate limits of Jersey . City.
From that point’ a gradual colonization was extended into the more
remote districts,” mainly along the waterways, following the lines of
least resistance. '

2



PAST AND PRESENT

In 1662, Albert Zaborowski, a young man of twenty years, came
from Poland in the Duteh sailing ship Deb Vos (‘“The Fox’'). ' He
married a Miss Van Der Linde and settled in the little trading post
called Ackensack, where he beecame the possessor of a large landed’
interest. Of the children born to them five were sons. The oldest,
Jacob, when a small boy, was stolen and carried off into the forests
by the Indians. After a period of about fifteen years, Jacob was
returned to his people by the Indians, who eclaimed they had taken
him to teach him their language so that he could act as an interpreter
between them and the settlers. As a result of this incident, Jacob’s
father obtained from the Indians a tract of land containing approxi-
mately two thousand acres and known as the ‘“New Paramus Patent’’
or ““Wearimus Tract.”’

The greater portion of the Paramus Patent lay in the northwestern
part of the present Midland Township, while a section extended across
the Saddle River into what is now Ridgewood Township. The tract
extended in general from the Peter Board homestead on the south,
about four miles north to the Stephen S. Berdan residence, and from
the Saddle River on the west one and one-half miles east to the Sprout
Brook.

The name “Paramus”’ is said to be derived from the Indian *‘Pere-
messing,”’ descriptive of the fact that the country abounded in wild
turkey. The first white settlers called it ‘‘Peremesse,’’ from which the
transition was gradually made to the present form, Paramus.

On this traet, in 1713, Jacob Zaborowski built 2 home located on
the present Paramus Road, just north of what is now Blauvelt’s Mill. -
This was the first house to be built in this section of the country. A
stone which bears the name: Zaborowski, and the year 1713, and which
had been placed in its doorway, is now in the possession of Everett
L. Zabriskie, of Ridgewood.

Ridgewood is built upon the tract west of the Zaborowski lands-
and is part of a grant of five hundred acres made by Lord Carteret
to Samuel Kingsland in 1687. The land was sold to Peter Johnson
for the sum of thirty-two pounds and ten shillings, and in 1698 became
the property of Johann Van Emburgh, who built the first house in
1700 in what is now Ridgewood proper.

Other Duteh families, such as the Ackerman, Banta, Bogert, De Baun,
Hopper, Marinus, Terhune, Van Der Beek, Van Dien, “Van Houten,
Westervelt and Zabriskie families, shortly aftcn\alds settled in this
loeality, purchasing their land from the Van Emburgh estate. Many
of these families ave still represented by their deseendants, “Inlc the
property of others has been disposed of to city purchasers in search
of suburban homes.

. COLONIAL PERIOD

During the Colonial period and for many years afterwards,. the
people devoted their time almost entirely to agrienltural pursuits. The
farms each (.ont.uned a large number of aecres, and were scattered over
so_extensive .an arca that m consequence 4 slow devclopment of the
community resulted. -

3
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The homes generally were of stone with a southern or eastern ex-
posure and with old-fashioned flower gardens in the front.

Since the early settlers had come from Holland, they naturally for
many years spoke their mother tongue, which in later years became
known as ‘‘Jersey Duteh.”’

‘Following the teachings of their early youth, the Dutch settlers

were not long in establishing a house of worship. In 1725 they or-
ganized the ‘‘Peremus Kirk,”’ and in 1735 erceted the first Church
building on ground furnished by Peter Fauconier. Here for many years
the services were conducted in the Duteh language.
- . This church is now called the congregation of the Reformed Church
of Paramus and is located in the northeastern part of Ridgewood. For
many ycars, until the organization of other churches, the Paramus
Chureh served a territory of ahout fifteen square miles, and was the
central gathering place for the neighboring country for all purposes
related to the community interests.

TiE REVOLUTIONARY WAR

" The excitement which the tyranny of the British Government aroused
in the colonies was felt throughout the present Bergen County, and
on the 12th day of May, 1775, a Committee of Safety was organized
with John Fell of Paramus as chairman. Party feeling ran high and
many and bitter were the feuds among the people, although historians
state that the Patriots were greatly supeuox in' number to the Tories.
The proximity of the Bergen district to New York made it important
territory during the Revolutionary War, It was the gate to New Jersey
and the West. Recognizing its importanee, cach party sought to fortify
nnd to hold it in possession.

" 'While no battles of importance were fought within the limits of the
present county, its soil beeame a highway For the tread of marching
armies, and its cultivated farms often attracted raiding and fomgmg
partics of the enemy from New York City. Its people gave their sons
‘to the cause, and provided supplies to the several American camps
within their boundaries.

Among the names of such camp-grounds that of ‘‘Paramus’ takes
a prominent place. Tradition states that it was just south of the
Paramus Church. The poet Barlow, who wrote the old-fashioned poem
‘' Hasty Pudding,’’ was at onc time a chaplain in the army and he
wrote to friends one evening that he had heen all day making the
rounds of his eamp and that it extended from Paramus four miles
toward Hackensack. .

- Tradition also states that the Commissary Department of the Ameri-
ean forees occupied about ten aeres of land now the site of the Vallean
‘Cemetery opposite the old chureh. The church edifice existing at that
time was used by the American forces at various times as a prison and
for other purposes, and was so greatly damaged that in 1785 it was
neeessary to make éxtensive lcp(um The ﬂ'mvcymd conneeted with
the chureh contains. the remains of many patmots and Bntmh soldiers
who' died while their armies were in this vieinity.

Washington and his army were at Paramus several times.  Many
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important papers were sent from here, but all trace of Washington’s
headquarters seems to have been lost. It was here, after his great eon-
fliet at Monmouth, that Washington established his headquarters from
July 11 to July 15, 1778. Here, on Sunday, July 12, he wrote to the
President of Congress in response to the vote of thanks which had
been passed by Congress for the important vietory he had gained at
Monmouth. At this time, also, he received adviee of the arrival of
the French fleet under Count d’Estaing.

He was at Paramus December 5th to 8th of the same year, and on
July 30 and Oectober 7, 1780. :

The following references also indicate that some soldiers must have
been stationed at Paramus necarly all the time:

. General Clinton was informed of clothing for troops to be sent to
Paramus, November 2, 1776;

. General Clinton was informed of return of Deputy Treasurer from
Paramus, November 27, 1776;

General Clinton was df l’m'znnus December 17, 20 and 21, 1776,
and January 7 and 13, 1777

General Heath was at 1’.11'.unus, December 19, 1776;

" General Clinton sent scouting parties from Ramapo as far as Par-
amus December 23 and 29, 1776;

Colonel MeClaughey’s regiment was at Paramus, Januarvy 1, 1777;

Stores at Paramus were under guard of eighty or one hundred men,
May .9, 1777;

Tea stored at Paramus was stolen, Junc 17, 1777;

‘Washington’s army was cantoned from I‘ort Defiance to Paramus,
August 9, 1779;

Headquarters of Major Henry Tee were located here, August 22,
1779, and September 4, 1779;

Headquarters of Lord Stirling were loeated here, on October 8, 1780,

On Septemhber 8, 1780, oceurred the death of General Enoch Poor
“at Kinderhamaek, a few miles cast of Paramus. Iis body was brought
to Paramus and on September 10th he was buried in the graveyard of
‘the First Reformed Duteh Chureh in Hackensack.

. For a long time a branch of Washington’s army was stationed in
“the Ramapo Valley along the section now the Havemeyer estate, and
‘from there small detachments were thrown out-acroess the country.

Paramus, lying between . this station and the Hudson River, was
subjeet to the mareh and countermarches of troops belonging to both
parties.

" At the time the American Army was retreating across New Jersey,
and before it was half-way to Trenton, General Heath came down from
his station in the highlands of the Hudson River and by the way of
Paramus made an attack upon the British and Tories at Tappan, New
York.

It was on the route of the American Army as it moved from Newark
to King’s Ferry, July 5, 1778; while one division of the French, in
the march of the allies to Yorktown, passed through Paramus to . the
north.

Under the ‘‘Old Elm,”” located in Ho-Ho-Kus on' I'ranklin Turn:
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pike (which starts near the Paramus Chureh), a granite marker was
placed on May 30, 1914; by the Ramapo Valley Chapter, Daughters
of the Revolution, as marking the route of General Washington and
hxs troops from Fort Lee to Rmnnpmwh during the Revolutlonaly War

776-1781.

When Aaron Burr was appointed in 1777 a Lieutenant-Colonel in
the American Army, he joined his regiment at Ramapo, where it was
then stationed. At Paramus resided Mus. Provost, the widow of Colonel
Provost, of the British Army. It is stated that while Burr commanded
the American lines at Fort Washington, he frequently came over to
Iort Lee, obtained a horse, and rode to visit the widow at Paramus,
returning to his headquarters hefore daylight. s, Provost afterwards
beecane the wife of Burr and aceording to tradition was married to
him in the old Paramus Church.

It was while stationed here that Burr achicved his first military
suecess. Ilis regiment had eneamped at Ramapo, in September, 1777,
when lntclll-vcnce was bronght that the enemy was_in Hackensack in
great foree and adv: meing into the country. Colonel Burr immediately
marehed with all effeetive men, exeept a guard to take cave of the
camp, and arrived at Paramus, a distanee of sixteen miles, before sun-
set, where he found considerable bodies of militia in great alarm and
dlsorder

Colonel Burr set some of the militia to repairing fences which had
been destroyed by them in their endeavor to mobilize. Having taken
measures to secure the troops from surprise and also to prowde pro-
teetion for the eorn ficlds, he mavehed immediately with about thirty
of the most active of the regiment and a few militia to asecertain the
position and numbers of the encmy.

About ten o’clock at night, when within three miles of Hackensack,
Burr, receiving word that he was within a mile of the picket guard
of the cnemy, led his men into a wood, ovdered them to sleep mntil
he awakened them, and went alone 1o discover the enemy’s position.
Returning about half an hour later, he awakened his men and ordered
them to follow, forbidding any man to speak or fire under pain of
death. Thus ]nocccdm g, they came shortly within a few yards of the
pieket guard hefore theiv approach was suspeeted.  Burr then gave the
word and his men rushed upon the encmy before they had time -to
sceure their arms. The greater part of the enemy were killed, a few
taken prisoners, and some accoutrements brought oft without the loss
of a man,

An express was immediately sent to Paramus by Burr to order all
the troops to move and {o rally the country. His suecess had so
encouraged the inhabitants that they turned out with great alacrity
and put themselves under his command. The enemy, however, probably
alarmed by these threatening appearanecs, retre ated the next ddv leav-
ing behind them the greater part of the plunder which they had tnkcn.

One of the detachments thrown out by the patriot army stationed
in the Ramapo Valley, was located at Hoppertown, now: Ho-Ho-Kus,
and operated as a sub-hase for smaller parties.” The presence of this
foree at Ho-Ho-Kus, together with the larger encampments at Ramapo
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and at Paramus, subjceted the country to-the depredations of the British
and Tories in their numerous attempts to reach the Ameriean stations
and to destroy the possible sources of supplies. Some of these sortics
were as follows:

About January 1, 1776, shortly after General Clinton had garri-
soned his troops at Ramapo, the British, numbering between five and
cight hundred troops, arrived at Hackensack. After imprisoning a
number of the eitizens in sympathy with the American cause, they
marched on to Paramus, where they plundered some of the inhabitants
of that neighborhood, afterwards returning to Hackensack with eitizens
of Paramus, whom they also confined in the Hackensack jail.

On the night of Deeember 27, 1776, several families at Paramus
were plundered in a raid and several friends of the American cause
were taken away as prisoners.

During the night of April 21, 1779, the Tories under John Van
De Roder took possession of the mill belonging to Jonathan Hopper, a
captain of the militia. Hopper was born and raised at Hoppertown,
but was then running a grist and saw mill at Wagaraw, on the present
site of Alyea’s Icc House, where Maple Avenue crosses the Passaic
River to Paterson. Iopper’s wife, hearing the noise, awoke her hus-
band, and told him that some persons were in the mill. Ie arose,
went to the door and, demanding to know who was there, was shot
through the hand. The Tories then rushed into the house, seized him,
and foreed his wife to hold a light while they ran him through nineteen
times with bayonets and killed him.

On March 23, 1780, two parties, cach -consisting of about three
hundred British and Hessian soldiers, landed, the one at Closter, several
miles above Fort Lee, and the other at Wechawken, the former force
to penetrate the country northward to Hoppertown and to attack the
cantonment at that place, and the other to surprise the town of Hacken-
sack and to push on and then attack the front of the American forces
at Paramus. The Court House and several dwellings in IHackensack
were burned and the entire route marked by devastation. At the Par-
amus- Chureh, where the two invading forces joined, they met the
militia and eitizens of the community, with the Continental troops sta-
tioned there, and were driven baek. They succeeded in taking with
them, however, about fifty prisoners, mostly citizens and members of
the militia, who were thrown in the Old Sugar House Prison, many
never to return.

- Leaving New York City on April 15, 1780, a body of the British
forees, consisting of two hundred horse and three hundred foot, landed
in New Jersey at several points. Forming a junetion near the English
neighborhood, the whole detachment proeceded to the New Bridge on
the Hackensack, where they arrived early in the morning of the 16th.
After a skirmish with the American foreces at that plaee, they eontinued
their march to Paramus, coming in sight of the church a little after
day-break. Finding the' American forces had fallen back to Hopper-
town, they proceeded until discovered by a piekét at the bridge upon
the Saddle River. ~Although the small American foree under-Major

" Byles was taken by surprise, it heroically attempted to defend its posi-
8
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tion. During the engagement, however, Major Byles was mortally
wounded, and his lieutenant killed. Overwhelmed by numbers, :the
Americans were compelled to surrender. The American losses by death,
wounded, and those taken prisoner, were one Major, two Captains, four
Lieutenants, and about forty rank and file, while the British lost
seven rank and file killed, two Sergeants, and twenty-nine rank and
file wounded. .

After the encounter the British burned the house of Garret Hopper,
who had bravely sceonded the endeavors of the party to defend it, and
who was badly wounded in the fray. They also burnt his mill and his
hrother’s house.

In commemoration of the events connceted with the community’s
history during the War of the American Revolution, the New Jersey
Society, of the Sons of the Ameriean Revolution, in eonjunetion with
Paramus Chapter No. 6, on July 4, 1914, placed and dedieated the
following bronze tablet upon the Paramus Church building:

NIST DOMINUS FRUSTRA
NEAR THIS NOUSE 0F GOp
ENCAMPED
GENERAL WASHINGTON AND IS
ArMY IN 1778
IN GRATEFUL TRIBUTE TO ‘TUE MEMORY OF THE PATRIOTS WIIO
SLEEP IN_THE ADJACENT CITURCHYARD AND TO TIIE MEN
AND WOMEN OF THIS COMMUNITY WHO ASSISTED
S0 VALTANTLY IN TIE ESTARLISHMENT OF
AMERICAN INDEPENDENCE
TINS TARLET I8 I'LACED BY
THE NEW JERSEY SOCIETY OF THE
SONS OF TUE AMERICAN REVOLUTION
Jury 4Ti, 1914

Paramus, as seen by an officer while in encampment here in 1778,
is described as follows:

““This town is chiefly inhabited by Duteh people. Their church and
dwelling houses are built of rough stone, one story high. There is a
peculiar neatness in the appearance of their dwellings, having an airy
piazza supported by pillars in front, and their kitehens connceted at
the ends in the form of wings, The land is remarkably level and the
soil fertile, and being generally advantageously cultivated, the people
appear to enjoy case and a happy ecompeteney. The furnituve in their
homes is of the most ordinary kind, such as might be supposed to
accord with the fashion of the days of Queen Anne. 7They despise
the superfluitics of life and ave ambitious to appear always neat and
cleanly and never to complain of an empty purse.”’

1782-1565

After the Revolutionary War, the agreeable elimate and the fertility
of the soil attracted new settlers, who soon became established in the
community. The growth of the community, however, was slow, owing
to the fact that the people were widely scattered upon farms, and means
of communication and of transportation were meagre and unsatisfactory.

The earliest settlements: were near the Paramus Chureh, but soon

9
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after thc year 1800 a large area of country was developed, extending
from the present’ sxte of Wortendyke to Lydecker’s Mills (now Midland
Park). - This region was niamed Newtown by Cornelius Wortendyke.

Lydecker’s Mill, which was loeated a few rods below the present
stone mill (oceupied today by H. J. Wosthroek engaged in the manu-
facture of flannels), was-a flour mill to which the farmers for many
ntiles around brought their grain. The stone mill was built by Abra-
ham Van Riper ahout the year 1826, and Midland Park was then
known as Van Riper’s Mill. Other mills in operation in this neighbor-
hood were early known as Baldwin’s Mill, the Quackenbush or Post
Mill, and the Turning Mill.

The Stone Mill, about the’ year 1829, was used by Messrs. Van
Winkle and Park for the manufaeture of cotton yarn and warps. When
they later sold out to Messrs, Munn and Whitchead, this mill and the
other three were operated in the manufacture of cotton yarn, and the
old Lydecker Mill was converted into rooms for making and sizing
eotton warps. Ira Munn, who was related to Abraham Godwin of
Revolutionary memory, in his honor about this time gave to this part
of ‘Newtown the name Godwinville—a name it retained for nearly
forty-five years.

Abraham Godwin, when a lad of from twelve to fifteen years of
age, enlisted with his two brothers under Colonel Lewis Du Bois in
the Fifth Regiment, New York State Line. He served from January
1, 1777, to January, 1782, reaching the grade of Fife-Major. One
brother Henry, became Captain of the chenth Company of the Fifth
Reglment while the other brother, David, served as a drummer in
Henry’s Company.

After the war, and until ‘his death. on October 6, 1835; in. the
seventy-fourth year of his life, Abraham Godwin was the proprictor
of the Passaic Hotel in Paterson.

The settlement of Godwinville progressed and soon covered the terri-
tory between Paramus and Newtown (Wortendyke) and included within
its boundarics the present municipalities of Ridgewood, Glen Rock, and
Midland Park.

The eentre of the present site of Ridgewood in the early forties had
only one house, a small stone building, located south of the Play House
on the summit of the rise just west of the Eric Railroad tracks.
The ‘house was owned by a man named MeSweeney and afterwards
was oceupicd by a Danish family named Thompson. This old stone
house finally did service as Ridgewood’s first lockup for lawbreakers.

. The next house on the west side of the tracks was on Godwin
Avenue and was the home. of David D. Ackerman, the grandfather
of the present Ackerman Brothers, the grocers.

Further west on Godwin Avenue, on the rise just beyond the hollow
at Garfield Place, stood a house then occupied by James Jenkins. and
now occupied by William' Runk.

Next came ‘a house, used as a -tavern hyv .James Blauvelt situated
on the present Martin, propertv at the head of Cherry Lane (Lincoln
Avenue). On this same site Garrett I. Hopper afterwards had his
home. On.the northwest corner of Cherry Lane and Godwin Avenue
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-

a blacksmith and wheelwright shop was. erceted and kept at: one tlmc.
by -Mosc Decker. :
In front of this shop a public whlppmg post, not an uncommon
objeet in that peried, had been set up in- a triangle formed by the
turning of Cherry Lane in both direetions into Godwin Avenue.

At the junetion of Ackerman and Doremus Avenues stood the stone
portion of the house now occupied by Garrett G. Ackerman. i

East of the railroad tracks other houses of that period were as
follows:

On the site of the present Opera House stood an old stone farm-
louse, said to be owned by a family named Archabald, The bam was
Joeated on the east side of Oak Street.. Near it was the well, which
still remains and which is now ecovered by a-large flat stone. TFew who
pass the stone realize that it marks the site of the well whose water
for many years slaked the thirst of many of the former inhabitants. -

The stone portion of the house, now the office of Dr. W. L. Vroom,
on West Ridgewood Avenue, was built and oceupied by Peter J. Hopper,
the father of Albert P. Hopper.

The next house on Ridgewood Avenue was on the Wesley Van Iim-
burgh place and was owned and oceupied by Samuel Hopper.

On the west side of Maple Avenue, on the property now owned by
Samuel D. Graydon and ncar the gate to its entranee, stood an old
stone house with its end to the road. This was originally owned by
Peter Van Emburgh. It was demolished in 1864 and its stones were
used for the facing of a fenee “]nch has likewise disappeared. -

Where the Cameron property is now located stood a stone house
whieh was remodeled in 1850 by its owner, a Mr. Wlute, from “hom
Mr. Cameron purchased the property.

At the corner of Maple Avenue and Cameron Lanc stood the stone
house owned and oceupied by Cornelius Zabriskie, who carried on a
blacksmith business at the northeast corner of Maple and IIamson
Avenues.  His shop was built about 1800 and demolished in 1850,

Just north of the Cornelius Zahriskic house and on the present site
of the residence of B. 1. Zabriskie, stood an old stone house with its
end to the road. This house was standing in 1811 when the property
was purchased hy Mr. Zabriskie’s great-grandfather. It was torn down
in 1850 and in that year the present Zabriskie house (recently remodeled)
was built by A. J. Zabriskie.

Near the Ho-Ho-IKus Brook, a little south of Rldgc\\ ood Avenue and
on the right-of-way of the present trolley line, stood the home of Garret
A. Hopper, a brother of Samuel.

On the corner of Ridgewood Avenue and Paramus Road stood a
grist and sawmill, built and operated by General Andrew H. Hopper,
and destroycd bv fire in 1860. A sccond mill was put up by a Mr.
Jaroleman in 1861 and eonducted as a ecider, gmst and sawmill untl]
it burned a few years later.

"The residence of Henry Van Emburgh 'was located on the cast sule
of Maple Avenue, northeast of the present Ridgewood Commercial Com-
pany’s garage. It was afterwards occupied by his son, George Van
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Emburgh, and later purchased by Captain Samuel Dayton and used
as his homestead, finally being destroyed by firve.

The house located at the northwest junetion of Prospect Street and
Maple Avenue, and still occupied, was formerly the homestead of Har-
manus ‘Van Derbeck, and was built over one hundred years ago. An-
other house dating back a hundred years is the old Van Dien House,
sitnated on Grove Street ncar Pleasant Avenue.

These houses, together with the old stone houses on the Paramus
Road, referred to in that part of this book which deseribes the *‘Early
Duteh ¥omes,”’ comprised the nucleus of what is now Ridgewood. At
ithat time the centre of the Village was considered, geographieally, as
covering the twelve or fifteen acres of land included between Prospect
Street on the Bast, a line about one hundred and fifty feet West of
the Eric tracks on the West, Ridgewood Avenue on the North, and a
line passing near the Broad Street Colored Church on the South.

The opening about the ycar 1848 of the Paterson and Ramapo Rail-
road, which conneeted with the Erie at Suffern, and with the Paterson
and Hudson River Railroad at Paterson, gave a new impulse of growth
to the little settlement, which at that time consisted praetically of two
or three interseeting roads and seattered farms.

The nearest station on the new railroad was located at Ifo-Ho-ICus.
‘When the manufacturers at Godwinville, with their Paramus neighbors,
asked for a station nearer by, they were refused, and it was only
after a controversy of three years that they securcd a station at the
Godwinville Road Crossing (the present junetion of Ridgewood, Frank-
lin and Godwin Avenues). At fivst only freight trains stoppcd It was
two ycars more before the place was made a stop for passenger trains
and a platform built. In 1853 several New Yorkers, settling in the
village, started the crection of homes in the viecinity of the station.
In 1859 a depot was erceted by the residents, commutation to New York
"City having started a year earlicr.

THE CIVIL WAR

‘The excitement in Bergen County, when the news of the attack upon
Fort Sumter was reeeived, was equal in intensity to that in any scetion
of the country. War measures were spoken of and flags were displayed
on many buxldmgq As in the Revolutionary times, the people were
divided in sentiment, some fecling that the war was unrighteous and
unnecessary. The pcople of this ecommunity, however, .xlthough differ-
.ing strenuously in political views on questions of govcrnmental poliey,
-were for the most part loyal to the Union. Their enthusiasm was suffi-
cient to sceure the ereetion of two spacious buildings for drilling military
reeruits. From these drill halls, representing as they did two opposing
political parties, many young men went forth to do or dic for their
country. . One of these buildings wus called Union Hall, and was built
by-the Republicans. The first speech made within its walls was delivered
by Horace Greeley. The building has for many years been achapel
conneeted with' the Paramus Chuorch. The other, demolished - a few
years ago, was a clapboard building located east of Ho-Ho-Kus on the
property of John Quackenbush. It was built by the Soclciy for Pro-
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mulgation of Education in Bergen County, and was used as the drill
room of the National Guard of Ho-Ho-Kus, of which Abram Van Em-
burgh was Captain. When this company enlisted in the Civil War, it
beeame part of the Twenty-second Regiment, of which Captain Van
Emburgh was made Lieutenant-Colonel on February 20, 1863, ©

The morning after Fort Sumter was fired upon, Rev. B. T. Corwin,
then pastor of the Paramus Chureh (he died in 1914 and is buried
in Valleau Cemetery), fastened a flag to a pole and thrust it out of
the helfry of the old ehurech. When the congregation eame to church
the following Sunday they found ‘‘Old Glory’’ waving in the brecze
above them. Some of the members objected, telling the pastor it was
not right to have the flag there inasmuch as there was a division of
opinion in the econgregation. They insisted that the flag must come
down. Two patriotic members, William Ranlett and John Jacob Za-
briskie, approved of the pastor’s action and declared that they would
proteet him in keeping the flag on the steeple. During the week a
committee of the ohjectors called on Mr. Corwin and demanded the
removal of the flag before the next Sabbath’s service. Mr. Ranlett, on
the other hand, lmmcdl.lte]v armed and equipped twenty-five men”at
his own expense. .

On the following Sunday morning, after the congregation had
assembled on the church grounds, the committee appw'xched the pastor
and informed him that, as they had stated before, the flag must come
down, and come down at once. As they started toward the belfry,
the pastor halted them and said: ‘I told you our flag should wave
above us until the war is over. I have twenty-five men who will help
me proteet it. The first man who touches that flag to tear it down
will be shot!”’

In the midst of the exeitement, the committee and their sympathizers
gathered their families and left the seene, many never to return again
to worship in the Paramus Church.

The flag lasted half a year and was replaced by others until the
close of the war.

The majority of the citizens of this vieinity, responding to.their
country’s call, were enlisted in Companics B and D of the Twenty-
second Regiment, New Jersey Infantry, which was known as the Bergen
County Regiment. Before departing to join their vegiment, they
assembled in the Guard Room. Rev. Mr. Corwin, after preaching a
farewell sermon, gave each man a copy of the Foly Bible to take
with him. These companies were oviginally made up of .the following
officers and men; and those of this vieinity as veealled at the present
time are indicated by stars as follows:

* Ridgewood.
** TTo-Ho-Kus.
*#* Qlen Rock.

COMPANY B

#¢Captnin Abraham Van Embnrgh
**1Mrst Lientenant Jacob Z.. Van Blarcom
**2nd Licutenant Benjamin Z, Van' Emburgh
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Abrams, Elins
Abrams, Henry
‘Ackerman, DPeter

Allen, Henry

»

Banta, Thomas T.
Rertholf, Petér
‘Brower, Nobert. D,

Cap, George
Conklin, John

Cooley, Edward

De Baun, Isaa
Doremus, Wil
Doty, Thomas

Durling, John
Edwards, James W,
English, William
Finch, Tsanc I

Finch, John
Finch, Joseph
Harrop, John

Hennion, Andrew
Hennion, Garret G,
Hopper, Alber
Hopper, David
Hopper, Garret U,
Hopper, Henry L.
-Hopper, John A.
Hopper, Joseph B,

L3

**1st Sergeant Andrew Van Emburgh

"""nd Scrgeant Charles Van Riper
*3rd Sergeant Thomas Eckerson
**4th Sergennt James A. Osborne
*5th Sergeant Theodore V. Terhune
**1st Corporal Auron Van Derbeck
**2nd Corporal Abraham H, Hopper
*3rd Corporal
4th Corporal
5th Corporal

Daniel Van Blareom
Stephen 1), Bartholf
**4th Corporal Theodore Bamper
**7th Corporal John Acker

*8th Corporal Walter S. Terhune

PRIVATES
Howard, Cornelins
Jenks, John G.
Kent, Cornelius .
Lake, John
Lenox, George
Lutkins, John 11
Taitkins, Richard
Mabey, Frederick B.

T,

*

L. “* Mugraolf, Martin
“#% Marinus, Christinn

cV.B. Marsh, George W,

liam * Masker, Lewis

E. May, Jolm J,

Meeker, William D.
Messenger, Philip
Miller, Willinm H. G.
Myers, John J, .
Myers, Martin T,
Osborne, Willinm A,
Terry, Junes
Peterson, Barney
Tulis, Jacoh

tvan, Patrick
Ryerson, Albert B,
Schmide, Simon
Stun, Daniel

Stun, Isanc

¢ ‘I'erhune, Alexander

@
L)
L3
*

% % % ¥

«

t G.

COMPANY D

Captain John C. Westervelt
First Licutenant Walter 1,
2nd Tieutenant Nicholas (olll
Ist Sergeant Abraham C, Tlerring
2nd Sergeant Thomas Demarest
**3rd Sergeant John A. Marinus
4th Sergeant Nicholas Ottignon
Hth Sergeant Jasper .J. Westervelt
1sti Corporal TIsune D. Bogert
2nd Corpornl Genest M. Ottignon
*3rd Corporal James B, Westervelt
4th Corporal
5th Corporal
tith Corporal
7th Corporal
8th

Jumes A, Ottignon
Jolm T, Ifl-nm"
Henry Swin

M

Clinrles M. Woestervell

Corporal Henry Cluy Humphu.v

Cornelius D, Ackerman

Terlune, Andrew A,
Terhune, Henry H,
Terhune, James I,
Terhune, Joseph I,
Terwilliger, Jaumes H.
*Tlhiompson, Ackerson
[Thompson, James, Jr.
# Thompson, John 1.
Thompson, John .J
* Thompson, Williaun 11,
Tinker, James
2** Thurston, Anthony
Trumper, Harman
* Turse, Jacob Y.
Van Horn, William
YVan Riper, Peter
** Van Vorst, Henry
Waldron, Jobn T,
Wanamaker, Josiah
Ward, Peter
Woest, Charles
Whitmore, James
Whitmore, Wi, TI,
Winters, \Willimn
Wykoff, Samuel B.
Yeomans, Josinh
Yeomans, Myndert
Yeomans, Sumuel W,
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*t Ackerman, Abraham R,

##% Ackerman, Garret

* Ackerman, George W.
Ackerman, James P,
Ackerman, Janes W,
Ackerson, John C.
Taker, George
Banner, James
Bunta, Anron V,
Bunta, Abraham P,
Bartow, Jumes
Blauvelt, Abraham

s

Rlauvelt, Abraham D,

Blauvelt, Abraham J.
Blauvelt, John J.
Blauvelt, Lueas C,
Blauvelt, Willinm
Dogert, .\bmlmm B,
Jhwml Corneling J,
Hmmt James M.
Bradley, Joseph A,
Cole, Tsanc

Collingnon, Augus. M.

Cook, Francis
Cosker, Felix A, M,
Crouter, Cornelius I,
Crouter, Janies

*

Demarest, Cornelius E,

PRIVATES

Demarest, John
Demarest, John J.
Demarest, Peter J.
Dow, John

Earl, Danicel
Fekerson, David D., Jr,
Eckerson, Edward T,
Eekerson, Jueoly B,
Fekerson, John C.
Everson, Benjumin
Flood, James
Gurnee, David
Herring, Abraham P,
Herring, Daniel
Herring, John I,
1Till, Thomas E.
Tlopper, Abraham A,
Jersey, John J
Jones, Joseph E.
RKent, Cornelius I,
Kingsland, Theodore
Kitchel, Tsane M,
T.ockwood, David

*# Monroe, David
*# Monroe, Stephen

* Mowerson, John Jacob
* Naugle, John D,
Ottignon, Jolin C.

@ Perry, Joln H,
*¢ Post, John J.
* TPost, Robert J,
Tulis, Peter D.
Raulet, C. Lonis
Riker, Abraham A,
Rumsey, Owen I,
® Sehilte, Marinus
Smith, Daniel W,
Stalter, Samuel
Storms, Abraliam C.
Straut, Richard
Terhune, Albert JT., Jr,
Townsend, John -
Ulmer, Frederick
Van Buskirk, Benj.
Van Buskirk, Chas. E.
Van Derlinder, Jacobh
** Van Dien, John
Van Orden, William
Van Riper, Fred, A,
* Van Saun, Isanc
* Wanamaker, Jobn 11
Waring, Peter P,
Waestervelt, Tenry 1,
2* Willinms, John
Wood, Abraham
Wortendyke, Abraham

" The foregoing is not a complete list of all enlistments from this
vicinity. Others, whose records are not available at this time,. were
associated with regiments other than the 22nd New Jersey. One of our:
oldest citizens, Banamm Belin, served first in Company A, Twenty-
second Regiment, and later in the Third New Jersey Cavalry.

The T'wenty-second Infantry Regiment was ov g'mi7ed under the pro-
visions of an Aet of- Con'rl'ess, approved July 22, 1861, and musfered
into the United States service for nine months, September 22, 1862,
The regiment was made up chiefly from the bone and sinew of Bergen
County’s agrieultural population, the total number of officers and men
being nine hundred and thirty-nine. It left.the State for Washington,
D. C., on September 29, 1862. Upon arrival at its destination it was
ordered into eamp, called Camp Fornett, ten miles west of (icorge-
town, D, C., just south of what is now Cabin John’s Bridge, having
been assigned to a provisional brigade, Cascy’s Division, defences of
‘Washington. It remained in this position until about the first of
Deeember, when it proeceded to Aquia Creek, Virginia, and was assigned
to I’rovost Duty, guarding the railroad, tx"msfem-mg wounded prisoners,
ete.

In January, 1863, the regiment was assigned to the First Army Corps
and joined the Army of the Potomac. Tt continued its organization
and remained in aetive service until the expiration of its term, when
it .was ordered to return to New Jcrsev for its discharge and was
mustered out of serviee at Trenton; June 25, 1863,

. The vegiment was first attached to Casey’s. Dlvmon, dcfences of
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‘Washington, then to Patrick’s Brigade, Provost Guard, Army of the
Potomae, and then to the Third Brigade, First Division, First Army
Corps.

The only important engagement it took part in was the movement
on. Chancellorsville, Virginia, May 2 and 3, 1863.

THE BIRTH OF RIDGEWOOD

‘The factors responsible for the establishment of the community of

Ridgewood were the carly Duteh, who settled in Paramus and its
vieinity and engaged in agricultural pursuits, and the manufacturing
interests that loeated in the hamlet of Godwinville (now Midland Park).
Through the joint efforts of these people, a station, situated between the
two settlements and serving both, was established on the railroad, which
followed a route suggested by General George Clinton during the Revo-
lutionary War as a natural thoroughfare.
- ‘This railroad station beecame the eenter of activities for the territory
it served. Business enterprises located near it, and people who moved
here from New York City built homes within casy walking distanee
of it.

The influence of the ideas of the new residential element, in con-
junetion with the preeedents set by the praectical and thrifty earlier
settlers, laid the foundations for a new and a better community. Many
improvements were made. New houses were ereeted and were provided
with greater convenicnces than the older buildings; roads were bettered ;
and with the passing of the year 1865 the gencral spirit of advance-
ment of a fair-sized progressive village was plainly evident.

It was at this point in the history of the eommunity that its name
was changed from Godwinville to' Ridgewood. This was done in 1866,
following several years of agitation on the part of the citizens. While
the action at that time may have been considered as one of change of
name only, it really had a greater significance in that it marked the
birth of Ridgewood, a truly residential community with a character
and an individuality of its own.
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CHAPTER II
GENERAL DESCRIPTION AND NATURAL: FEATURES

NAME

HE name now applied to the Village and Township—Ridgew 00d— .

was adopted during the year 1866 -at the suggestion of Mrs, Cor-
nelia Dayton, wife of William Dayton, because of its appropriatencss—
the Ridge of Woods on the Heights. Previous to this the settlement
had been known as Godwmvﬂle, and had then ineluded a portion of
the tract called the Paramus Plains, Glen Rock, formeﬂy known as
Small Lots, and Midland Park, formerly called Lydecker’s Mills.

LOCATION

Ridgewood is located on the Main Line of the Erie Railroad, five
miles beyond Paterson and twenty-one miles from New York City.
~ Situated in the western part of Bergen County, it is bounded on
the north by Ho-Ho-Kus Township, on the south by the Borough of
Glen Rock and by Saddle River Township, on the east by the Saddle
River, and on the west by the Borough of Midland Park, by Franklin
Township, and by Passaic County.

APPEARANCE

The Village lies in the foothills of the Watchung and the Ramapeo
Mountains, at an elevation at some points of three hundred feet. This
environment is responsible for its remarkable diversity of seenery and
the great natural beauty of its rolling surface and wooded heights, while
“the Tack of factories and a universal plan of building homes on grounds
of ample dimensions further enhances its attractiveness.

The land dips and curves—here only a gentle eminence, there a
commanding, tree-erowned height overlooking almost the entire county,
from whenee on clear days are visible the spires of half a dozen eities,
and at night the mv1md lights of New York.

Less than half a mile east of the railvoad station the land for quite
a distanee is apparently almost level. Elsewlhere there are shady dells
and sheltered nooks.

The clear-watered hrook Io-TTo-IKKus meanders through the Village
not far from its center, and, further on along its eastern boundary,
.there flows the larger stream which gives to this part of the eountry
the name of Saddle River Valley. Each of these streams adds to the
dominant and distinetive characteristic of Ridgewood-—varied pietur-
esquencss.

- The Village is built up on hoth sides of the tracks of the main
line of the Eric Railroad. The principal husiness seetion, however, is
on the cast side within two bhloecks of the railroad st'mon and the
majority of the churches and of the schools are also on that side. This
jnequality in the distribution of activities is. due to an earlier and
greater development of real estate on the onc side of the Village.  Dur-
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ing the past two years, however, the growth has been quite equally
divided between the east and west sides.

SOIL

The soil of Ridgewood and of its vieinity is in general porous, and
has always been known as exceedingly fertile and susceptible of a high
degree of cultivation. In some localities clay of a heavy nature pre-
dominates, while in others sand abounds. Very little gravel is found.

CLIMATIC CONDITIONS

One of the greatest factors contributing to Ridgewood’s develop-
ment is the salubrity of its climate. The breezes which sweep over the
Paramus Highlands and across the Paramus Plains, as two scetions of
the community were called of old, have long been known to be dry and
bracing and free from the harshness and humidity of salt air eommon
to loealities near the sea-coast. Also during the summer months the
breezes from the Passaie Valley, on the south and southwest of the
Village, are particularly cool and refreshing.

ROADS AND HIGHWAYS

The roads passing through Rxdgcwood before its existence as- a
community, formed a part of the main arteries of travel in this section
of the country.

As they hold the same relative positions at the present time, it is
felt that a hetter understanding of their situation and development will
he obtained if they arc considered and deseribed not purely from a
Tocal standpoint but rather in conneetion with the routes of which they
were or are a part, with mention of such subsequent changes as resulted
when these highways passed through the confines of the locality.

Hobolken-Goshen Stage Route

Starting at Arcola, running parallel with the eastern boundary line
of Ridgewood Township, curving to the west as it enters the north-
eastern portion of Ridgewood, and ending at the Paramus Church, the
Paramns Road formed a part of the old stage voute between Hoboken
and Goshen.

Upon leaving the Paramus Church, the driver had the choice either
of continuing along the West Saddle River Road-and then turning
west, going over the old road along the race-track to Io-Ho-Kus, or
of passing through IMarrison Avenue, formerly called Libby Lane, to
Manle Avenue and thence to Ho-Ho-Kus.

The stage route was marked by brown stones set a mlle apart, each
one giving the number of miles from Hoboken. One of these stones
formerly indieating the regular route now stands in front of the resi-
dence of George Berdan on Harrison Avenue; while two are still stand-
ing on Paramus Road, one on the cast side of the road near the barn
on the farm of Alefta Van Dien, ncmmcd by Mr. Paxton,. and the
other on the same-side of the road in front of the Pell farm, now
owned by Mr. Charles S. Chapman.
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Pomplon-Ioboken Ilghwuy

Starting at Pompton and entering Ridgewood on the west side, this
highway made a detour to the north and then to the cast across the
township until it interseeted the Paramus Road, down which the route
to Hoboken was eontinued. This road was associated with historic events
in the days of the Revolutlon

This thoroughfare is also referred to as the road from Newtown
(Wortendyke) to Paramus, the road from Godwinville to Paramus, and
the road from Lydecker’s Mills to Paramus, and was commonly called
Godwinville Road. At the present time, within the limits of Ridge-
wood, it is known as Godwin Avenue and West and East Ridgewood
Avenues.

Hopperiown-Palerson Turnpike

In the early days the traveler was foreed to take a roundabout
way to reach Paterson, using what was known as the Hoppertown-
Paterson Turnpike.

Leaving Hoppertown (now Ho-Ho-IKus), the route followed the high-
way now known as Maple Avenue as far as the present Ridgewood
Avenue. Continuing along West Ridgewood and Godwin Avenucs to
the beginning of Lineoln Avenue (then called Cherry Tane, from the
fact that both sides of the road was lined with wild cherry trees), it
followed this road in a southerly course through the southwestern
portion of the Village to its interseetion with the old Wagaraw Roead
‘at the Passaic River, where Moffat’s Bridge is now located. It then
“turned westward to Morrow’s Mills (now Hawthorne Mills) at the
head of the Goffle Road and thenee through North Main Street into
-Paterson.

During the fortics. eflorts were made to shorfen the distanece nearly
onc-half bv straighiening the voad from Hoppertown and by earrying it
across Rldvewood Avenue, where the Rouclere ITouse now stands, to
follow the present general course of Maple Avenue into Paterson.

The petitioners for this improvement were suecessful, however, in
establishing only the present lines of the road as far as the Harris-
town Road below Ferndale. The route then followed the road to Lin-
eoln Avenue just south of the Diamond Bridge, eontinuing as hefore
by way of Morrow’s Mills into Paterson. In the summertime and at
low water, it was possible for a traveler to shorten his route somewhat.
by fording the Passaic River at the foot of Lincoln Avenue, a little
east of Moffat’s Bridge.

The present route was finally established after repeated efforts made
during the fifties, and the Wagaraw Bridge was constrneted over the
Passaie River at Alyea’s Mill, connceting the road with River Street
in Paterson.

The latest improvement to this thoroughfare, consisting of an
amasite pavement from eurb to curl, twenty-five feet wide, from the
ssouthern boundary line of the Village at Glen Rock to Meadow Brook
Avenue, and twenty-cight feet wide from that point north to the
Ho-Ho-Kus line, was completed during 1915 as the result of continued
efforts on the part of former Frecholder Tsaae 13, TTutton, former Com-
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missioner Frederick Pieifter, County Bngineer Ralph D. Earle, Jr., and
the present Commissioner, Dr. J. I3. Hopper. The cfforts of these
officials were ably scconded by the property owners along its route,
who with few exceptions agreed to pay the extra cost of widening the
road from twenty-five to twenty-cight feet where neeessary and to place
curbs where the properties were without them.

Goffle Roud

The Goflle Road, separating the southwestern part of Ridgewood
{from Franklin Township, takes its name from the Duteh ‘“‘de Gaftel,”’
which in that language meant ‘‘The Fork’ and refers to the fork
where the ancient Indian trails separated about two miles northeast
of Paterson, one continuing along the present Gofile Road and the other
following the route of the old Wagaraw Road.

Originally this road followed a course starting at the termination
of North Main Street, Paterson, and continuing along the northern
bank of the Passaic River until its interseetion with the old Wagaraw
Road. Here it turned, following a course through the northern por-
tion of Manchester Township, Passaiec County, until it reached the
place ealled Van Winkle. There it intersceted a road leading to Pomp-
ton. At the present time it continues from that point, following a
course parallel to the Gofile Brook until it reaches its termination at
Godwin Avenue in Midland Park, just outside the houndary of Ridge-
wood. ’

Godwinville-ITackensack Road

Starting on the south side of Godwin Avenue, this highway in
Ridgewood is now known as Ackerman Avenue. IFollowing along the
west side of the Saddle River, in the earlier days, it gave the residents
on that side of the river a dircet route to Haclensack.

Later a bridge was construefed over the Saddle River at Arcola
(formerly Red Mills), thereby enabling the traveler, by crossing the
river at that point, to continue to IHackensack along the route of the
old Hoboken-Goshen Stage Line.

Franklin Turnpike

Established during the sixties and starting near the Paramus
Chureh, this road continues towards ITo-Ho-ICus until it meets and
joins the old road running along the race-track into IHo-IHo-Kus.
After passing through that village it follows nearly the course of the
Erie Railroad through Allendale, cast of Ramsey and Mahwah, to
Suffern.

Small Lols Road

Prospeet Street, south of Maple Avenue, was formerly known as
the highway leading to Small Lots (Glen Rock).
' Rock Road

Forming a part of its southern boundary near the grounds of the
Ridgewood Country Club, this road is one of the oldest in the vicinity
of the Village of Ridgewood.

21



RIDGEWOOD, BERGEN COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

Starting at the Goffle Road and extending through the Borough of
Glen Rock, it passes the great rock of stone located in that municipality,
from wluch it derives its name, and joins the old Godwinville-Hacken-
sack Road (Ackerman Avenue). It was first used as a eonneeting link
by the Indians in their trails leading from the Ponds (Pompton) and
the Ramapos to Arcola and Hackensack.

PLANT LIFE

The variety of wild flowers and plant life which abound in Ridge-
wood and its vieinity is remarkable, Yet, strange to say, few are
sufficiently interested to look up the names of the wild flowers and
to note their wonderful adaptability to their surroundings. To them
the gate of nature’s garden is closed. They miss the fascination of
color and grace of form, the schemes of this plant for cross fertiliza-
tion purposes or the indolence of that and its consequent downward
trend in the scale of plant life.

‘Who would think of looking for wild flowers in the middle of
February? Yet within two miles of the station may be found the
spathe of the Skunk Cabbage exquisitely blotehed with shades of crim-
son and purple on a eream ground, possibly pushing its way up through
the snow. Within quite recent years on the embankment near the sta-
tion the delicate, modest Hepatiea might be found in early spring, in
shades running from deep blue to almost white; and the Wild Gera-
nium, Claytonia or Spring Beauty, Adder’s Tongue, and the quaint little
Dutchman’s Breeches abound in our woods and by the wayside. Those
who know where to look may yet find the wax-like flower of the Trailing
Arbutus with its exotic perfume, or may explore the rocky and wooded
haunts where the rather rare orchid known as Lady’s Slipper luxuriates,
raising its head of exquisite form and shaded ecoloring to the wonder-
ing eyes of the finder.

There are localitics, too, within casy walking distance, where the
burnished gold of the Marsh Marigold in its favorite swamp makes
such plaees in the carly May morning look auriferous, as if the sun
were drawing the precions_metal already refined from the rceesses of
the earth. A little later in the month the eye is dehghted with a
profusion of Wild Azalea in shades of vivid pink, and near it is found
the Mountain Laurel, its cup-like blossoms more delieately tinted than
Dresden. China, the stamen caught back until by a quick release the
pollen is scattcwd for fertilization.

In the low-lying sedgy ground of many a meadow, the flowering
grasses make a earpet, with golden buttercups and the gmeeful]y-sway—
ing Purple Iris marking a pattern. Onc need not wait long in such
2 place to see the flash of the red-winged blackbird or to hear his
familiar call. Later will be found on similar ground Blue Lobelia,
Tall Mcadow Rue, Grass of Parnassus, the earnivorous Piteher P’lant,
and Indian Pdmt Brush, the vermillion paint still on it:

The thrill in ﬁndmg the Yellow Orchid ov its sister, the Purple
Orchid, is quite worth the patlcnt hunt for them. That orange mass
‘of tangle in the bush is Angel’s Hair or Dodder, a parasite deprived
by nature of its leaves as punishment for its degenerate mode of life.
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Among other parasites frequenting this seetion may be mentioned
Broom-rape, the charming Pink Gerardis, which has not gone far on
the downward path, and Indian Pipe or Ghost-flower, a hardened sinner,
colorless yet beautiful in its degradation.

The exquisite Jewel-weed, its orange flowers suspended horizontally,
haunts a running brook, and in the nearby marsh may be found the
beautiful spikes of Pickercl-weed. The very showy orange Butterfly-
weed and its more comnon cousin, purple Milkweed, are by no means
strangers, the pods of the latter with their silky seed-tufts making a
charming house decoration in the Fall. As swnmer wanes, come the
purple lron-weed, the magenta Joe-Pye weed towering six to eight
feet high, the Goldenrods in endless variety, and, one of the last yet
one of the most beautiful, the Fringed Gentian, with its flowers—

“Blue—blue—as if that sky let fall
A flower from its cernlean wall.”

It is not possible in a book of this nature to deseribe even super-
ficially the beauty of form and color, the modest grace or brazen
ciirontery and, above all, the ingenuity displayed in self-perpetuation
of our neighbors, the wild flowers. It is hoped that the appended list
will perhaps give the incentive to anyone enthusiastic enough to take
a tramp at the right seasons and in the right direetion to eultivate the
friendship of these charming fellow-residents.

Ferny of many beautiful varicties are to be found in great abun-
dance in the woods or damp places, while for those interested in I‘ungl,
Rldgewood provides a fruitful ficld for research.

There is another phase of plant life to which Ridgewood is admir-
ably adapted both by the nature of its soil and by its location; namely,
horticulture. The wave of enthusiasm for garden work which has in
reeent years spread over the country has left its deep impression here.
The elimatic conditions, save in an exceptional year, are favorable for
even semi-hardy plants. From carly spring when Pansies, Tulips,
Hyacinths and Nareissuses brighten our gardens with splashes of eolor,
until the autumn frosts eut down the Dahlias, Cosmos, and Chrysan-
themums, we have a long succession of wsthetic beauty most pleasing
to the eye. Of utilitarian value are the carly lettuce, peas and beans;
indeed many of our gardens yield enough vegetables for the household
during the whole summnier, to say nothing of gifts to neighbors or stores
laid by for the winter. There is no corn so sweet as that which you
have planted and hoed yourself. The Garden Club is demonstrating
this fact to a remarkable degree, both in thcoxy and in practlce Men
need only to be told that the early morning when the air is fresh
and sweet and full of the songs of birds is the time to rest one’s
nerves and excreise one’s museles in the gardcn, when many of them
try it out and become converied. The semi-annual exhibitions given
by the Club increasingly demonstrate the degree of suceess which an
amateur may attain, cven though he spends his days in the eity.

Qur soil is well suited for both Roses and Dalilias and produces
gome wonderful flowers.in these two varieties. More bea.utlful flowers
are scldom seen than the Roses and Dahlias at the spring and fall
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exhibitions of the Ridgewood Garden Club. These exhibitions provide
the requisite incentive for produeing the best that ean be grown and
afford opportunity for the interchange by members of ideas and infor-
mation of mueh value, as evidenced by the improvement in numerous
gardens -in the village. The Garden Club does not forget the sick.
Regularly during the scason a ecommittee appointed for the purpose
colleets and distributes to the nearby hospitals such flowers as are
obtainable. It has further adopted the plan of offering a prize for
children at its Flower Show for the best bouquet of wild flowers, and
has thereby ercated considerable interest among the young pecople.
To enumerate the Hlowers, shrubs and vegetables which ean be grown
here would mean almost a recapitulation of any complete catalog, It
will be of interest to many, however, to know what wild flowers may
be found in the vieinity. 'The following list, not fully complete, is

accordingly given:

Agrimony (Agrimonia hirsuta)

Alum Root (Heuchiera Americennn)

Ameriean’ Brooklime (Veronica Ameri-
cann)

Ameriean Pennyroyal ([edeoman pulegi-
oides)

Anemone, Rue (Syndesmon thalictroides)

Anemone, Wood (Anemone quinguefolin)

Arbutus, Trailing (Epigwen Repens)

Arrow-arum, Green (Peltandra
ginica

Arrow-head (Sagittaria Intifolia)

Arrow Wood (Viburnum pubeseens)

Azales, Pink (Azalen nudiflora)

Azaleu, White Swamp (Azalen viscosn)

Aster, Blue (Aster cordifolins)

Aster, Pointed-leaved (Aster ncuminatus)

Aster, Purple (Aster patens)

Aster, ‘Stiff-lenved (Tonactis
folins)

Aster, White Heath (Aster ericoides)

Aster, Wood (Aster divarieatus)

Baneberry, White (Actma Alba)

Buarberry (Berberis vulgaris)

Basil (Calamintha Clinopodium)

Beard-tongue, Foxglove (TPentstemon
digitalis)

BeecTulrops, False (IMypopitis ITypopitis)

Bellwort (Uvularin Perfoliata)

Bittersweet (Celastrus seandens)

Blackberry, High (Rubus villosus)

Blackberry, Running Swamp (Rubus

- hispidus)

Blick Colosh (Cimicifugn racemosa)

Black-eved Susan (Rudbeckin hirte)

Black 1faw (Viburnum prunifolium)

Bloodroot (Sanguinaria Canadensis)

Blueberry  (Vaccinium Pennsylvanicum)

Blucbherry, Swamp (Vaccinium corym-
bosum)

Bluets (Houstonin crerulea)

Bluc-eyed Grass: (Sisyrinchinm . angusti:
folium})

Vir-

Vinarii-

Blue Linarin (Linarin Canndensis)

Blueweed (Echium vulgure)

Boneset (Eupatorium perfoliatum)

Bouncing Bet (Saponaria oflicinalis)

Broom-rape (lhalesia unillora)

Buckbean (Menyanthes trifolinian)

Buckwheat, Climbing False (Dolygonnm
seandens)

Burdoek (Arelivm minus)

Bur-marigold (Bidens frondosa)

Bur-marigold, larger (Bidens lievis)

Buttercups in variety (Ranunenlus)

Butterlly-weed (Asclepins tuberosn)

Button-bush (Cephalanthus oceidentalis)

Campion, Bladder (Silene vulgaris)

Campion, Starry (Silene Stellata)

Cancer-rout, one-flowered (Aphyllon Thi-
florum)

Cardinal Flower (Lobelin cardinalis)

Carrion Flower (Smilax herbacen)

Catnip (Nepeta eataria)

Celundine (Chelidonimm majus)

Chamomsile { Anthemis cotula)

Chicory (Chicorium Intybus) -

Chickweed (Alsine medin)

Chokeberry (Aronia arbutifolin)

Choke-cherry (’runns Vivginiana)

Cingnefoil, Common (Potentilla. Cana-
densis)

Cinquefoil, Shrubby (Potentilla frueti-
cosn

Citronelln (Collinsonin Canadensis)

Cleavers (Galium Aparine)

Clematis (Clematis Virginiann)

Clover, Rabbit’s-foot (Trifolinm arvense)

Clover, Red (Trifoliin pratense)

Clover, White (Trifolium repens)

Clover, White Sweet (Melilotus alba)

Clover, Yellow (Trifolium agrarium)

Clover, Yellow Sweet (Melilotus oftici-
nalis)

Cockspur Thorn (Crategus Crus-Galli)

Columbine (Aquilegin Canadensis)
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Coral-root (Corallorliza multiflora)

Corn-cockle (Agrostemma Githago)

Cranberry (Oxycocens Macroearpus)

Crinkleroot (Dentarin Diphylln)

Culvers Root (Leptandra Virginiea)

Daisy, Field (Chrysaathemum  Lenean-
themum)

Datisy Fleabune (Erigeron anuus)

Dandelion (Taraxnceim Taraxacum)

Day-Flower (Commelina Virginien)

Deer-grass {Rhexin Virginien)

Dewberry (Bubus Canudensis)

Dodder (Cuscutiv Gronovii)

Daghane, Spreading (Apoeynum andro-
samifolium)

Dogwoud, Flowering (Cornna florida)

Dogwoud, Lanicled  (Cornns  eandidis-
sima)

Dogwood, Red Osier (Cornus Stolonifera)

Duteliman’s Breeches (Bicuenlln Cueul-
Inrin)

Elder (Sumbueus Candensis)

Svening Primrose (Onngrabicnnis)

Everlasting (Anaphalis marguritaeen)

Fire-weed  (Chanuenerion angustifolimn)

Flag (Iris versicolor)

Flax (Linum usitatissimum)

Forget-moe-not (Myosotis pulusiris)

Foxglove, Smooth  False  (Dasystoma
flva)

Frost-weed (Helianthemum Canadense)

Gentian, Closed (CGentiana Andrewsii)

Gentian, Fringed (Gentinna erinita)

Geranium, Wild (Geraninm maenlatum)

CGerardin. (Gersrdin purpurea)

Gill-over-the-Ground — (Glecomn  hedera-
cen)

Ginger, Wild (Asarum Canadense)

Ginseng. Dwarf (Panax trifolium)

Golden Corydalis {Capnoides aurenm)

Golden Bagwort (Senceio sureus)

Golden-rod in variety (Solidago)

CGrape, Fox (Vitis Labrusca)

CGrape, Frost or Chicken (Vitis Cordi-
folin)

Grass of Parnassus
liniana)

Creat Burnet (Potelinm Canadense)

Ground Cherry (Physalis Virginiana)

Ground-nut (Apios Apios)

Hawkweed (Hieracinm anrantinenm)

Ilellebore, American White (Veratrnm
viride) .

Hepatien (1lepatien Tlepatica)

Tloneysuckle, Bush (Diervilla Diervilla)

Honeysnekle, Common (Lonicern Capri-
folitn)

IToneysuekle, Trumpet {Tonicera semper-
virens)

Huekleberry, Black
nosn.)

Huekleberry, Squaw (Vaceinjum stami-
neum)

(Parnassia  Caro-

(GQuylussacin Resi-
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Indian  Cucumber-root  (Medeola Virgi-
ninnn )
Indian-Paintbrush (Castillejn Coecinen )
Indian-Pipe (Monotropa uniflora)
Indian-Tobaceo {Lobelin inflatn)
Indigo, Wild (Baptisia tinetoria)
Iron-weed (Verneonia Noveboracensis)
Ivy, Poison (Rhus radicuns) .
Jack e-Dulpit (Arisema triphyllam)
Jewel-weed (Impatiens biflora)
Joe-Pye Weed (Eupatorium purpureum)
Knotweed (Polygonum Pennsylvanicum)
Ladies’ Tresses (Gyrostachys cernua)
Ludy’s Slipper (Cypripedivm acnule)
Taurel, Mountain ( Kalmia latifolin)
Laurel, Sheep ( Kalmin angustifolin)
Lettuee, Wild (Lactuea Canadensis)
Lily-of-the-Valley, False  (Unifohum
Canadense)
Lily, orange (Tlemeroeallis fulva)
Lily, Turk’s Cap (Lilium superbum)
Lily, Trout (Erythronium Americanum)
Lily, White Pond (Castalin odorata)
Lily, Woad (Lilium Philadelphieum)
Lily, Yellow (Lilium Canadense)
Lily, Yellow Pond (Nymphwa advenn) .
Liom's-foot  (Nabalus albus)
Live-forever {Nedum Telephinm)
Lobelia, Great (Lobelin syphilitiea)
Loosestrife, Whorled (Lysimachia quadri-
folin)
Loosestrife, Yellow
stris)
Lupine, Wild (Lupinus perennis)
Marsh-Marigold (Culthn palustris):
May Apple {Todophyllum peltatum)
Meadow-rue, Tall  (Thalictrum  poly-
wantm)
Mendow-sweet (Spivien salicifolin)
Milkweed, in variety (Asclepins)
Milkwort, Common (Polygaln virides-
cens)
Milkwort, Fringed (Polygala paucifolin)
Milkwort. Racemed (Polygala polyguma)
Mint (Mentha Canadensis)
Milrewort, False (Tiarella cordifolin)
Monkey-flower (Mimulus ringens)
Moonseed (Menispermum Canadense)

(Lysimachin terre-

Morning-Glory, White (Tpomen pun-
durata)
Morning - Glory, Wild  {Convolvuluz

sepitim)
Motherwort (Leonurns Cardinen)
Mullein, Giant (Verbascum Thapsus)
Mullein, Moth (Verbascum Blattaria)
Mustard (Brassica nigra) '
New Jersey Ten {Ceanothus Amerieanus)
Nightshade (Solanum Duleamara)
Nimble-Kate (Sicyos angulatus)
Orange Grass (Hyperietm nudieaule)
Orchis, Purple (Habennvin peramena)
Orchis, Purple Fringed (Mabenaria psy-
codes) '
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Orchis, Yellow (Habenarin cilinris)
Parsnip, Wild (Pastinacn sativa)
Partridge Vine (Mitchella repens)
Peanut, Hog (Faleata comosa)
Pepperbush, Sweet (Clethra alnifolia)
Peppermint (Mentha piperita)
Pickerel-weed (Pontederia cordata)
Pink, Deptford (Dianthus Armerin)
Pink, Grass (Limodorum tuberosum)
Pink, Wild (Silene Caroliniana)
Pipsissewa (Chimaphila umbellata)
Pipsissewa, Spotted (Chimaphila macu-
Iatn

n

Pitcher-plant (Sarracenen purpuren)

Pogonia, Rose (Pogonin ophioglossoides)

Pokeweed (Phytolacen decandra)

Prickly Pear (Opuntin Opuntin)

Queen Anne’s Lace (Daucus Carota)

Raspberry, Purple Flowering (Rnbus
odoratus)

Rattle-box- (Crotalarin Sagittalis)

Rattlesnake Plantain (Peramium repens)

Rhodora (Rhodora Canadensis)

Robin’s Plantain (Erigeron pulchellus)

Rose, Swamp (Rosa Carolina)

Rose, Wild (Rosa humilis)

Saint Johw’s.wort (Hyperieum perfora-
“tum)

Sursaparilla, Wild (Aralin nudicaulis)

saxifrage (Saxifraga Virginiensis)

Haxifrage Swamp  (Saxifraga Pennsyl-
vaniea)

Self-Heal (Prunella vulgaris)

Sensitive Pen (Cnssia nictitans)

Service-Berry (Amelanchier Canadensis)

Shad-Bush (Amelanchier Botryapium)

Shin-leaf. (Pyrola elliptica)

Silver-rod (Solidago bicolor)

Skulleap (Scutellaria lateriflora)

Skunk Cabbage (Spathyema fatida)

Snakeroot, White (Eupaterium agera-
toides)

Sneezewood (Helenium autumnale)

Solomon’s Seal, False (Vagnera race-
' mosn

Solomon’s Seal, True
biflorum)

Spearmint (Mentha Spicatn)

Speedwell, Common (Veronica officinalis)

Speedwell, Thyme-leaved (Veronien ser-

- pylifolin),

Spice-Bush (Benzoin Benzoin)

Spikenard (Aralin racemosa)

Spring Beauty (Claytonia Virginicn)

Spurge (Euphorbia corollata)

Steeplebush (Spirea tomentosa)

Strawberry, Wild (Fragaria Virginiana)

Strawberry, Barren (Waldsteinia fra-
garioides) .

Sumach, Poison (Rhns Vernix)

Sumach, Staghorn (Rhus hirta)

Sundew _ (Drosera)

(Polygonatum
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Sundew, Round-leaved (Drosera rotundi-
folia)

Sundrops (Kneiftin fructicosn)

Sunflower, Wild (Helinnthus giganteus)

Tansy (Canacetum vulgare)

Tear-thumb, Arrow-leaved
sngittatum)

Tear-thumb, Halberd-leaved (Polygonum
Arifolium)

Thistles in variety (Carduus)

Thorn Apple (Datura Stramonium)

Tiek-trefoil (Meibomin Canadensis)

Tond-flax (Linaria Linaria)

Trillium, Nodding (Trillium cernuum)

Trumpet-flower (Tecoma radicans)

Turtle-head (Chelone glabra)

Venus’ Looking-glass’ (Legouzin  per-
folinta) .

Vervain, Blue (Verbenn hastata)

Vervain, Europenn (Verbena oflicinalis)

Veteh, Purple {Vicia Cracen)

Viburnum, Maple-leaved (Viburnum Ace-
rifolium)

Violet, Blue (Vista)

Violet, White (Viola Blanda)

Violet, White-Lance T.eafed (Viola Tan-
cenlatu)

Violet, Yellow (Viola Pupesceus)

Virginin Creeper (Varthenocissus quin.
quefolia)

Virgin’s Rower (Atragene Americuna)

Wandering Jew (Tradescantin Virgini-
ana)

\Watereress (Cardamine bulbosa) -

Water Plantain  (Alisma  Plantago-
aquatica)

Winterberry (Tlex verticillata)

Wintergreen (Pyrola rotundifolin)

Witch-Hazel (Hamamelis Virginiann)

Waod Betony (Pedicularis Canadensis)

Wood-sorrel, Yellow (Oxalis stricta)

Yarrow ({Achillen millefolium)

Yellow-Avens (Geum strietum)

Yellow Star-Grass (Hypoxis hirsuta)

(Polygonum

FERNS

Maidenhair (Adiantum pedatum)

Christmas Fern (Aspidium acrosticho-
ides)

Ehony Spleenwort (Asplenium ebeneum)

Lady Fern (Asplenium Filix-femina)

New York Fern (Aspidium Novebora-
cense)

Spinulose Wood Fern (Aspidium Spinu-
losum var. intermedium)

Evergreen Wood Fern (Aspidium mar-
ginale) -

Marsh Fern (Aspidivin Thelypteris)

Rattlesnake Fern (Botrychium Virgini-
anum)

Ternate Grape Fern (Botrychium dis-
sectum)
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Hay-secented Fern (Dicksonia pilosins- LYCOIPODIUMS
,eula) - (Ground Pmu)
Scnsitive Fern (Onoclea sensibilis) Lycopedium lueidulum
Cinnamon Fern (Osmunda cinnamonea)  [ycopodium abseurum
Royal Fern (Osmunda regalis) Lycopodium clavatum
Interrupted Fern (Osmunda  Claytoni- ]J’C,,pm]mm complanatum

ana
Brond) Beech Tern (Thegopteris Hexa- HORSE-TAIL

gonoptera) Duteh Rushes, Scouring Rush (Equise-
Poly; pod) (Polypodium vulgare) tum Hyemale)
Brake or Engle Fern (Pteris aquilina) Common Horse-tail (Equisetum arvense)

TREES OF RIDGEWOOD

No other two syllable word or two-word combination” could so- fit-
tingly describe the physical characteristics of this village .as the name
‘‘Ridgewood.”” Most of our citizens in deciding to make their homes
here have been influenced, consciously or unconsciously, by the wooded
or trec-covered ridges.

Trees arec more indispensable to the beautifying of a eity than
architeeture of the most wmsthetie design. Washington, one of the most
conspicuous examples of the city beautiful in Ameriea, would not be
half so beautiful without its trees. And the trees of this village are
one of the first of its featureg to impress the stranger with the desir:
ability of Ridgewood as a place of residence.

The healthfulness of Ridgewood, also, which is widely known and
which has been generally eredited to the porous nature of the soil
and Hubstlata, is in as large a measure due to the influence of the
trees. It is elaimed by the New York County Medical Society -that
‘‘an adequate number of trees in the streets is one of the most effective
means for mitigating the intense heat of the summer months and
diminishing the death-rate among children’’; and the Newark Shade.
Commission maintains that—

““The large pereentage of ozone in forest air and the scarcity
of it in the trecless streets where crowded dwellings abound
demonstrates that this tonie and reenperative clement of the air
is due to the presence of trees and the lack of it to their absence.
The air in the vieinity of trees contains less bacteria and dust
particles than does the air outside of tree influence, which again
demonstrates that the presence of trces deercases the total atmos-
pherie impurities.’’

The site of Ridgewood at the time of the coming of the white man
was, no doubt, a dense forest of evergreens and deeiduous trees. . At
the present time acres of forest land of a later tree growth, with here
and there a speeimen tree of the virgin forest, still remain within the
village limits and only a few minutes’ walk from the railroad station.
To one viewing Ridgewood from the crest of some of its hills, it appears
as though the Village were built in a forest; nnd this is actually the.
case with some of the newer scetions.

Tollowing is a list naming the forest trees of Ridgewood and vxeunty
and also, as far as known, the shade and ornamental trees of the
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PAST AND PRESENT

Village.
loeality.

Family or
Genus
Ginkgo
Pines

Larel
Spruce

Iirs
Hemloek
Arhorvite

Ruetinospora

Junipers

Walnuts
Hickories

Paplars

Willows

Hornbeuns

Birches

Alder
Bueches

Chestnuts

Ouks

Conifers

Common Name
# Maidenhair Tree
White Pine
Jdersey or Serub Pine
Pitelh Tine
Austriun Pine
Seoteh Pine
Swiss Dine
Mugho Pine
Timalnyan Pine
Tamarack
Norway Spruce
Colorado THue Spruce
White Spruce
Nordmann’s Fir
Hemloek Sprucee

LI

& % 8 &

*

varieties

*

press in variety
Red Cedar, and nuany exoties

BROAD LEAVED TREES

Rlack Walnut
Thrtternut
Jupanese Walnat
Pignut or White Hickory
Shaghark
Bitternut
Caralinn Poplar
Aspen
Large-toothed aspen
Balim of Gilewd
# Abele or White Poplar
Lonnbardy
Ihack Willow
Yellow Willow
Pussy Willow
Woeeping Willow
Hop Horubeant, Trowwond
Amerienn Hornbeam, Blue Beech
Amerienn White Bireh
Yellow Bireh
Red Biveh
Cherry, Sweet or Black Bireh
Green Alder
American Deeel
* Buropean Beeeh
* Pern-lenved Beech
* Weeping Beceh
# Cut-lenved Beeeh
# Copper Deech
Amerienn Chestnut
(Only sprouts ranaining)
# Japunese Chestnnt
White Ouk

®

£

©

2

H]
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Commen Amerienn Arborvite, and

Jupanese Cedars or Jupanese Cy-

Those marked with an asterisk are exotic to this immediate
The others are indigenous or naturalized.

Scientific Name
Salishurin adinntifolia
Pinus strobus
Virgininm
rigida
Austrinen
sylvestris
cembra
Montann
excelsa

Larix Americana

P’icen excelsa
pungens glauea
alha

Abies Nordmanniann

Tsugn Caudensis

Thuya occidentalis

Chanuveyparis
Juniperus Virgininna

Juglans nigra
Cinerea
Sieholdiana

Tlicorin gliben
oratln
minirna

Populns Cirolinensis
tremuloides
wrandideniata
halsumifera
alha
nigra

Sulix nigrea
blasudn
diseolor
Iabylonien

Ostrya Virgininna

Cnrpinus Carolininna

Sjetule populifolin
Iutea
nigra
Tenta

Alnug viridis

Fagus Americam
sylvatien
asplenifolia
pendula
heterophylla
purpuren.

Castanen dentaln
Juponijen
Querens alba
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Family or
Genus

Onks

Elms

Mulberries

Magnolias

Sassafras
Hamamelis
Tiquidambar
Syeamore

Apples
Mountain Ash

Service Berries

Crategus
Wild Red or

Yellow Plum
Clierry

Yellow-wood
Red Bud
Gleditsia
Gymnoeladus
‘Robinia
Sophora

Ailanthus
Sumachs

Tollies

Purning Bush
Maples

Common Name
Swamp White Onk
Chestnut Oak
Chineapin Oak
Pin Onk
Red Oank
Scarlet Onk
Black Onk
Bear or Scrub Ouk
* Willow Oak
® Golden Oak
g\l’hite or A‘mcricml Elm
ippery Elm
* Englisll.xy Elm
Red Mulberry
* Osage Orange
* Sweet or Swamp Bay
* Cucumber Tree
* Chinese and Japanese Magnolias in
variety
Sassafras
Wych Hazel or Witch Hazel
Sweet Gum
Buttonwood
* Plane Tree
Wild Crab Apple
* American Mountain Ash
* European Ash or Rowan Tree
Shad-bush
Dwarf June-berry
Cockspur Thorn

Wild Plum
Wild Black Cherry
Choke Cherry
Mazzards
* Japanese Weeping Cherry

* Virgilia

* Judas Tree
Honey Locust

* Kentucky Coffee Tree
Black Locust

* Clammy Locust

* Jupanese Pagodn Tree

** Tree of Heaven

Staghorn Sumach

Dwarf Sumach

Toison Sumach

Smooth Sumach
® American Smoke Tree

Black Alder

Smooth Winter-herry
* Burning Bush

Red or Swamp Maple

Silver or Soft Maple

Sugar, Rock or Tard Maple
* Striped Maple or Moosewood
* Tlox Elder or Ash-leaved Maple
* Norway Maple
*.Japanese Maples

30

Scientific Name

Quercus platanoides

prinus

prinoides

palustris

rubrp

coceinin

veluting

nanu

phellos

robur concordin
Ulmus Americana

fulva

campestrisg
Morus celtidifolia
Toxylon pomiferum
Magnolia glanea

acuminata

Sassafras sassafras

Hamamelis Virginiana

Liquidambar styraciflua

Plantanus oceidentalis
ovientalis

Malus coronarin

Sorbus Americuna
aucuparin

. Amelanchier Canadensis

ohovalis
Cratwgus Crus-galli

Trunus Americani
I'runus serotinn
Virginiana
Avium
Cerasus Juponien.
var, Rosen Penduln,
Cladrastis lutea
Cereis Canadensis
Gleditsin trineanthos
Gymnocladus dioicus
Rolhinin psendacacin
viseosa
Sophora Japonien
Ailanthus glandulosa
Tthus Hirta
Copallina
vernis
glabra
cotinus Amerieana
Tlex verticillata
Tevigata,
Enonymous atropurpureus
Acer rubrum
saeeharinum
saecharum |
Peunsylvanicum
negundo
platunoides
Japonicum in variety
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Family or
Genug
Lsening

Lindens

Aralin
Nyssa
Dogwoods
Persimmon
Ash

Chionanthus
Catalpa

Viburnnm

Common Name
M \\ hite-Flowering, Horse Chestnut
Red-Flowering, Horse Chestnut
.\mencnn Linden, Basswood
*# Furopean Linden
* Crimean Linden
Silver Linden
24 [lerenles Club
Tupelo, Black Gum or Pepperidge
Flowering Dogwood
* Persimmon
White Ash
Black Ash
* White Fringe Tree
*Indian Bean
* Chinese Catalpa
* Western Catalpa
Black Taw

Scientific Name

Msculus Hippoeastanum
Carnea

Tilia Amerjcana

" Europen

dasystyla
tomentosa

Aralia spinosu

Nyssa sylvatiea

- Cornus Florida

Diospyros Virginiana
Fraxinus Americana

nigra
Chionanthus Virginica
Catalpa Bignonioides

Bungei -

speciosa
Viburnum prunifolium

* Bxotie.
** Naturalized.

BIRD LIFE OF RIDGEWOOD

As mught be expeeted from its beautiful location and surroundings,
Ridgewood is very rich in bird life; and the birds will be found very
interesting and appreeiative by any one who attempts to study and
attract them,

Bird life varies with the seasons even more than flowers and foliage.
In considering the ““Bird Life of Ridgewood,”’ it may he well to. divide
them into four main elasses—Permanent Residents, Summer Residents,
Winter Residents, and Transients. There is another class known as
Oceasional Visitants, but its name will immediately climinate it from
consideration in this publieation.

By far the largest and best known group is that of the Summer
Residents. Few there are of the more observant people who do not
recognize the song and chipping sparrows, the house wren, the swallows,
the catbird, the Dluebird, the robin, and perhaps one or two of the other
thrushes. The interest in birds, and consequently the knowledge of
them, is beeoming so much more general that there are probably many
Ridgewoodites who know a great many more than these. One resident
in partienlar, the late Henvy Hales, took an enthusiastic interest in
bird life. He made a most valuable colleetion of birds, particularly
those of this locality. Through his many articles on bird life written
for scientific papers, he beeame a recognized authority on the subject.
Many persons have shown their love for our feathered -friends by plae-
ing bird houses on their grounds. The practice of erceting bird houses
and maintaining feeding stations for birds is commended to any one
who wishes to benefit his own home and the village at large, and
who would enjoy many happy hours in observation #»d study of these
shy et frlcndly-dmpoecd neighbors.

The house wren and the bluc bird are undoubt edlv the speeies most
easily attracted by the nesting box, if we except always the English
sparrow, whiech will quite uneeremoniously make himself comfortable
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in any available plaee, whether his presence is desired or not. TRobins
take kindly to shallow hoxes or shelves placed in sheltered spots and,
if they are not disturbed, will often beecome tame enough to nest under
the ecaves of the piazza roof. Chipping sparrows are very fond of
close privet hedges, grape vines and low bushes. Sometimes a song
sparrow will be found who has the temerity to make a home in
shrubbery not far from the house. Those who live on the ontskirts
of ‘the village and have barns with haylofts will have no trouble in
attracting barn swallows, if there are ventilators or other openings
through which the birds may pass in going to and from their nests.

One may find, in wandering afield, that the possibilities are almost
unlimited for the carveful student who is able to recognize all the
species of the Summer Residents he sces. Ie will probably first be
attracted by the birds of the air—barn and tree swallows, chimney
swifts, and perhaps erows and bluejays, the two latter being Permanent
Residents. Down by Ho-Ho-Kus Brook, or in similar places, he may
sce water thrushes stepping quietly along over the pebbles on the shore.
In the bushes nearby may be found many other kinds of warblers,
notably black and white, yellow and black throated, blue, Mm-)l'md
yel]ow-throats, and Ameriean redstarts. In the adjucent thickets the
loud erescendo chant, ‘‘Teacher, teacher, teuchcr, teacher, teacher,’”’
reveals the modest ovenbird. Red-cyed vircos keep up a continual
chatter in the trees overhead, and from the thickets where the Mary-
land yellow-throats flit to and fro, may be heard the harsh eall notes
of the cathird. Back in the more obseure places the Wood and Wilson
thrashes hold forth with their liquid notes, particularly toward even-
ing, and pour forth music well worth the attention of the passerhy.
Here, or in still more seeluded nooks, the bird lover may hear the quict
chuekle of 1he black-billed cuckoo or “rainervow,”” hut it will lake
careful stalking and diligent seareh if he is actually 1o eateh & glimpse
of the author of the nofes. At a wide spot in the brook or over some
ice pond he may see a kingfisher poised for a sudden dive as an un-
suspecting “‘sunny’’ comes 1o the surface within the scope of his keen
vision; or he may hear him clatter noisily as he flies overhead to seck
new pools for investigation, the bright blue and white flashing bril-
liantly dgainst the darker foliage.

Out in the open ficlds a medley made up of many voices will fall
upon the listener’s cavs. A little practice, however, will enable him
to distinguish the whistle of the meadowlark, the similar and yet dif-
ferent thrills of the chipping and field sparrows, the ‘‘cherink’ of
the chewink or towhee, and many other charaeteristic bird ealls and
songs. Perhaps in the top of a tree in the middle of the field will be
a brown thrasher pouring forth a varied, but far from unpleasant,
jumble of notes. If it is well on toward midsummer, he may eatch
the flash of yellow and black as a goldfineh, or more often a flock of
them, passes over with a jerky and undulating. {light.

If, as frequently is the case, the field slopes down to a marshy spot,
with wild flags, arrowhead and cat-tails, he will find any quantity of
red-winged blackbivds flying back and forth or cireling overhead, utter-
ing their distinetive *‘conk-err-ce-e.”” -Here also he may find the less
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conspicuous rusty blaekbird or the larger and more highly tinted purple
grackle, although these two avre more often found in drier locations.

At any time on an open country road the wayfarer may start up
inconspicuous birds that fly ahead along the fenees and diselose white
outer tail feathers, the characteristic mark of the vesper sparrow., - In
the trees along the roadside a flash of black and orvange will betray
the Baltimore oriole, whose nest is suspended from the very tip of
one of the hranches. Flying over the road to his hole in a telegraph
pole or hollow treec in an orchard may be scen the {flicker or golden-
winged woodpecker, casily to be distinguished by its graceful undu-
lating flight and the flash of yellow as the sunlight strikes the lower
surface of his wings. Another woodpecker, which is a Permanent Resi-
dent and may be encountered almost anywhete, is the downy, or more
particularly the northern downy; for there is a slightly smaller variety
which is eommon in the South. A bird more thoroughly at home in
the orchard, but frequently seen on the telephone or telegraph wires
along the roadside, is the kingbird, casily reeognized by the head-crest
and the white tip to each tail feather, making the tail appear to have
a white border. Bven more common in orehards, and frequently found
nesting under old bridges, is the pheebe, known to almost every one.
Quict and unassuming as the phahe is, it is particularly industrious
in consuming large numbers of harmful inscets.

Another Permanent Resident not seen quite so much in Summer
perhaps as in Winter, is the well-known black-eapped chickadee. . In
New England this bird has been reported as nesting in artificial houses.
A bird more common than ordinarily supposed, but one frequently
overlooked on account of its small size and lightning-like movements,
is the brilliant little ruby-throated hummingbird, which darts here and
there among the flowers, poising himself oceasionally before one of them
fo take honey on the wing, only to be off again in a flash to a flower
in another scetion of the garden.

Probably many whose interest is greater than their knowledge have
wondered what bird is responsible for the queer anties and nasal
““peent’ that they have observed toward dusk. This is none other
than the nighthawk, which is mueh more common arvound Ridgewood
than the whip-poor-will, from which it may be distinguished by the
white markings on the wings and by the forked tail.

The fall migration affords the bird-lover an opportunity to sce
species which are not here at any other time exeept during the corre-
sponding period in the reverse migration in the spring. By far the
most numerons migrants in point of varviety are the warblers, and
most prominent among these is the myrtle warbler, which comes carly
and stays late. It is very difficult to distinguish the warblers in the
fall of the year, as the male, female and young all take on dull
plumage, which makes them look practically alike and very similar to
the other warblers.  The yellow-palm is another fairly common migrant.
which may be distinguished from other warblers by the ¢hestnut erown
and side spots and the white paiches on the outer tail feathers.® Tt:
may. be found in open woods and along. roadsides, but it more often
frequents the neighborhood of a brook.
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At least two sparrows are fairly common during migration; the
Fox—known by its large size and fox-like eolor—and the white-throated
—identified by its striped erown, white throat and faint wing bars.

Spring is, of course, the ideal time to see birds in greatest variety.
At that time they all wear their fresh spring plumage and bridal colors.
Fifty varieties of birds is a veasonable muwmber to be identified on
almost any day of the first two wecks of May. To make this record,
however, one must be able to recognize a bird quickly and aceurately,
and should visit the highland and the lowland, the open field and the
shady wood.

- Only the bhird lover knows how very favorable a time is the winter
for bird study. At this scason a blanket of snow often coneeals the
natural sources of bird food. One who at this time provides a bird
feeding shelf at a sheltered window and watches the various species
that avail themseclves of his fare, will be surprised and delighted at
the varicty and friendliness of his bird guests.

Chickadees, downy woodpeckers, and white-hreasted nuthatehes will
visit the feeding shelf quite regularly, and juncos, bluejays, goldfinches,
and redpolls are pretty sure to appear occasionally. Tnglish sparrows
will need no urging to attend the feast. Indeed there may be diffienlty
in keeping them from beeoming so numerous that they drive away the

other birds.

Tree sparrows, winter wrens, and crows spend the winter

with us; but they are inclined to be shy and it is not likely that any
of them would patronize the window-shelf lunch counter.

Nearly every variety of bird visiting this scetion of the country is
found in Ridgewood. The following list shows those which have been

scen and identified by its residents:

Blackbird, Red-winged (Agelaius phani-

< cens)

Blackbird, Rusly (Fupliagus earolinus)

“Bluebird (Sialia sialis)

Bluegjay (Cyanocitta cristata)

Bobolink (Dolichonyx oryzivorus)

Bunting, Indigo (Passerina cyanen)

‘Cathird (Dumetella earolinensis)

Chickadee,  Black-capped  (Penthestes
‘atrieapillus)

Cowhird (Molothrus ater)

Creeper,  Brown  (Certhin
Amerienna)

Crosshill, American
minor)

Crow,
chos)

Cuckoo, Black-billed (Coceyzus erythrop-
thalmus)

Cuckoo, Yelow-billed (Coccyzus Ameri-
eanus)

Fineh, Pine or Siskin (Spinus pinus)

Fineh. Purnle (Carpodacus purpureus)

TFlicker or Migh-Hole (Colaptes nuratus)

Flyeatcher, Crested (Myiarchus erinitus)

Tlyeateher, Least (Empidonax minimus)

Flyeateher, Yellow-hellied (Empidonax
flaviventris)

fumiliaris
{Loxin curvirosta

Ameriean  (Corvus brachyrhyn.

Goldfinch, Ameriean (Astragalinus tris-

tis)

Grackle, Purple or Crow Blackbird
{Quisenlus quisenla)

Grosbeak, Line (l‘jllicula enucleator leu-

cura)
Grosbeak, Rose-breasted  (Zamelodin
Judoviciann)

Tluwk, Cooper ( Accipiter enoperi)

Tlnwk, Marsh (Cirens hudsonius)

Hawk, Red-shouldered (Thtteo linealus)

Tlawk, Sparrow (Faleo sparverius)

Heron, Green { Dutorides virescens)

Tlummingbird, Ruby-throated (Archilo-
¢hus eolubris)

Juneo, Siate-colored (JJunco hyemalis)

‘Kinghird (Tyrannus tyrannus)

Ningfisher, Belted (Ceryle aleyon)

Kinglet, Golden-crowned (Regulus
satrapa)

Meadowlark (Sturnelln magna)

Nuthateh, Red-breasted ™ (Sitta canaden-

4i8) .
Nutihateh, White-breasted (Sitia earo-
linensis)
Nighthawk (Chordeiles virginianus)
Oriole, Baltimore (Icterus.galbula)
Oriole, Orchard (Teterus spurius)
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Ovenbird (Seiurus aurocapillus)

Owl, Sereech (Otus osio)

Pewee, Wood (Myiochanes virens)

Pheebe (Sayornis phabe)

Pipit, Ameriean, or Titlark (Anthus
rubescens)

Redpoll (Aeanthis Tinarin)

Redstart, Ameriean (Setophaga ruti-
cilla)
Robin. Ameriean  (Planesticus migra-
torius)

Sparrow, Chipping (Spizelln passerinn)
Sparrow, English (Passer domesticus)
Sparrow, Fox (Passerelln iliea)
Sparrow, Field (Spizella pusilla)
Sparrow, Song (Melospiza melodia)
Sparrow, Swamp (Melospizi georgiana)
Sparrow, Tree (Spizelln monticoln)
Sparrow, Vesper (Poocietes gramineus)

Sparrow, Wlhite-crowned (Zonotrichia
leucophrys)
Sparrow, White-thronied  (Zonotrichin
albicollis)

Starling (Sturnus vulgaris)

Swallow, Rank (Riparia riparin)

Sivallow, Barn (Hirundo erythrogastra)

Swallow, Tree (Tridoproene bicolor)

Swift, Chinmey (Chetura pelagicn)

Tauager, Searlet (Pirangn erythromelas)

I hrasher, Brown (Toxostoma rufum)

Thrush, Ilermit (Iylocichla guttata
pallasii)

Thrush, Water (Seirus noveboracensis)

Thrush, Wilson, or Veery (Hylocichla
fusceseens)

Thrush, Wood {TTylocichla mustelina)

Towhee or Chewink (Pipilo crythroph-
thalmus)

Titmouse, Tufted (Buwolophus hicolor)

Vireo, Red-eyed (Vireosylva olivacen)

Vireo, White-eyed (Vireo griseus)

Vireo, Yellow-throated (Taniverco flavi-
frons)

Warbler, Bny-breasted (Dendroica. cns-

tanen)

Warbler, Blackburninn (Dendroica
fusen)

Warbler, Black Poll (Dendroien strinta)

Warbler, Black-throated Blue (Dendroica
cierulescens)

Warbler, Black and White
(Mniotiltn varia)

Warbler, Black-throated Green
droiea virens)

Warbler, Blue-winged (Vermivora pinus)

\Warbler, Canndian (Wilsonia eanaden-

Creeping
(Den-

sis
Warbler, Cape May (Dendroica tigrina)

Warbler, Chestnut-sided  (Dendroica
penusylvanien)
Warbler, Magnolin (Dendroiecn mag-

nolin)
Warbler, Myrtle (Dendroica coronata)
Warbler, Pavuln (Compsothlypis ameri-

cann
Warbler, Northern Parula (Compsoth-
lypis usnen)

Warbler, Tennessee (Vermivora pere-
arinan)
Warbler, Worm-cating (Ilelmintheros

verntivora)
Warbler, Yellow (Dendroica wstiva)
Warbler, Yellow-Palm (Dendroica pal-
marim hypoehrysen) .
Wax Wing, Cedar (Bombycilla cedro-
Tim)

Whip-Poor-Will (Antrostomus vociferus).

Waondpecker, Downy (Dryobates pubes-
cens medianus)

Woodpecker, Hairy (Dryolates villosus)

Woodpeeker, Red-1Teaded  (Melanerpes
erythrocephalus)

Wren, House (Troglodytes edon)

Wren, Winter (Nannus hiemalis)

Yellow-throat, Maryland (Geothlypis
trichas)

A bird census, taken on Christmas Day, 1915, at a feeding station
on the grounds of Carl M. Vail, Ridgewood, N. J., with sky overeast,
ground snow-covered, light south-west winds, temperature 40 degrees

a

to 45 degreces, from 9 At to 3
Tairy Woeodpecker

Blue Jay . ovvvenininiienennnn..

Purple Finech
American Goldfinel

English Sparrow ...............

Chipping Sparrow
Tree Sparrow
White-breasted Nuthateh
CGolden-crowned Kinglet

Downy Woodpeeker .............

Redpoll ....ioiiesen
Pine Tinch

.M.

shows the following birds:

......... Several |
......... 2 (Male and Female)

......... Many

v Several

. Many
.

. L Several
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White-throated Sparrow ........... ... 2
Slate-colored Juneo .....ooovvuiiiiinnae. Many
THIFK coiineiiiiiiiiioinecenaranes Severul
Black-eapped Chickadee «..oovviiiiiaian, Muny
Hermit Thrush ..ooooiviiiiiiiiiiieiian. 1

Torar—RKighteen species: individuals too numerous to count.
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CHAPTER I1I

CIVIL ORGANIZATIONS AND ADMINISTRATION OF PUBLIC
AFFAIRS

POLITICAL DIVISIONS

N March 12, 1663, Charvles II. granted to James, Duke of York,
a large traet, including the present State of New Jersey.

In 1664, on the 24th day of June, the Duke of York made a con-
veymee to John Berkely and George Carteret of the entire Provinee
of New Jersey. This instrument was the first wherein the houndaries
of the present State were defined. The consideration for the convey-
ance was ten shillings. The conveyance defined the property as being
all that traet of land adjacent to New England and lying and being
to the westward of Long Island and Manhattan Island: bounded on
the cast, part by the main sea and part by the Hudson River; and
hath upon the west, Delaware Bay or River and extendeth southward
to the main ocean as far as Cape May at the mouth of Delaware
Bay; and to the northward as far as the northermost branch of
said bay or river of Delaware, which is forty-one degrees and forty
minutes of latitude, and worketh over thenee in a straight line to
Hudson’s River; which said tract of land is hereafter to be called by
the name or names of ‘‘Nova Cesarea’’ or New Jersey.

In 1675, John Berkely offered his half interest in the Provinee of
New Jersey for sale and the same was purchased by John Fenwick,
in trust for Edward Byllinge, for one thousand pounds.

The title of the whole of New Jersey was thus vested in George
Carteret and Edward Byllinge. They agreed upon a partition of it,
July the first, 1676. The trustces of Byllinge conveyed to Cartaret
their interest in all the land lying east of a line drawn ‘“‘from the
Bast side of Little Egg Harbor, straight North through the Country,
to the utmost branch of the Delaware River; thus dividing the Province
into two parts, known as East and West Jersey.’’

Carteret by this conveyanee beeame the sole owner of East Jersey.

Carteret died in 1679 and left a will, dated Deecember 5, 1678,
whereby he ordered that the Provinee of East Jersey should be sold
to pay his debts. This eonveyanee was made by his widow and exeeu-
tors, February 1, 1652, to twelve individuals styled as the Twelve
Proprictors. Subsequently during the same year the Twelve Propric-
tors cach took a partner and conveyanees were made vesting the title
in them eommon with the original twelve. These with the other twelve
were the Twenty-four Proprictors, ov the Proprictors or owners of
East Jersey.

The Provinee of Fast Jersey was divided into four counties, March
7, 1682, viz.: Bergen, Essex, Middlesex, and Monmouth.

Bergen County at this time extended from the Hudson River to
the Hackensack River, and the Town of Bergen, now a part of Hudson
County and situated in the vieinity of t]le Dutoh Reformed Chureh
of Bergen on Bergen Avenue, was ‘the seat of government,
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The division of countics in 1682 caused great dissatisfaction. among
the people. They complained that the -counties were too large,.that
the distances between their homes and the county secat were too great,
and that traveling such long distances over bad roads in all sorts of
weather interfered with their pursuits and subjected them to great
expense and bodily discomfort. They petitioned the legislature from
time to time for relicf, and on January 21, 1709, the legislature passed
an act entitled ‘‘An Aet for dividing and aseertaining the boundaries
of all the Counties in the Provinee.’’

The bounds of Bergen County in this act were deseribed as follows:
““That in the eastern division, the County of Bergen shall begin at
Constable’s Hook and so run up along the Bay and Hudson’s River
to the partition point between New Jersey and Provinee of New York;
and so run along the partition line between the provinces, and the
division line of the ecastern and western division of this Provinee to
Pequaneek River, and so to run down to the Pequancck and Pessaick
River to the Sound, and so to follow the Sound to Constable’s Hook
where it began.’’

By this act the entire scetion of the county west of the Hackensack
River, which had been previously a part of Essex County, including
the Village of Ridgewood, became a part of Bergen County. The
county at “this time was d1v1dcd into two townships: Hacl\ensnck Town-
ship, including the portion of the county between the Hudson and
Hackensack chw, and New. Barbadoes Township, the balance of the
county, including the Village of Ridgewood.

Franklin Townshlp was formed from New Barbadoes about the year
1767. . Ridgewood Township ‘was formed from Franklin Township on
March 30, 1876. It then covered an area of three square mlles, the
populutlon of which was about twelve hundred.

In 1894 the Village of Ridgewood was incorporated. At the same
time the municipalities of Midland Park and Glen Rock were formed
into boroughs, thereby making the. village and township lines of Ridge-
wood coextensive. Effeetive July 1, 1902, a part of Orvil Township
was added to the northeastern portion of Ridgewood, while in 1915 a
portion of the northwestern territory of Ridgewood towards Waldwieck
was annexed to Ovvil Township.

RELATION BETWEEN VILLAGE, COUNTY AND STATE

. When we say that we live in the Village of Ridgewood, County of.
Bergen, and State of New Jersey, the statement includes more than
a ‘designation of the place where we reside. It also means that the
munieipal or loeal government under which we live is that of a village,
that the eorporation having charge of the county affairs is the Board
of Chosen Frecholders of the County of Bergen, and that our state
government is that of the Stat¢ of New Jersey.

The State is.supreme, and the powers of ‘the legislature are limited
only by the Constitution of the State and the Constltutlon of the Umted
States. :
Its leglslatule at its plcasule can, by the enaetment of laws, create -
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or dcstmy counties and municipalities and change and a]tel theu'_
boundaries and the powers of their governing bodies.

Villuges are now formed by the passing of a special act of the
lcfrlslntme, designating the name of the village and deseribing the
boundaries- of the territory of which it is to be composed. This char-
acter of legislation requires public notice prior to the enactment.” Upon
the passage of such an act the laws relating to the government of
villages apply to the tervitory affected. The governing body .of. the
village has no power except such as is authorized by laws enacted by
the legislature.

In the matter of raising the revenues of the state, the village is
both direetly and indirectly affeeted. The revenues of the state are
derived largely from tuxes upon corporations, railvoads, franchises,
and deeedents’ estates, income from riparinn lands, and automobile
licenses. Whether any of these taxes affect the residents of the village.
depends upon their interest in the subject matter of such taxation. A-
portion of the state school tax is raised by a direet tax on all the
taxable property in the state and, therefore, affects every owner of
taxable property in the village. The village receives in return’ from
the states its portion of the state school moneys,  which are derived
by the state from railroad tax, rentals of riparian lands, the income:
from moneys derived from the sale of riparian lands, and the- state
school tax. The state distribites these moneys through the county col-
lectors of the several counties to the custodian of the school moneys
of the several munieipalities in the county. The Custodian of the
School Funds in the Village of Ridgewood is the village Colleetor.
The apportionment of the state sehool moneys is based on attendance:
at the public schools.

The business of our county is transacted by a Board called - “The_
Board of Chosen Frecholders of the County of Bergen,’’ which is a
corporation of the county. It was formerly composed of members eleeted
by the cities and townships of the county, the boroughs and villages
joining in the eleetion with the township from which the larger part
of such boroughs or villages were formed. Sinee January 1, 1916,
the Board has been eomposed of seven membhers elected by the voters
of the county at large. The prineipal officers of the Board of Chosen
Frecholders arve Dirveetor, Clérk, County Colleetor, Counscl, County
Engincer, and County Road Supervisor. The Sheriff, County Clerk,
and Surrogate are county officers independent of the Board of Chosen
Frecholders, but accountable to the Board for all moneys or property
coming into their hands or custody and belonging to. the eounty.  The
members of the Board of Chosen Frecholders aet as the dircetors. of
a corporation in the management of the county affairs. The powers
of the Board are ministerial. It is the custodian of the property of
the county. It is charged with the management of the Poor House,
Jail, and Cowrt House, and. with the econstruction and maintenance
of bridges and culverts. ' It has power to require all public officers of
the county to account for. the moneys and property belonging to the
county and entrusted to such officers. " These powers and.duties have
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been commonly held and exereised by the Board of Chosen Ifrecholders
from its earliest existence.

Until about 1890 the roads were maintained by the inhabitants of
the several munieipalities. Many of these roads were main thorough-
fares through the county and state and were of more importance for
travel to the eounty or state at large than to the inhabitants of the
particular municipalitics. About this time the state began to realize
that the burden of eonstructing and maintaining these main thorough-
fares belonged more properly to the eounty and state, and in 1891
the lc"isl.ntur authorized the Boards of Chosen Frecholders of the
sever:l counties to adopt county roads and to improve the sume with
state aid. About the same time laws were passed authorizing the
Board of Freeholders to adopt county roads and to improve them ,with-
out state aid. The state and counties are now bearing a large part
of the burden of the construetion and maintenance of publie roads.

The Board of Chosen I'recholders of the County of Bergen was slow
in adopting county roads. The first road improved by the Board with
state aid in this county was the Paterson Plank Road, in the year
1909. Sinee that time, and espeeially about the beginning of the yeur
1912, the Board of Chosen Ifvecholders adopted a large number of
county roads and improved the same, some with and others without
state -aid,

In our village two of the main thovoughfares, Maple Avenue and
Paramus Road, were improved by the eounty Board without state aid
and, between the houndaries of the curb lines, are now county roads,
under the juvisdiction of the Board of Chosen Frecholders,

Nearly all the revenues of the county are derived from direet taxa-
tion.  The Board of Chosen Irecholders is required not later than
the first Tuesday of August in cach ycar to make out a budget of the
moneys which have been appropriated and which ave to be raised hy
taxes for ecounty purposes. This hudget is sent to the County Board
of Taxation before the seecond Tuesday in August in each year. "The
County Board apportions the taxes among the taxing distriets of the
county. Other moneys received by the ]:011'(1 of Choqcn TFrecholders
of 'the county ave the fees collected by the Surrogate and County Clerk,
and fines and penalties colleeted by the Sheriff, In addition to this,
a portion of the automobile license money colleeted by the state is
given to the Board for rvepair of county roads.

The management of county affairs is closcly related to the welfare
of cach municipality. IKeconomy and efficiecney are shown by a com-
parison of the amount of taxes raised with the improvements made
by the Board. In every dirvection the aetivities of the village are inter-
woven with those of the county. The Assessor of the village assesses
the property for the state and county taxes as well as for the taxes
of the village. The Colleetor of the village colleets the state sehool
and county faxes as well as the taxes for village purposes. The village
government fixes the amount of the village taxes. The first two are
determined respectively by the. state legislature and by the Board of
Chosen Freeholders. The ‘Overscer of the Poor, a village officer, fur-
nishes temporary velief for the poor of the village. Permancnt relief
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is provided by the eounty. The insane, tubereular, and eviminal. de-
pendents are provided for by the state and county through the Board
of Chosen Frecholders. The hridges and culverts on all of the publie
roads in the village ave construeted and eared for by the same Board.
County roads through the villages also are maintained by them.

The state, ecounty, and village are so closely related in the manage-
ment of the business relating to the public welfare that every citizen
should take an aetive interest in the manner in which sueh business
is condueted by the state and county, as well as by the village.

RIDGEWOOD’S FORM OF GOVERNMENT
Lownship Committce

In 1876, when the Township of Ridgewood was sct off from Franklin
Township, Bergen County was composed lavgely of farming eomnmni-
ties. The nearness of its fertile acres to the cities of New York, Jersey
City, Newark and Paterson made farming the chief pursuit of its eitizens.
There were no eities and the loeal governments were townships.

The orviginal township government in this state was clementary in
form and adapted to rural communities.

The most important political event in the township government
was the town meeting, which was held annually on the second Monday
of April. DBetween the hours of cleven and twelve of that' day-the
clectors assembled and chose some person to preside at the meeting.
His duty was to eonduet the business thercot in a regular and orderly
maimer and in case of dispute to determineg who had the right to vote.

The law direeted that if any person should behave in a disorderly
manner or interrupt the person speaking by unnceessary noise or eon-
versation, and if such person should, atfter notice from the presiding
officer, persist in disorderly hehavior, then it was the duty of the
presiding officer to direet that sueh disorderly person withdraw from
the meeting and forfeil one dollar for such offense. If he refused or
negleeted to withdraw from the mecting, the constables of the town:
ship were directed hy the chairman of the meeting to put such person
in a place of confinement where he would be detained until the meet-
ing was ended. .

Prior to 1841 the vote at the town meeting was taken by the rais-
ing of hands, separating the voters, or viva voce. In that year the
le-rlslatmc direeted, by spccm] aet, that the voting in Fre mklin Town-
hhl]) should be by I).l]loi

The principal objeets for which money was ovdered raised by the
voters at the town meeting were for the support of the poor, the
building and repairing of pounds, the destruction of noxious wild
animals and birds, the opening, making, working and repairing of
roads, and prosceuting and defending the common nrrhts of the town-,
ship. :

The qualified voters of the town meeting made and ordered .such
regulations and by-laws -as a majority of them so. assembled might
think proper for the improving of their common land in tillage, pastur-
age or-in any other way, and direeted the use, management and times
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of using their common lands; and elected five ‘‘Judicious Frecholders’
(property owners of judgment) as the township committee, which upon
the first election (1876) consisted of Cornelius J. Bogert, N. R. Bunce,
Peter G. Hopper, Albert P. Hopper and Thomas unhune The other
original officers elected were Township Clerk, N. R. Bunce; Assessor,
John A. Marinus; Colleetor, James Aubuskle Chosen Frceholdel G.
@G. Van Dien; two Surveyors of the nghway, Overscers of the Poox,
Constables, tluee judicious Freeholders of good character as Commis-
sioners of Appeal in matters of taxation, and one reputable Free-
holder as Judge of Election. In some townships the Overseers of the
Highway were clected at the town meeting and in othex townships
iy the several road distriets.

The Township Committee was the governing body of the township.
Its members were required to be property owners and their duties
were largely ministerial. They examined, inspected and reported at
the town meetings the accounts and vouchers of township officers,
superintended the expending of moneys raised by taxation for the use
of the township, read at the town meeting the statement of the accounts
of the money expended in the township by the county Board of Chosen
Frecholders, and settled disputes in reference to partition fences.

The - duties of the Assessor and of the Collector were practically
the same as today. The Assessor was a member of the county Board
of Assessors, and as such adjusted the assessment between the various
municipalities and fixed the tax rate for county and state taxes. These
duties of the Assessor have in recent years been taken over by the
county Board of Taxation.

The roads at this time were laid out or altered by surveyors of
highways. . On application to the Court of Common Pleas of ten or
more frecholders, the Court appointed six surveyors of highways.
These surveyors or a majority of them met and determined upon the
neeessity of the road and assessed the damages or benefits resulting
from-the laying out. or altering of the road, and directed the time
when the road should be opened or altered. Roads were opened and
repaired by the Oversecers of the Highways. The Township Committee
assigned and appointed in writing to the Overscers of the Highway
their several limits and division of the highways within the township
for’ opening, working and repaiving. Bvery person assessed for the
raising of money to open or repair the highways could work out his
tax or any part of it on giving notice to the Overseers wlthm whose
limits or division he resided.

‘The powers and duties of the township officers were such as the
govelnment of a farming comniunity would require.

Village Trustees

The development of railroads changed the character of these com-
munities in Bergen County from farming to.suburban, from sparsely
settled districts to thickly settled communities. .These changcs brouglit
with them many and difficult munieipal problems for solution, among
which were street improvements, water supply, scwerage, police and
five protection. ~ Although the township laws were amended from time
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to time, the methods of township govelmncnt were 1msa.tlsfact01y and
were not suited to these changed conditions and not adapted to the
solution of these problems. l’nor to the new state constitution: of.
1875, speeial charters were granted to ecities and many other muuniei-
puhtles After that date the Legislature sought by geneml statute to
provide for the government of mumclpahtles

In 1878 the Legislature provided for the formation, in a township
or part of a townslup, of boronghs not exeeeding four square miles
cach; in 1891 it provided for the organization from a township or
part of a township of villages whose population should be at:lcast
300 inhabitants for cach squave mile. These munieipalities were created
after an ecleetion held to determine whether the territory deseribed in
the applieation should be incorporated as a borough or a village.  Orig-
inally both the borough and the village remained a part of the town-
ship for certain purposes, notably for the ecleetion of a county Free-
holder, The villages voted with the township in the election of the
Collcetor and the Assessor. A short time prior to the year 1893
boroughs were permitted to include within their limits a portlon of
one or more townships.

In the last mentioned year the Legislature provided that unless 2
borough contained a portion of two mumcxpahtlcs, it could .not have
a Chosen Frecholder. A large number of boroughs were then formed
in Bergen County, caching taking a portion of two or more townships in
order to have a 1'ep1csemat1vc in the Board of Chosen Frecholders.

The boroughs of Midland Park and Glen Rock each had included
within their territories a portion of the Township of Ridgewood. In
ovder to prevent further reduetion in the territory and to provide a
more suitable government, on the twenty-seventh day of September,
1894, a petition was presented to Judge Van Valen, Law Judge of
the Court of Common Pleas of the County of Bergen, to fix a time
and place for an clection, to submit to the voters the question of
incorporating the remaining portion of the township into a village.
The election was held November 15, 1895, and resulted in a vote of
277 for the incorporation and 62 against it. The township at that
time was composed of about 514 squave miles, with an assessed valua-
tion of real estate of about $1,000,000 and a popwlation of about 2,200.

The new governing body of the village was a Board of Trustces of
five members, Milton 1. Richardson, H. 1. Hopper, Joseph W. Ed-
wards, Dr. Geo. M. Ockford, and W. J. Fullerton, who served without
compensation. The Board cleeted Mr. Richardson President and Mr.:
Fullerton Treasurer, who thus became respectively the President and
Treasurcr of the village. The other officers of the village, Village
Clerk, Village Counbel Street’ Superintendent; and Policemen, - were
appointed by the Board of Trustees and held office at the pleasure of
the Board. The village Trustees had: exclusive jurisdietion over the
streets within the limits of the village and had®power to lay out,
widen, and vacate streets and provide for their lighting; to create a
police and fire department; to construct sewers and drains and other
strect improvements; to license and regulate publie hacks, peddlers and
Tueksters; and to cause to be raised by taxation every year such sums
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of money as they deemed expedient for the current expenses of the
village. . Their important legislative power in the village was exereised
in drawing up, considering, and passing of ordinances. The Assessor,
Collector and Chosen Frecholder of the township still eontinued to
aet for the village, and the Township Committee performed certain
formal duties within the village. In the year 1896 the legislature
abolished the Township Committee for the Township and Village of
Ridgewood, vesting the powers of the Committee in the Board of
Trustees,

In 1912 the offices of township Clerk, Assessor and Colleetor were
aholished and the governing body was authorized to appoint a Collector
and an Assessor for the village.

The Village of Ridgewood was governed by a Board of Trustecs
for seventeen years. During this time many municipal propositions
for the improvement and development of the village were acted upon
by the Trustces. A system of sewers was constructed, public franchises
for water, gas and telephone were granted, and many street improve-
ments were made. The last Board of Trustees consisted of Frederick
. Bogert, President ; George ¥. Brackett, John J. Lannuier, Joseph .
Martin, and James II. Snyder.

Village Commissioners

The endeavor to sceure greater cfficiency in the administration of
munieipal affairs in this state resulted in the passing by the legislature
of 1911 of what is known as the Walsh or Commission Form of Gov-
ernment.- Act.

Consideration of the adoption of the commission form of govern-
ment is left to the voters of any eommunity at an eleetion ealled for
that purpose. The Village of Ridgewood was among the first to adopt
the new aet. The petition for an cleetion was presented to the village
Clerk, and an cleetion was held on the second day of September, 1911,
This cleetion resulted in the adoption of the new form of government.
On the seventh day of November, 1911, Danicl A. Garber, George U.
‘White, and Frederick Pfeifer were clected Commissioners of the V]Ihge
of Ridgewood, and on the fourteenth day of November, 1911, the new
government was organized.

While the Village still continues to be governed by the laws relating
to a village, the methods of administration of Village affairs was changed
by the adoption of the eommission form of government. The number
of Commissioners is determined by the population. Municipalities hav-
ing a population' of 10,000 or over have five Commissioners; under
10,000, such as Ridgewood, the number of Commissioners is three, The
powers: of the Commissioners are determined by the village act. The
method of proecdure remains the same as under the Board of Village
Trustees exeept as modified by the law relating to commission govern:
ments. Some of the distinetive provmons of the new form of gov-
ernment are as follows:

(1) A spceial day is appointed-for the . cleetion of Commlsqloner
other than the gencml clection day; preferential ballot is usged and
party polities practieally is eliminated from the cleetion.
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{2) The Commissioners are elected for a term of four ycavs; the
wms of all Commissioners to expire at the same time. All other
ficers are appointed by the Commissioners.

(3) The right of Reeall is exereised by the voters, who possess the
ght by pctmon to require any Commissioner, if he desives to continue
3 Commissioner, to run again for the office at a speeial cleetion called
w that purpose.

(4) The legal voters possess the right of Imitiative. By petition
1y may require any ordinanec to be passed, amended, or repealed
v the Commissioners, or clse to be submitted to the voters for their
ation.

(5) The legal voters possess the right of Referendum. By petition
1cy may require any ordinanee passcd by the Commissioners to be
pealed or else to be submitted to the vote of the people.

In order to safeguard this right of Referendum, no ordinanee takes
Teet until ten days after its final passage, unless it is an ordinance
v the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, or safety.

(6) Tach member of the Board has particular work to perform.

Upon its organization, one member is elected mayor, and he.there-
pon heecomes the presiding officer. The Mayor cx-officio is director
E the department of public affairs and publie safety.

By a majority vote of the Board, one of the remaining members is
ppointed director of the department of revenue and finance. Upon
im falls, in addition to the duties of his departmenr, the duty of acting
3 presiding officer in the absence of the mayor. The other member is
ppointed dircetor of the department of streets and publie 1mp10ve-
ients, parks and publie property. ) :

(7) 1In transacting the business of the munieipality, cvery resolu-
‘on or ordinance must be reduced to writing and read befove the vote
¢ taken, The yea and nay vote must he veeorded and the resolutions
nd ordinances signed by a majority of the members of the Board.

Resolutions and ovdinanees providing for the nppropriuﬁon of
ioney for street improvements, and for granting franchises are’ re-
nired before final passage to remain on ﬁ]c \\'lﬂl the clerk for two
«ecks for publie inspcchom No franchise is granted exeept by ordi-
ance which must be published before final passage and reecive the
pproval of a majovity of all members.

(8) The mayor receives a salary of one thousand dollars and the
ther commissioners salavies of seven hundred fifty dollars cach.

(9) The Board is required to hold regulavr meetings at least once
neh week, These meetings and the record of their proecedings are
pen to the publie.

The Board of Commissioners appoint the subordinate officers and
oards for the Village. The most important of the present village
fficials ave: Village Clerk and Collector, Wilbur Morris; Assessor, Louis
I. Kroder; Ln«rmccr In. W, Simonds; ]’ccordw T. V. Watson ; -Coun-.
el, J. W. De Yoe.. The names of other ofﬁccrq, sueh as the Superin-
endent of Streets, Superintendent of Police and members of that de-
artment, Chief of Fire Department and members of that department,
soard of Health.and Shade Tree Commission, are shown in the chapter
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of -this book which relates to the partieular department or cominission.
Each officer, department, and board has specific duties to perform in
the suceessful working of the local self-government.

The commission form of government has sueeceded to a large degree
in eliminating partisan polities from public affairs in the municipalities
which have adopted it. It is particularly sucecessful in bringing abount
prompt and efficient action in the public husiness of the community.

THE MAYOR

Upon the adoption of the eommission form of government by the
Village and the eleetion of Commissioners in 1911, D. A. Garber, who
reecived the largest number of votes for Commissioner, was elected by
the other Commissioners at their organization mecting as Mayor of the
Village. Upon his re-cleetion as Commissioner in 1915 he was again
chosen as Mayor.

The Mayor is the chief Exceutive of‘hccr of the Village and it is his
duty to see that the ordinances of the Village are properly enforeed.

He is also the chief guavrdian of the peace of the Village. He has
power to suppress riots and when nceessary may call upon the county
or state authorities for aid.

As the titular head of the Village, the Mayor represents the muniei-
pality ‘on publlc occasions. Because of his position the people look to
him not only to safeguard the community’s present interests, buf also
to plan and to suggcst such changes and improvements-as will provide
for their future civie welfare.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

Under the direetion of the Mayor, this department proteets the lives
and the property of the citizens against viee, crime, and destruetion.
In performing its funetions, it is divided into the following sub-depart-
ments: Police, Fire, Board of Health, Shade Tree Commission, and
Building Committee.

THE POLICE DEPARTMENT

The functions of the police foree arc mainly, the onf‘mcuucnt of
Iaw, preservation of the peace, protection of life and property, the
arrest of all violators of the law, and the prevention and detection of
erime. Other duties arc incidental; hut all must he performed with
energy, discvetion, promptness, and ﬁdehty

It is the duty of the Police Department and cvery member of the
foree, at all times of the day or night, espceially to preserve the peace,
to prevent erime, and to deteet and arrest offenders; to suppress riots,
mobs, and insurreetions; to disperse unlawful or dangerous assemblages
and crowds which obstruet the free passage of public streets, sidewalks,
parks, or other places; to protect the rights of persons and property;
to safeguard the public health; to preserve order at all meetings and
assemblages; and to regulate and control the movements of all vehlclm
in the streets and publlc places.

It is their duty also to remove all nuisanees in the publie streets, pml\s
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and highways; to arvest all mendicants and beggars; to provide proper
police regulation at fires; to assist, advise, and protect strangers and
travelers on the publie ]11011\\1159 and at all railroad stations; carefully
to observe and to inspeet all places of public amusement and places of
business having liccuses to earry on a particular business; to repress
and restrain all unlawful and disorderly conduct or practices; to enforce
the observance of all Village laws and ordinances; and for these pur-
poses to arrest all persons rruxlty of violating any e\xstmv law or ordi-
nance for the suppression or punishment of erimes or offences. :

During the carly ninety’s the citizens of Ridgewood were without
adequate police protection and suffered to such an extent from robberies
that in consequence a number of citizens, headed by Joseph W. Edwards,
formed an organization ealled the Village Proteetive Association. = This
Association held monthly meetings. Its members furnished not only
the funds nceessary to hive at first one man to do police patrol work
and later others, but they were subjeet to eall for purposes of protection
when need arose.

The first real police foree was organized in 1892 and contmued
under the direetion of the Village P wtective Association until the Vil-
Iage Trustees took over their work.

Peter Pulis was sworn in as a special officer on July 1, 1897. At
that time the foree ineluded James E. Houlihan and James Flam-
mond. On October 1, 1897, Mr. Pulis was appointed Chief of. Police,
and on October 31st the other two men were relieved from -service.
Chief Pulis continued as the only member of the foree until March 1,
1903, when two additional men were placed under his authority. - Since
that time the foree has been gradually inereased to a present member-
41110]:) of ten men, including a Police Clerk, first appointed on June 1,
19

During the latter part of 1915, the Commissionérs, deeming it wise
to place the departiment under a Superintendent of Poliee, scleeted for
this office Robert Groves, for over thirty-two years a member of the
Police Department of the City of New York and appointed him to the
position to take office on Januavy 1, 1916. Chief Pulis resigned his
position on Febrnary 1, 1916.

The force at present consists of a Superintendent of Poliee, one
Sergeant, seven patrolmen, a clerk and a German shepherd police dog.
Police dogs were first used in Ridgewood in 1913,

Ridgewood’s first lock-up for law-breakers was in an old stone house
Joeated on the suminit of the rise on the west side of the railroad-tracks
and south of the present Play Touse. Later a small wooden shack on
Rock Avenue (now Broad Str ect) was erected and used for this purpose.
In 1898, The Village Improvement Association, as a result of complaints
regar dmrr the conditions existing in the jail, -which, when unocenpied,
was 1lscd as a shelter for stray dogs,' aroused the citizens to provide a
new building which was crceted just back of ‘the present, Munieipal
Building. This building was equipped under the supervision of the
Humane Commitiee of the Association.. When the Munieipal Building
wag built, rooms were provided in it for police headquarters and for the
lock-up.
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THE FIRE DEPARTMENT
DUTIES

The chicf duty of the Fire Departmment is to extinguish fires. A
very important sccondary duty is the prevention of fires. IFire pre-
vention is made cffeetive in a varviety of ways. A building code specifies
certain prineiples of construetion to which all new buildings must
conform. Inspection of all buildings in process of eonstruction insures
oliservance of the huilding code regulations. Five zone vestrictions limit
the use of wooden construction in the more thickly built up seetions of
the community. Periodie inspection is made of the buildings used for
public gatherings with the result that the fire hazards are grcutly re-
duced. Further service is rendered by the Department by the assign-
ment of firemen in uniform to attend public gatherings so that any
emergeney of fire or panic may be promptly and effeetively handled.

EARLY FIRES

The history of the I'ire Department of Ridgewood, like that of other
departments of the community, is the story of a gradual development
as the needs of the community have demanded inereased service.

Ridgewood in its existenee as a munieipality has suffered from only
five serious fires. All occurred before the department was placed upon
an cfficient basis. .

The first fire of importance was the destruction in 1876 of the Ridge-
wood Avenue Hotel, which stood on the site of the Rouclere Iouse.

On Mareh 9, 1881, a fire, starting in a harn used by J. J. Bogert for
the storage of hay and loeated just northwest of the present Municipal
Building, destroyed the adjacent Tranklin IHotel facing on Ridgewood
Avenue.  Sweeping west on Ridgewood Avenue, it also destroyed 2
blacksmith and wheelwright shop on the site of the present Ryerson
Building. Continuing southward on Broad Strect, it destroyed several
small out-buildings and Whritnour and Colfax’s stmg loc ited on the site
1ow oceupied hy t]le feed and grain building of 19, "an Horn. The
Masonic Hall of those days occuplcd the upper floor 0[ Whritnour and
Colfax’s building.

The next fire oceurred in April, 1889. It started in a small building
in the rear of the Shuart Building, now the site of the ITuiton Building.
After. destroying the Shuart Building, it consumed Crouter’s Meat
Market, adjoining, and two feed stores on Broad Street at the rear of
Ahe Zabriskie (now Moore) Building, which was also slightly damaged.

A row of one-story stores, commcncing at the present site of the
Post Office on Prospeet Street and continuing to the corner of TTudson
Street, was destroyed by fire on Mareh 11, 1899,

'.l‘h(,_ last fire of serfous consequences oceurred on Marveh 21, 1900,
1t originated in a coal cellar-in the rear of Tice’s Drug Store located in
the Pioneer Building (a three-story brick building) at the corner of
Ridgewood - Avenue and Chestnut- Street. 1t destroyed ihe Pioncer
Building and' the next two on Ridgewood Avenue, a three-story and o
one-story frame structure.
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ESTABLISHMENT OF TIIE DEPARTMENT

The fire of 1881, followed by the one. in 1889, aroused the eitizens
to discuss the need of better proteetion against five. The only method
of combating fire in vogue at that time was the volunteer bucket brigade.

Some years later a meeting, on the evening of March 3, 1896, fruit-
ful of results, was lhield in the Opera Fouse. The meeting was attended
by George R. Young, J. IT. Christopher, I. E. Hutton, R. M. Bridgeman,
Frank Baxter, Dr. G. Ockford, J. 1. Bogert, II. A. Breuseh, George
Blauvelt, J. Houlihan and W. H. La Fetra. Committees were appointed
to plan the organization of a fire department and to examine apparatus
with a view to its purchase.

Subscquent meetings were held and on Mareh 25th an ordinance

organizing a fire depdrtmcnt was presented to the village trustees and
wis adopted by that body on May 13th. An appropriation of two
thousand dollars was authorized at a General Election of the citizens
held in April for the purchase of fire-fighting appavatus. The first
Chief of the Department, Dr. Walter Van Emburgh, was appointed
on Oectober 7, 1896.

The. Department was formally organized during the carly part of
January, 1897, as Protection Hook and Ladder Company No. 1, with
sixty-eight members enrvolled. In 1905, the word ‘‘Protection’ was
dropped from its name and it has sinee been known as Hook and Ladder
Company No. 1.

Following the organization of the -company, plans were discussed
for a building properly to house the apparatus and to serve also as a
meeting-place for the members. A contraet for a two-story building
on the present site of the Munieipal Building on Tudson Street was
awarded -on July 12, 1897, to Ceorge K. Terguson. Its cost was
twelve hundred and fm'ty-si\ dollars. This huilding, when completed,
served as the home of the ecompany until the erection of the present
Munieipal Building, when. quarters were provided for the company on
the ground floor.

During the following August, the first fire fighting apparatus was
received. It consisted of-a hand-drawn hook and ladder truck equipped
with ladders, huckets, and small tools. The water supply throughout
the Village at that time was obtained from private wells, When a fire
oceurred, water was obtained from the nearby wells or streams.

‘The first fire to which the department responded was in a harn in
Glen Rock, owned by J. W. Edwards. The first fire attended by the
department within the Village was in a house on Irving Street oceupied
by a Mr. Lawrence. Despite the efforts of the firemen, the house was
destroyed.

A sccond ])iece of apparatus, a hand-drawn Chemieal Engine, was
placed in commission by the Village on Mareh 11, 1899. It is now
held in reserve at the hc.xdqum'terh in ease the pl'csxent automobile ap-
paratus is ou'c of comnnssmn or a fire oceurs which requires additional
apparatus.

A hand-pull fire alarm bell was purchased in the carly part of 1898
and installed in'the Firve House on Hudson Street. It remained in

50



PAST AND PRESENT

use there until superseded by the present Gamewell Alarm System.
[t was then moved to the quarters of Hose Company No. 1, and placed
m g tower in the yard of C. A. Swarn, Kenilworth Place. Later the
bell was moved to the Cirele Avenue home of Hose Company No. 1, and
afterwards equipped with an cleetrie striker. The Gamewell bell was
at first mounted in the tower of the Opera House (Town Hall) hut was
transferred to the roof of the Municipal Building when the latter was
ereefed.

Iagle Hose Company No. 1, was organized in January, 1900, as the
result of agitation on the part of residents cast of the Ho-Ho-Kus Brook.
The first apparatus of this Company consisted of a earpenter’s wagon
filled with ladders, buckets and other fire-fighting tools. This company
later dropped the word ‘‘Eagle” from its name and has sinee- been
inown as Hose Company No. 1.

The apparatus of both companies in the early days was drawn to fires
by hand or by teams that happened to be in the neighborhood of the
five stations when an alarm was sounded.

Arrangements were made on Mareh 20, 1900, with E. B. Van Horn
to furnish a team on alarm for the use of ook and Ladder Company
No. 1. This arrangement continued until the Village purchased its own’
team to be used hoth by the Fire Department and by the Department
51 Strects. Hose Company No. 1 continued to use such teains as might
be available for some time thereafter. Finally the Village furnished
them with a team whieh was also used by the Department of Streets. -

The installation of the Gamewell Five Alarm System in July, 1900
(the first alarm during its test being sent from Box 14), and the con-
struction throughout the Village of a modern water-supply system
(which was officially tested by the Fire Department for fire protection
purposes on December 29, 1900) placed the Five Department for the
first fime in a position whcrc it could ecffectively combat the dangers
of a- serious conflagration. The department has sinee this time been
able to confine all thb to the buildings in whieh they started.

The officials of the department and of the Village have endeavored
to.keep the department cquipped with modern apparatus. In 1908 the
present Mook and Ladder Truek of Company No. 1 was purchased and
put into commission, and the orviginal truck was sold. The present
Automobile Combination Chemieal and Hose Car was purchased in 1912,

The department, consisting: entirely of volunteers, has always been
known throughout the community for its efficiency and the high char-
neter of its membcrs]up

Suceeceding the first Chief of the l)ep.ntment Dr. Walter Van Em-
burgh, and in the order of their tenure of office, the Chiefs of the depart-
ment have been: J. Calvin Bogert, Edwin Nickerson, D. J. O’Neill, Dr.
J. B. Hopper, George 'W. Courter, and the present incumbent, F. A.
Tiee, who was appointed on March 2, 1915,

PRESENT ORGANIZATION AND EQUIPMENT ~

The department now consists of a-Chief, II. A. Tice,-two assistants,
Wm. Van Dien and ‘Jesse Van Wagenen, a Superintendent of Fire
51



RIDGEWOOD, BERGEN COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

Alarm Telegl'aph, two Captains, two Licutenants, and twenty-four men.

‘" The depm'tmcnt’hcudquurters and Hook and Ladder Company. No.
1, are loeated on Hudson:Street in the \[umclpnl Building; while Hose
Compuny No. 1'is located on Cirele Avenue.

The equipment of the department consists of one Locomobile, single
‘tank conibination chemieal and hose automobile; one double tank horse-
‘drawn chemical engine; one: horse-drawn hook’ and ladder truck; two
hose wagons and four hor ses; and the necessary working equlpmcnt

The fire alarm system is undcr the supervision of Frank A: Harrison,
Superintendent of Fire Alarm Telegraph, and consists of twenty-cight
fire alarm strect boxes, five special boxes:located in schools, twenty-two
miles of hard-drawn copper wire, one two-thousand pound bell in the
Municipal Building, and one one-thousand pound bell in the Cirele
Avenue house, with automatic strike attachments, indieators, and
tappers where required.

There are one hundred and thirty-six public hydrants and five private
hydrants in use for fire purposes.

TIE BOARD OF HEALTIL

The Board of Health is charged with the responsibility of protecting
the health of the citizens, and is empowered to make rules and regula-
tions, such as'do not.conflict with those of the State Board .of Iealth,
to prevent the spread of contagious diseases, and to take such other
steps as. may be deemed nceessary to proteet and conserve the health
of the community.

The reeords show that a Board of Health was established by the
Village Trustees on July 15, 1895, though its members were not. at
onee appointed. .As a mattcr of fact, safeguarding the health of our
Village was considered within the provinee of duties of the Board of
Trustees, who thus constituted themselv es a Board. of: Icalth. The
history of the Board of Health, therefore, is the history of the Village
Trustees until February: 1, 1906, when the first recorded meeting of
a separate body was held for the purpose of organization.

During this time, however, The Village Implo\cmcnt Association,
through its Sanitary Commlttee, mchtwutcd complaints. regarding the
sanitary conditions of the Village and bccame active in related duties.
This ecommittee was notably suceessful in ending the practice of dump-
ing garbage, ashes, and other refuse indiseriminately, and, in 1897,
it cstablished a regular service for the colleeticy of garbage and ashes,
the supervision of which was-assumed by the Village officials in 1903.

Through- the efforts of The Villaze Improvement Association, in
1897, an umsanitary open ditely, which ran- between Ridgewood and
I‘r.mklm Avenues flom a point near Broad Strect to the TIo-TTo-T\m
Brook, was. filled in.

In 1900 it established: the pr: actice of placing signs upon all homes
which held cases of infeetious disease. - . -

The first Board of Health consisted of the followmrr membors:
President, Frederick W. Gatdner; Seevetary, Dr. John T. ITxmkq Dr.
. A. Wlllald Dr. John B. Hopper, and Wm. T. Moore. C. A.
DeMund was app‘ointcd Health Ofﬁcer, Wm. H. Moore, I’Iumbing In-
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spector, and J. Blauvelt Mopper, Registrar of Vital Statisties. These
officials met onece a month in the old IFire ITouse until the following
June, when the Board begoa holding two, and sometimes more, meet-
ings & month. By-laws werc adopted I'chruary 6, 1906, when J, Blau-
velt Iopper was appointed: Clerk. On March 6th of the same year,
Judge David D. Zabriskic was made Connsel to the Board; in August,
George 1L Soult took thé office of Plumbing Inspeetor, in place of
Mr. Moou, and in Oectober, Dr. IL H. Pettit became Health Officer,
aupelscdmg Dr. DeMund. John B. Zabriski¢ was appointed Counsel
in January, 1907, succeeding Judge David D. Zabriskie. On May 7,
1907, owing to the death of Mr, Gardner, IEdward T. White was
appointed a member of the Board, and Dr. Hopper was cleeted P1081-
dent. On January 5, 1910, Mr. White became President.

The first garbage and 'IS]]. colleetor was J. I. Van Blarcom,. who
was appointed. in February, 1906. Dr. Hopper superseded him in
June, 1907, and upon his retirement in November of the same year,
the Faber brothers, who operated .the Ridgewood Disposal Works,
were granted a license to earry on the garbage and ash collection work.

The Board moved into the old Wilsey Building in November, 1908.
In February, 1909, Mr. Soult became Registrar of Vital Stntlstlcs,
sueeceding Mr. -Hopper. - On Mareh 16, 1910, Doctors W, L. Vroom
and ' C. A. DeMund were appointed mcmbcls of the Board, taking the
places of Doctors Hopper and Willard, while Clarence A. Demarest
was appointed Clerk.

‘The first ordinance’ passed by this ‘Board June 27, 1906, was that
w]atmg to nuisances, privy vaults, and cesspools; seavcnn'exs, conta-
gious diseases, burials, ete.. This ordinanee is still in foree, with an
added amendment regarding seavengers, made cifective in 1908, -Before
this, however, in Mareh, 1904, the Village Trustees enacted :Ordinance
No.- 54 This dealt with rules and-rcgulationskrcluting to plumbing,
water supply, and ventilation of buildings. . It was superseded in June
of last year, however, by the present Plumbing Code. In 1907, the
Board passed an ordinance: dealing with proper sewer connections .of
houses and other buildings; and in 1908, an ordinance was passed
regulating the handling and sale. of milk.  This was supplemented in
1910 by a provision fm the lieensing of persons, corporations, or asso-
ciations of persons to deal in milk. In 1909, the Board enacted an
ovdinance directing the elimination of bleedmg places of mosquitoes;
and in 1911 one 1cgulatm" proper care and cleaning of stables and
the disposition of manure.

In 1909, with the finaneial help of a few publie-spirited citizens,
the scrvices of a visiting nurse were seeured for a short period, in
a laudable-cffort to fostev, by instruetion in improved methods of house
eare, better living conditions in certain of our homes. . The formation
of ‘the Ridgewood Relicf Society was a dirvcet result of this effort.

. In the Spring of 1910, a plan for the regular inspection ‘of dairy
pwm]sw was adopted with the sct purpose of inculeating and enfore-
ing among the dairymen modern and cfficient dairy methods in the
production of high-grade milk. T'rom time to time, samples of milk
from the local dealers have been procured by the Board for analyses:
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This requirement hus had. « salutary cffeet, and- conscquently high
standards have been ensurved and maintained. It is satisfactory to
report that in-a reeent: statement issued by the Division of Creameries
and Dairies of the State -Boau‘d; the eondition of the Ridgewood dairvies
was declared as the best in the State, In addition to the supervisions
of the local Board, a:plan was avrranged in 1913 with the State Bonrd
to have its inspectors make ocunslmml visits to Ridgewood.

The ‘Board has always kept in close touch w1th the Village water
conditions. One of its accomplishments has been the installation of
a regular system of tosts.

The work of- exterminating the ‘mosquito has been earreied ‘on in
a vigorous manner for several years. Oil has been spread on all
stdgunnt water and in the lowlands, while many breeding places have
been drained and filled. During the past year the work has' been
supplemented by the Bergen County \Ioaqulto Extermination - Com-
mission, the 1‘ep1‘esent:ltivcs of which, in addition to muech valuable
work, have.inspeeted and charted every foot of ground in the Village.

In May, 1910, the Board moved into the Trust Company Buﬂdmg,
but later, in June, 1911, was installed in its present office in the
Munieipal Building. On August 9, 1911; George B. Richardson was
appointed Sanitary ]nﬂpcctor in the place of Mr Soult. Mr. Moore,
however, temporavily aeted in this capaeity for i short season. :

‘With the cehange in Village Government, in Deeember, 1911, the
entire Board antomatically went out of ofﬁcc, and the (,onunwsxonev
appointed a new Board naming Bdward T. White as President, Dr.
W. L. Vroom as Secerctary- '1‘1easurcr the other members’ being ]‘dward
S. Brower, John ITarmon, and Robmt W. Muns.. These, wlth Health
Officer Pottlt Inspector Murphy, Clerk Demarest, and: Reglstr.u- Morris,
constitute the present Village Health organization. Until the appoint-
ment of John J. Murphy, Frank Stevens acted as Registrar of Vital
Statisties.” When Wilbur Morris was appointed Village Clerk in Feb-
ruary, 1912, he also assumed the title and duties of Registrar. ' Mr.
Richardson, owing to the provisions of the Walsh Aet, could not legally
serve . as' Inspeetor and was made Deputy Ilealth Officer, his duties
combining that of Inspector. = Subsequently, Inspector Robert B.
Murphy, the proqent incumbent, was appointed and took office Jan-
nary 2, 1912,

In 1912 Joseph Houlihan was appointed Deputy Inspeetor for
several wecks to examine conditions in the Village pertaining to out-
houses, stables, sewer cmmeetlons, b1cedmg-p]accs for mosquitoes, cte.
He reported 72 outside privies and 73 violations of the manure
ordinance,

Consideration of the control of contagious discases in the schools
and churches was ]omtly taken up by the ‘Sehool Board and the Ridge-
wood Medical Society in 1912, and, after numecrous conferences, rules
and 1-cgu]at10m were for muluted w]nch greatly impr oved the quarantine
system.

During 1913, the Bo.n'd mstltutcd inspections of all loeal iec-eream
factories and notcd the sanitary conditions. of the Village stores.
Licensed vendors were also placed under inspeetion.
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In 1914, the new State Law restrietions required an examination
for g]undels of all horses removing into New York State. To comply
with this. regulation, over 200 hol'sm were examined, but no trace of
the disease was found.

In April, 1915, what might huvc provcd a’severe epidemie of searlet.
fever was cheeked by the prompt action of the Bourd in elosing ecrtain
of the public schools, Sunday-schools, and other plices where children
congregated. o .

In May of the same year the Board, with the aid of the Women’s
Club and the Boy Scouts, inaugurated a vigorous anti-fly: eampaign.
Mr. J. E. Coyle, of the Boy Scouts, was appointed a temporary Specml
Inspeetor, with the boys as his aetive assistants,

IEarly in the present yecar an epidemie of mcasles broke out which
beeame a cause of considerable conecrn on the part of the Board. A
rigid enforcement of the quarantine, however, proved effective in
holding it within bounds. Owing to the inconveniences and possible
distress imposed on families of patlents by long periods of quarantine,
and to accord with the custom adopted in other representative muni-
cipalities, the exelusion period from school was reduecd to fourteen
days.

On July 8, 1916, a spceial meeting was held to devise methods
to prevent the spre: ud to Ridgewood of the intantile- -paralysis epidemie
then raging in New York, As a means to this end the Sunday-schools,
the Y. M. C. A., and Play House. were closed to children under sixteen,
and numerous other measures were t.nkcn, which proved effeetive. Since
then a joint meeting has been held in Ridgewood of  the Boards of
Health of Rldgewood Glen Roek, ITo-ho- l\us, and Midland - Park, to
diseuss ways and means of preventing a spread of the discase. As
a result all visiting children were detained, while those from infeeted
distriets were quarantined for observation for a period. of two weeks.
A discussion of the County Isolation Iospital followed, and a joint
resolution was submitted to the Frecholders urging its early comple-
tion. It is hoped that the hospital, as well as the proposed co-oper-
ative laboratory, will beeome acquisitions of the very near future.

THE SHADE TREE COMMISSION

The first shade trees that were planted along the highways in
Ridgewood are located on Maple Avenue and extend north about one-
lnult mile from Ridgewood Avenue. They were set out during the
carly sixties along then- propertics on both sides of the street by
Captain Samuel Dmton, Sumuel Graydon, B. TF. Robinson, A. J.
Cameron, A. J. Zabriskic and Richard Van Dien.

A large number of. trces were given to the Village in 1880 by
I. W. England and were sct out under the dn'ectlon of J. W. Ed-
wards and B. I. Robinson.

“The first organized cffort for the improvement of the publiec grounds
was made in 18‘)1, when The Village Improvement Assocmtlou caused
the grounds surrounding the Opcn House 'to be plowed, grass-sced
sowed, and a number of bushes. planted.. The association contmued
to eave for the grounds for a number of ycars. Through their cfforts
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the Erie Railroad officials in 1901 guve flowers for beds and pluced
benches near the station.. It was due to their efforts: also that in 1897
all gigns and advertisements were removed from trees and rocks in
conspicuous. places throughout the Village.

As the result of further cfforts . ot The Village Improvement
Association, individual -property owners in 1901 furnished approxi-
mately two. hundred trees and set out the present silver maple trees
on Godwin Avenuc as far as dMelrose Place, on Franklin Avenue from
Monroe, Street to the railroad tracks, and .along Ridgewood Avenue
from the railroad tracks to North Pleasant Avenue.

Until- the establishment of the first Shade Tree Commission no
further organized effort was made by the citizens, although numerous
trees were set out from time to time by individual property owners.

THE COMMISSION

New Jersey, as well as Pennsylvania, Massachusetts and other
States has, by statute, made broad provisions for the care and plant-
ing of shade trees on the highways. Under these laws, in January,
]JO‘) Ridgewood’s first Shade Tree Commission was appointed. Its
membus were 1. E. Hutton, Chairman, Mauriece Fornachon and . ..
Foster. . R. Meier was made Seeretary. Soon after its organization,
M. Fornachon removed lx'om the Village and was suceceded by George
H. Stevens. ‘

The present Commission consists of W. II. Maicr, Chairman, Louis
Chable, Seeretary, and A. C. Brooks. Samuel D. Graydon is Super-
intendent. . Mr. Graydon has also served as-a member of the Com-
mission, having- been appointed to fill the vaecancy. caused by the
resignation of the former Commissioner'J. II. Birch.

The Commission. has followed' a systematie plan of planting trees
along all our streets; of caring properly for the thousands of strect
and pnrk trees that I)eautlfy the V illage; and of removing dead and
mdesu'able trees.

STATUTE

To the jurisdiction of the Shade Tree Commission is committed
by statute the p]anting, setting out, maintenance, protection, and eare
of the shade trees in the pubhc ]n"hw ays of the Village; ‘and also
the management, maintenance, nnpmvemcnt repair, and control of
the public parks helonging to the Village.

STREET WORK

In the discharge of their duties the Shade Tree Commissioners may
tentatively decide to plant -trees along. certain streets or parts of
streets. The statute requires that notice .of such ‘intention: to plant
be advertised onee in a village newspaper at least twcnty days before
‘a publie hearing at which the final deeision is made; or at least ten
days hefore the hearing such notice may Dbe served personally upon
any owner of real eqtatc in front of whose property it-is" proposed
to plant or remove a tree. This advertisement or motice announces
the -intention to met and gives the date and hour of the meeting
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at which final deeision is to be made. " At this meeting a earcful hear-
ing is given to all sugg estlom and objcctions, and such changes as
fhen seem advisable arve made in the proposed plan..

PLANTING

During the past four years: there ‘were set out by and under the.
authority of the Commission the following trees, along about eight
miles of streets:—

Norway mnples oo e e 802
Red 0nkS ..o i e 153
Orjental plwes ..., e e i 140
Pin onRS coou e i e 02
Searlet onks oo i e e 41

Crimean linden ..o i 35
BT L O SN 35
European linden ... oot 18
Liquidambur ..o i i e e 12
Aflanthus .o e 7
Lombardy popltrs oo o e 3
SUgIE MAPICS oo e e i e 2

1,430

Of these about 30 trees were replacements. The number of new trees
planted by the Shade Tirec bOllllnHSlOll within -these four years is
therefore about 1400.

The thoughtful eitizen will realize and applccmte ‘what an increas-
ingly valuable asset these trees will- become to the Village and how
great a part they will play-in making .our “Ridgewood- Beautiful’’.

The cost of statutory planting -(that is, planting done under the
aunthority of the statute creating Shade Tree Commissions) is assessed
against the proporties benefited and is entered upon the tax bill. - Onee
paid, sueh an assessment does not recur, as the cost of any replace-
ments of these plantings is borne: by the Commission. Tree planting
done by request is charged for at the time of the planting. :

CARE

The proper care of the trces is a matter of labor and of expense
that is proportionately inereased with cach year’s planting of addi-
tional trees.

The soil about the trees must be kept by cultivation or mulchmg
in such condition as to conserve the moisture, to proteet the roots and’
hase from winter’s harmful ecffects, and to add plant food to the soil.
In times of drought the trees must be watered. © At regular mtervals
the trees must be sprayed. :

Defective or irregular branches. must be. pruned, ecavities must be
clcamcd, and branches that grow so low as to interfere with pedes-
trians on sidewalks or with vchieles on the streets must-be removed.
In zealously performing its duties, the Commlssxon finds "its reward
in adding: to the comfort of the public and in ineressing the beauty
of the Village.
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PARKS

" The Commission has recently set cut a number of trees in Linwood
Park, established -in 1910. It has also the cave of the trees on the
land acquired by the Village for: a- Parkway along the Ho-Ho-Kus
Brook. . This Parkway was begun as the result of an investigation in
1908 by the ecivie improvement expert, Mr. Charles Mulford Rob-
inson. “When completed, it will be one of the most heautiful and
attractive features of the Village.

STATION PLAZA

The Commission has recently been responsible, under an arrange-
ment with the contractors, for the laying out and planting of the trees
and shrubbery in the new station improvements.

THE BUILDING COMMITTEE

In order to safeguard the citizens against imperfeet and unsafe
building struetures and to reduee to a minimum the fire hazards of
the Village, the Board of Commissioners adopted, on the 25th of Feb-
ruary, 1913, a building code which regulates and controls the eon-
struetion, -alteration, and repair of:all buildings in the Village, and
which provides for a Building Committee of not less than three, a
Superintendent of Buildings, and an Inspeetor of Buildings, who are
charged with the duty of-seeing that-the ordinanees are strietly. en-
forced.

The Bmldmg Committee - consists of the three Village Commis-
sioners. Mr. W. Simonds,- the Village: Jngmeer, is -Superinten-
dent and Impector of Buildings.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AND FINANCE

As its name implics, this department has to do with the. entire
handling of the receipts and expenditures of the munieipality that
has adopted the commission form of government.  The laws of the
State, however, particularly exeept the finances of the Board of Edu-
cation from this control. Money for education is raised by taxation,
like all the rest of the Villuge moneys, but. it. is paid over to the Board
of Eduecation for expenditure under. their own control and aceounting.
. In January of cach:year the Board of Commissioners prepare a.
budget of the money which in their judgment is required to run the
Village. - This budget is adopted finally in.July.  The Assessor is then
‘given the amount required and it is then his business to raise by tax-
ation - the money asked for. - The  appropriations for the Board of
Edueation in Ridgewood are voted by the taxpayers at a spccml clee-
tion called for this purpose.. "The budget prepared by the Board of
Commissioners is .not submitted to the voters for their approval.

- The money requlred to run a munieipality is spent before it is
received; in other wotdq, the revenue from taxes paid in Deeember
of each year is used to pay the expenses of that ycar: thus the Village
is foreed to horrow money in anticipation of taxes.
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When Ridgewood adopted Commission Government, the department
of revenue and finanee established a proper system of hookkeeping.
Euaeh year it is required to have a eomplete audit made of all books
and vouchers.

Mr. George U. While is- the present Commissioner acting as the
head of the depm'tmcnt a position which he has held since 1ts estab-
lishment in 1911,

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS, PARKS AND PUBLIC PROPERTY
Physical Improvemenls

The first sidewalk “‘laid’’ in Ridgewood was. a substantial one of
wood and was built by the firm of Zabriskic & Hawes in the carly
70’s. This sidewalk ran from .the corner of Ridgewood and Broad
Streets, south on Broad Stieet and turning the corner of Dayton
Street it eontinued to and aecross Prospeet Street to the residenece of
Mr. Hawes, which was loeated in an open meadow and now stands-
on Dayton Street opposite the Reformed Chureh. The ¢‘tide of travel”’
quickly turned from. Prospect Street to the station through the mud
and the sidewalk was worn out by the general publie-or hurned for
kindling wood. -Mr, Joseph W. Edwards and other residents at this
time also laid wooden sidewalks along their properties \vhmh were all
later superseded by stone walks.

Up to about 1880 no organized- attcmpt had heen nmde to 1mp10v
the, sanitary conditions of the Village. * About that time one of our
citizens felt that conditions threatened a serious epidemie of typhoid
fever.. The scetion between Broad and Prospect Streets, composed of
hog and thickets of brush, was like a swamp on a hill. The cesspools
and the wells kept at-about the same level. The danger of inter-
communication was apparent.  Then occurred the first concentrated
cffort to better the conditions. Two owners of considerable property
in that scction planned to improve its value. A drain about five feet
deep had previously been run ' through Broad and IHudson Streets
teross Prospeet Street and through the Opera Iouse site to Ridge-
wood Avenue and Oak Strect, dmmm«f into a bog on the north- side
of Ridgewood Avenue to the region of the present Franklin Avenue
and heyond, into an area afterwards occupied by the lumber yards
of (. G. Van Dien. It was proposed to dig this drain to a depth of
twelve or fifteen feet. ‘This was done, and a cuttm'r was made through
the hard-pan that formed the bcd and the rim of the basin of the
swamp. Immediately the water in the wells dropped ten feet in level;
its quality was changed and the. danger that threatened the settlement
was averted. Hundveds of eart-loads of dirt were afterwards dumped
into the Ridgewood-Franklin Avenue. bog until it disappeared.

Attentlon began now to-be given to a better orgmnmtlon of the
work. of maintenanee and 1mprovemcnt of .the roads. All road work
Had - been -handled without any system. The ‘“‘Path Master’’ might
spend quite a sum. of money on ecertain portions of the road, only to
hnvc his work undone by his suceessor, who had other ideas of im-
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provement.  Under such a system, -consistent progress was impossible.
Following the efforts of John A. Marinus, however, a plan was adopted
of employing an engineer who should .direet all work to the accom-
plishment of a fixed and unchanging purpose.

Later, through the persistent efforts of Isnac I8, llutton, Ridge-
“wood Avenue was graded, with & eut.of about ten feet at Irving Street,
and . with 'the consequent result that the smincc water was drained
naturally to the Ho-Ho-Kus Brook.

The people of the Village have made constant progress in improv-
ing the roads and streets. “In 1866 the first Village streets were laid
out. In 1888 the principal streets were mncadann/cd As a pioneer of
macadamized roads the Village made expenditure in 1892 of $30,000,
and made- its strcets sccond to mone in the State. The permanent
improvement of Maple Avenue during 1915, and the laying of brick
pavement in the streets about the unhoud statlon in 1914 and 1916,
are deseribed clsewhere in this book,

Establishment of Depariment

Previous to the establishment of ‘an organized departinent of. the
Village to care for such-matters, The Village Improvement Associa-
tion, through ils Street Committee, in 1898, inaugurated -the use of
recepiacles for the disposition of rubbish on the Village streets. Six
reeeptacles were placed on the street corners of the main thoroughfare.

During the same year: the association was instrumental in sceuring
the passige of an ordinance preventing store sweepings. from. being
emptied upon the sidewalks and . into the strcets. In 1901 the asso-
ciation engaged a man to sweep the main street of the Village two
days a week, and later started the street sprinkling system.

With the adoption in 1911 of Commission Government, thic Depart-
ment of Public Improvements, Parks and Public Property was estab-
lished, first under the direction of Commissioner Frederick: Pfeiffer,
and upon the expiration of his term. of office in 1915, under the diree-
tion of the new Commissioner, Dr. J. B, Hopper. Mr. I'. W. Simonds
is Village Engineer and M. J. D. Carlock is Superintendent of Streets
and Sewers.

This department is. 105])011811)10 for the maintenance of all Village
streets, of storm .and sanitary scwers and of the sewage pumping
plants and disposal system. It plans and construets all new streets,
sewers, curbs, gutters and sidewalks, when laid out and built by the
Village. - It attends to the purchasc of all supplies and materials
used in its work. It controls the Village yard and railroad spur on
Chestnut Street. It has a steam-roller and seven horses for use in
its -work, four of the horses being used. also -for hauling the fire appa-
ratus when called to fircs. ~An automobile is furnished the Superin-
"tendent .of Streets for use in connection with his duties.

The department is also 1c%ponmb]e for the construetion of all build-
ings, in aecordance with the provisions of the building code, and for
the care of parks and public property other than t]mt assigned ' to
another particular department.
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The Villnge Engincer

The Village Engincer has active . charge of the depmtment and
makes peuodlcnl reports to the Commissioner directing ~the depart-
ment, He makes surveys and investigations; he designs all construe-
tion work and draws the necessary speecifications; he -is responsible
for all econtract work done for the Village and keeps a record of ex-
penditures of the department classified so as to show actual. and unit.
costs for all work done by the Village.

The Superintendent of Strects and Sewers

The Superintendent of Streets and Sewers reports to the Village
Engineer and aects as the, immediate head of all employes in the de-
partment. Ile is responsible for the earrying out of all work done.
by the Village in aceordance with his specific instructions.

Sewer System

The department has in its care approximatcly nineteen miles of
sewer pipe and two sewer plants, one located ‘on the west side, which
acts as a pumping station, and another on the east side, construeted
in 1903, which contains a lavge septie tank to which the pipe system
first’ conduets the sewage. IIere the bulk of the organic matter is
precipitated and retained. It is then subjceted to a bacterial aetion,
which disintegrates and: consumes it. The overflow of water is eon-
ducted to filter bels of eoke covered with erushed stone. It.is there
purified and is then discharged into a strecam running from the Village.

Sixty-one flush tanks havé been installed at the dead ends of sewers.
Once every twenty-four hours they automatically flush the sewer. ]mcs
to which they dre connceted.

The cost of maintaining the sewage system, including wagcs of two
men on day and two on mnht duty, expenditure for “electrie power
at the pumping station, and expenses of repairs and up-keep of both
plants, amounts approximately to $1.00 per inhabitant per year.

ADVISORY BOARD

With the establishment of the Commission form of Government in
1911, the newly eclected Commissioners deemed it to be in keeping
with the spirit of that form of government to invite the formation
of a body of citizens into an Advisory Board who would meet with
the Commissioners from time to time for the diseussion of problems
of publie interest and their best mode of solution.

The present Board consists of George . Brackett, De Witt Clinton,
Jr., T..J. Foster, W. .J. Tullerton, Buvlv Hipkins, Frederiek Pfeiffer,
Franz Schwartz, J. IH. Snyder, S. 8. Walstrum, H. € White, and
J. D. Van Emburgh.. While this Advisory Board has no legal standing
in' the gmcmment of the Village, the opinions and coumcl of its
members are of. great value, not only to the Commissioners in deter-
mmmg the polieics to be pursued in pubhc affairs, but also to cvery.
citizen of Ridgewood, who profits by a wise and efficient’ administra-
tion of the publie busmess
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ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE

The administration of justice, through the courts of law, is one
of - the most solemn and important exereises of the powers of govern-
ment. . The government which we have. adopted in this country hy
the free choice of the people is based upon the absolute independence
of the judicial department. The courts stand for the protection of
rights, for the redressing of wrongs, for the punishment of erime.
They are the great safeguards of the freedom of the people; hience
we clothe these institutions with dignity and invest them with im-
pressive. formalities that they. may be duly granted the vespeet and
ohedienee which are due their exalted prerogatives and powers.

The judieial funections of the Village of Ridgewood are performed
by three courts: The Court of Common Pleas, located in Hackensack
and commonly known as the County Court; the Distriet Court of
Ridgewood, and the Reecorders’ Court.

Court of Common Pleas

Baron Van der Cappellen established a Court of Union Hill for
the purpose of settling differences between the Indians and white set-
ilers. . The exact date of its institution has never been ascertained.

In 1655 Adrian Post was appointed by Van der Cappellen as his
deputy to ‘‘treat with the ITackensack Indians for the releasc of pris-
oners’’; later, in 1657, a treaty was made with the Indians, through
another deputy, Van Dineklogen, which provided, among other things,
for the ‘‘submission of disputed matters to the Courts of Justice at
IHospating, near Hackensack.” .

For nine years, from 1652 {o 1661, and possibly longer, the Couri.
of Burgomasters and Schepens exercised aetive opvr.nlmn A loeal
Court, consisting of a Schout (presiding judge) and three Schepens,
or magistrates, was established at Bergen in September, 1661, This
Court had eivil and eriminal jurisdietion, and any appeal from its
decisions was made to the Director-General and Counsel at Manhattan.

In 1683 the twenty-four proprietors vesponsible for “‘The TFun-
damental Coustitutions for the Provinee of East New Jersey in Amer-

" deereed that neither ‘‘justiece nor right should he hought or sold”’
and that “‘all tryals should be by twelve men, and; as near as it may
be, peers and cquals’; also that ““in eases of life there shall be at
first twenty-four returned by the sheriff for a giand inquest”. Tt
thus appears that owr present jury system (grand and petit) was
sceurely established at that ecarly period in the history of American
]unsprudenee Indeed it has heen practically maintained without
serions ~change, notwithstanding the - constantly ch‘m«vnw mﬂuenceq
affecting the life of the people.

On May 14, 1688, an Aect. passed hy ﬂ]c General Aqqcmbl\ con-
vened at’ Per th Amboy, ‘provided for a ‘‘Court for Trial of Small
Causcs’. . This Court was to be held monthly at:the house of Law-
vence Andriss at New ITackensack, the name by which the sofﬂcmen‘r-
on-the west side of the Hackensack River was-then known, the terri-
story on the cast side of the river being distinguished as ‘‘Old Hack-
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ensuck'. ‘A similar Court convened at the house of Dr. Johmmcsx, on
the Hackensuck River.

Prior to 1709 Bérgen County did not include within its boundaues
the territory west Qf the Huckensack River. In that year the lines
of the county were extended, and the county lying west of the Hack-
ensack River admitted. The Villuge of Hackensack heeame: the County
seat, and there the first Court house was built. This edifice stood on
““Phe Green’’, near Main Street. It was dcstrowd by the L’mtlsh
in 1780.

In 1704 the Supreme Court of this State was established by Lord
Cornbury.

The seceond Court house and u jail were built in Youghpough,: in
Franklin Township, during the Revolution.

“The third Court house of Ber: aen’ County, the first after the Rev-
olution, was built at' Hlackensack, near Main Stl‘cet on property ¥ which
later l)elonucd to Richard Pawl Terhune. A clexk ¢ office ‘was built
about 1812 on the west side of Main Street, north of the Susquehanna
Railvoad, and remained until 1853, In 1819 the fourth Court house
was built on property decded by Robert Camphell. It was enlarged
several times, and in 1892 wus reeonstrueted.
~ On July 6, 1910, was laid the corner-stone of the present Countv
Court House on Main Street, Hackensack,

The administrative’ sy qtcm of Common Law reaching down to us
from colonial times, lmd its origin in the Common Law of England.
Though modifieations in- forms and in practice are made from time
to. time to meet the requirements of modern changing conditions, yet
the fundamental prineiples-of the law, founded as thw are on inherent
rights, eontinue %ubst.um.ﬂ]\' undmnu‘cd from generation io generation.
The tendeney of our day is toward simplification of plcndmg:s and
praetice. Tn the place of the dozen judges formerly requiied as essen-
tial to rule our County C,mut 1 single judge now prundcs with marked
cfficiency.

In the carlier days most of the judges officiuting in the Court of
Common Pleas were not lawyers, but for many ycars it has heen the
invariable custont to scleet the ]nesxdmu judge from thc mnl\s of men
who have taken their legal degree.

Ridgewood has had the honor of yepresetitation on the beneh of
this Cowrt when Honorable David . D. Zabriskic ‘served ds’ its' judge
from 1898 to 1908.

District Court

The Distriet Court ranks as one of Ridgewood’s most useful insti-
tations, It hag jurisdietion over the whole of Bergen County and
supersedes the “ancient and honorable’” Court of Justiee of the Peace.

Theré are three Distriet Courts for the County, and these have
their court rooms located as follows:

TFirst Distriet in the City. of Englewood ; Scoond Distriet in the
Borough of Rutherford; Third Distriet in thc \'ll]d"C‘l of Flackensuck
and Ridgewood.
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The judges of these Courts frequently exchange courtesies by hold-

‘ing court for one another. - As the:reader is, naturally, interested more
.particularly in what concerns Rldgewood the Third Distriet: Court
only will be referred to.
-+ This Court was created by an Act of the Legislature of this State
-entitled ‘““An Aect to incorporate the Third Judicial Distriet of the
County of Bergen’’. This was passed April 11, 1908, and took effect
January -1, 1909,

The. territory assigned to the jurisdiction of this Court, as defined
by the Act ereating it, embraces that portion of Bergen County reach-
ing from New York State line on the north to Garfield and Rutherford
on the south, and from the Hackensack River on the east to the Passaic
County line on the west.

With a view of avoiding possible inconvenience and annoyanee that
the extensive population over this wide territory might be subjected
to, the Legislature deereed that Court should be held in two different
places in this District. Hackensack and Ridgewood were thus chosen.

The. Court has commodious court rooms in the. County Court House
at Hackensack and in the Trust Company Building at Ridgewood.
At first the Ridgewood Court held its sessions in Plospcct IIall but
two years later moved to its present ‘quarters.

The regular Court days are: Tuesday in Ridgewood; Puday in
Hackensack. Speeial days for jury trials are set by the 1udge

Judge Cornelius Doremus was the first judge to hold this Court.
He was appointed by Governor Fort on January 18, 1909, to secrve
for a term of five years. e oceupied the bench for the full term,
and was suceceded by Judge Peter W. Stagg, the present incumbent.

The Court has eivil jurisdietion only. Criminal cases .ave tried
c]scwhore

It is a busy Court; cach session lists a lon" calendar of landlord
and tenant cases, actlous for breach of contraect, accident suits, actions
to. enforee ordinances, and similar actions. other than those involving
offenses against eriminal laws, and equity cases. It is essentially what
is popularly deseribed -as -‘‘The People’s Court’. ~Its sessions.con-
tinue the year round and by its expeditious trial of eases at a mini-
mum of cost to litigants, has well deserved its popular title. -

Its reputation and importance arve further cvidenced by the large
volume of business brought to it. - The majority of the ecases are tried
by the judge without a jury. The court opens promptly at 9:30 in
the forenoon and continues in session until all eases mml\ed ‘ready’’
are disposed of. TFrequently a court day lasts until six o’clock, often
later. ‘

The Court officials consist of a judge, clerk. assistant elerk, ser-
geant-at-arms, and stenographer.  Judson B. Salisbury of Ridgewood
has acted as clerk of the Court almost since its organization.

The old saying. ‘‘The Law’s Delay’’, has no application to this
particular Court. - Usually not more than two weeks are occupied from
the presentation of a ‘case to the rendering of a decision.. There are
sixteen fixed rules governing the Court’s proeedure, hesides the ‘‘Gen-
cral Rules of Practise?’ fixed by the statules of the State.
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During the first five years of the e\lstence of the Com't upward
of six thousand suits were introdueed and disposed of in anl\ensack
and Ridgewood,: and not one per cent of these were appcaled to the
Supreme Court

The Court is already well ndvanccd in its-second five-year term.
“The Court of the People’ is one of the institutions of which Ridge-
wood is justly proud.

Recorder’s Court

This Court was established by the Village. Commissioners on April
28, 1914, under the authority conferred upon them by an act of the
Legislature of the State of New Jersey entitled ‘A supplement to an
act—An Aect for the formation and government of Villages—approved
February 23rd, One Thous'md I‘lf'ht IIundlcd and Nincty-one’’, ap-
proved March 26 1914. |

The act plovldes that “*Such recor dcr shall have the same ]uns-
dlctlon, power, and authovity in eriminal matters, affiliation proeced-
ings, relief, removal and settlement of the poor, breaches of the peace,
vagraney and disorderly ‘eonduet, and violation of the munieipal or-
dinanees, as are now conferred upon justices of peace in this State’’.

On the date first mentioned the Village Commissioners appointed
Trederick V. Watson, Counsellor-at-Law of the State of New Jersey,
practising in this Vl]larrc, as its recorder for a term of four years.
Prior to the institution ‘of this Cotrt recorder’s dutics were exereised
by justices of peace, who were cleeted by the people by popular vote.
Dr. George M. Ockford, the present Village Postmaster, then a justice
of peace, formerly acted in ‘this capacity for this - community.

The Recorder’s Court has jurisdietion in.all .matters specifically
conferred by statute, other than the above mentioned, notably for
violations of the laws npplymg to the use and opcratlon of motor
vehieles.

The Reeorder is also a peace ofﬁcer He has the power to commit
to the county- jail, to await the action of the prosecutor as to adniission
to(bail or retention in such county jail, all persons charged with any
-serious violation of the eriminal statutes of this State. - Since persons
charged can waive such hearving if they so desire and be commltted
forthwith, or they may make a s’mtcmcn‘r the recorder’s duty requires
him to investigate whether or not they have committed the breach of
the eriminal statuie charged.. Should he find reasonable’ grounds for
assuming that they have committed: such violation, it is. his duty to
commit them forthwith, and_rest the final outecome upon the deeision
of the prosecutor and the grand jury of the county.

Bar of Ridgewood

The story of the judicial institutions in which the cm?cm of Rldﬂ'e-
wood are interested would be incomplete without at least some refer-
ence to’ those of the ]eg'll profession who have, at varlom times,
represented our residents in the Courts.

As in other activities of the community, the legal business of the eciti-
zens was taken care of by lawyers having offices in nearby communities,
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principally “in ankensack, whare thc County Court had been estab-
lished and which offered an attractive sphere for their calling.

The increase’in population and the growth of the community in
the last years have brought a number of the legal profession to the
Village,  While a few of these maintain offices in Hackensack and
New York City, those who have offices in the Village at the present
time, are the following.” The year recorded after each name respee-
tively indicates-the time of establishing practice.

Judge David' D, Zabriskie - )

Judge Cornelins Doremus .
John B, Zabriskie ..... . 1904

Frederick 'V, Watson ., 1007
George V. Halsey ... ... 1900
Grant C. FoxX ...uiuiiiiii it iiairetinieronnasniais 1

Lewis R, Conklin coo.oviiiiiiniiiiiinin iinidienenenn, 1013
Clyde A, Bogert .oooiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiiniiiieaie, M5
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CHAPTER IV

EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS AND THE
PUBLIC LIBRARY

PUBLIC SCHOOLS

O one who is interested in the present. public school system of
 Ridgewood there is a certain faseination in- tracing its growth
from small beginnings. .Today there are six different centers,
where 64 teiichers are engaged in- the work of educating our 1,600
children.. The system is administered by a Board of Education, clectcd
by the eitizens, the present personnel of which are:—~Dr, H, S. Willard,
President; E. B. Lilly, Viee-President; Hadley Ford, Clerk; A Pmnk
Halsted, ]] M. Bull and ‘D, R. Bacon.

Standmg on Harrison Avenue near the Paramus Chureh, a llttle,
one-room churehlike structure, disused sinee  the Kenilworth School
was built, was for many years the place where the lamp of knowledge
was kept aglow in the Paramus region by a long succcssmn of school-
masters and. schoolmistresses,

Four other schools had mcccded ‘the present ‘building on approxi-
mately the same site. The first, used in the year following the Treaty
of Peace that established the mdcpendcnce of the United States, was
formerly a dwelling-house. Jt was located about fifty feet southeast
of the: present Paramus Chureh building, a slight depression of .the
carth still marking the spot. This building was itself the suecessor
of a still earlier schoolhouse built in that vmuutv

In 1810 -2 change beeame neeessary and a small stone house was
erccted for school purposes near -the sexton’s: house of the Paramus
Church.

In- 1820 a seeond. stone school building was erceted ‘about two
hundred feet east of the present structure. This, in 1845, gave place
to a frame building. near the same ground. Tt was used. until 1871,
when the present building was crected.

It is interesting to note that the supelvlslon of schools rested with
the church authorities untﬂ the:eivil powers’ tool\ over their ndmm-
istration.

On M]dlnnd ‘Avenue there is in present use an 'Lttractlvc school
building the predecessor” of  which, a hundred ‘ycars ago, stood on
Paramus Road between Ridgewood Avenue and Grove Street, In these
two schools, for gencrations, the little Dutch children from the scat-
tered farms studied their A B C’s and applied themselves to the
mastery of the three R's.

Several miles to the west of Paramus, beyond the fields and wood
of ‘the Van' Emburgh farm, the little Vllla"c of Qodwinville had eome
into existence a hundred years ago on the heights just beyond the
western: borders of the present Ridgewood. . Here, on the Goffle Road
between the present Midland Park Railroad station and the brook,
stood a little brownstone school ‘where Dutch and English were com-
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,monl_\, spoI\en l’urt oi a blucksnuth shop, still stnndmg, is the only
trace that remaing of this old school. Children of a later day were
provided with more modern accommodations and better instruetion in
the iiewer Midland Park Publie. School and in the Duteh Christian
Private School.” .
<A part of @ buc’k bulldmg,, ereeted in 17 40 just south of the resi-
dence of Garret I, Hopper at the. junction ot Harristown Road and
Rock Road (110\\"1150(1 as a dwelling and within. the present limits of
Glen:Rock), furnished a generation ago, a one-room school—the fourth:
In this meagre building many of Ridgewood’s eitizens had their-carliest
sehooling. ‘It scems to have been attended mainly by the -children
living .in that seetion. extending from HMarrison Avenue. through the
present center of the Village to Gleu Rock, which it included.

- In 1872 the four scllools_mcntioncd proved - too remote to be at-

tended by many children in the homes which had sprung up. A new
school distriet was thén formed, and 4 wooden schoolhouse containing
two rooms was built on the site of what is now the present Umon
Street School. "When Ridgewood Township was set off from Franklin
Township, four yeavs l.ltcr this remained the only sehoolhouse in the
Township, and here all the children of Ridgewood reccived their school--
ing. Later, inercasing attendants made it neceessary to add two more
rooms. - The attie was converted for this purpose. . Subsequently. the
‘hasement of the Duteh Reformed Chureh was used -as an annex to
provide for the ever-inereasing pupils.
At this juncture publie opinion ventured to assort itself.” At a
school meeting it was voted to buy the cornficld on the corner of
Beeeh Street and Franklin Avenue and to build upon it a large
wooden schoolhouse at a cost of $35,000.  But public opinion had not
fully expressed ‘itself—the women had not yet spoken! On the fol-
lowing day a -petition was framed and. put into eireulation by the
-women asking .the Trustees to call another meeting to reconsider the
resolution and ‘to ask for cnough money to build a structure of ‘brick,
instead of frame..- The 'l‘rust(.cs complied, a mecting: was called, and
‘almost ‘unanimously $47,000 was voted and -a brick building ordered.
This building, located on Beeeh Street, was completed and oecupied
about October 1, 1895. It is still, in certain respeets, the best school
building in the  Vill: \ge of Rld"‘C\\OOd With cight good-sized class-
rooms, .scven small rooms, and an assembly hall on' the third floor, the
building afforded a weleome relief from the erowded conditions of the
Union Street Sehool.- The use of the latter building was diseontinued,
and later it was torn down to make way for the plcsent Union Strcet
School - building.

When complctcd the Lecch Stl‘ect School was deemed second to
none of its size in the State. . It was constructed during the adminis-
tration of Mr. D. W. La Fetra as President of the Board  of Educa-
tion. This worthy citizen has always taken an active interest. in publie
sehool work and, for many ycars, has been a telling influence .in
educational matters in the Village. It may be intercsting to note that
the idea of “‘The Graded School System’’ which was incorporated into
a law by the State of New Jersey originated with Mr. . La. Fetra.:
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Though the plan was introduced in the State Legislature by Dr.
Thomas @. Chattle of Long Braneh, it was suggested by Mr, La Fetra
‘to’Dr. Chattle, while a teacher in the carly fifties under the lattér’s
ineumbeney as School Superintendent of Ocean Township, New Jersey.

The progressiveness of ‘the Ridgewood of twenty odd years ago is
indicated by the fact that in 1894 a kindergarten class under Miss
Ivy 'W. Green was established in conneetion with its sehool.  This
was one of the first, pubhc kindergartens in New. Jersey.

In 1895 the nine.years’ elementary course was remodeled into an
cight years’ elementary course, followed by a three years’ high-school
eourse. ‘That same year, Seéwing, under Miss Sara Denison; Manual
Training, under Mr. B. C. Wooster, and more advanced -Art and Me-
chanical Drawing, under Miss Maggie Vreeland, were made a part
of the school eurrieulum. Those were pioneer days in the introduction
of handwork in the public schools.  Under the leadership of Mur.
Wooster, Ridgewood ‘became one of the pmncex school communities
in industrial education.

During the ten years from 1890 to 1905, t]le Beech Street School
building housed all the Rldgewood school chlldlen

In 1905 Ridgewood met- the increased needs of its school children
by constluetm" three four-room .school buildings: “The Kenilworth
Place, Union Stlect .and Monroe Street schools.

During the year 1900-1906 under the supermtendcncy of Dr. Wm.
T, Whltncy, the high-school course was extended to cover four years,
and' the work of e\tendm" -and modernizing the school,: which Mr,
Wooster had begun, was grcatly advanced. The high- sehool graduates
of that ycar began to. enter college and 1101ma1 schools.. Each succeed-
ing year has seen their numbers inerease.

In 1906 four rooms were added to the Union Stleet Sehool.

The schools grew so steadily for the next five years that; in 1911,
the pressure of need demanded the immediate ervection of a new build-
ing. The Harrison Avenue School was begun. At the same time work
of extension was started upon the I\emlwmth Place and Monroe Street
buildings.. To cach of these buildings seven rooms and assembly hall,
were added.

In 1912 the growing educational neceds of the scetion known as
Upper Ridgewood prompted an appropriation for the purchase of a
plot on Erie Avenue, corner of California Street, containing 2 aeres,
and for the ercction thercon of a one-story portable building.

In 1913 the High School grew almost to the limits of the capacity
of the Beech Street building. Only one room remained ‘unoceupied.
To cope with other demands for spaee three portable schoolhouses. were
placed on. the adJucent grounds to provide, .temporarily, for three
grammar grades. In the same year the citizens of Ridgewood voted
to purchase as a site for a new High School building and an’ athletic
field the property of Captain John A, Edwards, situated on East
Ridgewood Avenue, corner of Heermance Road, and the field fronting
the same formerly known as the White Star Baseball Field.

The hill on which it is proposed to ereet the building comprises a
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plot of 518 feet by 346 fect. With the uthletic‘ﬁeld it eovers a total
of approximately nine acros.

The old Edwards house was removed, and the large barn was placed
on the Athletic Field-at the north end and has been renovated and
put in first-class condition, making an attractive club house for the
use of the High School athletes.. Set in among fine old trees, it pre-
gents an attractive appearance which is mueh enhanced by the large
flagpole, erected on ‘the ground adjoining, presented on July 4, 1915,
to the school children by the Independence Day Association of Ridge-
wood. - A 'large American flag, for use on this pole, was also presented
on- the same -day, by Belgcn Council,: Junior -Order "of Ameucan
Mechanies,

The High School on this hill, where the building will be easily
visible from a considerable. dlstnnce, and’ the "Athletic “Ficld facing it,
forming a natural amplutheutle, will together provide a site unsur-
passed in the State and will, no doubt, stimulate emulation among
-school authorities in other commumtxcs

This property .cost the town $28,500. ' Five thousand dollars has
been expended sinee to raise the Athletic Field to a higher level. Earth
from the Station Improvement was used for this purpose. The street
passing through the property and marking the line between the school
site and the Athletic Field has been glatultously decded by Muys. Martha
Edwards to the Board of Education.

By 1914 the High School required and occupled the entire Beech
Street edifice. It made use of every available nook and corner in the
building. Two: attic rooms were finished off to.serve. as cooking and
sewing rooms. Three cellar rooms were put into use as a Manual Train-
ing room and’laboratories for Physics and Chemistry. Meanwhile the
over-erowded * conditions . of the classes .in the Beach-Union Primary
and Grammar Sechools caused the arranging of four of these classes on
part time, despite the accommodations affmdcd tempoxauly by the
three portable one-room buildings.

In 1915 a four-room sehool building to cost $17,500 was authorized
to replace the po1tab1e structure on the Upper R1dgewood School site.
This buildjng, since completed has been 'in"use since sehool opened in
October, 1916. The design is of the mission type. . It.is one story in
height, and contains four regulation size elassrooms and teachers’ room.
It is furnished with the most modern:of plumbing, heating and wven-
tilating equipment. This school is the only example of its type any-
where in the vieinity and, besides offering every advantage in lighting,
'ood vcntllntxon, and pLactlcablhty from an administrative v1ewpomt .
1t is in:proper harmony with the group of artidtie ltomes surrounding
it in_that locality, and is as pleasing to the cye as one could desire.
The building is construeted so that other similar units may be added
as oceasion may requive. It is designed to provide for a full eighth
grade and kindergarten grammar school “with a large assembly hall
aceessible from all corridors. Besides bomg in daily use for school
purposes, the building has become the community centre for all forms
of civie and social gatherings and has proved a most valuable adjunct
to the community. it serves.
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During the same ycul (191.)) » & proposition to issue bonds to the’
extent of $150,000 for the purposc of creeting a unit, at least, of 2
new: High School building was vetoed by the citizens, the time being
conmdeled as most inopportunc for the expenditure of such a sum.
After several months of agitation and efforts to educate the people in
school . requirements, an appropriution of $225,000 was 'votcd, in Jan-
uary, 1916, to build a-modern High Sehool building.. The firm of
Tracy & Swaltwout, of New York Clty, was scleeted to design the new.
group, and contraets have been signed.and work already. started upon
what bids fair to be the most beautiful as well as the. most ‘practicable
series of buildings for educational purposes in thc public school system
of this or any nelrrhbonn" State. .

The plans pwvxde for a group auannemcnt ‘of buildings. : The ad-
vantages of inereased light and air and the unusual oppoltunmes
afforded by the natural contour of the site, make such a design prae-
tieal, pleasing to the ey¢, and ceonomical in construetion. - The aim to
conserve the beautiful grove.of trees was another determining factor:
in- the -arrangement of ‘this architcetural ensemble. Accoxdm-v 1o the
‘proper artistic standards a group of low:buildings with e\tcuol lines
‘broken up and steep pitched roofs were cssentml to give the requisite
picturesqueness.. The lay-out of the buildings was so carefully planned
that except for the reinoval of one useless hickory and a few apple
trees, the stately’ clms, pines, bireh, and other beautiful trees were
‘preserved entire. . Few publie school sites offer such wonderful natural
advantages, ‘ ) ‘

The finished strueture provides for a capacity of one thousand
pupils. The unit now under . construetion will accommodate between
six-and seven hundred. Expensive material will not be employed to
produce the desired artistic ecffect. . Construetion. will be fire-proof
throughout; the exterior walls will be of reddish-colored brick trimmed,
with east stone, while the roofs are to be of slate. .

- The main building will. eontain nineteen class and lccmmon rooms
together with complcte laboratory equipment for the. sciences; ample
space is provided for the manual training and domestic science. de-
partments, as well as for those of art, btenoﬂluphy, and bookkeeping;
there are to be, in addition, @ hospltal and administrative room, while
provision is-also. made for a luneh-room, and for storage facilities. In
the basement will be-placed: the boiler, plant, toilets; ete. :

The Auditorium, which is to be.a separate building, will-have seat-,
ing accommodation for onc thousand persons. It will be connected
with the main building and will serve also as an assembly room and
study-hall. - The interior of the Auditorium will be done in brick and
plaster with an ornamental vaulted ceiling.

The. Gymnasium, located near thé Athletie. ield, will be provided
with thoroughly ‘modern ‘equipment. The shower, lockel rooms, cte.,

“will "oceupy the basement. - Later, it is intended that this building
ghall connect dircetly with the main building.. The unit at present
contracted for, it is hoped, will be ready early in 1918.  Our school
plant now consists of the following buildings and grounds:

1.. Bceech Street School, known as the High School, on plot of land
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at- corner of Beech Strect. and. Franklin Avenue, containing fifteen
rooms and assembly hall. Three of these rooms are used for admin-
istration purposes.

2, Harrison Avenue: School located at Harrison Avenue and Fair-
view Place, containing seventecn rooms and assembly.

" 3. Kenilworth School, on Kenilworth Place between Ridgewood and
Spring Avenues, containing twelve rooms and assembly.

4, Union Street School, containing ten rooms.

-5, Monroe Street School, on Monroe Strect between Franklin and
‘Godwin. Avenues, containing twelve rooms and assembly.

6. Upper Ridgewood School, 2 new and modern one-story struct-
ure, containing four classrooms. The design of this school represents
quite a-radical departure from the other school buildings in this vieinity.
7. Four onc-room portable buildings, upon the Becch Street plot,
These were crected for the purpose of relieving congestion in the High
School and to provide proper laboratory accommodutlons

The estimated value of land, buildings, and equipment of the above
schools, together with the cost of the new High School site and present
buildings thereon, amounts to. $309,100. Wlth the completion of the
High School, the total will approximate $550,000.

“With the completion of the Athletie Pleld an added stlmulus will
undoubtedly be given to the development of our high school athleties.
This is -a feature already well known, and not. without reason is it
considered as rating high in the neighboring eommunitics. For a long,
time bascball, football, track athleties, and general physxcal training.
have been given a full share of attention in our school activities.. The
new facilities will add further opportunitics for the physieal better-
‘ment of our youth; and there is every reason to believe that our boys
and girls will grasp the advantages of laying a healthful and strong
physical foundation upon which to build the mental super-structure.

The educational features have been notably progressive and fit in
with the latest ideas of pedagogy.. Yet with all the advaneed mcthods
of the present time, who shall say that the training of the child in the
little country schoolhouses of one hundred or of fifty years ago was
not as adeguate to the needs of those times as of our own day‘I We
must not forget that the men whose shrewdness and keen . business
judgment laid the foundation of Ridgewood—and laid it well—were
indebted to those same little schoolliouses for the early impulses which
made possible their subscquent development and’ suceesses. Indeed,
volumes. could be written of the later achievements in the world of
letters, business, and the professions of the cluldlen of our early rural
schools.

RIDGDWOOD—thut is, the Rldgewood of to-day as we know it—
‘made its educational début in the little two-room Union Street School
~where, under the guidanee of Mr. B. C. Wooster, now County Super-
intendent of Bergen County, and those faithful workers-who labored
with. him, the fame of Ridgewood’s superiority and progressiveness
early began to attract attention. From that humble beginning to the
“present Ridgewood has continued, under the able management of Dr.
W. T. Whitney and then Mr. I. W. Travell, our present Superinten-

73



RIDGEWOOD, BERGEN COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

dent, to forge steadily ahead until now the school system is proclaimed
an ac]uevement second” to none in our State for thoroughness and
cfficiency. ' Qur schools stund as a monument to the high character and
_generosity of the citizenship of our town. In its glft to its youth the
latter quality has been expressed freely—almost lavishly—time after
‘time, : -
So important has been eonsidered the preparation of the youth of-
Ridgewood for their ultimate entranee as men and women in the affairs
‘of the world, it would appear to hold a. pre-eminent thought in the
minds of our -eitizens. A desire for such worthy associations has, no
doubt, attracted many persons to settle in Ridgewood.

PRIVATE SCHOOLS

A history of eduecation in Ridgewood which contains no reference
to the private schools would be assuredly inecomplete. In faet, our
village would compare unfavorably . with the best suburban life, if it
had no pllvate school “system to record since ' the choicest suburban
communities; generally, huve well-established and well-authouzed pri-
vate schools.

-Private schools had their beginning in Ridgewood, in 1868, when Mr.
Frederic Kidder opened the large house on North Van Dien Avenue,
built by him. the year before, as a boarding and day school. " This house
is'now owned and oceupied by Mr. M. T. Richardson.

It is likely that the disappointment which may have attended ‘the
failure to secure a single boarding pupil was somewhat mitigated by
the presence of a Mr. Jolly as principal of the few day pupils. For
about three yeavs, until the school closed,-Principal Jolly, assisted by
a Miss Smith, took care of the boys and guls in attendance.

- It is of mtelcst to add that Judge Zabriskie, Mr. Edward Chapman,
and his brother, Mr. Charles Chapman, were among those who attended
the Kidder Acadcmy, as it was called. .
 In 1868, the well-known authoress, Amelia E. Barr, upon her arrival
in New York City from Texas, after the death of her husband, came
to Ridgewood as tutor to the three sons of William Libby, Esq., 'father
of Professor: William Libby of Princeton University. :

In the early part of 1869, the tutorial work developed into a school
for boys and girls located in a house on North Van Dien Avenue,
opposite Linwood Avenue. There were six pupils in the beginning and
the number varied, at times reaching ten or twelve. The school lasted
for:about a year and a half ‘and was discontinued when Mr. Libby’s
sons became students at Princeton.

It is interesting to kmow- that while condueting this short-lived
school, Mrs. Barr was engaged in writing a novel, and that it was at
Mr. Libby’s suggestion that she entered upon her literary work. - Mus.
Barr’s verbal deseription of incidents connected with her life in Texas
had so impressed ‘Mr. Libby that when she faced the problem of her
future existence, after the discontinuance of her school, he indueed her
to write a deseription of one of the incidents, which he placed in the
‘hands of 2 New York publishing house. The story was accepted and
shortly afterward Mrs. Barr removed to New York. City to continue
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what was to be her life work. Befole leavm" Rxd«ve\\ood -she begnn
her novel “Mulgmet Sinelaire’s Silent Money’’.

From the time Mrs. Barr’s school closed untll 1879, thele seems to
have been no private school in Ridgewood. * Then Mlss Rebecea 'W.
Hawes of 36 Corsa Terrace eame to thc relief and added to her very
busy life as the village musie teacher, the equally arduous work of
condueting a school for young children. * This school assembled in a
room over the furniture store of T'heodore V. Nerhune, at the corner
of Ridgewood Avenuc and South Oak Strect. Beginning in Mareh,
1871, and for about twenty years thercafter, Miss Hawes was the only
musice teacher in the distriet extending from Allendale to Hawthorne.
She was enga"ed in this work for twenty-thrcée years and during that
time took part in the first publie coneert ever given in Ridgewood, as
well as furnished the musxc for the first I\mdcmalten class and the,
first dancing class.

It is extremely interesting to hear Miss Hawes tell of her work in
connection with the sehool held in that upper room. " Often this busy,
musie-loving teacher, enlivened the routine of the school room by sing-
ing, or reading aloud, or, on beautiful days by 1ecess periods under
the oak and hickory trees in the fields through which Oak Street was
afterwards opened.

Among those who were first taught to 1cad and write and sew at
Miss Hawes’ school were John II:mes, Howard Maltbie, Edgar Wat-
lington, Howard, Robert, and Willic Walton, Jos. Jefferson, J1 ., Mary
Dobbs, L‘llzabcth IIawes, Carrie Buck, and Louise Maltbie, all of whom
were then lgss than ten years old. Two older boys who received speeial
instruetion, were George Totten, now a noted architeet of Washington,
D. C., and John Terhune (Harry Rouelere). -

Two years. after the establishment: of her school, Miss Hawes dis-
posed of her good will to Mrs. John A, Marinus, who continued the
school  for several. years at her home on East Ridgewood Avenue.
During this period Mrs. Buck also opened-a boarding and day sehool
for children, on the property of B. F. Robinson, on Cottage Place. . A
small building was placed in the rear of the residence and used for the
class work. Here were held the first kindergarten and the first dane-
ing classes of the Village.” Mrs, Buck was suceceded in the manage-
ment of the school by her daughters—Miss Helen D. Buck and Miss
Caroline Buck. ‘

Other edueational ventures, of unquestionable worth to the com-.
munity but of short duration, were made by Miss Josephine Rowland
about 1893, in a room in the rear of Tiec’s driig store, then on the
corner opposite its present loeation; by Miss Florence de Z. Patton in
1893 ‘and 1895, at the corner of Spring and Maple Avenues; by Miss
Ives, near the office of Dr. Vroom, Ridgewood Avcnuc and by Miss
Martha B, Smith in 1897 on Franklin Avenue.

A larger school, which included both primary and college prepara-
tory courses, was cstublishcd by Mr. James B. Parsons in 1902, on the
large property on Ridgewood Avenue, familiarly known as Elmhurst.
Mr. Parsons was cncouraged to enter upon a project of this scope by
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the patlonu"c and mﬂuence of sueh men as' B. LeB. Gavdner, Chulles
H. 14ddy, Dunean D. Chaplin, George 1. Borcham, Charles A. "De Shon
and ‘others who wished private bchool advantages for- their children.
As the years passed the venture prospercd and former pupils of the
Rldgcwood Preparatory School ean now be found among the graduates
of various colleges and oceupying responsible . and ‘useful posmons in
business and society. In 1912 it was deeided to divide the property
ocetipied by ‘the sehool into building lots, Mr. Parsons, believing an
clevated site in a quiet and beautitul residential section to be the best
place for the development of -boys and girls, sceured property- on:
Heights Road where a thoroughly modern, school was built. -With
well-furnished rooms and library, with all eonvenicnees and modern
sanitation, it is doubtful if another suburban town has a private day
school cqual to that of Ridgewood.

In this eonneection it may: be said that Ridgewood’s private school
system represents -the highest development .of thls type of education.
11 is a gystem by no means rivaling that of the ‘State, but rather
deserving the reputation of being a faithful ally of the public sehool.
The latter is unqucstlonal)ly best fitted for children of some types, but
its failure with others is due to what may be deseribed as mechanical
'methods which permit of but slight diserimination on account-of per--
sonal temperament. . Doubtless this i is necessury in the handling of large
numbers of pupils, but it is in' this particular point-that the chicf
merit of the private school lies.” It provides a flexible system which
is adapted to the 'individual boy ov girl, helping: them to find them-
selves. ' Individual supervision in a co-operative environment is the
key-note. The school, in short, must be fitted to the: pupil, as well as
the pupil to the school. ‘
. wThe Vietoria School for little children, opened-October 5, 1916, is
the latest addition to the cducational institutions of Ridgewood and
is named after the authorvess, Metta Vietoria Vietor. Rememb anee
of her many ycars’ association with the carly -historieal "and social
_development of Ridgewood was the incentive which prompted her
daughter, Vivia chtor its Prinecipal, to name this school -after her.

The purpose of the Vietoria School i the laying of a solid:founda-
tion for the ehild’s advaneing experience in life; the right environment,
individual instruction along’ thc best cducatlonal 1mcs, and reeognition
of the speeial needs of llttle children.  Centrally and very p]enszmﬂv
located on West Ridgewood Avenue, this school expeets to fill a need
of the parents of Ridgewood and to exert an ever- mcl'easnw influenece
on the future dcvelopment of the Village.

The first sewing school in this vieinity was opened’ wnth five ])11])11‘3
in the Hawes homcstead Ho-To-KKus.” After the cstablishment of an
Episcopal Mission Sunday School in the first public school of TTo-Io-
Kus, the classes were held in that schoolroom on Saturday afternoons.
There was always a large attendance, some ‘of the pupils coming from
Ridgewood. After the present Waldwick Publie School was eompleted:
‘the meetings were held alternately in the two plaees, and still later
a Saturday morning class was started where the older girls were taught

76



PAST AND PRESENT

to eut and make their own dresses and children’s garments, Diree-
tions for work and a book of ‘‘Sewing Songs’’ were obtained from
New York.and the elasses continued for more than three yéars, the
number of ‘workers inereasing to fifty. Two New. Year’s trees and
one Christmas tree, filled with gifts, were given by Ho-ITo-ICus friends
and at the close of the work an exhibit of the handieraft was held
in the Parish- House of ‘Waldwiek' Methodist- Chureh, .the older girls
wearing dresses made by themselves. The teachers during this time
were Mrs. and Miss R. W. Hawes and Miss Lucy Haweq.

Tt was this work which later intevested the citizens of Ho-Ho-Kus,
Waldwick and Ridgewood in the petition for full school suffrage for
women. and bl'ou"ht a letter from the County Superintendent of Edu-
cation thanking them for the *‘valnable work’’ they ‘had done in the
publie schools in many ways.

PUBLIC LIBRARY

The Village Tmprovement  Association was organized in 1897, and
among its p101cct‘x for promoting the best interests of Rldf'ewood was
the establishment of a publie llbrm'v :

Many of the residents-of Ridgewood will. 1cmcmber the old Zabviskie
Building. “now ‘remodelled and occuplcd as the real estate office of
Messrs. Stevens and Tetor.”

The rent. of this building was given for ‘three vears, and a “Book
Showcv” was held.: The books received were of ‘all kinds and condi-
tions, but the committce of twenty selected a sufficient number to place
on: the shclvcs for. civeulation and subseribed for ten periodicals to
be used ‘in the reading room. ~Among the first bonks reecived—some
of which are still in use—were a number which had been accumulated
hy the members of the ‘‘Tnesday Book. Club’’, an organization of
women of the Village established a number of ycars before. At the
end of three vears, the room beeame too small for its purpose, and
in 1900 the library was eqtabllshcd in its present quarters over the
First: National Bank.

To meet the inercased c\pensc the room was sublet to various
organizations and aceovding’ to the law reearding libraries and free
reading rooms, the Village trustees in: 1903 appropriated $300.00.

There ave now on the shelves 4,800 volnmes and 33 periodieals
are to he found in the reading room. In the year ending October,
1916, there was a circulation - of 20,000 books.

PusrISHER'S NotE:  Alhough announced after the date of the pl:bhcntron of this
book und during the carly part of 1917, the gift by will of Mrs. Gertrude Pease
Anderson of the sum-.of $100.060 for the ercction of a free I:Inm'l/ in Ridgeiwood.
and alzo the sum of $50,000 both in trust for its maintenavice, in loving memory of
her father. George L. Pease. to be called ihe “George T Pease Memorial Library”
assures the conlinnation of -a publie worls established by .the 1women of our com-
munity and it is peenliarly fitting that onc of their members should make its future
life so splendidly possible,
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CHAPTER V
RELIGIOUS INTERESTS

HILE the church life of Ridgewood dates back two centuries
to a period when the American Indian was still roaming over
hill and dale of the beautiful Paramus, it is the purpose of

this article to sketch briefly the history of the several religious organ-
izations that were in existence or eame to life during the last fifty
years, The carly colonists came here to sceure fuller opportunities
than were to be had aeross the sea. They brought with them their
religion and their love of liberty.

REFORMED CHURCIL OF PARAMUS

The story of the last fifty ycars of our churches may consistently
begin with referenees to the oldest church organization in our com-
munity—that of the Reformed Chureh of Paramus (The Congregation
of Paramus). But the last half century seems short when we remem-
ber that the chureh services were begun in 1725, and with the execep-
tion of brief intervals have been held on the same site for nearly two
centuries.

The present church was built in 1800, and the chapel was pur-
chased and moved into its present location about 1874,

Great changes occurred in the affairs of the church during the
fifty ycars that began when the cchoes of the Civil War were just
passing away. The Rev. Dr. E. T. Corwin served the church during
the Civil War period, from 1857-1863, and he was succeeded in 1864,
by the Rev. Isaae S. DeMund, who served for six years. He was the
grandfather of Dr. C. DeMund, now a practicing physician of Ridge-
wood.

In 1871, the Rev. Dr. Goyn Talmage began his ministry in Paramus
and during his incumbency the church building was renovated and
a new parsonage huilt.

The Rev. John C. Van Deventer followed Dr. Talmage in 1879 and
remained until 1886.

In 1887, the Rev. William H. Vroom, D.D., was called to become
the minister and during his time the chureh was again renovated and
a fine organ installed through the loyalty and generosity of a leading
nmember, a lady well-known bhut seeking no prominence.

The period of readjustinent to the modern urban life of the Village
of Ridgewood was then beginning and in the natural course of events
great changes occurred in the life and membership of the congregation.

In 1907, the Rev. Henry D. Cook, the present pastor, was ordained
and was installed during the suceceding year and is a worthy successor
of eminent predecessors.

The Paramus Church has been divectly the mother of several other
churches of Ridgewood. Christ Episeopal Church, the Reformed
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Church of Ridgewood, Park Ridge, Westwood, and Ho-Ho-Kus have
among their membership those once worshipping at the Paramus Chureh,
and the latter has furnished charter members for at least four of the
other churches mentioned.

No financial incumbrances and balances on the right side of the
ledger indicate the generosity of the people.

CHRIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH

Christ Church has the distinetion of being the first religious organ-
ization to be established in the center of the Village. A committee
was appointed to form a parish in 1860, but the Civil War prevented
definite action until February 6, 1864.

The first church, a wooden structure, was on the west side of Van
Dien Avenue, just beyond the residenece of M. T. Richardson, the
corner-stone being laid in Mareh, 1865. The first services in the new
building were held May 13, 1866. Up to that time the congregation
was ministered toc by the Rev. Mr. Farrington of Hackensack, the
Rev. Mr. Waite of Paterson, and the Rev. Mr. Smith of Passaic.

On November 4, 1866, the Rev. I. R. Dickinson began his reetor-
ship, which continued for fifteen years. The church was consecrated
by Bishop Odenheimer on June 23, 1867. On Sunday, November 10,
1872, a new organ, costing $2,273, was first used. In 1907 this organ
was sold to the Presbyterian Church at Ridgewood and Pleasant
Avenues.

The church building was moved m 3 1873, across the fields
from Van Dien Avenue to the present s1te‘ﬁ ottage Place and Frank-
lin Avenue. The second rector, the Rev. T. S. Cartwright, began his
ministry in 1882 and resigned two ycars later., He was succeeded
January 1, 1885, by the Rev. Louis A. Lanpher, who remained until
January, 1890. Six months later, on July 1st, the Rev. George Clarke
Cox became the rector of the parish,

The Rectory on Cottage Plnce was built in 1891.

The Rev. Mr. Cox resigned in August, 1893, and was followed by
the Rev. E. H. Cleveland, who began his ministry in Mavech, 1894,

By that time the old Gothie structure had beecome inadequate for
the demands of the, growing parish and a movement to seeure a new
cdifice, which was stg.rted in 1895, resulted in the building of a new
stone church and a fgime, parish house in 1900. On Novembcl 1, 1904,
Rev. Mr, Cleveland was called to another field of serviee nnd was
succeeded on March 1, 1905, by the Rev. Leslic E. Learned, who
resigned in 1908,

The Rev. Philip C. Pearson was next sccured as rector in 1909.
He served until April. 1916. The Rev. Edwin S, Carson, the present
rector, assumed his dutics on November 1, 1916,

The chureh is now free from debt and will be conseerated June 23,
1917, the Fiftieth Anniversary of the conseeration of the first edifice.

The parish contains over 300 families and the list of communicants
contains 424 names.
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THE KENILWORTH COLLEGIATE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH
(Christian Reformed)

‘What is familiarly known as the ‘‘White Chureh’’, on the south-
east corner of Ridgewood and Plcasant Avenues, is the second oldest
church in the township of Ridgewood and was organized December
20, 1870.

The members were formerly affiliated with Paramus Reformed
Chureh, but about 1823 there arore a dissension in regard to the
doctrines and practices which caused the secession from Paramus
Church of a considerable number of people. These formed what
was once called ““The True Reformed Church’’, the title being later
changed to that of the Christian Reformed Chureh.

Thc church building was located at Waldwick until the year 1838,
when it was removed to the present site. It is now known as The
Kenilworth Collegiate Presbyterian Church.

In 1894, during the pastorate of the Rev. Harvey Iseman, the
minister and people eame to realize that by the development of real
estate interests and the consequent influx of many new families not
in sympathy with the policy and practices of the Christian Reformed
Chureh, the religious life of the eommunity would be better served
under other ccelesiastical conditions.

After legal procedure, approved by a majority of the members,
the congregation in 1898 beeame affiliated with the Presbyterian order.

The church is now collegiate with the West Side Presbyterian or-
ganization on Monroe Street and Franklin Avenue, having for their
pastor the Rev. Dr. I. J. Lansing, D.D.

FIRST REFORMED CIIURCH

This church was organized May 24, 1875, with nine charter mem-
bers. Three came by certifieate from the Paramus Reformed Church
and the remaining six from churches in New York and Brooklyn.
It was the outgrowth of a Union Sunday School. which met in a lodge
room of the Odd Fellow Order. known as Wilson Hall. This was
in a building used as a general merchandise store. Whritenour and
Colfax, proprietors, standing on the lot where Mr. . B. Van Horn’s
feed and grain store now stands.

The small congregation, averaging 75 people, for two years held
its services in the lodge room 'md as the non-churchgoers gradually
heeame interested in the institution, a larger room and a more desir-
able loeation beeame nccessary. After heroie efforts, the fifty com-
munieants scecured by the gift of AMr. Frederick Kidder, long sinee
deceased, the plot of ground on the corner of Union and Dayton Strects
for a church site.

The first chureh was oceupied on Sunday, November 4, 1877, while
the interior was still without walls and the exterior was cov ered only
with sheathing boards.

About 1891 the church building was enlarged and renovated thor-
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oughly, new pews being installed, and the cabinet organ being replaced
by one of the voealion type.

Again in 1900 an cxtension was made at the back of the church
in order to provide aceommodations made necessary by the regrading
of the Bible School and to furnish more modern conveniences for the
various socicties of the congregation. At the same time a recess wus
provided for a new Widmer pipe organ, valued at $4,000, which was
installed in 1901.

In 1913, at a special meeting called for the purpose, a movement
was inaugurated to furnish a church house that should have every
convenienee and accommodation ealled for, in order that serviee might
be stimulated and all departments of the church’s life strengthened.
The chureh house was dedicated in 1915,

A parsonage was built in 1881 and occupied by the pastor’s family
in October, 1882. The lot, 115 x 122, was the first sold from the traet
of six aeres, eovered with a splendid growth of oak and chestnut, front-
ing on Prospeet Street and Woodside Avenue.

A recent improvement, the conercting of the grounds around the
front of the church property and the laying of cement sidewalks. is
an evidence of the continued gencrosity and progressiveness of the
congregation.

The constitueney of the chureh is strong in numbers and influential
in the community and promises much more for future gencrations of
Ridgewood people.

During the pastorate of the Rev. Mr. Van Neste, great changes
in the personnel of the church have naturally oceurred. Many who
were prominent and loyal in earvlier days have left hehind works
“‘which yet speak’ of sacrifice and serviee.

The present and only pastor of the ehurch during forty-one years
has weleomed a large number of communicants into the chureh, there
bheing now about 500.

During the last Classical or Synodical Year, closing in May, 1916,
the census shows that $2.700 was disbursed for the stated henevolences
‘of the chureh, while, in addition. over $300 was given for general
purposes. The enrrent expenses of the chureh amounted to $6,700.

Charter members have gone to the Glen Roek Reformed Chureh and
several are now conneeted with Upper Ridgewood Soeicty (Reformed).

AFRICAN METIIODIST EPISCOPAL ZION CHURCII (COI.OIH'ZD)

The colored people of Ridgewood have by no means negleeted their
religious development. For a number of years, one denomination has
been organized under the title named above. About 1882, the Rev.
J. A. Van Neste, pastor of the First Reformed Church, was requested
by Distriet Superintendent White of the A. M. E. Zion Church, to
meet with a few colored eitizens in an old house that occupied the
present loeation of Mr. Morgan’s plumbing shop m Codwin Avenue
near the railroad tracks.

This meeting resulted in an organization with seven charter mem-
bers. For a brief period, meetings were held in the basement of the
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Episcopal Church located on Cottage Place, under the Rev. Mr. Cleve-
land’s incumbeney, and a small building for a place of worship and
other purposes ineidental to church life was subsequently ereeted on
Rock Avenue.

The present church and parsonage on Broad Street and Highwood
Avenue were built in 1907-1908, largely through the liberality of one
white man, who has always evinced a great interest in the welfare and
progress of the colored pcople.

In the conference yecar of 1915-1916, the pcople contributed $135
for mission work in the Southern States and, in addition, seeured
$1,465 for current expenses.

The following pastors have scrved the ehureh in the order named:
Rev. Moses Thomas Anderson, Rev. Elijah ITammett, Rev. George N.
Ray, Rev. J. R. Dangerfield, Rev. J. . Huggins, Rev. H. C. Van Pelt,
and the present incumbent, Rev. G. E. Ferrvis, who took up the work
on May 1, 1913, and whose wise management and quiet zeal have in-
spired the confidenee of his own pecople and have won the sincere
regard of the community in which he labors.

CHURCH OF OUR LADY OF MOUNT CARMEL

The parish of Our Lady of Mt. Carmel was organized by the Roman
Catholies of the Village in the year 1889. The Rev. Father Nevins
was the first resident pastor. Owing to rvapidly failing health, his
administration was of short duration. He was succeeded by the Rev.
Dr. Mull, through whose courage and cnergy the chureh on Union
Street was built in 1890,

In 1892, the Rev. J. A. Sullivan took charge. A man of brilliant
attainments and charming personality, he did much in his five years
as pastor to further the instruetion of the people and the improvement
of the church property.

From 1897 to 1901 the parish was in charge of the Rev. E. A. Kelly,
who labored four years with untiring zeal in ministering to the spiritual
needs of the people confided to his eare.

The Rev. P. T. Carew came in 1901 and, hesides earing for the
church interests at Ridgewood, began missions at Wyckoff and Ramsey.
In 1907 Father Carcw was transferred to Dover and the Rev. J. A.
Kelly was sent as pastor to Ridgewood remaining, however, but a few
months and being suceeeded by the Rev. D. F. MeCarthy, whose term
as pastor was also of short duration.

The present pastor, the Rev. E. M. O’Mally, was appointed in
September, 1908. -

From the very beginning the parish has inereased steadily in num-
bers and influence and from a few sturdy Catholies, twenty.five vears
ago, it has grown to inelude more than 800 active memhers. The
various church societies are aetive in both the temporal and the spir-
itual affairs of the parish. The debt on the old church property has
long sinee been liquidated and the building itself, having served its
purpose, has been abandoned as a house of worship.

On March 5, 1912, the church acquired title to the Suckert prop-
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erty on Prospeet Street. A new stone church, with a seating eapacity
of more than 500, was begun in July, 1914, aud dedicated with solemn
ceremony on Sunday, July 4, 1915, by the Rt. Rev. 4. J. O’Connor,
D.D., Bishop of Newark.

EMMANUEL BAPTIST CHURCH

Emmanuel Baptist Church was organized in November, 1891. The
first meeting place was a barn near Ridgewood and Brookside Avenues.
After remaining here for some time, the meetings were held in the
residenee of A. H. Dunton on Van Dien Avenue, then in the parlor
of Mrs. John MeGuinness's home, and finally in the *‘Tabernacle”, the
enelosed horse-shed on their own lot, which was utilized until the build-
ing, then in course of ercetion, was finished.

This first building was dedicated in November, 1892, on the first
anniversary of the organization of the chureh. The Rev. John C.
Shrive was the first pastor, serving from May 1, 1892, until June 25,
1893. 1le was followed by the Rev. George E. Rines, whose pastorate
extended over the period from July 2, 1893, to January 1, 1897. The
Rev. Franklin K. Mathiews beeame pastor on April 22, 1897, and re-
mained until April 1, 1906. The Rev. F. V. Atkinson was pastor from
Mareh 1, 1907, to Novemher 1, 1908, The Rev. Charles O. Wright
beeame pastor on January 1, 1909, and is still serving with much
benefit to the members.

In Oectober, 1909, after a thorough discussion of the neceds of the
field, the church voted unanimously and enthusiastieally to build a
new house of worship. On Sunday, January 2, 1910, subseriptions
amounting to $21,000 were received and the Trustees were named as
a Building Committee and instruected to have plans prepared for
submisgion to the chureh. Messrs, Upjohn and Conable of New York
were selected to prepare the final drawings and speecifieations. The
contracts for the huildings were awarded to Mr. H. T. Walthery and
Mr, W. C. Banta. Mr. M. T. Rogers was given the seating contraet.

On Memorial Day, 1911, ground was broken for the new Ihmilding
in the presence of a large company of people. The eorner-stone was
Inid on Sunday afternoon, Oectoher 1, 1911, after an appronriate and
inspiring address hy the Rev. Robert 15, Farvier, DL, of Passaie,

The style of the new bhuilding is the decorated Tinglish Gothie, this
style being chosen beeause of its flowing lines. The plan ealls for a
tower to span the porte cochere, This entranee is now provided with
a temporary gable. The material is field stone trimmed with artifieial
limestone. .

There are 338 communicants in the fellowship of the ehureh and
the usual soeicties and gnilds aectively express the Christian faith and
love of the people for {hings worth-while.

The Year Book shows gifts of 41,300 for denominational purposes
and $6,700 for general expenses.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CITURCH

The organization of the Methodist Episeopal Chureh of Ridgewood
began in the spring of 1895, when several Methodist families eame into
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the Village, and being called into counsel, resolved to immediately
ascertain the probable supporters of a ehurch of their faith by a care-
ful canvass of all the known adherents. This was done under the
supervision of Drother Edgar W. Rogers, with the result that it was
deeided to build a chureh.

After several preliminary meetings, an organization was effeeted
with 13 members, under the diveetion of the Rev. J. B. Faulks, D.D,,
the Presiding Elder of the Jersey City Distriet, Newark Conference,
who appointed a Class Leader. Stewards were nominated and a Board
of Trustees eleeted July dth, in aceordance with the laws of New Jersey.

In the meantime, it had been ascertained that the schoolhouse on
Union Street was about to be vacated and its lower floor was sceured
for religious services. The work of remodecling and properly furnishing
it hastened and the first serviee was held on Sunday, July Tth, the Rev.
W. C. James, a recent graduate from Ilackettstown Seminary, preach-
ing the first sermon to a congregation of about 0 persons. He preached
on suceeeding Sundays and was followed by the Rev. Mr. Beech, the
Rev. R. 8. Povey, and the Rev. Idwin L. Earp, the last named an
ordained deacon who was finally called to the pastorate and served
from 1896 to 1897. The Rev. Frank Chadwick served from 1897 to
1900; the Rev. Elam M. Garton, from 1900 to 1903; the Rev. A. C.
MeCrea from 1903 to 1904; the Rev. D. F. Diefendorf from 1905 to
1906; the Rev. C. S. Ryman from 1907 to 1911; and the Rev. T. G.
Spencer sinee 1911, the efficient pastor of this influential chureh which
has 359 full members, 40 probationers, and 18 non-resident members.
The present building was eompleted in 1900,

The expenditures last Conference Year, were $6,500 for local work,
and $3,000 for benevolenees, both denominational and otherwise.

UNITARIAN SOCIETY

The first religious serviee was held by the Unitarian Society in the
Opera ITouse on Oetober 13, 1895, but it was not until May 7, 1896,
that a formal organization was perfceted.

The first regular minister was the Rev. Geo. I, Badger, while the
present minister is the Rev. Arthur Singsen.

The present chureh on Cottage Place was built in the fall of 1900
and was first occupied in Yebruary, 1901, The entire debt on the
chureh and site was eancelled on May 6, 1909. The parsonage was
built on the ehurch grounds, at the rear of the church building, in
the fall of 1912,

The approximate value of the church property is $9,000. The
chureh is self-supporting and has at present about 25 aetive members.
The church auxiliaries consist of a Sunday School and Woman’s Alli-
anee, the latter being affiliated with the National Alliance of Unitar-
ians and Liberal Christian Women. This allianee in 1896 opened the
first Woman’s Exehange in Ridgewood and operated it suecessfully for
two years. Under the able direction of Miss Rebeeea W, Hawes it paid
out $1,200 annually to women who were in need of work. Tt also gave
the first lawn party in the community where a platform for daucing
in the evening was a feature.
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FIRST CHURCH OF CHRIST SCIENTIST

The Christian Secience Society of Ridgewood, N. J., was organized
with ten members in 1903, Meetings were held and a Reading Room
maintained in the Ridgewood Publie Library and room adjoining.

On September 15, 1904, the society was incorporated as a chureh
and continued to hold services in the Library.

In December, 1909, the lot upon which the present chureh stands
was purchased from Mrs. Houston.

In August, 1911, at sunrvise, its members assembled at the corner
of Franklin Avenue and Washington Place to witness the laying of
the orner-stone of their new church home. The building was com-
pleted in April, 1912, and the opening services were held on the first
Sunday of May, 1912,

The Reading Room and a free loan library are now maintained in
the church building.

The estimated valuation on the church building and property is
$26,800. .

Benevolences are represented in gifts of money disbursed through
individual members of the chureh.

BETHLEHEM LUTHERAN CHURCH

The West Side Community along Doremus and Ackerman Avenues,
leading towards Glen Rock from Godwin Avenae, was one of the carlier
real estate developments.

There are many prosperous German Lutherans numbered with these
residents and, together with others in different localities of our Village
having the same religious faith, felt the need of a church organization
that eould foster the religious doetrines and policy of the powerful
Lutheran denomination, which stands for Evangelical truth and prae-
tice.

The Rev. Mr. Gureheke of West Hoboken, while ministering at Mid-
land Park, inangurated the movement that resulted in services being
held in the library room of the First National Bank, January, 1905.
The Rev. 8. S. Stechholz of St. Luke’s Lutheran Church of Paterson
continued these serviees, later to be followed by the present pastor,
the Rev. Frederick Albert Ottman.

The church organization was effected January 20, 1907, and the
Sunday School founded on November 13, 1910.

The eorner-stone of the present beautiful echureh on Doremus Avenue
was laid on September 29, 1912, and the dedication took place on
March 30, 1913.

The property represents a valuation of $10,000. There are 95 com-
municants and 165 adherents. In the chureh year ending in 1916, the
congregation contributed $400 for various benevolences and disbursed
$1,500 for current expenses.

MOUNT BETHEL BAPTIST CHURCH (COLORED)

This church was organized on January 4, 1905, with a membership
of fifteen persons, by the Rev. A. J. Hubbard, who was called as its
first pastor and who has since continued as such.
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In Mareh, 1907, the church was successful in purchusing a plot of
ground on Ackerman Avenue, the cost of which was paid in cuash.

During the same year, the present building was completed at a
cost, including the ground, building and furnishings, of $5,500, the
amount of indebtedness placed upon the building being paid off dur-
ing 1909.

gSince its organization, 200 members have been added to its roll and

the church stands today free of all debt.

WEST SIDE COLLEGIATE PRESBYTERIAN CIHURCH

This is the youngest of the church orgunizations of the Village.
It is the outgrowth of a need which the west side of the town felt for
a Bible school to serve the children of the community who were praeti-
cally prohibited from attending the established Bible schools by reason
of the dangerous grade crossing which existed until the new station
improvements were under way. ‘There had been desultory talk of
establishing a new church and Bible school on the west side for many
years, but it was not until the fall of 1912 that the plan assumed
conerete form with the starting of a little sehool in the Ridgewood
Preparatory School building, Heights Road near Monte Vista Place.
The Rev. Isaac J. Lansing, D.D., preached a number of sermons to
the parents of children in the new Bible school and after some con-
sideration, it was determined to organize a mnew church.

The old First Presbyterian Chureh, at East Ridgewood and Pleas-
ant Avenues, was at that time without a pastor so, by an arrangement
with that organization, it was agreed to found a new church on the
collegiate plan, with the Rev. Dr. Lansing serving both. The First
Presbyterian Church changed its name to the Kenilworth Collegiate
Presbyterian Church and the new organization of the west side adopted
the name of the West Side Collegiate Presbyterian Chureh when it
was formally organized and accepted by the Presbytery of Jerscy City
at a meeting in Prospeet Hall on October 9, 1912. At that time, 65
persons were received into membership, of whom only seven came from
other Ridgewood churches.

The plot at the southwest corner of Franklin Avenue and Monroe
Street was purchased and ground broken for the initial unit of the
building to be ecrected. This unit was dedicated on April 27, 1913,
services in the meantime being held in the Ridgewood Preparatory
School building. The rapid growth of the Bible school made neecessary
the buildiig of a pair of units during the summer of 1915 and they
were dedieated on October 3rd of that year,

At the present time the membership of the churech is about 180.
The membership of the Bible school is about 250 in the attending
departments and 100 in the eradle roll and home departments; a total
of about 350. The women’s work of the chureh is eared for by the
‘Woman’s Guild, with a membership of 100. The guild has eonducted
a number of exceptionally successful sales and has contributed liberally
both to the building funds of the echurech and its benevolences, besides
being a center for social intercourse.

87



RIDGEWOOD, BERGEN COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

The Men’s Club is a purely social organization which has built up
a lively fraternal spirit among the men of the community. The club
has established a reputation for the excellent and unique character of
the entertainments it has provided.

The Christian Endeavor Socicty is a live organization numbering
about 90 aective and associate members.

UPPER RIDGEWOOD RELIGIOUS SOCIETIES
Iolland Church

About twenty-five years ago, in Upper Ridgewood, near the june-
tion of Glen Avenue and Monroe Strect, a small chureh was built by
the Hollunders, who lived in that vieinity, in which services were
condueted in the Duteh language.

The organization continued its work until a few years ago when the
society disbunded. The building was torn down about two years ago.

As the church was organized by John W. Spikerboor, the locality
was called, in his honor, Spikertown.

The Communily Church Socicly

The Community Church Sccicty of Upper Ridgewood is a mission,
as yet unorganized beyond a local board of seven men selected from
40 families and 120 adherents. This body is really an Execeutive Com-
mittee with the usnal funetions, but with more extended authority than
is ordinarily delegated to such a ecommittee.

The weekly gathering of worshippers and workers is held in a neat
chapel loaned by the IMome Mission Board of the Reformed Church
in America, from which the Soecicty also reccives supplementary finan-
cial aid in maintaining the work. The Consistory of the First Re-
formed Church of Ridgewood has general oversight over the organ-
ization.

There are 61 on the roll of the Bible school, of which Mr. Clarenece
Wyeckoff of Upper Ridgewood is Superintendent.

During the last churech yecar the Society contributed $200 for gen-
eral and missionary benevoleneces, and more than $1,000 for current
expenses.

On May 1, 1913, the Rev. John A. Terhune, whose residence is on
‘West Ridgewood Avenue, was called to minister to this religious society
in conjunction with the recently organized Mission Chureh at Ho-Ho-
Kus, under the general superintendenee of the Paramus Reformed
Chureh.

The Upper Ridgewood Socicty, while yet unorganized as a chureh
proper, is encouraged to anticipate in the near future the official equip-
ment its continued prosperity warrants,
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CHAPTER VI
BUSINESS INTERESTS
REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

LARGE tract of land on the north side of Ridgewood Avenue

was owned by Henry Van Emburgh. By his will he left to his
son, George, the southerly half of his farm, which extended from Pear-
sall’s Grove to a point across the track, some distance west of Heights
Road and which eontained 109.57 acres. This tract was sold in 1853 to
Captain Samuel Dayton and at a later date was plotted.

The northerly half of the Henry Van Emburgh farm, devised by
him to his son, Peter Van Emburgh, was also purchased in 1853 by
Captain Dayton and in the sume ycar was sold to Samuel Graydon
and Benjamin F. Robinson.

These purchases by Captain Dayton and Messrs. Graydon and Rob-
inson were the earliest realty transactions in the development of the
hamlet. Prior to these almost the whole of Ridgewood was owned by
about twenty men, most of whom were deseendants of the early Duteh
settlers.

The Dayton, Graydon and Robinson families were the first resi-
dents of New York City to scttle in Ridgewood. They were attracted
to the hamlet by the greater frecedom of suburban life which they
experieneed during the years 1850, 1851, and 1852, while summer resi-
dents at the old Doctor llopper home in Ho-Ho-Kus.

About 1860 additional residents from New York City came to the
hamlet, among them being William Libby, A. J. Cameron, James
Keeley, and John Walton and sons. About this time Cornelius Shuart
purchased a portion of the Westervelt property and was the first in
the town to lay out land in building lots. While it is true that Captain
Dayton was the first to plot the land, Shuart was the first to file a map.

In 1866, T. V. Terhune purchased a traet of land bounded by Ridge-
wood and Franklin Avenues and QOak and Walnut Streets, where in
1867 he erceted the first dwelling house to be built after the Village
had been laid out into streets.

The development of the Village continued and numerous houses
were built until the year 1875, when a financial depression resulted
in the abandonment of many homes and a stagnation of business of
every kind. :

Tn 1880, a public sale of property comprising the Kidder Estate
inaugurated a real estate movement on a larger scale than the Village
had ever experienced. The house then belonging to the Kidder prop-
erty is now owned and occupied by Dr. J. T. DeMund. The property
was purchased by scveral gentlemen. Mr. Peter Ackerman secured a
large portion of it which he immediately began to improve and place
upon the market, the Reformed Church buying the first plot of one
acre unecleared.
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Other lots were offered for sale and additional streets were laid out,
sidewalks built, and general improvements were made.

In 1892, Thomas W. White aequired by purchase a large tract north-
west of the depot, which he named Ridgewood Heights. He proceeded
to develop the scction and, after the opening of Franklin Avenue, the
first house was built on land sold by Mr. White to Mr. Lucius Smith
for his mother, Mrs. Junius A. Smith. The Smith family lived there
until Lucius Smith died, when the house was rented to the present
tenant, Mr. Sykes. It is still the property of the Smith Estate.

The second lot of the White tract was sold to J. Bolles Smith, who
built the house ‘‘The Knoll”’, recently purchased and remodelled by
Mayor Garber on the south side of the avenue. Mr. White later built
for his own occupancy, ‘‘The Oaks,’’ now owned by Mrs. O’Neill, and
it was due to his efforts that the attractiveness of this scetion was brought
to the notice of men who bought and substantially improved several
of the finest residential tracts in the Village.

Between 1907 and 1911 occurred the largest development of real
estate in the history of the Village, when an average of one hundred
new homes a ycar were constructed. During the period from 1912
to 1915, an average of thirty-five new homes a yecar were completed,
and in 1916 about fifty more were built, the inerease sinee 1911 having
been along lines of normal growth.

In more recent land developments parts of the Village have been
laid out by real estate interests in the form of residential parks. The
first of these, known as Kathawood Park, is situated on the west side
of the Village, south of Godwin Avenue, while south of this section is
Lincoln Park running to Lincoln Avenue.

The section just west of the Erie tracks includes what is popularly
and appropriately known as the ‘‘ Heights’’, while on its western slope
is Wastena Park, both sections being traversed by winding roads and
adorned with a natural growth of forest trees.

Prospect Park on the southerly side of the Village consists of thirty
acres of land divided into half-aere plots, and contains onc of the finest
beech groves to be found in Bergen County.

‘Woodside Park, including Woodside Avenue, Ivy Place and Linden
Street, is within eight minutes’ walk of the center of the Village and
overlooks the valley both to the east and west.

Floral Park is on the east side of Van Dien Avenue, in the imme-
diate vicinity of Kenilworth School and the eleetric road station at
Spring Avenue. It commands one of the best views of the historie
Paramus Valley.

Fairview Park is on Harrison Avenue near the school and trolley
station and embraces fifty acres of fine sandy soil.

That part of Ridgcwood lying north of Cameron Lane and west of
the Erie Railroad, is now known as Upper Ridgewood and, before its
development a few years ago, was mainly a pasture and woodland.
Its advantages of altitude and unsurpassed views are supplemented
by its proximity to the Ho-Ho-Kus station of the Erie Railroad, whose
property forms the dividing line between the two muniecipalities.

Each of these localitics may have its own peculiar charm but all
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PAST AND PRESENT

have practically submerged their individuality in the Ridgewood spirit
of progressiveness which they have helped to advance. While the tan-
gible lines of some arve still in evidence and are referred to as geo-
graphieal scetions of the Village, there is no dividing line between the
interests of any seetion or part of Ridgewood, the people heing remark-
ably united in their publie spirit.

MERCANTILE AND INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISES

Prior to the construetion of the railvoud, agriculture was the prin-
cipal occupation of the community, New York and other neighboring
cities providing a ready market for local produets.

At the time the Godwinville station was opened, there were three
cotton mills in that settlement which is now called Midland Park and
Wortendyke. The output of these mills together with the agrieultural
products provided business for the new station, the natural result of
which was the drawing of the people to it as a commereial center,

The first building erceted after the opening of the station, although
occupied by P. J. Hopper as a dwelling, was also used by him as a
general store. IHe was, therefore, the first to engage in a mereantile
enterprise in the neighborhood. This building was located where the
IHutton building now stands, near the railroad tracks on Ridgewood
Avenue,

The second person to engage in mereantile pursuits was Cornelins
Shuart, who built a store on the site of the Hopper building, removing
the latter to the rear of the new strueture and entering into the venture
cn a more extensive seale than did his predecessor.

Shuart later sold the business to Albert Hopper and Casper Van
Dien, brother of our present oldest citizen, John B. Van Dien. They
were succeeded by P. E. Hopper, Mr. Totten, Mr. Gilfillan and Mr.
Cruse. The building was destroyed by the fire of April, 1889, and the
site remained unoccupied until the creetion of the present Hutton
building.

About 1867 another grocery store was started by G. G. Van Dien
and his brother, John B. Van Dien, on the site now oeccupied by the
Wilsey building. The Van Diens also had a large lumber-yard between
the railroad and Ridgewood and Franklin Avenucs. They were sue-
ceeded in the grocery trade first by John Westervelt and later by James
Hammond, after which the building was devoted to other purposes,
and with the construction of the present Wilsey building in 1914, it
was removed to its present site on North Broad Strect, and is known
as the Ferris building. .

The first attempt to conduet a drug business in the Village was made
by a German during the early sixtics. Ie opencd a store on South
Maple Avenue, where the residence of Chas. Stoneall now stands, but
the location was not near enough to the business eenter of the com-
munity and so was unsuccessful.

In 1868 a similar business was established by E. A. Wyatt, in the
store now occupied by the O. K. Market, on the corner of Ridgewood
Avenue and Chestnut Street. In 1892 the business was purchased from
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the widow of Mr. Wyatt by H. A. Tice, who remained at that location
until 1897, when he moved to his present site on the opposite corner.
The building he removed to was destroyed by fire in 1900 but was im-
mediately rebuilt and is now known as the Pioncer Building.

The lumber business on the south side of Ridgewood Avenue was
cstablished by Cornelius Shuart about 1869, and about 1874 he sold it
to John G. Hopper and his brother, Albert G. Hopper. 1t again be-
came Mr. Shuart’s property and in 1878 its present proprictor, Lsaac
E. Hutton, re-established the business.

In 1870, Abraham Terhune built and conducted a grocery store and
meat business at the corner of Ridgewood and Maple “Avenues. He
discontinued this in 1874 and started the Ridgewood Avenue Hotel
This was destroyed by fire in 1876 and immediately afterward the
present Rouclere Hotel was built. -

In 1872, T. V. Terhune cstablished a general merchandise and gro-
cery business at the eorner of Ridgewood Avenue and Oak Street, which
he conducted for a long period. The store is occupied at present by the
James Butler Grocery Company.

A meat market, previously eondueted by John J. Bogert. was pur-
chased by his brother-in-law, Cornelius Crouter, in 1874, In 1889 the
building was destroyed by fire but was rebuilt during the same yecar
and Mr. Crouter continued the business until he disposed of it in 1914
and retired. The store is located on Ridgewood Avenue between the
Hutton and Moore (Zabriskie) buildings and is now the office of W. H.
Moore’s plumbing establishment.

A short time prior to 1876, Abram J. Zabriskie erceted the brick
building on the corner of Ridgewood Avenue and Broad Street, which
is now known as the Moore Building. On its completion it was oceupied
by the firm of Zabriskie & Hawes, established in 1872-3 by his son, John
J. Zabrigkie, and Samucl W. Hawes, who conducted a grocery business
in the premises now the real estate offices of Stevens & Tetor.

In the early 80's the doorsill of the main entrance to the store was
used by the United States Department of Geographical Surveys for the
first marker placed in Ridgewood, to indicate its elevation above sea-
level. On the completion of the Ridgewood Trust Company’s building,
the marker was removed to the sill of the main entrance of the new
building and shows an elevation of 134.55 feet. The only other marker
placed by the Government in Ridgewood is on the bridge of the Erie
Railroad over Cameron Lane and shows an clevation at that point of
153.97 fecet.

Some time prior to 1876, Whritnour & Colfax had a general mer-
chandise store on the site of the present E. B. Van Horn livery, grain
and feed business on Broad Street, the upper floor of the building being
known as Wilson’s Hall. This building was destroyed by fire in 1881.
The building now occupied by Ackerman Bros., the groecerymen, on
the north side of Ridgewood Avenue, was put up by John B. Van Dien
and was oceupied by the firm then known as Edward Whritnour & Son,
Mr. Colfax having previously died. Upon the death of Edward Whrit-
nour, the business was continued by his son, Mathias (Tiece) Whritneur,
until succeeded by the present occupants.
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After the destruction of the former store of Whritnour & Colfax,
the site remained unocecupied until the early part of 1898, when E. B.
Van Horn erected the present building and established his livery, feed,
and grain business.

About 1876 Van Emburgh & Post operated a steam saw and planing
mill on the corner of Ridgewood Avenue and Broad Street, part of the
building being used for the earpenter shop of C. D. Ackerman. This
building was also destroyed in the fire of 1881. At that time it was
being used as a blacksmith shop by Benjamin Eglin, who now conduets
a similar business on ITudson Street, and as a wheelwright shop by
John A. Marinus.

In 1882, the present Ryerson building was crected upon the site.
This building, besides providing for stores on the ground floor, had liv-
ing rooms on the second floor, and a meeting room on the third floor
which was, for a long peried, the home of the Masons.

The corner store now occupied by F. H. Adam, the grocer, was first
occupied by John F. Cruse, also as a grocery store, and at one time con-
tained the Village Post Office. The store now occupied by the restaurant
of Caramella & Morbelli was used until 1899 by Mrs. Susan E. Ryerson
and her sister, Miss Kate A. Bortie, as a dry-goods and notion store.

The coal and wood business now condueted by George R. Young and
Richard Bortie, the business office of which is located in the Ryerson
building, was established in 1888 by E. F. Ryerson, who condueted the
business in its present loeation until his death. It was taken over by
the present firm during April, 1897. When first established, the coal
vards were loeated for a short time on the Broad Street property, later
occupied by the feed and grain business of J. H. Blauvelt. About a
year after its cstablishinent, Mr. Ryerson moved the yards to their
present location on Franklin Avenue, along the tracks of the Erie
Railroad.

Some years prior to 1876, G. J. Snyder construeted a small building
on the corner of Ridgewood Avenue and Prospeet Street, the present
site of the First National Bank building, where, for a number of years,
he condueted a meat business. At about the same time he creeted a
larger huilding, with living rooms above, on Ridgewood Avenue. adja-
cent to the corner building, the ground floor of which was used by J.
Sciber as a hakery. When the First National Bank building was started,
these buildings were removed to their present loeation on Prospeet
Street adjoining the present Post Office building and are now occupied,
the smaller one by the Ridgewood Tire Company and the other by
Koblintz, the tailor.

The first plumbing and tinsmith business was established prior to
1876 by Bergman & Duffy in the store adjoining the old Van Dien
building on the corner of Ridgewood Avenue and Chestnut Street. The
firm also earried a small line of hardware. The business was later eon-
tinued by M. C. Duffy.

The carliest nursery in the vieinity of Ridgewood was started by
Henry W. Hales in 1874. At first the husiness was condueted on a
comparatively small seale, but it soon developed to a point where it not
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only took care of the local trade but supplied cut flowers to the New
York market as well.

In 1876, the business interests loeated in what is now the center of
Ridgewood consisted of three gencral stores, a plumbing shop, two
blacksmiths, two wheelwrights, a periodical store, a butcher shop, a
{ailor, an apotheeary, and a nursery.

The Paramus scction of the Village was in a modest way a business
centre about 1870 and for some ycars thereafter. Jacob D. Van
Emburgh established a grocery store on the property just west of the
old Naugle Hotel. This was successfully conducted by Mr. Van Em-
burgh, his brother, Henry, John E. Zabriskie, John H. Snyder, and
John J. Hopper, the latter a son-in-law of J. D. Van Emburgh. Mr.
Hopper at a voluntary auction disposed of his stock.

At about the same time, John J. Ackerman, later proprictor of the
old Naugle Hotel, established a large business, building carriages,
wagons, and sleighs, as well as doing a general blacksmith, wheelwright,
and carriage painting business and employing about half a dozen men.

During the same period a harness maker and a shoemaker also estab-
lished themselves in this seetion.,

The coal and grain business conducted for the past three years by
S. Nagle, Jr., on the property of W. H. Moore on Broad Street, is on
the premises oceupied by the grain husiness condueted by J. H. Blauvelt
for a period of eighteen years prior to the establishment of the present
business.

Sinee its early days the mercantile interests of the Village have de-
veloped along natural and normal lines until today every line of activity
required by the life of a modern suburban village is represented. Al-
most all of the business interests are centered in the Village and the
principal buildings erceted for these purposes with the date of con-
struetion, are as follows:

On the west side of the track:

Wilsey Square from Franklin to Godwin Avenue,

Osman, 1913; Play House, 1913; Van Orden’s Garage, 1909;
two-story store and apartment block, 1916.
On Godwin Avenue, Morgan, 1903,

On the cast side of the track:

Ridgewood Avenue, south side, from the tracks to Broad Street.

Hutton, 1898; Moore (Crouter) prior to 1874, rebuilt, 1889;
Moore (Zabriskie), prior to 1876.

Broad to Prespeet Streets,

Ryerson, 1882; Hopper, 1908; Ridgewood News, 1900; Ridge-
wood House-Hotel, 1870; Mead, 1903; and First National
Bank, 1903.

Prespeet to Oak Streets,

Ridgewood Trust Company, 1910; Quackenbush, 1909; Green-

law, 1909; Waller, 1915; and Thorton, 1912,
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Ridgewood Avenue, north side from Broad to Chestnut Streets,
Wilsey, 1914; Hennion, 1890; Van Dien Block, 1891 and 1893;
Ackerman, 1882; Duffy, prior to 1876; and Van Dien, prior

to 1868.

Chestnut to Oak Streets,
Pioneer, 1895, rebuilt 1900; Hennion, 1894; Hanks Block (be-

tween 1893 to 1903) ; and on the opposite corner, Terhune,
1872.

Prospect Strect, west side,

The Hegeman building, 1908; Post Office, 1912; and on the
cast side Prospect Hall Block, 1903.

INDUSTRIES

‘While Ridgewood is wholly residential in character, having no fae-
tories or other industrial enterprises employing large numbers of opera-
tives, it was at one time the home of the ‘‘Favorite Brand”’ rubber
packing business. This was in a two-story brick building located on the
cast side of North Maple Avenue, opposite Park Court and at present
used by the Packer Auto Company. The building was built by the heirs
of John R. Terhune in 1873, near the site formerly oecupied by three
other factories within a period of twenty-one years. The first building
was used as a grist mill for nearly half a century, and in February,
1853, was destroyed by fire. A new frame building was put up during
the same year and leased to J. J. Zahriskic for use as a cotton mill.
This also was burned in 1859,

In 1866, ground was broken for a new frame structure which was
lcased to Edwin Taylor, of Kensieo, N. Y., for manufacturing purposes.
This building was burned in 1873 and, in the same year, the present
building was erected and leased in 1879 to the Peerless Manufacturing
Company for the manufacture of rubber goods. Tt was occupied by
this company until about 1886 when, more space being needed on ae-
count of the expansion of their business, their enterprise was removed
to New Durham, N. J. The building was practieally unused until re-
cently when it was oceupied by the Packer Auto Company.

At one time Ridgewood also econtained the woolen mills of G. Morrow
& Son, which were established in 1853 and located at the southeast
corner of the Village near the Susquehanna Railroad, just below what
is now known as Van Emburgh’s Pond.

In the extreme northern portion of the Village, near Waldwick, was
located the paper and twine manufactory of White Company, which was
destroyed by fire about 1880.

In the same locality, and on the road leading from Waldwick to
‘Wyckoff, a factory for the manufacture of wax for artificial flowers and
honeyeomb was started in the early 70’s by A. II. Bender, who had pur-
chased the privilege from Mrs. M. C. MeCall, of Edinburgh, Scotland.
He continued the business for about ten years during which time his
produet received first prize at the Philadelphia Exposition in 1876, as
did flowers made from it by Miss Emma Hopper, now Mrs. George W.
Beckley, of Waldwick.
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FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
Banks

The first cffort to establish a bhanking institution in Ridgewood was
made by The Village Improvement Association, when for a period of
nearly three years prior to the orgunization of the First National Bank,
a committee of this association had charge of the Ridgewood Branch
of the Penny Provident Bank of New York, with a list of depositors
approximating 100 children. Stamps representing cash were exchanged
and redeemed when the amount reached $10.00.

The First National Bank

In 1899 The First National Bank of Ridgewood was organized, ils
first officers being:

President ............................ ..PETER ACKERMAN,
Vice-President .......................... . S. PATTERSON,
Cashicr ...... ... ... . iiiiiiiiinnnnans L. F. SrENCER,

Teller W. C. BaNTa.

The business was at first eonduected in a building on the site now
occupied by Gordon’s barber shop on West Ridgewood Avenue. This
was destroyed by fire in Marveh, 1900, and the bank was removed to
temporary quarters in the Banta plumbing shop in the Hutton building
near the railroad. At the end of four months it was again removed to
the building on Prospeet Street, now oceupied by Max Koblintz, the
tailor. The present quarters were construeted and oceupied in 1903,

Ridgewood Trust Company

The Ridgewood Trust Company was organized in 1906, the first offi-
cers being:

President ... . e Jupnce CorNerius DoreMus
Viee-President .. ........ . 0.0 o TAMES W, PEARSALL,
Treasurer ........c.ooiiiiniiiiiiiiiiins W, T, FULLERTON,
Seerelary ... i e T.. T. SPENCER.

Business was eonducted for about six months in a portion of the
First National Bank quarters, and later, in 1907, was moved to what is
now the Weber jewelry store, on West Ridgewood Avenue. In 1910
the present building was completed and oceupied.

Building and Loan Associalions

Ridgewood has three building and loan associations, all of which
have been managed wisely, ceonomieally, and satisfactorily. The busi-
ness done is strietly loeal and hundreds of residents of the Village, who
have taken advantage of the facilities afforded by the associations, are
today owners of theiv own homes, or are in a fair way to be so. With
a lot paid for, a building and loan assoeiation is usually willing to ad-
vanee 80% of the actual cost of building a house. This 80% is returned
to the association in monthly payments for a period extending over
approximately 130 months. If members do not build, the associations
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provide a means of saving, with the privilege of withdrawal or of bor-
rowing at any time.

The Ridgewood Building and Loan Association

The Ridgewood Building and Loan Association was organized in
1885 and is the oldest organization of ils character in the Village, The
first officers were:

President ........... o i e, James N, Norgts,
Vice-President ,...................... E. I, RyErsox,
Seeretary ...l LG8 Wy,
L .1 CroUTER,

The Co-operative Building and Loan Association

The Co-operative Building and Loan Association was organized on
February 1, 1891, with the following officers:

President ... ... o0 JJoseenr W, Enwanrns,
Viee-President ... ... o ioiiiiiiiia, Cnas, W, Low,
Neeretary coeeldsaac M. Wan,
Treasurer ... ..o Hepvon CaMpeBeLL,

The Glen Rock Building and Loan Associalion

The Glen Rock Building and Loan Association was incorporated
Mareh 25, 1907, with the primary object of furnishing an association
for the residents of Glen Roek. The office is loeated in Ridgewood, as a
majority of its members are residents of that Village.

The first officers were:

President ... i, N. 8, Cvnnenny,
Viee-President . JaMEs B CHRISTOPIER,
Secretary ... ... G. T, Horres,
Treagurer ... v e Jonx A, Marisvs,

MEDICAL AND DENTAL PROFESSIONS
The Medical Profession

In the early history of many of the colonies, the art of healing was
praeticed chicfly by the elergy. The care of the sick came naturally
within the sphere of their parochial duties, and many of them were
distinguished for their knowledge of medicine and were authors of some
of the carliest medieal papers printed in Ameriea. In some instanees
the schoolmaster was the physician and surgeon of the neighborhood.

New Jersey had among its carly medical men a few who had reeeived
their training in the schools of Kurope. By far the greater number,
however, having no liberal education, had lived a year or two with a
practitioner of some sort, read the few available books on medicine and
then, assuming the title of doctor, offered themselves to the people as
competent to cure disease. They relied mueh upon the use of herbs and
roots.

Every neighhorhood scems to have had some one who could bleed and
extract teeth. Oceasionally a handy man would straighten a eracked
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hone, and be given great eredit and the title of doctor for deing so. In
nearly all cases of sickness the remedies employed were the growth of
the soil, very little medicine, as it is known today, being used.

Among the Hollanders of Bergen County, there was little nced of
physicians for many years after the first settlement began. The elimate
was healthy and the scttlers were of a hardy and enduring type.
Malaria was comparatively unknown. All of the carly writers and
correspondents who have deseribed the condition of the country, either
in books or in letters to their friends abroad, united in pronouncing
East Jersey a very healthy country. Aside from this, the scareity of
carly physiciuns in Bergen County is accounted for by the faet that the
move wealthy of the citizens were in the habit of obtaining their medieal
attention from other places, such as New York, Elizabethtown, and
Newark.

Holland seems to have sent forth no properly qualified physicians,
although her university at Leyden was among the most renowned in
Europe for chemistry and kindred seciences. The science of medicine
was in its infaney all over the civilized world. What is now understood
by that term has been the growth of the last 125 years. There was
nothing approximating a school of medicine in America; not even a
course of lectures, until the middle of the cighteenth century, when the
first medical school in the country was founded in Philadelphia in 1765.
Two years later New York established her first school of medicine in
connection with King’s College, New York City.

The year 1688 is the first in which we hear of any doetor in what is
now Bergen County. Dr. Johannes, the man referred to, lived in what
is now Hackensack (in the then County of Essex, which extended only
as far west as the Hackensack River), Bergen County.

Dr. Van Emburgh must have practiced in or about Hackensack be-
fore 1709, as a deed was filed that year to his widow.

The next onc of whom any account is found is Dr. Abraham Van
Buskirk, who lived at Paramus, and was surgeon in the First Militia
of Bergen County, February 17, 1776. In July of that year the Provin-
cial Congress ordered that the treasurer pay to Dr. Van Buskirk and
iwo others the sum of 335 pounds, 10 shillings, being the amount due
for 79 stands of arms at 4 pounds, 10 shillings apiece. Before the year
was out he had gone over to the British, family and all. ¢ was leader
of many Tory raids in Bergen County; one raid through Closter in 1779.

Joseph Sackett, Jr., who praeticed in Paramus was one of the seven-
teen who signed the Instruments of Association and Constitution of the
Medical Society of New Jersey in 1766, which society this year ccle-
brated its 160th Anniversary, being the oldest medieal soeiety in this
eountry.

Many of the early physicians covered large eireuits, often being
away from home for several days at a time. They rendered efficient
service to the public in the days of stage coaches, spinning wheels and
tallow dips. While much of their system of medication today is obso-
lete, it served nevertheless as a stepping-stone to modern practice, and
it would be unjust to deery their methods.

At one period the country was overrun with itinerant doetors,
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natural bonesetters and others of like character. Many clergymen took
up the study of medicine which they practiced along with their ministry.
On the tombstone of the Rev. Robert MeKean, of Perth Amboy, who
was also the first president of the New Jersey Medical Society, is in-
seribed: ‘‘An unshaken friend, an agrecable companion, a rational
divine, a skilful physician, and in every relation in life a truly benevo-
Ient and honest man.”’ .

Dr. Elijah Rosencrantz, graduated from Rutgers College in 1791,
studied theology for a period of sixteen months with the Rev. Peter
Studdiford, whereupon he was granted a liecense to preach. After
preaching one sermon he deeided that he was not fitted for the ministry.
He took up the study of medieine and in 1799 received from two judges
of the State Supreme Court a lieense to practice as a physician and
surgeon in the State of New Jersey. In 1800 he purchased the Hermi-
tage, formerly the home of Madam Provost, now the Rosenerantz home-
stead, where he began practice. e held the appointment of surgecon
to the Sceond Regiment, Bergen County Brigade of Militia. He died
in 1832.

Dr. Garret D. Banta, born in 1792, practiced in Paramus and it is
interesting to note that his wife was in the habit of accompanying him
on his rounds and aiding in his professional work. Dr. W. L. Vroom
has now in his possession the old mortar and pestle with which Dr.
Banta compounded his preseriptions. The eagle over the pulpit of the
old Paramus Church was presented by Dr. Banta in 1800.

Dr. Henry G. Banta, son of Dr. Garret D. Banta, born in 1815, fol-
lowed his father in the practice of medicine and also loeated in Paramus.
He died in 1876. Tt is mentioned that his rounds often required two or
three days before returning home and that wherever meal time found
him he would make himself weleome. Frequently, upon leaving a pa-
tient, he wonld take along a sack of oats or corn for his horses, this
often constituting the only compensation for medieal services.

Dr. DuBois Hasbrook, a cousin of Charles Fashrook of ITackensack,
was located on the Paramus Road, at the old Lane place. about 1854.

Dr. O. Blenis, located on the Paramus Road, now the Vermilye lome-
stead, previous to 1864 and later moved to Saddle River.

Dr. Johm T. De Mund, born in 1840, was assistant surgeon of the
58th Regiment, Pennsylvania Infantry, in 1863, and began the practice
of medicine in Paramus in 1864. He came to Ridgewood in 1878 and
continued praetice until 1914, when he retired. Upon locating in Ridge-
wood his office was in a small building adjacent to the site of the Wilsey
Building. TIn 1888 the building was removed to its present site at the
entrance to the grounds of his residence on Ridgewood Avenue.

Dr. George B. Parker, a surgeon of the Civil War, came to Ridge-
wood about 1876. IHe was the founder of City Point Iospital. It is
related that President Grant said to him: ‘‘Dr. Parker, if there is any
position you wish, I would be glad to make the appointment.’”” The
doetor in his eharacteristic way answered: ‘‘Thank you, Mr. President,
I am a Demoerat.”” Dr. Parker long treasured an axe with whieh, at
the carnest solicitation of a number of officers, President Lincoln split

29



RIDGEWOOD, BERGEN COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

a rail in his tent one night, to demonstrate that he had not lost his
ability in that line.

Dr. William Franeis, born in England, resided in what is now the
Terhune house on Ridgewood Avenue, and practiced in Ridgewood for
a number of years. He died in 1888. The doetor, accompanied by a
bhuge mastiff in his walks about town was for years a familiar figure.

Dr. Wm., L. Vroom came to Ridgewood in 1888, taking up the prac-
tice of Dr. Franeis. In 1893 Dr. Vroom took possession of the old stone
house on Ridgewood Avenue, which is one of Ridgewood’s landmarks,
being the seceond oldest residence. The deed embracing this property,
given by the ‘‘Lords Proprictors of the Provinee of East Jersey’’ and
dated 1698, is still well preserved. It is claborately engrossed on
sheepskin.

Dr. George M. Ockford was next to establish himself in Ridgewood,
coming from Lexington, Ky., in 1891. He has the honor of being the
present Postmaster of the Village.

Next in order are:

Dr. Charles W. Harreys, who began practiee in this Village in 1898,

Dr. Harry 8. Willard, who began praetiee in 1898, soon giving up
general practiee to devote himself to the speciality of the eye.

Dr. Cornelius A. De Mund, son of Dr. J. T. De Mund, began practice
in 1900, following his father, whose practice he has now taken up.

Dr. Harry H. Pettit reached Ridgewood in 1906 and loeated on
Franklin Avenue.

Dr. H. A. Bonynge, located on Prospeet Street, began practiee in
1907. .
Dr. William C. Craig, who associated himself with Dr. Wm. L.
Vroom, began practice in 1909.

Dr. F. W. Gilbart was next in order and located on West Ridgewood
Avenue in 1912,

Dr. Wm. Tomkins located in Upper Ridgewood in 1912,

Dr. Walter F. Keating located on Franklin Avenue in 1915,

The Ridgewood Medieal Socicty, eonsisting of the resident physi-
cians and those of the immediate vieinity, was organized in 1911, the
objeet heing the promotion of seientifie discussion and social welfare.

The Ridgewood Hospital was incorporated in 1911 with the follow-
ing Board of Directors: W. L. Vroom, M.D., F. von Moschzisker, W. C.
Craig, M.D., Judge Cornelius Doremus, and James M. Craig.

The hospital is loeated on West Ridgewood Avenue, adjoining the
office of Dr. Vroom, and is condueted for the physicians of Ridgewood
and vicinity in order that they may properly care for their patients
who require hospital treatment.

The Dental Profession

The scienee of dentistry embraces the treatment of diseases and
lesions of the teeth and the supplying of substitutes for such of these
organs as are lost. As in the early days of the Medieal Profession,
dentistry was practiced to a large extent by persons engaged in other
pursuits and without any professional education. This was due pri-
marily to the fact that mere tooth-drawing constituted the surgical

100



PAST AND PRESENT

dentistry of the times and the operation demanded museular strength
ﬂll\ulll manual dexterity rather than anatomieal knowledge or surgieal
skill.

The very apparent need of edueating individuals for the profession
resulted in the establishment of courses of studies in various colleges
and institutions throughout the country. Now, under the laws of the
various states, only those who ean produce a certifieate that the required
course has been completed may take the examination for a license to
praetice.

In the early days of Ridgewood, dentists who had loeated in the
neighboring municipalities of Hackensack, Paterson, and New York,
cared for the nceds of the villagers. The first dentist to establish in
the Village was Dr. Walter Van Emburgh, who began praetice January
1, 1894, and continued until June 10, 1914, when he retived.

The next to open an office was Dr. Harold J. White, who began
practice on September 10, 1903,

Shortly afterward Dr. Russell Suffern opened an office, but only
remained in the Village about three months.

In the spring of 1909, Dr. G. W. La Liberte began to practice and in
the summer of 1911 removed to Orange, N. J.

During September, 1910, offices were opened by Dr. Walter A.
Tracey and Dr. Angelo Zabriskiec. In October of the same year, Dr.
G. A. Wessner cstablished an office, and Dr. W. S, I. Martin began to
practice here during the carly part of 1913.

PUBLICATIONS

Ridgewood has two weckly newspapers, one bi-monthly publication
and one magazine issued every other week. The community’s first news-
paper was established in 1889 by William J. Tonkin and was issued
monthly under the name of ‘‘The Ridgewood News.”’

The Ridgewood News

This paper was for some time printed in New York and its edi-
torials and news artieles were prepared by Mr. Tonkin as he traveled
between the Village and the City. Six months after its establishment,
the News beeame a semi-monthly. At the end of the year, Mr. Tonkin
decided to discontinue his work as a publisher and sold his paper to
Leonard N. Taft, who was then station agent at Ridgewood for the Erie
Railroad. The purchase price was $1.00. Mr. Taft immediately in-
stulled printing presses, type and other nececessary materials in a room
over Eglin’s blacksmith shop and published The News as a weekly.

About a year later John A. Ackerman beeame owner of the paper
and published it until 1892 when he re-sold it to Mr. Taft.

On Scptember 15, 1894, Frank A. Baxter and Joseph Babeoek be-
came proprictors of the paper. Several years later Mr. Baxter pur-
chased his partner’s interest in the paper and continued to publish it
until June 1, 1916, when he retired from journalistic work, disposing
of his interests to Franklin Fishler, the present proprietor.
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The News was at first non-partisan in its polities, but in recent years
has been consistently Democratie. '

The Ridgcwood Record

In 1898 Mr. Leonard N. Taft, formerly owner of The Ridgewood
News, rce-entered the newspaper business and established The Ridgewood
Record, a weekly. After a brief period, he sold the paper to Eugene
Ferrell, who published it until a fire put him out of busingss. Mr. Taft
bought what remained of the plant at public sale and installed it in the
carriage house in the rear of his residence at 76 Woodside Avenue.
He then ‘began the publieation of a paper called The Ridgewood Herald.

The Ridgewood Herald

This paper was published by Mr. Taft until August 15, 1905, when
Brainard G. Smith sceured possession. Mr. Smith brought to the IHerald
a ripe experienee in newspaper work gained through fifteen years’
service on the staff of the New York Sun. The editorial and news
columns of the Herald sinece Mr. Smith’s ownership have reflected the
journalistic atmosphere which made the New York Sun, during Charles
Dana’s régime, so justly famous.

The Herald has been consistently Republican. in polities and has been
invaluable to the party in Bergen County. It owns its home, a sub-
stantial structure of conercte block, at ITudson and Broad Streets, which
was eompleted in Aungust, 1912, and has a well-equipped modern print-
mg plant.

The Ridgewood Times

The Ridgewood Times was started in 1916 by J. Douglas Gessford,
who sought to ecstablish an independent weekly newspaper of rather
ambitious ideals. The first issue appeared February 19, 1916, as a four
page, cight ecolumn paper. 1t was continued weekly until July 8, 1916,
when it was permanently discontinued beeause the editor and his entire
staff had joined the eolors on the Mexican border as members of Com-
pany L, Fifth New Jersey Infantry.

The Arrow

The Arrow is the publication of the Ridgewood High School and is
devoted to dissemination of Ridgewood school news and the publieation
of meritorious artieles, stori¢s, poems, and papers written by students
in the High School. It was the conception of the Class of 1908 and
appeared originally as the year book of the elass. The first issue was
published under the cditorial direetion of Miss Nell Doremus, who had
associated with her Mildred Ifiler, Florence Kemp, Helen Van Buren,
Lindley de Garmo, and William Ransome, the cover being designed by
Jidgar G. Wandless of the Class of 1910. This publication aroused so
much interest that three issues were published in 1912 and 1913. In
1914, under the editorship of Olive Graham, T'he Arrow beeame a quar-
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terly and the following year was issued bi-monthly and hus so continued
sinee. The Arrow presents many items of pertinent school interest
which escape the attention of the newspapers of the Village. Its staft
consists of twelve students of the High School with two members of the
Faeulty as advisors.

The Edilor

The Edilor, a publication accurately deseribed by its sub-title, which
is ““The Journal of Information for Literary Workers,”” was founded
in January, 1895, by James Knapp Reeve, at Franklin, Ohio. M.
Reeve published the magazine for ten years and then, having become
assoeiated with the Outing Publishing Company, turned the active man-
agement of The Edilor over to Leslie W. Quirk, who eontinued the work
until 1909, when Mr. Reeve resumed the management of the periodieal
and moved the plant to Ridgewood, locating in the Pioncer Building.
In 1911 William R. Kane aequired the eontrolling interest in the maga-
zine. In 1913 it was published as a bi-monthly and later in the same
year began to appear every other week. In 1914 the plant was removed
to Glen Roek, but in December, 1916, it was again located in Ridgewood
and is now established at 2-4 Godwin Avenue as the Station Place Press.
A few months prior to this change, Mr. Arthur Tomalin, of Allendale,
beeame associated with Mr, Kane as publisher. The paper now has
nearly 9,000 subseribers.

The Editor Company also published The Threshold, a ma"azmc of
new names and things in literatuve, T'he Editor Quar te:l Yy which con-
vists of reprints of articles appearing originally in The Editor, books
of value to writers, and maintains a Literary Burcau to assist writers,
by eriticism and advice.

HOTELS, INNS, AND TAVERNS

The old David Naugle Tavern, located about 500 feet north of Lin-
wood Avenue, on the west side of the Paramus Road, was built about
1790, by John A. Zabriskie, orviginally a residence. Muv. Zabriskic later
turned the house into a tavern, which was one of the stopping places
on the old Hoboken-Goshen stage route. After the Revolutionary War
and during the carly part of the Nineteenth Century, in accordance
with the eustom of that time, the house was the headquarters of the
citizens of the community when engaged in general military training
vnder General Andrew I, Hopper, on what were known as ‘‘General
Training Days’’.

In 1809 the property, including 100 acres of land, was conveyed by
Chvristian De Peyster to John A. Zabriskie.

About 1849 it ecame into the possession of David B. Naugle, who
condueted the premises as a hotel during the Civil War. On May 23,
1905, F. H. Bogert bought the property, at a partition sale in the
Sheriff’s office at ITackensack. At that time it was and for more than
twenty years had been condueted as the Ackerman Hotel by John J.
Ackerman, as lessee of the David B. Naugle Estate. Mr. Ackerman
was permitted by the new owner to continue in possession until his
death in the spring of 1913. His widow continued the business until
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the expiration of her license on September 1st of that year. Although
a new license was granted by the eourt and Mr, Bogert was offered an
increased rental for the property for hotel purposes, he declined the
offer and thus terminated a hotel business long condueted on the site.
The building was never again oceupied and soon after the property
passed out of the hands of Mr. Bogert, in 1915, it was torn down, the
cellar at present marking its site.

Henry Van Emburgh eonducted a hotel in the building now known
as ‘““Maple Homestead’’, located about 1,000 feet north of the old Naugle
Hotel on the Paramus Road. This business was discontinued at about
the time Mr. Naugle took possession of his plaee.

A number of years after the Revolutionary War, a hotel was built
by a man named Bogert, on the present site of the Martin property,
on the north side of Godwin Avenue opposite Lineoln Avenue. During
the early 40’s, the place was conducted as & tavern by James Blauvelt,
who was noted throughout the country-side for his efforts to discover
ihe sceret of perpetual motion, and his place was a center for the people
of the neighborhood.

About 1870, J. W. Halstead built the present Ridgewood House on
‘West Ridgewood Avenue. At that time the Villuge was a mere hamlet
and the hotel was looked upon as a very large affair. About two years
later Abram G. Hopper opened the Franklin House, on the present site
of the Ridgewood News Office, and continued it until a fire swept that
bloek. In 1885 Mr. Hopper purchased the Ridgewood House and con-
dueted it until his death. Iis family carried on the business for a
short time and in 1906 its present occupant, Henry Zellweger, took
possession.

In 1870, Abram Terhune conducted a grocery and meat business at
the corner of Maple and Ridgewood Avenues. In 1874 he obtained
a license and opened a hotel known as the Ridgewood Avenuce House,
whieh burned in 1876. It was re-built at onee and continued as an
inn and tavern until its present proprictor, Harry Rouclere, took pos-
session in 1893. He remodelled and refurnished it, added two stories,
put in baths, toilets, and all improvements, changed the name to the
Rouclere House and it soon beeame the best known hotel in Northern
Jersey. It was a mecca for all bicyele parties and as the wheelmen
at that time were numerous, the reputation of the house grew rapidly
and as many as 400 dinners were often served in a day.

Mr. Rouclere, tiving of the hotel business, leased the house to Mr.
Zellweger and returned to the theatrieal husiness. Later he again leased
it to Emil Meyers and at the expiration of the latter’s term, returned
and onee more remodelled and refurnished the entive place, adding sev-
eral private baths, a new grill, and a separate dining-room, which at
the present time can scat more than 100 diners.

About 1891, H. A. Herbert erceted a building on Maple and Spring
Avenues called the Herbert House and ran it for several years. It
was afterward leased to Miller & Myers and later to 8. J. Topping.
Subsequently it was taken over by Van Nortwick & Gillfillen and the
name was changed to the Village Inn. It is still under this pro-
prietorship.
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The first license granted in Ridgewood was issued to Casper Van
Dien and Albert S. Hopper, who had u grocery store on the site of the
present Hutton building, and eonducted the liquor business in a small
building in the rear of the store.

Punuic UriLiries
EXPRESS SERVICE
Wells-Fargo Company

About 1888 the Wells-Fargo Express Company sueceeded in extend-
ing its serviee from Chieago to New York over the Eric Railroad. Pre-
vious to that time all express matter entering Ridgewood was carried
by the United States Express Company.

Gradual improvements have been made, from time to time, and to-
day Ridgewood is enjoying an efficient serviee with two deliveries daily
covering the entire Village.

GAS AND ELECTRIC SYSTEMS
Guas

The Ridgewood Gas Compuny was ineorporated on April 24, 1900,
the first direetors being: D. W. La Fetra, William R. Boyee, J. W. Pear-
sull, B. C. Wooster, Theodore Vietor, August I>. Crouter, Luecius S.
Willard, H. S. Willard, M.D., Arthur J. Hopper, Josecph P. Walker,
S. W. N. Walker, W. W. Breakenridge, and F. A. Mallalicu.

Of these directors the first nine were residents of Ridgewood and
they cleeted as the first officers of the company:

President ... ettt i D. W. La FeTRA,
Neerelary . .oovoiiiiiii i e e Artuus J. Horper,
Treagurer ... ... ... ... iiiiie e AUGUST P CROUTER.

Soon after the company was incorporated, work was begun on the
plant located on Ackerman Avenue near the interscetion of Doremus
Avenue.  Construction delays interfered with the completion of the
plant until the following year, when it was placed in service.

During 1903 the Board of Directors re-organized. D. W. La Fetra
remained as President for two or three years longer, when he was sue-
ceeded by J. W. Pearsall. Later A. C. Brooks served until the affairs
of the company were taken over by the Publie Service Gas Company
in July, 1910.

The first priece of gas as established by the company in 1900 was
$1.50 per 1,000 cubic feet. Prior to the taking over of the eompany by
the Public Serviee Gas Company, the rate was reduced to $1.15 per
1,000 cubie feet. Before this there was a cooking rate of 80 cents and
a consuming rate of $1.25.

‘When the Public Service Gas Company assumed the affairs of the
company, all rates were changed to $1.15. In 1912 they were reduced
to $1.10, and on May 1, 1913, through an order of the Publie Utilities
Commission of New Jersey, they were further reduced to 90 eents, which
rate is still in effect.
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In 1910 the Ridgewood Gas Company served 864 consumers, includ-
ing 200 in Glen Rock and 70 in IHo-IHo-Kus. At present the Ridgewood
Distriet of the Public Serviee Gas Company supplies 1,950 consumers.

The original works of the Ridgewood Gas Company are still in use
as a storage plant of the Public Service Gas Company, the manufactur-
ing of the product having been discontinued about 1907. Gas is now
supplied from Paterson under high pressure, with high pressure mains
encireling the Ridgewood Distriet to maintain a proper pressure for
all domestic purposes.

Eleclricity

Kerosene o0il lamps for street lighting purposes were introduced by
the individual property owners in the carly 70’s and eontinued in use
until the Ridgewood Electric Light & Power Company, through the
efforts of E. H. Watlington, began supplying consumers between the
months of October and December, 1893. The original officers of the
company were:

Pregident ... ... ..ottt iiinaneaes 7. F. CARRIGAN,
Treasurer ........cccovvevenennnssnannnen Paur Wacrrox,
Secretary ........eiiiiiiiiie it E. II. WATLINGTON.

At the time the plant was construeted on the present site of the
Public Service Company’s station, a 40-kilowatt alternator for house
lights and a 40-are dircet current generator for street lighting were
installed. The street lighting system was arranged on what was known
as the ‘‘moonlight sehedule’’, while the current for house lighting was
started at 5 P.M., and discontinued at 1 A.M. cach day.

Originally a flat rate of $5.00 per month was charged for current
with an additional charge of 40 cents for cach electriec bulb furnished.
On aceount of inercased business, meters were installed in 1894, at which
time bills to consumers werce rendered on the basis of one cent per
burning hour for 15-candle power lamps, with a step rate diseount.

© In 1897 are lamps were supplied to commereial consumers at $5.00
per month with a 5 per cent. discount. In 1899 the Gus & Electrie
Company of Bergen County leased the Ridgewood Electrie Light &
Power Company, and changed the rate to 25 eents per 1,000 watts,
supplying an all-night service. The street are lights were changed to
32-candle power lamps and a scale of discounts for prompt payments
was made as follows: 20 per cent. on bills up to $10.00, 25 per cent. on
bills from $10.00 to $20.00, 30 per cent. on hills from $20.00 to $30.00,
35 per cent. on bills from $30.00 to $40.00, and 40 per cent. on bills of
$40.00 and over. In 1900 the rates were changed to 20 eents per kilo-
watt with a discount of 15 per eent. This rate prevailed until Apail,
1906, when it was changed to 15 cents straight.

The Public Service Ilcetric Company assumed the affairs of the
Bergen County Eleetrie Light & Power Company during April, 1905,
and continued their lease of the Ridgewood Eleetrie Light & Power
Company plant,

In January, 1908, the rate was changed to 12 eents and in Jnmml Y,
1910, to 10 cents, whlch rate now prevails without diseounts for light-
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ing rates but with a sliding scale for consumption of over 50 kilowatt
hours, as per the existing contract.

During the year 1910 the old plant of the Ridgewood Eleetric Light
& Power Company was taken down and on its site & modern and up-
to-date sub-station was erected by the Public Serviee Electric Company.
This sub-station contains motor volt regulators and is connected with
the company’s central stations at Newark, Paterson, and Marion, which
are of sufficient capacity to carry whatever load the business may place
upon them, thus assuring the eonsumers of Ridgewood a continuous
service.

The Public Serviee Gas Company and the Public Service Eleetrie
Company also have a commercial office on Prospect Street where busi-
ness matters between the companies and their consumers are conducted.
Here demonstrations of the practical uses of their products are main-
tained and arrangements may be made at any time to visit and inspect
the equipment used by the companies in rendering their serviece to
the publie.

THE POST OFFICE

‘When a post office was first established in this vieinity it was nat-
urally near the business center, then the manufacturing establishments
in the Midland Park section of Godwinville. For a long time the mail
was thrown off at IIo-Ho-Kus and ecarried on horseback to the post
office. In 1859, however, a depot was crected near where the present
depot stands and the mail for Godwinville was thrown off here. With
the coming of numerous New York families to Ridgewood in 1860 and
succeeding years, it was found that the loeation of the post office was
inconvenient and an effort was made to seeure one more satisfactory.
After a number of months of strenuous labor, the postal authorities
consented to the establishment of the Ridgewood post office. This was
in 1865 and the mail was marked ‘‘Ridgewood’’ although the railroad
company did not consent to the change in name from Godwinville
until 1866.

The most persistent workers for the post office were E. A. Walton
and Benjamin F. Robinson, and when the post office was established,
Mr. Robinson was asked to act as postmaster. He accepted the position
but proved to be ineligible as he held a position in the Internal Revenue
Service and the federal law would not permit him to hold both offices.
He resigned the postmastership and Garret G. Van Dien, who kept a
general store on the site where the S. 8. Walstrum-Gordon & Forman
real estate office is located in the Wilsey Building, was appointed to
suceced him. Mr, Van Dien continued in the office until his death on
November 1, 1884. His widow then became postmistress and held office
until succceded by John F. Cruse, in the following year.

The office was removed by Mr. Cruse to the store now occupied by
Mr. Adam. After Mr. Cruse had held office for four years, Mr. Adolph
Huttemyer was appointed. At that time Mr. Huttemyer was running a
coal yard which was removed to make way for the Plaza. Mr. Huttemyer
removed the office to his coal office. He served for four years when Mr.
Cruse was again appointed and moved the office to its former location.
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Mr. Cruse was suceceded in November, 1897, by Roger M. Bridgman, who
removed the office to the corner of Ridgewood Avenue and Chestnut
Street. After the First National Bank was built, the post office was again
removed across the street. These quarters soon became too small and in
1912 the office was removed to its present location on Prospect Street
adjoining the First National Bank Building.

The post office at first was a small affair, the work being done by
the postmaster, with the occasional help of an assistant. The nearest
money-order office was at Paterson. The hard times of the years 1873
to 1878 interfered materially with the growth of the town and the de-
velopment of its postal facilities. The first domestic money-order was
issued from the Ridgewood office on August 1, 1889, and the money-
order business grew slowly. The office frequently docs more business
in one day now than it did in months after its introduetion. The office
was designated as an international money-order office in 1900. In 1901
two rural carriers were appointed and in 1903 three carriers were ap-
pointed to serve the Village. This foree was inereased from time to
time until now there are eight regular carriers, two of whom were
added since Dr. Geo. M. Ockford, the present postmaster, succeeded
Mr. Bridgman on April 1, 1914. In 1911 the office was designated to
reccive postal savings. The parcel post system was installed in 1913
and made neceessary the employment of additional help. This work is
now done by auxiliary earriers. They carry pareel post and cover the
routes of absent earriers. The business of the post office has kept pace
with the growth of Ridgewood and the foree to-day comprises 22 per-
sons. The quantity of parcel post continually inercases and the office
is in a flourishing condition.

THE ERIE RAILROAD

The story of the Erie Railroad, now operating through Ridgewood,
starts indireetly with the war of the Revolution.

In 1779 American troops, under Generals Clinton and Sullivan, in-
vaded the country of the confederated Indian tribes of New York State.
This invasion, provoked by the Wyoming Massacre of the previous year,
led the troops through the valleys of the Susquehanna and Chemung.
This region was then unbroken wilderness, but General Clinton realized
the importance of the valleys to the development of New York State
and the influence they were to exert on the westward spread of eivil-
ization. He conceived the idea of connceting the scaboard with the
Great Lakes by a thoroughfare which should pass through the southerly
tiecr of New York countics, and among the earliest petitions to the
newly organized Federal Congress was that of Generals Clinton and
Sullivan for authority and an appropriation to eonstruct a road to be
known as the ‘“Appian Way’’, from the Hudson River through the
valleys of the Delaware, the Susquehanna, and the Alleghany, to Lake
Erie. No such appropriation was made by Congress but Clinton
throughout his life continued to advocate the projeet and after his
death his son, DeWitt Clinton, kept up the agitation for this thorough-
fare, although along different lines. When he came into power the
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northern and central tiers of New York counties had gained predomi-
nance, commereially and politically, and in 1817 DeWitt Clinton, as
Governor, brought before the Legislature a plan to construct a canal
from Lake Erie to the Hudson River. This canal. was completed and
opened in 1825 and is known as the Erie Canal.

DeWitt Clinton had not, however, abandoned faith in his father's
projeet, nor the interests of the southern tier, and during the year
prior to the opening of the canal, he brought before the Legislature
the subject of a state road through the Delaware, Susquehanna and
Alleghany valleys. A survey was authorized and made, but the route
was so influenced by political eonsiderations that the project came to
nothing.

Five years before DeWitt Clinton’s ud\ocaey of the Erie Canal,
Colonel John M. Stevens of New Jersey offered to undertake the bulld-
ing of a steam railway in place of the proposed Erie Canal, but his
offer was rejected with ridicule. A projeet for a canal through the
southern tier was taken under consideration after the abandonment of
the highway plan, but this, in turn, was abandoned upon an adverse
report of Benjamin Wright, the engineer of the Erie Canal, who hinted
in the same report at the practicability of a railroad.

In 1829 William G. Redficld, of New York City, issued a pamphlet
entitled ‘A Sketeh of the Geographical Route of a Great Railway,
by which it is proposed to econncet the eanals and navigable waters of
New York, Pennsylvania, Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, Missouri,
and the adjacent States and Territories’’, commencing at the Hudson
River near New York City and ending at Lake Ervie. His pamphlet
found wide cirenlation and in 1831 the National Government author-
ized Colonel DeWitt Clinton, a son of the now deceased Governor and
a member of the United States Army Engineer Corps, to make a recon-
naissance of the route. This reconnaissance showed the projeet to be
practicable. Tt is remarkable that, upon the report of a grandson of
General Clinton, a railway was projeeted and ultimately built along
the ** Appian Way’’; for, pursuant to a vesolution of a convention of
the southern tier counties, held in Owego in 1831, a charter was granted
by the Legislature in 1832 for the construction of a railroad between
Lake Evie and the Hudson River. After various vicissitudes, politieal
and financial, this railway was construeted between Dunkirk and Lake
Tric and Piermont on the Hudson River. A portion between Piermont
and Goshen was completed in 1841. The whole road was completed
and opened for traffic in 1851, and the opening was a National eere-
monial. It was attended by President Fillmore, Daniel Webster, See-
retary of State; John J. Crittenden, Attorney General; W. C. Graham,
Secerctary of the Navy; W. K. Hall, Postmaster General; the Governor
and Licutenant Governor of New York State, and many other promi-
nent men, all of whom traversed the entire length of the railroad on
the initial trip, traveling from New York City to Piermont by boat
for the start.

The nearest station on this railroad to Godwinville, now Ridgewood,
was Suffern, but, as the natural termmus for a railroad was opposite
New York City, and the natural routt'liy through’the Paramus Valley
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to Paterson and thence to Jersey City, there was no question but that
Ridgewood would ultimately be on the Eric map. There were men
in New Jersey who held this belief and who were far-seeing enough to
obtain charters for two railroads; one, the Ramapo and Paterson Rail-
road from Paterson to the State line at Suffern; the other, the Paterson
and Hudson River Railroad from Jersey City to Paterson. The latter
was built and opened in 1836. The former was not built until it be-
came evident that the New York and Ervie Railroad (now Erie) was
to be completed. The Ramapo and Paterson Railroad was built and
put in operation in 1848 as a single track road. Its terminus was only
a short distance from the New York and Erie Railroad at Suffern.
The charter of the New York and Erie Railroad did not permit it to
conncet with a railroad running into any other State, and for more
than a year it ignored the existence of the New Jersey lines. It could
not prevent its passengers, however, from detraining at Suffern and
taking the shorter route to New York City, but it could and did dis-
eriminate against the New Jersey route by making the fare to and from
Suffern the same as the fare to and from New York. Even after the
passage of a bill by the New York Legislature requiring all vailvoads
to provide proper facilitics for conneceting railroads, this diserimina-
tion continned. Under the new law the Union Railroad Company was
formed and a railroad was built from the Erie Station at Suffern to
the terminus of the Ramapo and Paterson. The New York and Erie
inereased the speed of its trains and boats in the hope of competing
with this new conneetion, but ultimately gave in and in 1851 leased
each of the Jersey companies during the continuance of their eharters.
Rockland County interests in New York State fought against this diver-
sion of traffic from Piermont but were not sucecessful.

The terminus of the Paterson and ITudson River Railroad in Jersey
City was just north of the present Pennsylvania Station, the route to
the terminus being along the westerly side of the Palisades and through
the Pennsylvania Railroad cut into the eity. Not until 1862 did it run
through the tunnel to the present Erie Terminus in Jersey City.

Between the opening of the Paterson and Hudson Railroad in 1836
and the Ramapo and Paterson Railroad in 1848, the residents of Ridge-
wood and vicinity, when traveling to New York City, generally drove
to Paterson and took a train from the terminus of the Paterson and
Hudson River Railroad, then located at the corner of Grand and Main
Streets.  The locomotives during the carly days were not allowed within
the eity limits and the trains were taken out to the city line by horses.

The second track through Ridgewood was laid in 1865 and the third
and fourth tracks in 1902 and 1903.

With the opening of the Paterson and Ramapo Railroad, two stop-
ping places were established in the vieinity of Ridgewood, one at Ho-
Ho-Kus and the other at Rock Road (Glen Rock). These were not
convenient, however, to the people of the vicinity, ineluding their Para-
mus and Godwinville neighbors, and soon after the trains began stopping
at the Godwinville road crossing. The station was called Godwinville
after the nearest hamlet. Cornelius Shuart was appointed station agent
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and served for a number of years. The present agent is Charles F.
Bechtlofft, who has served sinee March 11, 1896.

The first accommodation for the passengers at the new station was
an old car from the Paterson and Hudson River Railroad, with scats
cross-wise like a Conecord ceoach and with doors on the side.

Later the property south of Ridgewood Avenue came into the pos-
session of Cornelius Mabey, who built a house in the rear of where the
Hutton Building now stands. For a number of ycars one room of this
house was used as a waiting-room by the patrons of the railroad, a few
household chairs being used as seats, In 1859, however, these primitive
accommodations were abandoned for a station huilt by the residents.

In 1866 there were three stopping places in this vieinity, Flo-Ho-Kus,
Godwinville (Ridgewood) and Rock Road. The station at Rock Road
was a two-story building, the upper story being oceupied as a residence
by the station agent, and was loeated on the north side of Rock Road
adjoining the tracks. The road at this time and for many years after-
wards was a broad gauge railroad. The cars were lighted by candles
and the eonductors carried lanterns at night to cnable them to sce the
tickets. Occasionally commuters who rode with a eonductor with whom
they were especially pleased, would contribute to a fund to purchase
u silver-plated lantern which would he presented to the popular official
with impressive ceremony. Commuters were few in number and the
train serviee was very limited.

About 1868 the first train for New York was at 6:39 ADM,, the
second at 7:39, the third at about 8:12 and the fourth at 9 o’clock.
If a person did not take the 9 o’clock train it was nececessary to wait
until three o’clock, exeept in summer when there was a train at 11 AM.
Commutation tickets were sold only in New York. There were no block
signals and no air hrakes. When approaching a station, the engincer
blew two whistles and the brakeman went to the platform and applied
the brakes by hand. Richard W. Hawes commuted on the Erie Railroad
ginee he entered its service on May 1, 1870, until he retived from busi-
ness on January 1, 1911, with only three intervals of three winter
months each while in the West and in New York City. C. M. Keyser
has also been a continuous eommuter sinee 1880, while P. W. Van Dien,
who died in 1916, commuted sinee 1878, with the exeeption of two ycars.

There has existed between the officials of the Eric Railroad and the
Village of Ridgewood during the last twenty years an almost continnal
agitation over crossing climinations. Various schemes were presented
and discussed at different times for the climination of the crossings at
Godwin and Ridgewood Avenues, but the question of contingent dam-
ages and the unsightliness of the proposed eliminations have always
defeated the plans.

In 1903 an undercrossing at East Franklin Avenue along the lines
of, but less elaborate than, the existing undérerossing was proposed
but met with no favor. In 1909 an climination at Ridgewood and
Godwin Avenues was formally agreed to by the railroad company but
no time was set. As the climination was merely part of a general scheme
for a low grade freight line from the Jersey Meadows to Suffern, which
involved an immense expenditure and would clevate the tracks through

113



RIDGEWO0OOD, BERGEN COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

Ridgewood, it was never carried out. In 1915, however, as the result
of negotiations between Village Commissioners D. A. Garber, G. U.
White, Frederick Pfeiffer and F. D. Underwond, President of the Erie
Railroad, and G. N. Orcutt, his assistant, and in aceordance with a
verbal understanding between the Village officials and Mr. Underwood, -
during a luncheon given by Mr. Oreutt at the Ridgewood Country Club,
that the Village would bear one-half of the cost, a contract was entered
into covering the elimination of the Franklin, Godwin and Ridgewood
Avenues grade erossings and the construetion of the present undereross-
ings, a new station and the plaza. The improvements were designed by
W. W. Drinker, Principal Assistant Engincer of the Erie Railroad
Company, and Frank A. Howard, its Engincer of Bridges and Build-
ings, both residents of Ridgewood. The work under their plans, as
approved by the Village Commissioners, has been done without any
material variations although the total estimated cost of $160,000 will
probably be exceeded by $20,000 on account of the increased cost of
labor and material not embraced in main contraets.

In addition to its proportion of the cost, the Erie Railroad has dedi-
cated to the Village of Ridgewood, for strect and park purposes, 101,500
square feet of land west of the tracks and north of West Franklin
Avenue, and 8,640 squarc feet west of the tracks and south of West
Franklin Avenue. The total cost of this land was $43,529. The Rail-
road Company reserved the right, however, to lay two additional tracks
on the westerly side of the present tracks in ecase traffic should ever
demand it.

The following is of interest in eonncetion with the improvements:

Work started Augusb, 1915,

Undererossing opened September 1, 1916,
Station opened September 23, 1916,
Pedestrian subway opened November 28, 19106,
Earth Exeavation, 50,333 cubic yards.
Concrete curb, 6,244 linenl feet.

Conerete sub-base for pavement, 17,550 square yards.
Cateh basins, 22.

Man-holes, 8.

Vitrified tile drain. 3.073 lineal fect.

Conerete sidewalk, 15243 square feet.
Paving brick, 17,550 square yards.

Ridgewood is the western terminus of the Bergen County Railroad,
aequired by the Erie in 1881, which leaves the main line at Rutherford,
and avoiding the cities of Passaic and Paterson, materially shortens the
distance.

The chief advantage to Ridgewood is that it gives four tracks to
Jersey City and betters the train service materially, express trains
making the trip in thirty-four minutes. The schedule time of trains
over the Main Line of the Erie between Ridgewood and Jersey City
is from forty to fifty minutes.

In addition to the Ridgewood Station, the Ho-Ho-Kus Station on
the Main Line of the Erie, two stations in Glen Rock, one on the Bergen
County Branch and the other on the Main Line of the Erie; together
with the Midland Park Station of the New York, Susquchanna & West-
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ern Railroad furnishes every scetion of the Village with frequent and
convenient train service.

RAPID TRANSIT
Public Scrvice Railway Company

About 1899, an effort was made to sceure a trolley franchise between
Ridgewood and Paterson. A citizen of this community, Preston Steven-
son, organized the Paterson & State Line Traction Company, securing
a number of right-of-way concessions which eventually became the prop-
erty of the Public Service Railway. Work was finally eommenced on
the line under a franchise granted by the Village Commissioners on
January 24, 1914, and during the same year cars entered Ridgewood,
the terminus being in the rear of the Osman Building, corner of Frank-
lin Avenue and Wilsey Square.

North Jersey Rapid Transit Company

First surveys were made in 1908 and 1909, and in 1910 the first
car ran from its terminus opposite the grounds of the North Jersey
Country Club to Ho-Ho-Kus. The line wus completed through to Suf-
fern in 1911 and is now operated as an interurban road under a steam
charter, by George Jackson, Jr., General Manager. The prineipal station
in Ridgewood is at the East Ridgewood Avenue erossing,

HACK AND BUS SERVICE

Besides the two trolley systems which serve the people more in
reaching neighboring communities than in their loeal needs, there are
a number of automobile hacks which vender day and night scrviee,
under permits granted by the Village Commissioners. In addition to
this serviee and also under permits issued by the Village Commission-
ers, three automobile bus lines furnish day service to the residents, one
on the cast side, the Ridgewood Motor Bus, established in 1914, and two
on the west side, Terhune’s Yellow Bus and Jackson’s Bus, established
during 1916.

TELEPIIONE AND TELEGRAPH FACILITIES

Telephone

The history of the telephone in Ridgewood is very similar to the
history of the telephione anywhere, or, for that matter, the history of
any new invention. It has reccived many hard knocks, some of which
have very nearly terminated its earecr, but these have been counter-
balanced by the appreeciation of men who were able to look ahcad and
foretell the ultimate uscfulness of the telephone and the natural realiza-
tion by the publie of the value of the instrument.

Nearly 2,400 telephones are now conneeted with the Ridgewood Cen-
tral Office of the New York Telephone Company. Of these 1,800 are
in Ridgewood proper, while the remaining 600 are in the various munie-
ipalities immediately adjacent. The outside loeal wire plant consists
of 7,196.33 miles of wire in cable and 453.27 miles of bare wire. There
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are also 209.55 miles of bare wire used for trunk lines. This large plant
satisfies all demands of the people of Ridgewood in the quick, efficient,
pelite manner for whieh the Telephone Company is noted. The sixteen
operators answer and conneet about 9,500 local calls daily and over
1,800 calls are made hetween Ridgewood and other places cach day.

The first telephone exchange in this vicinity was opened for business
at Patcrson on the afternoon of December 24, 1879, with eleven sub-
seribers. In the spring of 1882 the Erie Railroad opened the Bergen
County short cut and simultancously a line was extended from the
Paterson switehboard to Wortendyke, branching at Midland Park to
conneet Ridgewood. There were two stations on this line, C. A. Wort-
endyke’s silk mill at Wortendyke, and the home of Garrett Van Dien,
then Postmaster of Ridgewood. In the fall of 1883 Mr. Van Dien dis-
continued his telephone for the reason that a Paterson undertaker called
him each time a death oecurred anywhere in the neighborhood.

John F. Cruse came from Bath, Me., to Ridgewood in 1878 and later
opened a grocery store at 252 West Ridgewood Avenue, where F. H.
Adam is now loeated. Mr. Cruse eame to the reseue and took over the
lonely little telephone whieh had heen dropped by Mr. Van Dien because
of his dislike of having sad news foreed upon him.

It was during the summer of 1884 that the Aeme Band of Worten-
dyke gave a demonstration by playing near the telephone at Wortendyke
to a number of people who gathered at Cruse’s store in Ridgewood and
took turns listening over the telephone to the musie nearly two miles
away. There is grave doubt in the minds of many whether the patient
listeners heard the music over the telephone or whether the wind was
especially favorable on that particular day.

In 1894 the sceond telephone was installed for H. A, Tiee in his drug
store, at the northwest eorncr of Ridgewood Avenue and Chestuut
Street, where C. A. G. Welti’s market now is. From that time on, much
of the telephone history of Ridgewood has revolved about Mr. Tiee and
his drug store.

In the summer of 1895 the single telephone in Tice’s drug store was
replaced by a 10-line switchbomrd conneeting with fifteen telephones,
and with one trunk line to Paterson. This switchboard then served
Allendale, Waldwick and Ramsey, as well as the present Ridgewood
Central Officc Distriet which comprises the Village of Ridgewood, the
Boroughs of Midland Park, Glen Rock and Ho-Ho-Kus, and part of
the townships of Franklin and Midland. Serviee was rendered on this
board from 7:00 A.M. to 10:00 P.M.

By 1896 this equipment was taxed to its limit and had to he again
replaced by a 100-line switchboard., The first operator was Miss I.. Van
Emburgh. The first telephone dircctory covering telephones served by
the Ridgewood Central Office was issued in September, 1897, The fol-
lowing is a list of telephone numbers and subscribers at that time:

Allendale L Ackerman, R. V. (pay sta)
9 ..

Ridgewood .Cnrrigan, J. F,
Ridgewood 11 .. .Chaplin, Duncan D,
Ridgewood T cvieeeiin, Cooper & Corsa
Ridgewaond | N Cox, D. C,

Ridgewood Ja el Cruse, John F. (pay sta)
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Ridgewood [ Daley, James ¥,
Ridgewood Gardiner, Edmund Le B,
Ridgewood .. ITaskins, R, T,
Ridgewood .. Hengeveld, Jacobms
Ridgewood Holt Bros. & Co.

Ridgewond af Lol Hopper, John B., Dr,

ITohokus Keiser, G, J, B. (pay sta)
Wortendyke Muyhew, F, IL. (pay stu)
Ramseys MotTatt, . I3, (pay stn)
Ridgewoad N, Y. & N, J. Tel. Co,, (pay sta)
Ridgewoaod Ockford, George M., M.D,
Waldwick Qughton, Geo. (pay stan)
Ridgewood Tost. John 11.

Ridgewool Rouclere House (IT. Terhune)
Ridgewood Tice, . A. (pay stn)
Ridgewood Vroom, W. L., M.D.
Ridgewood Wall, Tsane M,

Ridgewood West’ru Union Telegr'ph Co,
Ridgewood 128 ........... Zabriskie, David D,

On March 21, 1900, Mr. Tice’s building and the telephone switeh-
board were destroyed by fire, but on the following day, Marveh 22nd,
serviee was restored by a new switehboard placed in George Winters’
stationery store, on the south side of Ridgewood Avenue near Prospeet
Street.  After about a year, the switehboard was moved back to the rear
of the drug store in Tice’s new huilding.

On October 10, 1908, the present eommon battery switchboard was
put into service. It is now loeated over Tice’s drug store on the third
floor of the building at the corner of Ridgewood Avenue and Chestnut
Street. The steady inerease in business has necessitated the ecomplete
rebuilding of the outside distributing plant. In the carly days the
telephone wires were carried singly upon eross-arms attached to poles.
As the number of lines inercased, the single wires and eross-arms have
been replaced by small aerial eables and in the business eenter of the
town, underground subway cables have been eonstructed.

Telephone rates in Ridgewood have been redueed from time to
time for the past sixteen years. On January 1, 1900, there were two
schedules applying in Ridgewood; one a message rate schedule of $50
a_ year for an individual line, $40 a yeav for a two-party line, and $30
a year for a three or more party line. These rates permitted a sub-
scriber the use of 500 messages per annum and applied to both business
and residence. An optional flat rate was also in effcet at this time of
$100 a year for individual linc business serviee and $75 a year for
two party line business scrviee. The extension station in eonneetion
with service of this type was $30 a year. The optional flat rate for
residenee serviee was $75 for an iudividual line and $60 for a two-
party line, with an extension station rate of $20.

In November, 1901, the message rate serviece was climinated and flat
rates for business service were reduced to $60, $48, and $36 for indi-
vidual, two-party and four-party lines, respeetively, while residence
rates were reduced to $48, $36, and $24 a year for the same classes of
gervice. The business extension station rate was redueed from $30 to
$20 per annum and the residenee extension station rate from $20 to
$12 per annum.
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In May, 1904, the rates were again reduced by the introduction of
business rates of $48, $39 and $30 for individual, two-party and four-
party lines, respectively, and residence rates of $36 and $24 for indi-
vidual and four-party lines, respectively. Other small reductions have
been made from time to time until the present rates were made effective
in 1910, which are $48, $36 and $30 for business individual, two-party
and four-party lines, respeetively; and $36, $30 and $24 for residence
individual, two-party and four-party lines, respectively.

The private branch exchange rates have also been reduced in pro-
portion.

Telegraph

Prior to 1864 only one telegraph wire was in operation over the
Erie Railroad lines. While this was used by the railroad prineipally
for operating purposes, commereial telegrams were aceepted at their
stations and delivered to the Western Union Company in New York
City if destined to points not on the lines of the Irie Railroad.

During 1864 the Western Union Telegraph Company made arrange-
ments with the Erie Railroad for the construction of a telegraph line
along the railroad right-of-way with an exchange of telegraph traffic,
The Erie Company’s stations were connected with the Western Union
Company’s wires at that time, the date of Ridgewood’s first regular
telegraph service. The first telegraph operator was R. Terhune, who
also acted as agent for the railroad and the telegraph company. Lew
E. Weller of Otisville, N. Y., now holding a position in the Western
Union Telegraph Company’s New York operating room, was also one
of the early operators in Ridgewood, serving in that capaeity during
1865. Mr. Weller has the distinetion of not only having been in con-
tinuous service of the Western Union Telegraph Company for the past
47 yecars, but also of being the oldest living operator who has served
the Erie Railroad.

On September 28, 1913, the joint arrangement for the operation of
their offices which had existed up to this time between the Erie Rail-
road and the Western Union was diseontinued and the latter, in con-
junetion with the New York Telephone Company, opened an office in
the Wilsey Building for the handling of their commereial affairs.

Mr. F. W. Milliken, who had been in charge of telegraph matters
in Ridgewood for both the Erie Railroad and the Western Union Tele-
graph Company since Mareh 11, 1896, was placed in charge of the
Telegraph Company’s interests and is their present manager. On April
27, 1914, the joint commereial office of the Telephone and Telegraph
Companies was discontinued and sinee then the telegraph office has been
located in the Osman Building in Wilsey Square.

WATER SUPPLY

The Bergen Aqueduct Company

Prior to 1900, the Village of Ridgewood had no system of water
supply either for domestic or municipal purposes. During that year
the Bergen Aqueduct Company was organized by H. W. Corbin of
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Jersey City and the company entered into a contract with the Village
to construet and operate for a period of fifteen years a system of water
works in the Village. A pumping station near the intersection of North
Maple and Harrison Avenues and a storage tank near the interseetion
of Sunset and Valley View Avenues were construeted and the company
commeneed supplying water to the Village about January 1, 1901. The
first standpipe was placed in the vieinity of Sunset Avenue and is still
in service.

In 1903 the company acquired a franchise to extend its pipes from
Ridgewood through Glen Rock and since then it has furnished water
to the two eommunities.

The Bergen Water Company

From 1900 to 1908 the Aqueduet Company procured its supply of
water from the wells loeated on the Harrison Avenue plant. During
this period both Ridgewood and Glen Rock had rapidly inereased in
population and by 1908 this supply was inadequate to the needs of
these two communitics.

The Bergen Water Company was thercefore incorporated on Aungust
19, 1908, by the stockholders of the Aqueduct Company and construeted
a pumping station, two storage tanks, and a system of street mains in
the Borough of Midland Park. The sale of water started on August
1, 1909.

At present the Aqueduct Company owns all mains, valves and hy-
drants in Ridgewood and Glen Rock, the pumping station, wells and
land at Harrison Avenue, and the storage tank and land at Sunset
and Valley View Avenues in Ridgewood. The Water Company owns
the system of mains, valves and hydrants, pumping plant, wells, land
and two storage tanks in Midland Park.

While the mains are continuous between Ridgewood and Midland
Park, the ownership is determined by the dividing line between the
towns.

The Aqueduet Company, from the time it started until the com-
mencement of operations of the Water Company, pumped its own water
by means of the Harrison Avenue plant, but after the Water Company
began operations, the pumping plant at Iarrisen Avenue was shut down
and held in reserve for use only in ease of breakdown at Midland Park
and during the midsummer months to carry the peak of the load. Water
was then and is now purchased by the Bergen Aqueducet Company from
the Bergen Water Company for distribution in Ridgewood and Glen
Rock. .

The Bergen Water Company also supplies its own consumers in
Midland Park and sinee 1912 has sold water to the Village of Ho-Ho-
IKus by meter. The pipe sysiem in Ho-Ho-Kus is owned by the Village,
and water.rents ave collected by the Village.

The supply for Ho-Ho-Kus, when the Harrison Avenue plant is not
running, passes through Ridgewood by way of Lake, Godwin, Franklin,
Ridgewood and Maple Avenues.

The contract between the Bergen Aqueduct Company and the village
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of Ridgewood having expired by limitation on January 1, 1916, and
the water supply, plants and mains owned and controlled by the Bergen
Aqueduct Company and the Bergen Water Company being insufficient
to meet the future needs of the communities served by these companies,
the question of whether the Village of Ridgewood shall aequire the
properties of the two ‘companies, or enter into a eontract with a new
company to be incorporated for the purpose of taking over the prop-
erties with the development, in cither case, of a new supply of water,
is now reeciving the attention of the Commissioners and citizens of
the Village.
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CHAPTER VII

RESIDENCES—PRESENT, EARLY, -HISTORICAL—AND
COMMUNITY CENTERS

RESIDENCES—PRESENT, EARLY AND HISTORICAL

The Homes of Ridgewood

LL of the traditions of Ridgewood and the efforts of its people
combine to make it a residential community or home town. While
it is impossible to describe in a book of this kind the various types
of modern houses to be found within the boundaries of Ridgewood, it
may be stated briefly that, with the exception of a few within the busi-
ness section of the Village, all dwellings are detached and most are
surrounded by ample and well-kept lawns, with space for gardens or
fruit and shade trees.

As will be seen in the foregoing pages, during the 50 years of its
existence, as Ridgewood, the community has developed from an agri-
cultural section into a modern residential village. As in other localities
in Bergen County, the coming of the new type of dwelling has, in the
natural eourse ‘'of things, brought about the gradual climination of the
houses of the carly settlers, and these deserve greater eonsideration than
has been given in the following gencral deseription of those in Ridge-
wood and its vicinity.

Early Dulch Homes

Bergen County having been settled prineipally by the Dutch, such
of the early homes as remain today show a distinetive style of archi-
tecture that was the result of a slow local development, unmodified by
outside influences until after the Revolution, whieh, so to speak, made
the colonies more aware of each other’s presence.

Prior to that time, the Dutch settlers held slight eommunion with
their English neighbors and were possessed of a marked individuality.
This is responsible for their type of home, now generally referred to
as Dutch Colonial. The first houses were primitive one or two-room
cottages with rough stone walls and thatehed, flat gable roofs without
the overhanging eaves so noticeable later on. Very few houses of this
type remain today.

These simple cottages continued to be built for some time, always
more carcfully and with better workmanship, the stone laid in courses
and roughly faced. The stone, called sandstone, is a local stone, found
on almost any site, ranging from light or dark tan to light brick color
and of a great variety of texture.

As time went on the stonework was more carefully eut, until the
19th Century, when the preeise jointing and smooth-tooled finish on the
front was developed.

The walls were laid in a binding material of ordinary elay from the
fields, mixed with straw, and this, while keeping out moisture, was
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easily washed out of the stone on the outside of the walls by rain. It
was to prevent this that the houses were later built with wide eaves
overhanging the walls three feet or more.

The end walls were not so easily taken care of and were not, there-
fore, carried up to the peak of the gable. The space between was
framed in wood covered with shingles and sometimes with elapboard,
which left only a short space of stone wall requiring ocecasional repair.

Once the overhang was adopted, the projecting portion was eurved
outward to keep the roofs from coming too close over the windows,
to avoid the clumsy, top-heavy appearanee and, possibly, to east the
rain-water favther out from the walls.

When the original cottage beecame too small for its owners, a larger
house was built against one end and this beeame the main portion of
the house, the original building being used as a kitchen wing. Fre-
quently a second wing, more or less like the first, was added on the other
end of the building to accommodate a married son, who used the living
quarters of the main house with the rest of the family,

Thus the symmetrical house plan of center and flanking wings was
not at all a formal coneeption carried out at one time, as we build houses
today, but simply the result of natural growth in the prosperity and
necessities of the family. This gradual evelution developed a type of
house that is distinetive of Bergen County. Generally speaking it may
be deseribed as a low stone dwelling, usually with one wing and some-
times two, a ‘“‘Dutch” door in the middle with a fanlight above, two
windows at each side, bare of columns or any other architectural orna-
mentation, a simple platform with plain side railings in front of the
door, the walls carrying low unbroken, gambrel roofs with eaves curving
out three feet more or less, the whole giving an impression of strength,
austerity, harmony, and comfort., The wings were lower and covered
with a plain low guble, usually with the eurving overhang, while the
chimneys were large and usunally of brick brought from Holland or
Barbadoes.

While the most important remaining groups of these Duteh houses
are to be found in a district beginning about fifteen miles northwest
of lower New York in Bergen County and streteching north along the
valley of the winding Hackensack River from the town of Hackensack
to the New York State Line, in Ridgewood and vicinity, a number still
remain as follows:

Ackerman-Van Ewmburgh Iouse

Situated at the head of Paramus Road just as it turns to ceross the
Saddle River is the old Ackerman ITomestead. It was built by a mem-
ber of that family in 1750 and came into the possession of the Van
Emburgh family from the Ackerman Estate in 1800.

It is commonly known as the home of Jacob Van Emburgh and at
present is occupied by Hervey Terhune.

Ackerman-Naugle House

The first house north of the Ackerman-Van Emburgh House, and
standing on the East Saddle River Road with its end towards the south,

122



Mitchell

H.L.

Courtesy C.

House.

188

g
<
=
o
&
3]




RIDGEWOOD, BERGEN COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

and at the Junetion of Paramus Road, was built by Abram Ackerman
in 1760.

It has genernlly been known as the home of John Naugle and for
a number of years, until his recent death, was occupied by Jacob Ferdon.

Van Dien Home

A few yards beyond the Saddle River boundary line of Ridgewood:
and on the west side of Paramus Road, just below the Blauvelt home,;
is the old home of the Van Dien family. Built in 1800 by Herman Van
Dien, the house faces east with one wing on the south end.

It is now owned by Miss Aletta Van Dien, daughter of John H. Van
Dien, and is occupied by Elmo Paxton.

Ackerman House

At the junetion of Ackerman and Doremus Avenues is another old.
Ackerman homestead now occupied by Garret G. Ackerman. The
stone part of this was built by his great grandfather, David Ackerman,
over 175 years ago. It now has a wooden wing on the south side.

Zabriskie-Wessells-Board House

On the east side of Paramus Road, just below the junetion of Ho-
Ho-Kus Brook and the Saddle River, in Midland Township, but within.
fifteen hundred feet of the Ridgewood Line, stands the old Zabriskie
House, now owned and occupied by Frederick Z. Board.

The house was constructed in 1790 by Andreas Zabriskie. Stand-
ing at right angles to the road, the end of the nearest wing with its
little oval windows set diagonally in the gable and in perfeet detail,
attraets immediate attention. The remaining portion of the structure
has been added to, but in such a way as to leave the picturesque effeet.
unharmed.

A great lawn with beautiful trees and shrubbery stretches away
from the rear of the house, and in front, across the drive-way, is the last
of the old Colonial gardens, carefully laid out with paths and hedges.
Nearby is an old barn originally eonstructed in 1775 and remodelled
in 1823 and 1892, whose beams show the marks of British bullets fired
during the Revolution.

The house has often been deseribed in periodicals dealing with ar-
chitectural matters and is referred to as one of the most delightful of
theold places, both for its structural beauty and its splendid location,
to be found throughout this nnclent countryside.

Vaun Dien-Ven De Beek-Hopper Houses

The foregomg houses, together with the Van Dien home on Grove
Street, the Van De Beck house at the junction of Maple Avenue and
Prospect Street, the old Hopper home on Prospect Street, now owned
by Mrs. T. A. Strange and built in 1810 by Garret Hopper, and the
stone portion of the building now used by Dr. W. L. Vroom on West
Ridgewood Avenue, which was built by Peter J. Hopper, the father
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of Albert P. Hopper, about 1830, are practically all of the old stone
houses of the former inhabitants which now remain, their places having
been taken by the modern houses of today.

‘While no longer in existenee, the following stone houses were all
excellent examples of the period:

Aycrigg House

Located on the cast side of the Paramus Road about one-half mile
below Grove Street, this house was built about 1730 and destroyed by
fire on July 4, 1899. The house faced south with a wing on cach end
and with white-washed walls. In 1790 it was owned by John Zabriskic
and later passed into the Bogert and then the Ayerigg families.

On the west side of the Road stands the old family burial vault
built in 1786.

Zabriskic-Van Dien House

About one thousand feet north of the Ayerigg House stood the house
occupied by John and Leah Zabriskie, which wus built in 1790 and later
passed into the Van Dien family.

Zabriskic House

Built by Christian Zabriskie in 1728, this house was demolished in
1790 by Andreas Zabriskie, who at that time built the present residence
of F. Z. Board on the Paramus Road, a few yards in front of its site.

HOQUSES OF HISTORICAL INTEREST

The houses deseribed in the preeeding pages might well have been
included under this eaption, as they are mot unly surrounded by the
traditions of the families which occupied them, but, as many of them
existed during the stirring times of our country’s infaney, they were,
without doubt, often visited by both the American and British troops.

Washington and his generals, it is known, visited this scetion during
the Revolutionary War and, judging from his orders and ecorrespond-
ence dated at Paramus, must have used one of the old houses in the
vicinity as his headquarters. Some writers state that this was probably
the place then ealled the Hopper Tavern, now known as the Brainard
Tolles residence, in Ho-Ho-Kus, but this has never been established
as a faet.

In the vicinity of Ridgewood, however, are two old landmarks which
sheltered those around whom, in one case, & glowing and romantic
pieture might be painted, while the other still remains a fond sentiment
in the hearts of friends and admirers. They may not fall strietly within
the scope of this book, but their historic value is as keen to the residents
of Ridgewood as it is to those of their ecommunity.

The Hermilage

On the west side of Franklin Turnpike, a short distance above the
Ho-Ho-Kus Station, still stands ‘‘The Hermitage’’, the home of the
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widow of Colonel Provost and the seene of her courtship by the dashing
Aaron Burr previous to their marringe. The house, quaint in appear-
ance and surrounded by wonderful trees, was rebuilt in 1812. It has
long been oceupied by the Rosencerantz family and is an execllent speci-
men of Colonial architeeture.

Jefferson House

About one mile above the old Paramus Church on the west side of
the East Saddle River Road, in Orvill Township, but within a few rods
of the Ridgewood line, is the old Van Emburgh Homestead, which was
lfater the summer home of.the late Joseph Jefferson, of Rip Van Winkle

ame.

Here the old comedian rested from the exacting labors of his pro-
fession and here it was his pleasure to extend to loving friends a hos-
pitality that has beeome proverbial.

COMMUNITY CENTERS

One of the greatest factors in the development of Ridgewood is the
interest manifested by the citizens in all matters relating to the social,
recreational, educational and civie lifec of the community. The oppor-
tunities afforded by the churches and their various organizations, by
clubs and other socicties, are extensively utilized as a medium of social
and civic intereourse in accordance with the preferences of those inter-
ested. Almost all of these have their particular places for holding
meetings and their activities are deseribed clsewhere in this book. The
following serve the people as eentral gathering places for the discussing
of civic and eommunity matters as well as for the purpose of social
and recreational affairs.

Pearsall’s Grove

On the north side of East Ridgewood Avenue, between the Ho-Ho-
Kus Brook and North Maple Avenue, stands a charming grove of nat-
ural growth forest trees which follow an uprising of the land from the
street level to the summit of a ridge from which there is an excellent
view, the whole being admirably adapted to open air gatherings. In
former days this was known as Dayton’s Grove and through the cour-
tesy of James W. Pearsall, its present owner, has served the people on
a number of oceasions as a gathering place for such events as Inde-
pendence Day celebrations, mass meetings, and Sunday afternoon church
services during the summer months.

The Opera House

The idea of having an opera house started with a few public-spirited
citizens who recognized the need of a suitable hall in which to hold
meetings, local society cntertainments, and theatrieal performances.
The project was presented to the citizens by means of a circular and
a call for funds resulted in subseriptions amounting to approximately
$10,000. In order to carry on the work, a private corporation called
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the Ridgewood Hall and Park Association was formed. The original
plan econtemplated the transformation of the triangular picce of ground,
now oceupied by the Opera House, the Trust Company, the stores on
Prospeet Street, and the stores on Ridgewood Avenue between Prospect
and Ouak Strects, the beauty spot of the Village, by planting trees,
shrubs and flowers. Owing to the lack of funds, however, the Asso-
ciation was at first ecompelled to dispose of the Prospect Street frontage
and later the Ridgewood Avenue and Oak Street parts now oceupied
by stores.

The building, when completed in 1889, had a secating capacity of
five hundred and was one of the best in Ridgewood. It was built by
day’s work, Andrew Van Emburgh doing the mason work and John B.
Van Dien the earpentry. The eost of creeting the building, including
the foundation, amounted to about $29,000, the foundation work prov-
ing expensive owing to the faet that the loeality had at one time been
the site of a small pond, which nceessitated the construction of a drain.

‘When the building was designed an addition was provided for the
use of the Ridgewood Club, a social organization prominent in the Vil-
lage for a number of years, but which went out of existence with the
formation of the original Golf Club. The building has been of great
service to the Village as a place for publie, social, and amusement af-
fairs, the latter being under the direetion prineipally of private indi-
viduals who leased the premises for the purposc.

During the early 90’s the grounds surrounding the building were
used on numerous occasions for carnivals and other publie gatherings.
For quite a period, band concerts were given every Saturday afternoon,
through the generosity of the late Joseph W. Edwards.

Since the eompletion of the Play House and the Assembly Hall in
the Wilsey Building, these places have been preferred for holding gath-
erings formerly held in the Opera House.

The first amateur minstrel show was given in the Opera House by
members of the Ridgewood Club, under the direction of Franklin Hart
on Deecember 19, 1895. The cast ineluded: Lueins Smith, J. B. Smith,
A. 8. Alexander, Walter Walton, H. M. Crowell, J. MeLean Walton,
J. W, Edwards, C. C. Marrison. Howard Walton, R. W. Hawes, F. A.
Ross, . C. Smith, G. C. Tompkins, John Hawes, J. W. Dunnell, with
D. C. Cox as interlocutor.

One of the most notable events held within its walls was the hearty
reception given to Woodrow Wilson, then Governor of New .Jersey,
when he addressed the people of Ridgewood on the evening of October
13, 1911, during the political eampaign of that year.

© On Angust 5, 1913, after having been purchased and renovated by

the late Joseph H. Martin, the building was reopened as a photo play
house under the direetion of his son, Frank Martin, but this project
has ginee been discontinued.

At the present time a portion of the building is occupied by Com-
pany T, and serves not only as their headquarters but is also used by
them for drills. -

‘When the Opera House was first opened it was the scene of a earnival
which continued for several days. The first theatrieal performance
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within its walls, which was given at that time by local talent, was
entitled ‘‘The Loan of a Lover”’.

The Play House

On May 26, 1913, the Village Commissioners, through _the Building
Inspector, gave the Rldvcwood Play House Company permission to ercet
a building on Wilsey Squme between the Van Orden Garage and the
Osman Building. On November 21st, in the presence of a larger as-
semblage of citizens than had ever before gathered in an auditorium
in the Village, the building was formally opened. The program included
an address by His Honor, Mayor Daunicl A. Garber, a response by
Walter W, Wilsey, the father of the project ; the presentation of Pinero’s
comedy in four aets ‘‘Trelawney of the Wells’’, by Miss Gelbart and
her assoeiates, all Ridgewood young people; and the reading of a “‘Ded-
ication Poem’’ written by Roland Clinton.

The building, which is of fireproof construction, will seat 800 per-
sons and was built by Ridgewood contractors. The earpenter work
was done by J. L. Brown, the mason work by Thomas Vanderbeck, the
plumbing and heating by W. H. Moore, and the painting and dceo-
rating by J. Uhlman. Bigelow and Maxham provided the furnishings.

The land and buildings cost the company between $40,000 and
$50,000 and during the latter part of 1916 an orchestral organ made
by the American Master Organ Company of Paterson was installed at
a cost of $5,000. The directors of the company are: Walter W, Wilsey,
President; Thomas Nichols, of Nutley, Viee-President; A. B. Van Liew
and A. W, Fish, of Bloomficld, and Howard Peck of East Orange,
Direetors. W. W. Young, formerly of Bloomfield, is Resident Manager
and under his dircction the company has furnished a daily program
of high-class moving pietures, exeept when the building is used as a
place of assembly for events conneceted with the social and civie aetivi-
ties of the community.

The Municipal Building

During the fall of 1910 the Vll]ugc determined to construet a muni-
cipal bulldmg that should be in keeping with the progressive spirit
of the citizens. The building was completed and occupied during 1911.

Located on Hudson Street, the first floor is occupied by the Fire
and Police Departments. The seeond floor, besides providing office
room for the various officials and departments of the Village, containg
a large assembly room which is used for the weekly sessions of the
Village Commissioners and for publie meetings.

The Village fire alarm bell, contained within a wooden frame, is
mounted on the roof of the bulldmg

HALLS AND CLUB ROOMS

A history of the Village organizations is given clsewhere in this
book, but their places for holding meetings arve at times used by the
citizens for other purposes and their development has been an important
feature of the community life.
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Wilson’s Hall

In 1873 a two-story building with an outside stairway leading to
the assembly room was loeated at about the siie of the present feed and
grain business of K. B. Van Horn on Broad Street, and was known
as Wilson’s Hall. This was the meeting place of the Masonie Fraternity
until May, 1881, when the building was destroyed by fire.

Union Street School Iall

Music and Theatricals

The prime mover in athletie and musical entertainments in Ridge-
wood was Mr. Thomas W. White, then on the staft of the New York
Herald. The first public eoncert given in Ridgewood was given for
the benefit of the first Athletie Club in the hall over the Union Strect
School scon after it was completed. DMr. White’s grand piano, then
the only one in Ridgewood, was with difficulty carried to the platform.
The Misses Sloman of New York played solos on piano and harp and
the accompanimenis to songs by Mr. White, Mr. Lucius Smith and
Mr. R. W. Hawes.’

Dramatie .

Tu this Hall was also given the first theatrieal performance in Ridge-

wood. The hand-bills announced:

Amateur Coneert
and
Dramatie Entertainment
at the
Ridgewood School House Hall,
Saturday, December 14, 1878,
Mr. Tom Jefterson
as
ITugh De Brass
In the Janghable Farce,
A Regular Fix.
Tickets 50 ets.

The concert was given by the singers who appeared at the athletie
entertainment.  The east ineluded Miss Hawes as leading lady, Mr.
L. A. Stout and Miss Stout. Miss Effic Orr and Mr. Robert Kueuck of
Ho-Ho-IXus and Mr. Rea of Midland Park, all amateurs. It was under-
taken to raise funds for one of the churches in Ridgewood. Mvr, Joseph
Jefferson suggested it as good practice for his son, Tom, who was to
begin his professional eareer in New York the next week. The cast was
made by Mr. Jefferson and all rehearsals but the final one were held at
his house and were delightful meetings never to he forgotten by those who
attended them. The performance was well attended and eleared $100.

Social

A scries of dances was held in the winter of 1876-1877, beginning
in the homes of the residents of Ridgewood and 1lo-IHo-Kus, by mem-
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bers of the England Keeley, Cameron, Robinson, Walton, Bockee, Ros-
enerantz and Hawes families. Two were held in the unocceupied Kidder
Academy on Van Dien Avenue. The musie was furnished by the
younger members; the dances were all square, quadrilles and lancers,
closing with the Virginia recl, which was particularly enjoyed by the
gray-haired members. The last of these danees was given on Wash-
ington’s Birthday in the School ITall, Union Strect. Guests came from
New York and Paterson. It was the first masked ball given in Ridge-
wood, with claborate musie and refreshments and round dances.

Ryerson’s Block—Prospect Block—First National Bank Building—
Muasonic and Wilsey Building—Halls

In 1882 Ryerson’s Block was huilt and a hall was provided to take
care of the needs of various organizations. The hall was used until
the construetion in 1903 of the Prospect Block and the First National
Bank Building, when the assembly room provided for in the plans of
the latter became the recognized meeting place and was known as Ma-
soniec Hall. The hall in the Prospect Building was used principally for
political meetings and dances, while Masonic Hall eontinued to be the
principal meeting plaee of the Village organizations until 1915, when the
Masonic Fraternity purchased the former home of the Town Club
(White Stars) on South Maple Avenue, which it improved and dedi-
cated to its uses. Beginning with the opening of the Woman’s Club
Rooms in the Wilsey Building in 1914, the two last mentioned build-
ings have become the meeting places of a number of organizations re-
quiring rooms of such proportions. The bank building assembly room
is known as Knights of Columbus Hall,

The Woman’s Club Rooms in the Wilsey Building were the seene
during 1916 of two assemblages of a historie nature. One of these was
the semi-annual meeting of the Federation of Woman’s Clubs of New
Jersey during the latter part of October. The Club rooms were used
as headquarters and the business sessions were held in the Play House.
The other occasion was on February 16, when 450 persons gathered
at a banquet of Fidelity Lodge No. 113, F. and A, M., and talked, sang,
and cheered with a similar gathering of Masons in San Franeisco and
Pasadena over the reeently completed transcontinental tclephone line
of the Amarican Teleplione and Telegraph Company. TRidgewood upon
this ocea...on had the honor of being the first small town to have an
opportunity to test this marvelous feat of cngineering. Through the
greetings exchanged by Herbert R. Talbot, Master of Fidelity Lodge,
and Albert G. Burnett, Grand Master of the State of California, Ridge-
wood was the ecastern terminus of the first verbal greetings cever ex-
tended between officials of the Masonie order across the Continent.

Country Club
The faeilities provided by the clubhouse of the Ridgewood Country
Club since its completion in 1913, have given its members opportunities
to enjoy the benefits which are usual in such an institution. While its
short life has not cnabled it to be the secne of any public gatherings
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of note, it is well adapted for such purposes and history will doubtless
record its part in such future achievements of the citizens.

The Town Club

TFormerly the home of the Ridgewood Golf Club, the present quarters
of the Town Club, have been the seene of many social and public fune-
tions, the most prominent affair of a publie nature being when President
Taft addressed the eitizens from the elub veranda on May 25, 1912,
This was the first time in the history of the community that a President
of the United States was entertained within its confines.

Another important event in the history of the club oeeurred on
April 5, 1915, when the ecitizens of the Village entertained at dinner
the members of the Grand Army of the Republie living in this vicinity
in commemoration of the Fiftieth Anniversary of the ccssation of hos-
tilities between the North and the South. The prineipal speaker of the
cvening was United States Scnator Moses E. Clapp of Minnesota.

SPEEDWAY

About 1818, Van Dien Avenue, then known as Van Dien Lanc and
considered as one of the best dirt roads in this seetion, was used as a
speedway for the hest horses in the neighborhood. It was the gathering
place for those interested in the sport and some lively running and
trotting races were held.

IH0-110-KUS DRIVING CLUB PARK

On Race Track Road, which sepavates Ridgewood from Ho-Ho-Kus,
and within the limits of Ilo-Ho-Kus, stand the buildings and onc-half
mile track leased by the Ho-Ho-Kus Driving Club from Samucl Naugle.
Sinee 1885 the park has served the people of the vicinity, not only as
a speedway and for neighborhood horse shows, but also as a place for
fairs. Sinee the advent of automobiles and acroplancs it has been the
seene at vavious times of exhibitions of these machines.

BERGEN COUNTY I'AIR ASSOCIATION

The foregoing site was originally part of the Samucl Banta farm
and was first used as a fair ground by the New Jersey Agricultural
Association, organized in 1885. Jacob Bamper was its first president
and served about ten ycars.

Tn 1895 this organization was succceded by the North Jersey Agri-
cultural and Driving Association, which eonstructed the present build-
ings, repaired the race-track, and generally improved the condition of
the property.

Up to 1914, the property was used at various times for speeding
exhibitions and eounty fairs, but during that year it was sold to Samuel
Naugle.

The Ho-Ho-Kus Driving Club now rents the property from Mr.
Naugle and, sinee 1915, has sublet the premises to the Bergen County
Fair Association. Incorporated during 1915, this association has con-
ducted a fair on the grounds for the past two years.
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COMMUNITY CHRISTMAS TREE FESTIVAL

An enjoyable eustom, whieh will probably be continued in the years
to ecome, was established as a community affair on the evening of De-
cember 23, 1916, when several hundred school children and as many
adults assembled on Cottage Place around a towering evergreen, beau-
tifully illuminated by hundreds of eolored lights. TFestoons of lights
also illuminated the street. The children, under the direction of the
Supervisor of Musie of the Publie Schools, sang a number of the old
Christmas cavols, after which the entire assemblage sang several closing
hymns. Refreshments were served at the Unitavian Church for the
adults and packages of eakes and candies were distributed to the young
folks at the High School Building.



CHAPTER VIII
CIVIC AND COMMERCIAL ORGANIZATIONS

N aceount of its loeation at a distance from New York, wherve it

cannot conveniently shave the pleasures and activities of that
city to any great extent, Ridgewood has found it necessary to provide
its own entertainment, club life and civie interests.

The natural result of such endeavor has been the organization of
various clubs, societies and associations, all of which have as objeetives
the improvement of the individual and the advancement of the Village.

These organizations may, for the sake of convenienee, be grouped
under several headings, cach denoting the general character of the
organization so classified, as follows: Clubs, Patriotic Organizations,
Political Organizations, Fraternal Orvganizations, Musical Clubs, Wel-
fare Associations, School Associations, Anti-Liquor Organizations, Medi-
cal Socicties, Organizations for Young Men and Commereinl Organi-
zations,

CLUBS

The eall of outdoor sports and of social intereourse has heen answered
by the people of Ridgewood with the organization of nine elubs, all
of which are of decided advantage to the Village.

The Ridgewood Clud

The Ridgewood Club was organized in l)cccm'ber, 1893, with the
following officers:

President .. Hexny 8. ParTersox,
Yice- Prcqulu:t M. T. Ricuarpsox,
Treasurer .. J. FULLERTON,

Secretary ....... ... o . .]’Au WALTON,

This organization was the first of its character in the community,
becoming onc of the leading institutions of the Villuge and the eenter
of its social life and activity. In 1900 its membership was praetically
absorbed by the Ridgewood Golf Club.

During its existence its aim had been to appeal particularly for
the interest and support of the ladics, to which faet its growth and
suceess were mainly attributable. Two days of cach week were set
apart as Ladies’ Days and weekly entertainments were given through-
out the scason. During the winter months afterncon lectures were
held in the club parlors in the Opera House Building, followed by
a five o’clock tea.

The club was a member of the Whist League and the dovotees of
the game made it a feature of the club life.

Ridgewood Couniry Clubd
Golf in Ridgewood dates back to 1893, when the old Ho-Ho-Kus
Golf Club was organized, the first in this section of New Jersey and
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said to be one of the first in the country. The heir to the old Ho-
Ho-Kus Club was the Ridgewood Golf Club, established in 1901, with
a golf course on Maple Avenue. Out of this latter elub developed the
present Country Club which, on March 12, 1910, was organized as
an entirely new hody. with the following officers and direetors:

Presideat ... i I, 11, Sxyorw,
Vice-Presiden! .........ooviieiieuieiais Co W, STocKTON,
Secrel@ry ..o e W, . LawToN,
Tre@surer ...t 1. G Wi,

Board of Dircetors

J. 11, SNYRER, W. D. Lawroy, J.0 1L DUNNINg, . W, STOCKTON,
. G, Wurrs, . I°. BRACKETT, I, AL Toounky, J. €. MAnnAN,
. Merriugw, (i, K. Borenaw, LS. WinLagp,

The Ridgewood Country Club is a corporation, the eapital stock of
$50,000 being owned by about two hundred stockholders. Stockholders
may beeome regular members of the elub by paying the preservibed
dues; otherwise a stockholder cannot enjoy, any of the privileges of
the elub, but may vote at all meetings of stockholders. A stockholder
may have but one vote in the affuirs of the club, regardless of the
number of shaves of stock he may hold. This is rather a unique
feature, as it gives every member an cqual voiee in the management
of the club; consequently, there is no particular objeet in a member
owning more than one share of stock exeept that he receives a 5 per
cent. return on his investment, provided he becomes a regular member.
This provision was made so that the elub might be perpetuated and
to avoid the risk of a few members obtaining eontrol and possibly at
some future date selling the land at a handsome protit. TUnder the
cireumstanees, there is no reason why this traet of land should not
continue indefinitely to be a beautiful park and pleasure ground prae-
tically in the heart of Ridgewood.

The whole projeet was founded and built upon the faith in a greater
and more beautiful Ridgewood and while,. possibly, it was a little ahead
of its time, it will, no doubt, serve as a landmark by whieh all future
undertakings in Ridgewood may be measured. The purchase and de-
velopment of the property, ineluding the crection of the clubhouse,
represent an outlay of more than $100,000. The ecorporation owns
102 aeres of land, most of which was used in the development of an
cighteen-hole golf course. Donald Ross, the great golf professional,
has pronounced it one of the most beautiful spots for a golf course
in America.

There is a splendid brook, fed from natural springs, at either end
of the property. Both of these brooks have been dammed on the lower
side of the property, creating two beautiful little lakes stretching
practically across the entire width of the property. These lakes fur-
msh hazards for golf in the summer time and ice parks for the skaters
in winter. Tn addition to these two bodies of water for skating, an
artificial skating rink has been ereated within twenty-five yards of the
clubhouse. There the broad expanse of hills stretehing from the elub-
house to Lincoln Avenue, that furnishes a splendid vaviety of golf
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during the scason, is a wonderful place for tobogganing and coasting
during the winter.

Tennis, curling, archery and trapshooting are other outdoor sports
indulged in by the members, theiv families and guests during *he
various seasons of the ycar.

The clubhouse contains a high-class café and restaurant, bowling
alleys, billiard and pool tables and a fine daneing pavilion that fur-
nishes amusement and reeveation throughout the entire year. The
views from the elubhouse veranda arve of surpassing beauty. On elear
days and nights the lofty buildings of New York are elearly visible
in the distanee and the surrounding country in every direction fur-.
nishes a panoramic picture heyond deseription.

The membership at present is limited to two hundred and fifty
regular and speeial members, but the limit will, in all probability, be
raised to three hundred, as therve are several applications on the wait-
ing list and experience indieates that the elub ean comfortably accom-
modate three hundred members,

Town Cludb
The present Town Club had its origin a few years prior to 1898
in an organization then known as the Ridgewood Juniors, having for
its original officers:

President ..o i i lonN G. ZABRISKIE,
Neerelary ... i i i e CHARLES STEWART,
Treasurer ... i i iiiiiiiii i Frazk . SMack.

This organization consisted of nine members: John G. Zabriskie,
J. Robert Maltbie, Frank C. Smack, Charles Van Dien, Charles Stewart,
Fred Bykeeper, Everett ITopper, William ITaight and Fred Z. Board.

The Juniors grew in numbers and in 1898 termed themselves the
White Stars, a little later inercasing to such proportions as to warrant
the renting of a home at what is now No. 23 Hope Street. Later
rooms in Hutton Hall were rented.

In 1901 they were incovporated as the White Stars. The organiza-
tion papers, dated June 14, 1901, speecified that it was to be ‘“‘An
association of less than five hundred members associated for the en-
couragement and practice of indoor and outdoor athleties.”” These
papers were signed by John G. Zabriskie, then President; Herbert A.
Obrig, Seeretary; Frauk C. Smack, Treasurer, and also by John Robert
Malthie, Joseph F. Carrigan, Jr., and Charles W. Eichells, Jr., acting
for the elub. Shortly afterward the elub purchased the property at
South Maple Avenue, where in June, 1904, the elubhouse was opened.
The house has sinee been aequired by the F. & A. M.-of Ridgewood.

Under date of July 22, 1912, the amended ecertificate of incorpora-
tion was filed changing the name from the ¢ White Star Athletie
Club’’ to the ‘‘Town Club of Ridgewood.’”” This amended certificate
was signed by the following trustees: John B. Cavagnero, Edward
Maxon, William C. Siegert, 1avold Dwight, Frederick Pfeiffer, Bayly
Hipkins, Thomas P. Walls, A. S. Macrz, M. F. Bargebuhr and John
G. Zabriskie. At that time Walter L. Dawson was President and Robert
V. Bates, Scerctary.
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This'amended ecertifieate specified as the purposes of the Town Club
the ‘“‘engaging in all forms and elasses of athletie sports and generally
to promote and maintain social intercourse among, to encourage the
literary pursuits of, and to provide entertainment and reercation for
its members.”’

During the winter of 19121913, the present properiy on North
Maple Avenue, consisting of approximately 12 acres, was purchased.
Recause the Town Club had always taken a lively interest in loeal
affairs, it consented to sell the Ridgewood Avenue property previously
used by the White Stars as an athletie field, to the Village to beeome a
part of the new high school site.

Carrying out the purposes of the organization, the club now pro-
vides for its members bowling on four excellent alleys, billiards, pool,
whist and other card games, library, dancing and ballrcom in the club-
house, baseball and tennis on the grounds, there being five exeellent
courts for the latter gume. Ladies have the privilege of the clubhouse
as speeified by various actions of the Board of Governors, and the
families of members, as well as the sehool teachers, have the privileges
of the tennis courts. The baseball diamond and-the foothall field have
been gratuitously given over for the use of the Ridgewood High School
haseball and football teams.

A limit of 250 has been placed upon the elub membership as now
constituted, and 238 of this number have been secured.

Paramus Vulley Pholographic Associalion

On March 23, 1903, a number of amateur photographers met in the
cvening in the Tower Room of the Y. M. C. A. Building—the Opera
House—to consider the question of organizing. In April the Paramus
Valley Photographic Association was-launched with the following mem-
bership:

President ............c.ciciiiiiiieiin.n Tlexry W, HALES,
Tice-President .. ....ooovii i, C. 1. Loyax MiTCHELL,
Secretary .............. ... [ I. P, TawTtox,
Treasurer ... ... iiiiiiieneeniae .. A AL FiTZUCGH,

Bveret L. Zabriskie, Jos. Carrigan, Leonard A. Smith, Austin Hanks,
S. 8. MeCready, Maurice MHopkins, I, G. Delamater, H. . Hartley,
F, H. Howland, Peter O. Terheun, Theodore Obrig, and George Fer-
guson. At intervals thc membership was augmented by the addition
of the following: G. D. Clippel, H. V. Townsend, H. W. Wilson, W. H.
Moore, W. J. Tonkin, Chas. A. Throckmorton, Jos. J. Smith, Harvey
Blauvelt, E. W. Cobb, Jas. J. Bailey, Geo. M. Schinzel and A, Lee Don.

The declarved purpose of the association was the ‘‘advancement of
the science and art of photography.”” Of those who were enrolled, there
were a few who devoted most of their spare time to photographic work,
and these were the ones upon whom the labor devolved when an outing
or an exhibition was to be organized. Monthly meetings were held and
were well attended.

In June, 1903, the first annual exhibition was given in the room of
the Library Association, First National Bank Building. On this ocea-
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ston, more than four hundred photographs were shown and, in addition
to the prints exhibited, there were many lantern slides and transparen-
cies, all of which had been produced by members. The exhibition was
well attended and the association was encouraged to greater effort.

The 190+ exhibit was well veecived and the work of the members
showed much improvement hoth in choice of subjeets and composition.
The artistie diserimination was notable and the distinetion between the
ordinary amatenr photograph of the preceding season and the later
work of the members was aceentuated by comparison.

In the 1905 exhibition the association condueted a competition open
to all amateurs, without regavd to membership. Ten solid silver eups
were provided as prizes. Twenty entrants displayed more than four
hundred prints in 1utton ITall. Nincteen persons entered 197 pictures
in the several eompetitive elasses. A featuve of the exhibit was a col-
leetion of 33 photographs of old houses in Bergen County, all of which
were of historie value. This was the work of Mr. B. H. Allbee, then
Viee-President of the Dergen County Historieal Society. A notable
faet in conneetion with the display was the contribution of specimens
of photographic skill by amater .8 residing in distant towns and eities—
ITackensack, N. J.; Detroit, Mich.; Bristol, England; Portland, Me.;
Allendale, N. J., and Brooklyn, N. Y, On the evening of the sceond day,
the exhibition was closed with the display of 225 stercopticon views,
the product of home talent.

In the meantime, the association members made exeursions into the
regions about Ridgewood in all kinds of weather and many were the
unique pietures made in spring, summer, autumn and winter. There
were many requests for the loan of photos for exhibition in the fairs
and entertainments of other clubs. The meetings were often enlivened
by demonstrations of methods of working, from the choosing of the
point of view from which {o obtain the best results of light and shade,
to the development of original ideas of mounting and framing the
resultant print.

Woman’s Clud of Ridgcwood, N. J.

One of Ridgewood’s most valued assets is its Woman’s Club which
was organized in 1909, federated in 1910 and later incorporated in
1914, The following served as the original officers:

President oo e i Mus, Winniam F. Avies,

o Dol { Mgs, Cirarrtes W, STOCKTON AND
Viee-Presidenls .. .........00.co0iiue. *1Mas. CHARLES A. DESHON,

Recording Seerelary oo oo, Mus. CorNELIUS DoRreMUS,
Carresponding Sceretary ... o oo Mus, Laxsiag P, Woon
Treasurer ... ... TSN Mas, Duxeax D, Cuarniy,

The purposes for which the club was organized were the mutual
improvement of its members through study and soeial intercourse and
the aetive promotion of civie and social betterment. The club has ‘de-
partments of musie, history and travel, drama and literature, and home
cconomies. Civies and eurrent cvents are also diseussed.

The membership is divided as follows: Active 326; Honorary 14;
Inactive 2; making a total of 342,
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The Woman’s Club of Upper Ridgewood

The Woman’s Club of Upper Ridgewood was organized November
20, 1912, The original officers were:

Pregident ... .o oo Mis, CHARLES K. ALLEN,
NOCretary ... vt ittt Mns, K. A, Nicnos,
Treasurer ........coiviiiiiinnneesasaMus B Powrsyvone,

There are at present 40 members in the club.

The purpose of the organization is to promote neighborly interest,
and the work done by the club has this purpose always before it in its
philanthropie, soeial and school work,

College Club

The College Club wus organized in September, 1913, by women
graduates of colleges, residing in Ridgewood. The officers eleeted at
the time of organization were:-

President oo Miss NEeLL T3 Doremus,
Viee-President ...............o0iiin Mus, Tiurovore S, Hork,
Neeretary-Treasurer ..o o Mus, Rerin Woob (Canmes,
Assgistant Seeretary ........... ... .0 Miss RAENA RYERsON.

The original purpose was to aid in establishing the Woman’s Col-
lege of New Jersey at Rutgers, but that plan was abandoned in 1915
by the State Leaders, so at present the club is interested in establish-
ing a girls’ scholarship fund. The organization has 35 members.

The League for Creative Work
The League for Creative Work was organized in April, 1914, with
the purpose of producing original work as writers, artists and musicians,
The original officers were:
Pregident ... ... i, Muis. Laxsing P. Woon,

Viee-President ................ ... .. ..., Mus. JAMES B, PARsONS,
Seerctary-Treasurer ..o Mus. WinLiam F. SROUFE,

The present membership numbers nineteen.

Garden Cludb of Ridyewood

The Garden Club of Ridgewood was organized in November, 1914.
The objeet of the club is to broaden and inecrease its knowledge of
growing things by an cxchange of ideas and experienees at periodical
meetings of its members; also to stimulate intelligent and artistie gar-
dening.

Its membership numbers 60. Men living in Ridgewood and vieinity,
having gardens in which an aective interest is taken and over which a
personal supervision is exercised, only are eligible for membership.
Incidentally, it is the only garden elub of men within a very consid-
erable radius of New York City. Monthly meetings ave held at which
papers prepared by members and dealing with their own experiences,
are read. Discussions of various garden problems that constantly arise
are entered into and plans for the exchange of plants are perfeected.
Members who have been delegated to visit garden club shows and nurs-
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cries report their findings to the club and professional talent is engaged
to lecture from time to time. A systematic distribution of flowers to
the hospitals is also a very pleasant feature of the club’s work. Two
shows & year are given, in June and September, to which the publie is
iu]\J']ited. These shows not only include flowers, but fruits and vege-
tables.

The officers of the club, all of whom have served sinee the organi-
zation, are:

Pregident ... ... i i i Ronert L. Rok,

Yiee-President ... ... i i STANLEY R. WALKER,
Seerctary-Treaswrer ... ... ..., veieviees B T, SOWTER,

Ridgewood Rifle Club

The Ridgewood Rifle Club was organized in Oectober, 1915, with
a charter membership of about 20. Affiliation was at once effected with
the National Rifle Association of America. The club’s membership soon
rose to nearly 50 and it has become one of Ridgewood’s most popular
organizations,

Under the guidanee of the first officers,

President ... 0 i i i, ....Danien R. Bacoy,
Viee-President .. ..ot iiiiiinennans o A0 AL WINTERS,
Seerelary «.oovoieiiiiniiine.. AL T, ForMmAN,
Treasurer ....oiiiiiiiiann.. LA, L, Conunry,
Ezecutive Officer ......ooovviiiiiinnnnas D, 1. 8. WiLLarD,

the first year of the club’s existence has been a most successful one.
A range for indoor shooting was secured in the old cement works on
Spring Avenue and many a hotly contested competition has been held
there among the members and with teams from neighboring towns,

Many members who, a year ago scarcely knew what a rifle was in-
tended for, have developed surprising expertness, so much so that to
date the elub team has never been beaten in a match and a number of
the men wear National emblems attesting their prowess as sharpshooters
or marksmen.

The elub has in prospect the establishment of an outdoor range upon
which the regular army serviee rifle may be used.

The privilege of the range is extended to students in the Ridgewood
High School and a large number of the upper classmen are edueating
themselves in the use of firearms.

PATRIOTIC ORGANIZATIONS

Ridgewood has not devoted all its cfforts to the securing of pleasure
and amusement by means of soeial intercourse, but has found enjoy-
ment in preserving the memories of its anecestors and in safeguarding
the future of its ehildren. This patriotie spirit has found expression
in the following ovganizations:

Daughters of the Revolulion

The Socicty of the Daughters of the Revolution was organized in
1891, its object being ‘“to perpetuate the patviotic spirit of the men
and women who achieved American Independenece; to commemorate
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prominent events connceted with the War of the Revolution; to collect,
publish and preserve the rolls, reeords and historie doecuments relating
to that period; to encourage the study of the country’s history; to
promote sentiments of friendship and eommon interest among the mem-
bers of the Society, and to provide a home for and furnish assistance
to such Daughters of the Revolution as may be impoverished, when
it is in their power to do so.”’

In May, 1900, a ehapter ealled the Ramapo Valley Chapter, Daugh-
ters of the Revolution, was founded in Ridgewood by Mrs. Richard
W. Hawes, who being a member of the Montelair Chapter, was ap-
pointed Organizing Regent by the General Sceretary in New York.
The five charter members were Miss Rebeecea W, Hawes, Mrs, Richavd
Hawes, Mrs. T. A. Strange, Miss Martha E. Smith and Miss Florenee
de la M. Bunce. Sinee the organization of this chapter there has been
but one Historian-Registrar, Miss Rebeeea W. Hawes, who was eleeted
to this office for life. The first Regent, Miss Florenee de la M. Bunce,
served for a period of fourteen years.

The meetings are held at the homes of the members, of whom there
are now forty, with the exception of the June meeting, when, in ecom-
memoration of the Battle of Bunker Iill, the chapter makes its annual
pilgrimage to the Revolutionary intrenchments at Hillburn, New York,
marked by them with a granite tablet,

Junior Order United American Mechanics

This patriotic order was organized in Ridgewood on February 18,
1897, with 125 charter members and with these oviginal officers:-

Counciler ...........cooviviiiiiien il T. D. Vax Emreren,
Viee-Counciler ..........ccooviivninn..s K, 0, GrLes
Financial Seeretary ... ... ... ...... Hervey TERNUNE,
Recording Seeretary ..o e I. Bravverr Hoeren,

Treasurer . ... . oo, . AL WaLnn,

Its objeets are—

First—To maintain and promote the interests of Amerieans and shield
them from the depressing cffects of foreign competition.

Second—To assist Americans in obtaining employment.

Third—To encourage Americans in husiness.

Fourth—To establish a Sick and Funeral Fund.

Fifth—To maintain the Public School System of the United States of
America and to prevent scetarian interfercnee therewith, and up-
hold the reading of the IMoly Bible therein.

The membership now numbers 280,

Independence Day Associalion of Ridyciwood, N. J., Inc.

In 1910 the Independence Day Association held its first meeting
and eleeted as officers the following:

President .............cciiiiiiiinniiinn Mus, J. E, Covire,
Vice-President ................. SN Mrs, ¥, T, K~yorne,
Seeretary ...t Mns, J, TURNER,
Tre@surer ........ooviiiiienniinineennns Mns, W, J. ToxkiN.

After two successful yecars, it was incorporated in 1912,
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The purposes for which this corporation was formed are to discour-
age the general publie use of dangerous firearms and fireworks; to
foster and stimulate a patriotie spirit and sentiment in the citizens and
children of Ridgewood, N. J., and vicinity, by observing Independence
Day in a fitting manner; the same to be aceomplished by pavades,
pageants, mass meetings, fireworks and other suitable and appropriate
observances, and in general to do all things in conuection with the
foregoing that may be neeessary and expedient.

The membership consists of the subseribers to its fund and in 1916
it numbered 238 individuals and firms and nine organizations.

The Theodosia Burr Chapter, Junior Sons and Daughlcrs of the
Revolution

The Junior Auxiliary of the Ramapo Valley Chapter, Daughters
of the Revolution, was organized in June, 1912, with the object of
‘‘encouraging patriotie spirit in citizens of the vicinity in every prae-
ticable way and to extend its influenee in this direetion to other places,
as opportunity occurs, and to promote friendship and common interest
among the members of the chapter.’”’

With Miss Edna Bunce as Direetor, and five charter members, the
following officers were eleeted :—

President ..o VarauN KEELEY,
R L D «...CoNsTANCE FRENCH,
Treasurer ..o i e MoRrTON ADAMS,

In 1913, the name was changed to Penclope Von Prineips Chapter,
Junior Sons and Daughters of the Revolution.

In 1914, a change in the name was suggested and the Chapter is
now known as the Theodosia Burr Chapter, Junior Sons and Daugh-
ters of the Revolution, Theodosia Burr being the danghter of Widow
Theodosia Provost and Aaron Burr, and dircetly associated with this
vieinity.

The Theodosia Burr Chapter now has an enrollment of 35 members,
having the greatest inerease in membership during the year of 1914-15
of any Junior Chapter in the State.

Company L, Fifth Regiment, N. G, N. J.

Company L was mustered in on February 20, 1913, The original
officers were:

Captain . ...ooiiiiiiiiinen s Josern L, SMrrw,
Firgt Liewtenanl ... ......o..ooiiiiin. 1oracE G. CLEVELAND,
Second Licwtenant ... ... JOnN MERRIHEW,

Upon the resignation of Mr. Clevelund and Mr. Merrihew, Joseph R.
Brackett beeame First Licutenant and Gene E. Pattison beeame Seeond
Licutenant. Licutenant Brackett was lost by death and Licutenant
Pattison resigned.

The company was mustered in to federal serviee in June, 1916, with
Captain Joseph J. Smith commanding, the junior officers heing—

FPirat Licwdenant ... ..o Josern C. ¥Fires,
Sceond Licwtenant ... SAMUEL T. BATEMAN,
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On the date of mobilization, June 19, 1916, the company had 65
men on its rolls and was sent with its regiment, thg Fifth New Jersey
Infantry, N. G., to Sea Girt, N. J., at which place the New Jersey
brigade was to mobilize. The Fifth Regiment entrained for Douglas,
Ariz., on June 13th. On its return to the ISast, the regiment reached
Paterson November 3, 1916. After a parade in Paterson, the out-of-
town ecompanies returned to their quarters and Company L was mus-
tered out of the federal serviee on November 14, 1916,

Several acres of ground on East Franklin Avenue were donated to
the Ridgewood Armory Association by Mrs, Joseph W. Edwards for
the purpose of erceting an armory thercon for the use of Company L.
The foundation has alrendy been completed with the aid of funds raised
m Ridgewood.

At present aetive efforts are being made to sceure the $25,000 ap-
propriation for this building authorized by the State Legislature.

Paramus Chapter of the New Jersey Socicly, Sons of the American
Revolution

The Paramus Chapter No. 6, New Jersey Society of the Sons of the
American Revolution was organized through the efforts of Mr. R. T.
Wilson, with 35 charter members, on December 18, 1913, Those offi-
cers elected at the first meeting were:

Pregident .........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiadd JUnGe CORNELIGS DOREMUS,
Viee-President ........oooiiiiiiiiniiinns Ricitarn T, WiLsoON,
Seeretary ..., . JJoserit B, Ronerts,
Treasurer .. T.. 1. HavsTen,

Historian ....... ereeseieaaiaae E. L. ZABRISKIE,

The objects of this society are declared to be patriotie, historical
and eduecational, and include those intended or designed to perpetuate
the memory of the men who, by their services or saerifices during the
war of the American Revolution, achieved the independence of the
American people; to unite and promote fellowship among their de-
scendants; to inspire them and the ecommunity at large with a more
profound reverence for the principles of the Government founded hy
our forefathers; to encourage historical vesearch in relation to the
American Revolution; to acquire and preserve the records of the indi-
vidual serviees of the patriots of the war, as well as documents, velies
and landmarks; to mark the scenes of the Revolution by appropriate
memorials; to celebrate the anniversaries of the prominent cvents of
the war and of the Revolutionary period: to foster true patriotism;
to maintain and extend the institutions of Ameriean freedom, and to
carry out the purposes expressed in the preamble of the Constitution
of our country and the injunctions of Washington in his farewell ad-
dress to the American people.

The Chapter has now 51 members.

The National Securily League—Ridyciwood Branch

One of Ridgewood’s newest organizations is the braneh of the Na-
tional Security League which was organized on April 6, 1916, through
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the efforts of Mr. W. E. Remington, who was elected Chairman. With

him are serving—
Viee-Chairman ..,
Seeretary ........

Asgigtant Seeretary .
Treaaurer «..ooveevviiiniiensneeenassnsad JAMES D, (RAIG.

The following, with the officers, compose the Exeeutive Committec:
Lewis R. Conklin, Judge Cornelinus Doremus, W. D. Ferris, Joseph
Fitts, T. J. Foster, J. J. Glynn, E. B, Lilly, George N. Pfeiffer, O. B.
Surpless and R. T. Wilson.

The National Security Leaguc is non-political, non-partisan and
absolutely neutral. Its object is to arouse the American public to a
sense of the nation’s naval and military weakness, of the national
menace that attends the present state of unpreparedness and, through
public mass meetings, petitions and resolutions, to bring pressure to
bear upon representatives in Congress to provide an adequate army
and navy as determined by the expert army and navy officers.

The Ridgewood branch has more than 300 members who are also
interested in inecreasing the membership of the American Red Cross.

Bergen County Hislorical Society.

An organization of interest to the ecitizens of Ridgewood is the
Bergen County Historical Society which has been extremely active
in delving into the past and has brought to light much of value. In
1895 an exhibition was given in the Opera House under the auspiees
of this society, There were shown coins, ancient documents, weapons,
clothing, implements of industry, family trifles and records, and an
inspeetion of the articles displayed was a liberal education in the his-
tory of the past. People throughont this scetion responded with en-
thusiasm and were surprised to learn that there was here so much of
interest relating to our past history.

Among the past presidents of this organization are Judge Cornelius
Doremus, Judge David Zabriskie and Everett L. Zabriskie of Ridge-
wood, while R. T. Wilson is at present a vice-president.

POLITICAL ORGANIZATIONS

Ridgewood is not without its political aetivities nor its foreces which
have influence for good government, as is evidenced by the five active
organizations in the Village.

The Woman’s Suffrage Assoctation

In 1894, as the only member in this part of Bergen County of the
New Jersey State Suffrage Association, Miss Rebecea W. Hawes cireu-
lated a petition for the restoration of full school suffrage for women
and obtained a hundred signatures in Ridgewood and Ho-Ho-Kus.

At a meeting of the Ramapo Valley Chapter, Daughters of the
American Revolution, it was voted that the members in favor of suf-
frage should eall & meeting and invite Mrs. Minnie Reynolds to organ-

146



RIDGEWOOD, BERGEN COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

jze a branch of the Woman’s Political Union of New Jersey. The
meeting was held at the home of Miss Hawes, Corsa Terrace, on
November 21, 1913. At a second meeting held a month later at the
residence of Mrs. F. F. Knothe, The Woman’s Political Union was
organized with the following officers:

President ........ccoiiieiiiiiinieennn Mus, Carr, M. Var,

First Vice-President ..................... Mus. C. W. MacDoxouan,
Second TVice-President . .................. Mrs, Frances H, Warrox,
Secretary ...ttt Mrs, Cvy~NTHIA MITCHELL,
Treasurer .............ccoeviiiiiininens Mns. GEorcE ETESSE,
Press Agent ........... ..o Mes. F, H, VALENTINE,
Audilor ... ... ...iiiiieiiii Mrs. F, F, KNoTne.

In October, 1916, The Woman’s Political Union was absorbed by
the Woman’s Suffrage Association of New Jersey.
Ridgewood Democratic Club

The Democratic Club was organized in 1892, Its original officers
were:

President ........ .o i 7. B. CAvAGNARO,
Vice-President .........ocvviveiiiinnines Dr. G. M, OCKFORD,
Beeretary ..........co it Joux J, Mureny,
Treasurer .........ooouvevinniiiiiaiian FRANK A, BAXTER,

The object of the organization was to promote Demoeracy along the
lines laid down by Thomas Jefferson, to cstablish good government by
the election of honest and efficient men to office, with the greatest good
to the greatest number and special privileges to none. There are 95
members in the club.

Voters’ League

The Voters’ League was organized August 29, 1910. The constitu-
tion provides, ‘‘its object shall be to sccure and maintain the maximum
of efficiency in the government of Ridgewood’’. The adoption in 1911,
by the Village of Ridgewood, of its present form of government was
due to the encrgetic campaign conducted by the officers and members
of the League in presenting to the citizens the merits of the ecommon
form of government.

Its first officers were:

President .............. ... . .ciiiiiiiin. TEwis R. CONKLIN,

Vice-Pregident . .......covviiiiiennnniens SAMUEL S. McCurny,
Treasurer ............c.cciiiiiiiiiiinns FRANK A. THAYER,
Seeretary ... i S. 8. WALSTRUM,

and the Exceutive Cominittee which was composed of the above officers
and John T. Hanks, J. McGQuinness, Jr., Edward J. Miller, Frank F.
Knothe and Harvey H. Palmer.

Republican Club
The present Republican Club was organized in 1912 with—

Pregident .........cccivviiiiiinnnaananas 1. E. Hurron,
Secretary . ... FRANK STEVENS,
Treagurer .........co.voivinuieeneernnnns W. O, DIETRICH,
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It was re-organized on January 20, 1916.

The objeet of the club is to earry out most effectively the principles
and good government as expressed by Republicanism; to further the
interests of the Republican ticket and by that means seeure the election
of Republican eandidates. The club has about 75 members.

Cilizens and Tazpayers’ Association

The Citizens and Taxpayers’ Association was organized in 1913.
The following were its original officers:
President ............c.c it 1. E. HurToN,
Viee-President ... .......ciiiiiierrnnns B. F. Sroar,
Sceretary ... ..R. L. FerxBacCH,
Treasurer ...........ccocoun. F. T.. DooLy,
Chairman of Excentive Comntitice ....... W. O. Diernicu,
The Citizens’ and Taxpayers’ Association is a non-partisan body of
voters and has about 300 members.

FRATERNAL ORGANIZATIONS

Another result of the * get-tovether” spirit manifested by the people
of Ridgewood has resulted in the organization of branchcs of seven
fraternal orders:

Fidelity Lodge No. 113, F. & A. M.

The Ridgewood Branch of the Masoniec Order, established in 1869,
is the oldest existing organization in Ridgewood. The original officers
were:

Master . ....c.iriin i Jon~x M. Knarp,
Senior Warden RoBERT B. CABLE,
Junior Warden JouxN A, ACRERMAN,

The present membership numbers 245.

Paramus Valley Council No. 1597, Royal Arcanum

The Paramus Valley Council No. 1597 of the Royal Arcanum was
organized in Ridgewood on March 5, 1895, with the following as the
original officers:

Regent ... ioiiiiiiiiii i, Rev. K. H, CLEVELAND,
Vice-Regent ............c.ooovv it ¢, C. WEsT,
Past Regent .................cccooun .C. H. Eppy,
Orator ... T.. ¥, HALSTED,
Seeretary .......... ..., ..B. C. WoosTER,
Collector ... it it L. N. TAFT,
Treasurer W, ORNE,
Chaplain . H. Wnrte,
Guide ......... e H. OxrLEY,
Warden . B. Van Horxy,
Bentry ... e . A. Ross,

sALr:‘{,\\nEn BEeLL,
Trustces ............ccovivevnaeorans JouN R. STEVENS,

H. G. WHITE.

Representative to Grand Council ......... C. H. Epoy
Alternate to Grand Council .. ... .Rev. E, H, CLEVELAND,
Medical Fzaminer ...... PN Dr. G. M. OcKFORD,
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E;I‘I;a original membership in 1895 was 32. It has now increased
to 303. i

The Royal Arvecanuin is a fraternal beneficiary order founded in
Boston in 1877. It has a membership of about 250,000 and has paid
to the widows and orphans of its members $185,000,000, of which over
$100,000 has been paid in Ridgewood.

The Independent Order of Odd Fellows

The Independent Order of Odd Fellows is a sceret, beneficiary so-
ciety, having for its purpose the elevation of human chavaeter. While
sick and funeral benefits are paid, Oddfellowship is not an insurance’
society and this feature of the work should at all times be recognized
as secondary to the great work of the organization which consists of
‘‘visiting the sick, relieving the distressed, burying the dead and edu-
cating the orphan’. It therefore presents a broad platform upon which
mankind may unite in offices of human bencfaetion.

The order in America was founded April 26, 1819, in Baltimore,
by Thomas Wildey, a young mechanie, and four others. It began to
grow and to spread into other localities and at the present time its
membership extends throughout the civilized world and numbers 2,190,-
000. Since the year 1830, prior to which no reeords were kept, $170,-
000,000 has been paid out for the relief of members of the order.

Ridgewood Lodge No. 260, 1. 0. O. F., was instituted on the after-
noon of November 7, 1900, with twelve charter members, Thomas E.
English, Charles F, Bechtlofft, George A. Stevens, Theodore H, Meade,
‘William H. Fogg, John Q. Archdeacon, Frank M. Merritt, James H.
Salisbury, John G. Hopper, James B. Christopher, John MeCroden
and Qeorge N. Winters. The first four named are the only charter
members remaining at the present time.

The first officers installed at the institution were:-

Noble Grand ..........coovviiiiiiiiins Tiomas_E. Exerism,
Vice Grand .........covevviiiiiinininnns GEORGE N. WINTERS,
Recording Scerclary . JOHN Q. ARCHDEACON,
Financial Secretary ..GEORGE A. STEVENS,
Tre@surer .......coeviiiniinreraiinnronns Fraxg M. MERRITT.

In the same evening 35 were admitted to membership by initiation.

At present the membership numbers 51.

Branch 991, National Association of Lelter Carriers

The Ridgewood Branch of this mnational organization received its
charter on April 22, 1904. The following served as original officers:

President : ROBERT CAMPRELL,
Secretary PerEr R. TiTUS,
TrCASUICr .. .oveeett et ennenreneasd ARTHUR STORMS.

The purpose of the association is to promote social and fraternal
affairs, to improve and equalize labor conditions in the service and to
increase the efficiency of the service.

The membership consists of the eight regular city carriers and their
two substitutes.
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Ridgewood Chapter No. 39, Order of the Eastern Star

The Ridgewood Chapter No. 39, Order of the Eastern Star, held its
first meeting Februavy 5, 1909, at which the following were the original
executives elected:

Worthy Matron .........c.oeeveivve..o MRS, M. V. TONKIN,
Worthy Patron . ... cevevaeee s MR DGl DELA!(ATEB,

Assgociate Matron . ceeerssoe . Mas, B, G, ScHINZEL,
Sceretary .....oiii.e. e eveee MR W, J, ToNEIRN,

Court Midlgnd Park No. 172, Foresters of America

The Court Midland Park No. 172, Foresters of Ameriea, was or-
ganized on November 15, 1910, and incorporated on May 2, 1911.
The original officers were:

Chief Ranger ...........cccvvvvveeve.. .. THOMAS PosT,

Sub-Chief Ranger ..................... .. Louis CAm.ocon,

Past Chief Ranger ................ ... JouN MARR,

Lecturer .ovovuiiiiiiininnnn e DaxieL M. CALKOEN,
Financial Secretary ..................... Cnances J. CHRISTOPUER,
Recording Seeretary . .................... WirtLtaM J. BENJAMIN,
Treasurer ........oviivinienieeneannnnns Joux RoBERTSON,

Senior Woodward 0111 NicuorLas HEEMSTRA,

Junior Woodward .
Senior Beadle ..

.. GEoroE Priruiprs,
.. Avay B. Gorrcinns,

Junior Beadle ..............coviiiiiin, Carapog P, MoRraax,
Physicign .......... e reber e DR, JoSEPH PAYNE,
. ( Hussarp FERGUSON,
Trustees ...........ociiiiiiiiiinneins JouN PuiLuies,
Jou~ R. StorT.

The organization has for its purpose the raising and maintaining
of a fund for the purpose of defraying the burial expenses of members
and their wives, and the rendering of assistance to members when sick
and unable to follow their employment, and providing medical attend-
ance and medicine. There are at present 75 members.

Ridgewood Council No. 1736, Kniyhts of Columbus

This order was organized in Ridgewood in June, 1914, It had as
its original officers the following:

Grand Knight ... .. ........ Paur, A, McGOLDRICK,
Depuly Grand Knight IlENRY JOHNSON,
Chancellor ............ccovivivonnenen. I’. I.. ALBERSE,
Recording Seerctary ......... e J. B. HESKETH,
Financial Sceretary .......ooviiieiii.. J. G. CROWLEY,
Treasurer ...t J. MORAN,
Lectiurer .....covveeiiiiinner i, W, W, O’NEm, *
Advocate . e eree s T. P, CoNxor,
Warden .. J. 8. HavNp,
Inside Gunul ... . Teey, Jr.,
Outside Guard ........... e . NALLEY,

W, Morax,
Trustees ............ v ieeanaae e R {\\’. DegMmobny,

I, Haxp,
Chaplain ........coivvieiiienvens Ceareans Rev. P, F. PINDAR.

The Knights of Columbus have as their objectives: Charity, Patriot-
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ism, Unity, Eduecation and Brotherly Love. The Ridgewood Council
has a membership of about 100.

MUSICAL CLUBS

Ridgewood is fortunate in possessing two musieal clubs, one com-
posed of women and one composed of men. Not only do they encourage
the study of musie but they give four private coneerts a year which
always prove a delight to those fortunate enough to be present.

The Orpheus Club

The Orpheus Club was organized in 1909. Its objeet was to bring
together the male singers of Ridgewood for mutual enjoyment and to
give private concerts to be supported by the aective and subseribing
members,

The club was organized with ten active members. The following
officers were clected for the first year:

Pregident .....................c.eiun G. U, WHuITE,
Vice-President .........coooiiiiiiiiias . R, PowLky,
Recretary-Treaswrer ..o iues I. ¥. Kxomne,
Librarian .........oioiiiiiiiniiin i WiLBCR MORRIS,
Chairman Music Commillee .............. G. R. Youxe,

The club chose as conduetor, Mr. Dewitt Clinton, Jr., who on Octo-
ber 5, 1914, was sueceeded by the present conductor, Wilbur A. Luyster.
In the spring of 1910, Mr. Bevier Smith was selected as aceompanist.
Two private invitation concerts were given in May and June of 1910.
The active membership had then grown to fifteen.

In October, 1910, the club hegan its second season by planning to
give two public concerts each season. An associate membership was
established. No tickets were sold for the eoncerts, but active and asso-
ciate members reccived and distributed them as invitations to the eon-
cert. This practice has been maintained through the seven scasons of
the club’s suceessful history.

The active members consist of 22 tenors and 23 bassos. There is
an associate membership of 140.

The Cecilia Sociely

The Cecilia Socicty, composed of women of Ridgewood, was organ-
ized in November, 1912. Its original officers were:

Pregident ............... . .. . J. PurceLL,

Recording Secretary ..o oLl i, WIiLFRED Kurti,
Corresponding Secretary and Treasurer . HERMAN FRITZ,
Librarian ......oooiiiiiiineiin. . K. E. ALLEY,

Assigtant Librarian .................. . (. F. Oscoon,
Chairman of Arrangemenis ........... . . W. . Habnox,
Musical Director ...........coocvnvvuuns Mrs, Erizaserim D. LEONARD,

The object of this society is to encourage the study of musie, par-
ticularly choral and instrumental musie, the study and discussion of
musieal literature and the expounding of such literature by its members

150



PAST AND PRESENT

and various distinguished musical artists. The society has a member-
ship of 200.
WELFARE ASSOCIATIONS

The people of Ridgewood have always taken an active interest in
civie matters and the general welfare of the community and its citizens.
As proof of this eoncern, there have developed within the past twenty
years, cight organizations which are now doing effective work.

Village Improvement Association

The Village Improvement Association was organized by the women
of the Village on November 4, 1897, for the purpose of improving and
beautifying the Village. The first officers were:

Pregident ... ... .. i i Mes, be L. BERER,
Firgt Viee-President ... ... ..... Mgrs, ALLEN MaCNAUGHTON,
Second Viee-President ... ............. Mgs. I. k, Hurrox,

Reeording Sceretary . ..o . Miss Ilorstox,

Corresponding Seerctary ................ Alss CARRIGAN,

Treasurer ......voveeiniinnniienannns Mgs. G. U. Wnaire,

Among the scveral committees were such as—Children’s Auxiliary,
Prevention of Cruelty to Children and Animals, Street, Sanitary, Hu-
mane, Railroad, Penny Savings Bank, Park, Library and Preservation
of Natural Beauties. As shown elsewhere in this book, the results of
the association’s efforts are prominent among the achievements of Ridge-
wood’s citizens,

In 1904 the various committces were disbanded because several ob-
jeets had been attained as, for instance, the street cleaning and the
systematic remdval of garbage. The Library Committee continued its
work. The Village Trustees allowed the association $300 a year for the
support of the Library and the Commissioners have continued this
appropriation.

The Village Improvement Association was incorporated in January,
1916, its only activity being the operation of the Public Library.

The Ridgewood Socicly for the Prevention of Cruelly to Animals

The Ridgewood Society for the Prevention of Cruclty to Animals
was organized in 1899 with a membership of less than twenty men and
women. Cases of eruclty were then tried in Hackensack. The mect-
ings were at first held at the home of Mrs. George N. Ockford, but later
a room in the Library Building was sccured and was kept open for
scveral hours each day for the purpose of receiving complaints.

The original officers were:

President ........... Mnrs. C. C. 1IaRrisox,
First Vice-President .. . .Mgs. Georce N. OCKFORD,
Necond Vice-President .. M188 BERTHA MILLS,
Third Vicc-President Miss F. G. VIETOR,

Seeret@ry oot s Mgrs. F, J, Warrox,
Treasurer ........ ..o Mus, J. CARSHAW,
Teterinarian .........cooovvviiiriiainns Dr. HOLDENRY,

On account of death and the change of residence of several members,
the society at one time became inactive, but was finally reorganized
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and its charter returned. Membership and aetivities inercased so that
now eases are tried in Ridgewood and the Village has turned over to
the society the care of all animals,

During the presidency of Mrs. H. A. Bonynge, a drinking fountain
was erected at the intersection of Spring and Maple Avenues and a
shelter in the town yard was built for housing animals.

At present the society is caring for between 200 and 300 animals
a year, besides handling numerous complaints. The society is also
working hard, with the assistance of the Semi-Centennial Committee,
to raise funds for a handsome granite combination drinking fountain,
designed by Mr., H. E. Paddon, to be crected in the Plaza.

Woman’s Auzxiliury lo the Youny Men’s Christian Association

The Woman’s Auxiliary to the Young Men’s Christian Association
was formed for the purpose of assisting the Y. M. C. A, and its work
for young men. It was organized on October 14, 1902, with the fol-
lowing officers:

President ..........
First Vice-President . . T. E. HurroxN,
Second Viee-President . s, C. V. R. BERDAN,
Seeretary ....ooiviinn . Mes. A, P, Crourkn,
Treasurer .....cocvvevenenininoeasenss. MRS Fo Ko MATTHEWS,

. R M, WINANS,

The membership consists of 220 mothers and women of the Village.

Social Service Association

The Social Service Association, originally called the Relief Society
of Ridgewood, was formed as the result of the co-operation of Mrs.
H. II. Palmer, Mrs. S. D. Graydon and Mr. . . Knothe. Mrs. Palmer
had been aetive in relieving suffering in Midland Park and Wortendyke
and Mrs. Graydon had been ecaring for needy familics in the Village.
While doing this work they conferred with Mr. Knothe, who asked
several men to join him in providing a nurse to investigate and relieve
conditions in Ridgewood. The result was that the Village Improve-
ment Association called a meeting of representatives of all churches
and organizations in Ridgewood and the Relief Society was formed on
February 24, 1909.

As the constitution states, the objects were:

1. To foster harmonious co-operation among the various religious and
benevolent organizations of Ridgewood and vieinity and to avoid the
overlapping of relief work.

To investigate all applications for relief, to dispense adequate relief
for suitable cases and to procure work for needy persons.

To repress mendicancy.

To promote the general welfare of the poor by social and sanitary
reform and the inculcation of habits of providence and self-de-
pendence.

Every department of the society’s work is ecompletely severed from
all questions of religious belief, politics, and nationality.
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The first officers were:

Pregident oo ocoiiiiinee e e Mg, FL LD Kxorue,
First Viee-Pregident .......cooviiiiinen Mus. DE L. BeRER,
Second Viee-Pregident . ....ooviveniinnns Mnrs, R, WORTENDYKE,
Seerelary o.o..oov i, Mus. R, W, ITAWES,
Treasurer ...ttt Mrs. A, C. BROOKES.

In 1912, the work of the soeciety warranted the help of a trained
social worker for part time, and the Board of Edueation engaged the
same worker for part time as school murse. Later each organization
secured a worker of its own.

On May 6, 1913, the Relief Society was incorporated under the
name of Social Service Association.

In May, 1916, there were 429 members,

Yillage Christmas Tree Associalion

The first Village Christmas Tree was held at the home of Mis. A.
E. Tolkamp on East Ridgewood Avenue, Christmas, 1909, at which
time she and her daughter, Mrs. W. H, Haddon, having conceived the
idea, provided gifts for a few worthy children, about ten in number.
A like celebration was held the following year, the number of children
increasing to about twenty. In 1911 the number having grown too
great to be accommodated at their home, a number of ladies were inter-
ested and Prospect Hall was secured for the festivitics.

The following year the entire matter was assumed by the Village
Christmas Tree Association of Ridgewood, which had been formed with
the following officers:

President ............... .0 . 0iiiiien, Mus, B, T, Waite,
Vice-President ... MRS D0 AL GARBER,
Seeretary-Treasurer ... .. il Mis. B, S, BROWER,

The assoeiation now consists of about 35 members, embracing every
church and seetion of Ridgewood.

The recipients, now numbering about 200 children, arve barred by
neither ereed nor color. The work is earried on entively through the
gencrosity of the Ridgewood people and the cenergy and tireless work
of the members of the assoeiation.

Upper Ridgewood Associalion

In 1910 when a number of newecomers settled in Upper Ridgewood,
they, together with a few old residents in the neighborhood, organized
what is now the Upper Ridgewood Assoeiation to which every resident
of Upper Ridgewood and Wastena Pavk is eligible. - The objeet of the
association was to improve that new residential seetion of Ridgewood.
Mecetings were held with frequeney whenever the wants of the com-
munity demanded them and everyone contributed his efforts for the
general welfare,

The first officers of the association were:

Pregident .....ooooviiiiiiiiii i Lotis CUABLE,

Vice-President .. .. . .CHARLES FAIRCHILD,
Secretary-Treasurer JouIN KOLMAR,
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Federated Men’s Club

The Federated Men’s Club of the churches of Ridgewood was or-
ganized September 27, 1910, by the following delegates:—Rev. C. P.
Pearson, C. 8. Chapman, G. W. Martin, L. Wardell, A. E. Tolkamp,
W. J. Dowling, J. W. Boylston, W. C. Zabriskie, Dr. W. T. Whitney,
T. J. Foster, Rev. C. 0. Wright and G. A. Schaible.

The following officers were eleeted:

President ................. .. i, T, J. Fostes,
Tice-President .............c..oiiieians ILabLEY Forb,
Secretary ... 11, 8. VINcENT,
Treasurer ..........c.coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn . F. Broacu.,

This organization has a long list of good dceds accomplished to
its credit, some of which include practical attempts to better the con-
dition of the colored population of our Village, and advocating the
use of school buildings for civie, social, and educational purposes after
school hours.

The organization has also been instrumental in establishing and
maintaining a eamp for boys from the slums of New York where they
can have at least two weeks of life in the open. Mr, C. S. Chapman
labored faithfully and efficiently for three years as chairman of the
committee who had this ecamp in charge and Mr. W, U, Green has had
charge of it for two years and greatly cnlarged the work which has
the support of all the people of Ridgewood.

This organization has ever been ready to lend a helping hand to
those in distress and has labored diligently to curtail the liquor traffie
evil, to foster the Big Brother movement, to complete a card index of
the religious standing of the people of our town—and, in faet, have
tried to do what they could to make our town a better place to live in.

The Ridgewood Chapler of the American Nalional Red Cross

During 1898 the Village Improvement Assoeiation undertook to
conduet during the summer Red Cross work and provided many arti-
cles for the sick and wounded, but it was not until August 16, 1916,
that a Ridgewood Chapter of this national institution was organized
through the efforts of the Ridgewood Branch of the National Sceurity
League.

The original officers were:

President .............. ... Mg. J. H. DyxsiNg,
Tice-President .. ......cooviiniiiiiennns Mrs, €, H. Eoby,
Secret@ry ... Mgs. T, J, FoSTER,
Treasurer ........iiviin it Mg. W, H. IIENDRICKSON.,

The officers, with the following, constituted the Exceutive Commit-
tee:—Mrs. J. L. Averill, Mrs. H. C. Christianson, Mrs. W. D. Ferres,
Mr. W. E. Remington, and Mr. G. N. Oreutt.

During the summer of 1916, the Surgical Dressing Committee, under
Mrs. J. L. Averill, made 915 yards of gauze and muslin and 23 pounds
of cotton into bandages.

There are 21 active members, 1 sustaining member and 1 life member.

PusLisaER’s Note: The remarkable result of this chapter in in-
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creasing ils membership in the early part of the year 1917 1o over 2,000,
or 28 per cent. of the population of the Village, placed Rcdgowood as
lolding the record for the most successful compaign for Red Cross
members ever held in any city or town in the United States.

SCHOOL ASSOCIATIONS

To indieate the interest the people of Ridgewood have in the schools
and welfare of their children in their educational pursuits, mention
may be made of the pavents’ and teachers’ associations which co-operate
with the schools. The fact is noteworthy that this co-operation results
in better work on the part of the student and a greater understanding
on the part of the parents and tecachers.

Alumni Associution of the Ridgewood High School, Ridgewood, N. J.

Although inferest in an Alumni Association was first aroused in
1902, it was not until June, 1911, that such an association was organ-
ized. At that time Everett Shutts was eleeted President, Edgar Wand-
less, Vice-President and Secretary, and Miss Grace E. Jones, Treasurer.

At a re-organization meeting held in September, 1916, a constitution
and incorporation papers were aceepted and a Board of Trustees was
elected.

On Deeember 28, 1916, the association was duly incorporated and
a Board of Trustees was chosen. Membership in the association con-
sists of :

1. Regular graduates of the Ridgewood High School.

2. Students who have left high school after having completed at least
two ycars’ study and who make application for membership to the
association secretary.

3. Honorary members who may be eleeted by a two-thirds vote of the
active members of the assoeiation.

4. Members of the High School Faculty and Board of Eduecation who
are honorary members as long as they are actively conneeted with
the high school.

The general purpose of the association is to promote and stimulate
an active interest in and among the members in all that pertains to
the welfare and progress of the alumni and the high school body gen-
crally. The definite aim is to establish a scholarship for that member
of the senior class of the Ridgewood High School who, in the opinion
of the committee, deserves it most and who has fulfilled certain condi-
tions specified by the Alumni Association.

Kenilworth Parents, and Teachers’ Association

The Kenilworth Parents, and Teachers’ Association was organized
on February 12, 1912, At that time the following were clected officers:

President .......... . . . i, M. E. O. GROVER,
Vice-President ........ooviiiiiiiiienns Mgs. G. H, NICKERSON,
Neeretry .ot n i e Mrs. D. W. Boyn,
Treasurer .........coiiiiiiiiiieniiieeas Mr. C. WoobwoRTH,

The object of the association is to provide facilities for bringing the
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teachers and parents into a closer relationship, to secure more perfect
co-operation in advancing the moral, intellectual and physieal welfare
of the pupils and in furthering the eause of education in the commun-
ity. The association has a membership of 67.

Monroe Home and School Association

The Monroe Home and School Association was organized in Novem-
ber, 1915, when the following officers were cleeted:

Pregident ...ttt J. J. GLYNYN,
Vice-President «....oovereneinineneiainns DaNI1EL R. Bacoxw,
Sceretary-Treasurer ......ccccviiiiunnenn Miss ELIZABETH STURGESS,

The association has grown to a membership of 170 and has as its
object the eo-operation of the pavents with the teachers and the school
for the welfare of the children.

Citizens’ High School Association

On Deec¢mber 15, 1915, a committee of 150 citizens was organized
at the high school and was known as the Citizens’ High Sehool Com-
mittee. The following officers were clected :

Clhairman ........ovvvivvinvinnnninanndd Grorce M, SciiNzEL,
Secretary ......coiviiiveieronnrniiiinnsd EUGENE A, SKEHAN,
Treasurer ... ..ccoeevneeieveiinnecnsonns HARVEY . WHITNEY,

and the following Exccutive Committee: 0. B. Surpless, Frederick
Pfeifer, T. J. Foster, Charles H. Woodman, Clarence Stewart, R. T.
Wilson, W. J. Klug, Harold F. Dana, George . Nickerson, Thomas
P. Connor, C. D. Ireland and B. D. Forster.

Subsequently the committee resolved itself into a permanent or-
ganization and the present membership of more than 450 consists of
the parents of all high school pupils and all residents over eighteen
years of age who desire to join. There are no dues.

The objeets of the association are to bring before the people of
Ridgewood the needs of the public school system in general and the
needs of the high school in particular and to form a medium by which
the teachers may be brought in contaet with the parents of the pupils
for their mutual understanding and benefit.

ANTI-LIQUOR ORGANIZATIONS
Local Oplion League

In 1914, certain men of Ridgewood learned to their great astonish-
ment that all states exeepting New Jersey and Pennsylvania had passed
local option legislation, by which the people through majority home
rule could control the licensing of the saloon. This knowledge pro-
voked inquiry as to whether this condition was the will of the people
of New Jersey or whether it was the result of the vote having been
scientifically controlled against them.

In that year a petition signed by 2,000 voters of Bergen County was
presented by a delegation of Ridgewood men to their assemblymen,
praying for their affirmative vote on a Local Option Bill about to come
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up in the Assembly. Each of the three Bergen County assemblymen
replied that he would vote as his constituents wanted him to. As not
one of them recorded his vote in favor of the bill, it became apparent
that the people would have to make their will known before the pri-
maries and eclection, rather than 1o waste time and effort in attempting
to do so afterward.

The subject then heeame a malter of votes, the all-potent factor in
polities. Ridgewood citizens forthwith organized the Bergen County
Loeal Option League—Ridgewocod Branch, with the usual officers, an
exeeutive committee of 17 and a gencral committee of 100. The fore-
most citizens of the Village lined up behind the movement. The matter
was carried into other sections of the ecounty and similar leagues were
organized in several municipalities, with working committces and units
in still other sections. The response cverywhere to the movement was
immediate and aggressive.

In due time, representatives of all the leagues were brought together
at a meeting in Ridgewood and a central organization known as the
Bergen County Loeal Option League was formed and shortly afterward
incorporated.

Woman’s Christian Temperance Union

The Woman’s Christian Temperance Union was organized in Ridge-
wood in May, 1915, with the following original officers:

President . ,.ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiienn Mrs, FRANK 1T, VALENTINE,
fecording Sceretary ..o, Mrs, TTENRY W. BAvLIs,
Corresponding Seeretary ................. Mrs. F. L. Balrey,
Treasurer ... it i, Dr. Lyspa E. H. STA¥F,

Mrs, WrLnramw L. Pratr,
Mgs, Fraxg H. WiTE,
Mrs, HERBERT Rawsoy,
Mrs, Cuarres G, WELTI,
Mrs, B. F. DECRER,
Mgs, J. II, Warn.

The organization has for its purpose the abolition of the liquor traf-
fic and its kindred cvils by means of ehureh organizations, public senti-
ment, suffrage, literature, education and training in public schools, and
the press.

There are at present 49 active members, three honorary members
and three well-wishers.

Viee-Presidents . ......................

THE RIDGEWOQOOD MEDICAL SOCIETY

The Ridgewood Medical Society was organized in the fall of 1911
and incorporated under the Laws of the State of New Jersey. Its objeet,
as set forth in the constitution, is ‘‘to advance medieal seicnce, promote
friendly relations among its members, to educate and proteet the public
in preventive medicine and hygiene, and to safeguard the material in-
terests of the profession.

**Every legally registered physician residing and practicing in Ber-
gen County and who is of good moral and professmnal standing shall
be eligible for membership in the society.
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‘‘Regular meetings shall be held on the third Wednesday in each
and every month at 8:45 P.M. at such place as from time to time may.
be determined by the society.’’

From its inception the society has been a success, and its value to
the profession and to the community has been noticeable. At each
meeting some inferesting scientifie topie has been discussed, many times
by men from neighboring towns and cities who have presented papers
and lectures, this being followed by light vefreshments and general
round table talk and social intercourse.

Under the able administration of its officers, the first President
being Dr. W. L. Vroom; Secretary, Dr. W. C. Craig; and Treasurer,
Dr. George M. Ockford; and on through successive administrations,
the society has grown and developed, its membership including all the
physicians in Ridgewood, Ho-Ho-Kus, Waldwick, Allendale, Midland
Park, and Wyckoff.

ORGANIZATIONS FOR YOUNG MEN

Although Ridgewood is not a place where cvil flaunts itself, it,
nevertheless, takes the precaution of proteeting its young men. The
two most excellent institutions of their kind in the country have
branches in Ridgewood. The Young Men’s Christian Association and
the léoy Secouts of America arc indeed organizations of which to be
proud.

The Young Men’s Christian Association

The Young Men’s Christian Association, having as its objective,
the spiritual, social, mental, and physical welfare of men and boys,
takes up its work where everything else leaves off and utilizes leisure
hours, unemployed time, and idle hands. Its work is mostly acecom-
plished in the afternoons and evenings when the schools and business
places are closed.

The Ridgewood Association is wieclding a wonderful influence not
only in our own village and county, but also throughout the whole
state and is one of its strongest organizations.

It was founded in 1902 with a few members. Judge Cornelius
Doremus served as its first President during 1902 and 1903, and until
1906 the association occupied space in the Old Town Iall (Opera
House).

The Association has grown steadily, until it has attained, during
the past four years, to the position of first rank in the State of New
Jersey, in proportion to population, having at the present time 569
members, 254 of whom are between the ages of 12 and 18 years, known
as juniors and intermediates.

The most notable advancement has been in the Religions Depart-
ment and fully 80 per cent., of the boy membership, is enrolled in the
Bible study classes. Of the 73 members taking the international Bible
examination in 1916-17, all passed with an average of 95 per cent.
and 13 passed with 100 per cent. This remarkable showing places our
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association as first in New Jersey and seventh in the United States in
Bible study.

The present building, crected on Oak Street in 1906, is 65 by 90
feet and with the athletic field oceupying a space 225 by 500 feet lends
to the various activitics and serves to produce effective work in all
departments. The total property investment is $32,500 frec of all debt.

The Jewell system of puvifying the 20,000 gallons of water every
24 hours is a great attraction the year round and is in constant use,
as it insures an absolutely clear swimming pool for the members and
their friends. Aside from this great attraction are two howling alleys
where unusually high scorves are rolled, the gymnasium of liberal di-
mensions, the pool and billiard tables, the chess and checker hoards,
the reading room with 37 weekly and monthly magazines, and the new
library with a few hundred volumes.

The athletic ficld has a most execllent baseball diamond, two tennis
courts, and an eight-lap track, where the games of many of the organi-
zations in town are held. This inereases the uscfulness of the Y. M. C. A.
and makes it a community affair.

Early in May of cach year the baseball team takes up the summer
activities and with its weekly attraction presents most excellent enter-
tainment to the people of Ridgewood and vieinity. Fully 5,000 attended
the games during the 1916 season. The Y. M. C. A. team is strictly
amateunr, but plays the strongest semi-professional teams. Tts best year
was 1916, when it won 15 games, tied one, and lost four.

Boy Scouls of America

A branch of the Boy Scouts of Ameriea was organized in Ridgewood
in 1910. The original officers were:

President ............... eesiraieanaen R. L. Rog,
Vice-President ....................cuuue F. F, KNoTHlE,
Secretary-Treasurcr .........covveievenns G. A. SCHAIBLE,
Commisgioner ..........coeiuvvvvreennn.l E. B. Livy.

Through the kindness of the Young Men’s Christian Association
the scout work was started in their building. As the membership in-
ereased more room was needed and in May, 1916, the Boy Scout organ-
ization moved to its present headquarters in the basement of the Re-
formed Chureh, the use of which was kindly granted by the consistory.
Through the generosity of their many friends, the scouts were enabled
to secure proper equipment to carry on the splendid work in a much
larger way.

The 70 scouts composing the organization are divided into three
troops, each under the leadership of a capable secout master. Each seout
is graded according to his accomplishments as tenderfoot, seecond class,
and first class scouts.

The object of the organization is to develop the boys morally, men-
tally, and physically. The adherence by the boys to the secout oath and
scout law are ways in which the objective is attained.
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COMMERCIAL ORGANIZATIONS
The Board of Trade

The Board of Trade of the Village of Ridgewood was organized in
1904 with James W. Pearsall, President; Henry L. Patterson, Judge
Cornelius Doremus and Peter G. Zabriskie, Vice-Presidents; W. J.
Fullerton, Treasurer; Walter W. Wilsey, Recording Secretary; and
W. L. Dooley, Corresponding Seeretary.

The Publicity Department of the Board of Trade in 1905, first
under the direction of M. T. Richardson and later under Collingwood
Gordon, inaugurated one of the first eampaigns conducted in the New
York newspapers by a New York suburb. In this connection an at-
tractive illustrated booklet, written by Henry P. Phelps, went through
three editions and was distributed to ahout 15,000 people.

As a result of a suggestion of one of its members, I. E. Hutton, a
movement was started in 1906 to seenre for the Village the property
now forming the cast Plaza which, with property acquired by the Eric
Railroad on the west of the railroad. enabled Ridgewood to pave the
way for the handsome new station improvements which were seeured
during the administration of the present Mayor, the Hon. D. A, Garber.

Charles Mulford Robinson, a recognized expert in town planning,
was engaged to make a personal inspeetion of Ridgewood and to sug-
gest a system of public improvements, His report was published by
the Board of Trade in 1908. This organization disbanded several
vears ago.

Business Men’s Association of Ridgewood

The Business Men’s Association of Ridgewood was organized on
November 6, 1916, by the following officers :

Pregident ... .o i i Grorae R, Yousa,
Vice-President ..o ... 1. E, Hurrow,
Trea8UICr ....ovvivuiviinrininocnnenenss HerveEY TERHUNE,
Recording Sceretary ..o oo . €. Vax Funureu,

This association, which will be incorporated as soon as the necessary
papers arc filed, was formed to promote friendly business relations
between the business men and the publie; and in a broad sense, to use
its influence in any and every way to help develop and advanee the
best interests of Ridgewood and its people.

The membership has not yot been completed but it is estimated that
there will he about 100 members.
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CHAPTER IX
BURIAL PLACES
PARAMUS CHURCHYARD

HE oldest burial place in Ridgewood is that adjoining the Paramus
Chureh, the ground for which was given to the consistory of the
church by Peter Fauconier in 1730. It is not known when the first
burial oceurred here, though the earliest edifice having been completed
in 1735 renders it probable that interments took place soon after. Many
of the memorial slabs bear the marks of age and many of the inseriptions
are nearly obliterated. It is here that many of the earlier settlers as
well as patriots of the Revolutionary War are buried.

VALLEAU CEMETERY

The Valleau Cemetery occupies a plot of ground opposite the Par-
amus Church extending back from the Saddle River and is interseeted
by Harrison Avenue, Franklin Turnpike and the West Saddle River
Road. The only part of it which has been used up to the present time
is the sccetion bounded by Harrison Avenue and Franklin Turnpike.

With the exception of a small scetion purchased from David G.
Ackerman, the land embraeed in the eemetery was given to the Con-
sistory of the Reformed Church of Paramus in 1750 by Magdalen
Valleau, daughter of Peter Faueonicr, in whose honor it is named.
At this time an exchange of land with John Ackerman beeame ncees-
sary to determine definitely its boundaries.

The cemetery was incorporated in 1859 and in November of that
year rules and regulations affecting its management were adopted, to
which the eommittee made additions in December of the same year.
It is now one of the most beautifully appointed burial places in the
county and its monuments and ecarcfully maintained grounds hear
witness to the tender memories clustering around it.

TRUE REFORMED CHURCH CEMETERY

On the corner of Ridgewood and South Pleasant Avenues and in
the rear of the edifice of the Kenilworth Presbyterian Church is located
the eemetery of the Truc Reformed Chureh, which was establislied by
that society on a portion of the land donated to it by David Van Bus-
kirk about the time of the building of their edifice in 1858. Since that
time, however, the edifice has been sold to the Kenilworth Presbyterian
Chureh, its present occupants.

Since its establishment the burial place has heen used as a place
of interment by many of the oldest families of the township.
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CHAPTER X
SUMMARIZED FACTS, STATISTICS AND CHRONOLOGY

Average altitude ... 2
Distance from New York . .
Trains between New York and Rulgu\uod
Monthly commutation to New York: $7.75 or 00587

Estimnted number of commuters t0 New York ..ovueueeeerrerniinaeeeienen. 1100
Newspapers, Weekly ..ooounuiuin it e 2
Number of telephones in service December LW oo e 2236
Church organizations ....... e e ey cevees 13
Schools (ineluding High) ... [\
Schools in construction (High) 1
Schools (Private) e 2
Public Library ... e i e e s 1
Hospital, complete (Private) 1
11T 1] 2
Building Loan Awsncmtmns ............................................... 3
Y. M. G. A. (Completely equipped and free from debt) .................... 1
Arenof Village ... 5.6 square miles or 3630 acres
STREETS
Village—Improved by macadam or brick ... il 20.14 nulus
Vi lllng(—Ummprovml
County Roads .............. .
Private . ..o e e e e
0 ) N ]
1880 ... e, . 500 1905 i 3980
I8 1047 WIO e 5416
oo . 2085 IG5 ... 0729
NEW HOMES
Average Average
per year per year
1875 to 1883 ............ 2to03 1007 to IN1Y ... ... .. L, 100
1885 to 1805 ............ 8 to 10 1912 to 1915 ...l 35
1803 to 1806 ............ 10 to 20 16 oo 50
TOTAL PROPERTY VALUATION
Year T.and BuildIngs Personal  Automaobiles Total
1907 ............ $1.258.285 £1,038,275 $324976  ...... $3.521,535
1.4901,126 2,535,600 354,750  ...... 4,381.376
2,157,551 2,892,625 434,800 5,784,876
2,720,776 3,276,225 477,876 . .. 6,482,877
2.847,100 3,614,425 493,541 ...... 6,855,066
3, IIZ,SFA‘ 3,773,025 553,903  ...... 7,439,873

4,060,175 511,807 $102.350 8,028,872

8! 4,274,525 526.073 108,700 8,286,566
3.316,305 4,418,250 586,845 149,825 8,517,300
3,302,700 4,520,000 614,842 165,610 8,602,712
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The taxable property in the Township of Ridgewood in 1876, the first year as
such, was as follows:

Amount taxable to vesidents of the Township............ . $008,710

Amount taxable to noun-residents of the Township ........ 175.250

Total o $783,060
Number of polls «....oiiiiiiiiiiii i, 303
Number of dogs ....oiiiiiiiiiiii i 156

Amounts to be raised in the Township:

State General Tax ..o oo $1,235.07
County Tax ........ [ 2,165.35
Bonded Debt and Tuterest .., 1,420,13
State Seliool TN L ov i i e e 1,616.51
Poor TaX ..ot s 403.89
Rond X i e e, 1,000.00
Township Lo 200.00

Total ... e e $8,049.95

Im addition to the above, the School Districts voted to raise a Special School
Tax, ag follows:

District No. 61—Wlholly within the Township ............ $1,600.00
District No. 45—For the part in Ridgewood Township..... 270.58
Distriet No. 26—Tor the part in Ridgewood Township..... 8.14

Total Special Tax voted by District on property in
Ridgewood Township ...... e e $1,884.72

DERIVATION OF LOCAL NAMES

RIDGEWOOD—Adopted becnuse of its appropriateness, in 1866, at the suggestion
of Mrs. Cornelin Dayton.

BERGEN—Probably from “Bergen op Zoom.” an important town in Ilolland.

GODWINVILLE~From Abraham Godwin, of Revolutionary memory.

HO-HO-KUS—One source says from Indian word meaning “cleft in the rock”:
another authority, from Indian word Mechokhokus, “red cedar.”

HOPPERTOWN—The former name of o-Ho-Kus, from the fact of its early settle-
ment by the Hopper Family.

PARAMUS—From Indinn, Peremessing, beeause of the abundance of wild turkeys.
First white settlers ealled it “Peremesse.”

SADDLE RIVER—Probably from Richard Saddler. n purchaser of lands from
the Indiuns in 1674.

A CHRONOLOGY OF THE VILLAGE OF RIDGEWOOD

1662—The land in the Paramus scction of Ridgewood was purchased from the
Indians by Albert Zabrowski or Saboraweski.

1682—Provinee of New Jersey divided into counties—Ridgewood then purt of Essex.

1687—A grant of land was made by the Lords of the Province to Sumuel Kingsland,
of five hundred acres, in which is now Ridgewood, between the Ho-Ho-Kus
Brook and Saddle River and a portion extending westerly to the Teights.

1606~ The sale of the same tract of land was made to Peter Johnson for thirty-two
pounds and ten shillings.

1698—The same tract of land came in possession of Johann Van Emburgh,

1700—The first house was built by Jolann Van Emburgh near Maple Avenue and
was demolished about 1805,

1709—DBoundaries of counties changed, Ridgewood becoming part of Bergen, town-
ship of Barbadoes,

1725—"The Paramus Church eongregation commenced worship in 1725 or carlier.

1730—First sehool established in Paramus section. ’
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1736—Paramus Church was ereeted on land donated by Peter Fauconier, In ex-
change be received in perpetuity two sittings. The building was used
during the Revolution as & hospital and prison. The present building was
erected during the year 1800 and remodelled in 1875,
1750—Magdalen Vallenu gave land for the Valiean Cemetery opposite the Paramus
Chureh.
1767—Franklin Township, coutaining Ridgewood, set off from Barbadoes Township.
1770—A schoollouse was erected at the junction of IImrristown and Rock roads,
just south of the Garret I. Hopper residence, now used as a dwelling and
within the present limits of Glen Rock. .
1775—John Fell, of Paramus, elected Chnirman of Bergen County Committee of
Safety,
ITTG—\Vushiniton encamped at Paramus after his victory at Mowmouth, and later
in the year, Again at Paramus during 1780,
Genernl Heath encamped at Parnmus,
General George Clinton encamped at Paramus; also in 1777.
1777—Colonel MeClanghey encumped at Paramus,
Colonel Aaron Burr achieved first military suecess near Paramus.
1779—Major Henry Lee—FHeadguarters at Paramus,
Washington army cantoned during August from Fort Defiance to Paramus.
1780—Lord Stirling—Headquarters at Paramus.
Attack on Hackensack and Paramus by British, who returned to New York
City with about fifty prisoners, mostly citizens and members of the
militia,
1785-——A schoolhouse was built at the Paramus Church., It was rebuilt in 1810,
1820, 1845, and 1871, and was discontinued in 1905,
1800—First grist mill built.
1818—The present oldest citizen, John B, Van Dien, was born in Ridgewood.
1823—The Kenilworth Colleginte Church was organized as the True Reformed
Duteh Church of Paramus. Present building erected in 1858. In 1870,
reorganized as Kenilworth Church, and changed to the Presbyterian
denomination in 1898,
1820—Loeality afterwnard known as Godwinville—named in honor of Abraham
Godwin, of Revolutionary memory, The oldest rond in Ridgewooed, and
associnted with the historic days of the Revolution, wus known as the
Godwinville Road, It is now called Ridgewood and Godwin Avenues,
1840—Center of present site of Ridgewood only contanined one house.
1848—The Erie Railroad, then known as Paterson and Ramapo Railroad, opened
through Ridgewood.
1850—TFirst store started about this time near the station by Albert Hopper—nenr
where the Hutton Building now stands,
1853—Captain Samuel Dayton purchased the Van Emburgh Estate, comprising a
large part of Ridgewood, and started the first development and sale of
plots. Other purchasers during the same year were Samuel Graydon and
B. ¥. Robinson.
The Van Emburgh, Hopper and Westervelt properties included almost the
entire ground of the present Ridgewood.
1850—Virst railrond station built by the residents and known as Godwinville,
1860—First shade tree planting along Village Ilighways by Captain Samuel Dayton,
Samuel Geaydon, A. T. Cameron, A. J. Zabriskie, Richard Van Dien and
B. ¥. Robinson on their Maple Avenue properties.
Christ Chureh was organized.  Cornerstone Iaid in 1865 on Van Dien Avenue.
1873 the bnilding was removed to Franklin Avenue and Cottage Place.
Present building completed in 1900,
1501—01d Glory waved on Paramus Church until close of Civil War,
1862—Citizens of vieinity left for Federal Service with 22nd Regiment, New Jersey
Infantry. Returned in 1863 after nine months’ service,
1865—TFirst Postmaster was Benjamin F. Robinson, with a salary of $10.00 per
yenr. Present site established in 1912,
18#6—The Birth of Ridgewood. Present name adopted because of its appropriate-
ness at suggestion of Cornelia (Mrs. Willinm) Dayton,
First Village sireets laid out.
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1867—First dwelling crected, after strects laid out, by T. V. Terhune on Oak Strect,

First private school established by Frederick Kidder in house now owned by

M. T. Richardson on North Van Dien Avenue.
ISOS—Axgelia. Barr, the authoress, established private school on North Van Dien
venue.
1869—TFidelity Lodge, Free and Accepted Masons, organized.
1870—Present Ridgewood Housc hotel established by J. W. Halsted.
1872—Franklin House hotel cstablished on present site of Ridgewood News. De-
stroyed by fire of 1881 and never rebuilt,

A brick schoolhouse erceted on Union Street. This school building was the
only school in center of Ridgewood until Beech Strect building was com-
pleted in 1805. It was then abandened as a school and rented, first to the
Methodist Church and then to the Colored Church. It was torn down in
1003 to make place for the present school building.

1874—Ridgewood Avenue House established. In 1876 destroyed Ly fire and rebuilt
same year. In 1893 remodeled and present nume—Roueclere House—adopted.

1875—First Reformed Church established, Building completed in 1877.

Extensive additions have been made in 1890, 1900 and 1914,

First and only pastor to the present time—Rev. J. A. Van Neste.
1876—Ridgewood Township set off from Franklin Township.
1877—Private school established by Miss Rebecea W. Iawes,
1878—-Dr. John T. De Mund first physician to practice in now the Village of Ridge-

wood.
1880—Tirst organized tree planting on highways, ‘frees were given by I. W. England
and set out under the direction of B. F, Robinson and J. W, Edwards.
1882—TVirst telephone subscriber was Garret Van Dien, then Postmaster, at 211 West
Ridgewood Avenue.
‘The African M. E. Church established. First building erceted in 1885, Present
building erected in 1907.
1884—Judge David D. Zabrigkie first lawyer to practice in Ridgewood.
1885~~Ridgewood Building and Loan Associntion organized.
1888—\Vells Fargo Express office established. First macadamized roads were built.
1889—DParish of the Church of our Lady of Mount Carmel established. First build-
ing erccted in 1800—present building completed in 1915,
Opera House (Town Hall) completed.
First newspaper established by Wm, J, Tonkin—1'he Ridgeicood News.
1801—Emmanuel Baptist Chureh organized. First church structure dedicated in
1892 and present one in 1012,
Co-operative Building and Loan Associntion organized.
Village Inn constructed and opencd.
1802—Police Department established.
Democratie Club organized.
1893—Ridgewood Club organized.
Electric light was introduced.
1804—Village of Ridgewood incorporated, at which time Glen Rock and Midland
Park, previously part of Ridgewood, became separate boroughs.
Dr. Walter Van Emburgh first dentist to practice in the Village.
1895—Parantus Valley Council, Royal Areanum, organized.
The Unitarian Society organized.
Board of Health established and duties perfurmed by Villnge I'rustees. .
Historieal displny in Ridgewood under auspices of Bergen County 1listorieal
Society.
Beech Street 1Tigh School Building opened. :
Methodist Church founded. Building erected in 1900,
1806-—Vire Department organized as Pretection ook and Ladder Company No. 1,
with Dr. Waller Van Emburgh as Chief.
1807—Village Improvement Associntion organized.
Present system of garbage collection established by Village Improvement
Associntion and taken over by Village T'rustees in 1903,
Junior Order United American Mechnnies organized,
Public Library established by Village Improvement Association.
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1898—White Star Club organized, later becoming the Town Club.
A seeond newspaper—T7he Ridgewood Record—established by L. N, Taft, later
succeeded by The Ridgecood Herald.
1800—TFirst Nationnl Bank opened.
First issue of Ridgecicood Herald,
100—Publie Water Supply, Gas, and Gamewell Fire Alarm System were installed.
Ramapo Valley Chapter, Daughters of The Revolution, organized.
Last fire of a disastrous character.
Eagle Hose Company, No. 1, organized. Later changed to Hose Company No. 1.
Practice established of placing signs on houses containing contagious disenses.
1901—Ridgewocod Golf Club organized; later merged with Ridgewood Country Club.
I'rees planted by ecitizens on Franklin, Godwin, and Ridgewood Avenues,
through ciforts of Villuge Improvement Association.
1902—Y, M. C. A, was founded. Present building erected in 1006 and entirely
clear of debt in 1916,
Woman’s Auxiliary, Y. M. C. A, organized.
Private School established by James B. Parsons.
Part of Orvil Township added to northeastern portion of Ridgewond.
1903—Sewerage System installed,
Mail delivery by carriers was commenced wilh three earriers,
Old Unjon Street School Building demolished and & new one erected amd
occupied in 1905,
Paramus Valiey Photographic Associntion organized,
First Church of Christ Scientist organized. Building dedicated in 1912,
104—~Board of Trade organized.
Ridgewood Branch National Association of Letter Carriers organized.
1905~—DBethichem Lutheran Church inaugurated.
Mount Bethel Baptist (Colored) Church organized.
Four-reom school buildings erected and occupied on Kenilworth Place, Union
and Monroe Streets.
1906~~Ridgewood Trust Company opened.
First Board of Health appointed.
1007—Glen Rock Puilding & Loan Associntion organized.
1008—The Arrow, n periodical of the Ridgewood High School, established.
1909—The Editor magazine moved to Ridgewood,
Ridgewood Chapter, Order of Eastern Star, organized.
Village Shade “I'ree Commission established.
Relief Sociely wns organized. In 1013 name changed to Socinl Service Asso-
cintion,
Third District Court opened by Judge Cornelins Doremus,
Orpheus Club organized.
Woman’s Club established. Federated in 1910 and incorporated in 1014,
1910—Upper Ridgewood Association organized.
Linwood Park dedieated on Arbor Day and marked the beginning of a Park
System.
Renilworth and Monroe Street Schools were cach enlarged from four to nine
rooms,
North Jersey Rapid Transit Company trolley road was opened.
First celebration of the 4th of July was held by the Tndependence Day Asso-
ciation,
Voters’ League organized.
Ridgewood Country Club organized.
Branch of Boy Scouts of Amerien organized.
The Federated Men’s Club of the Churches of Ridgewood organized,
1911—Conumission Government established.
Alumni Association, Ridgewood High School, organized.
Ridgewood Meadienl Society organized.
Court Midland Park, Foresters of Ameriea, organized,
Woodrow Wilson, then Governor of New Jersey, addressed citizens during
political campaign,
Daniel A. Garber elected first Mayor.
ITarrison Avenue School completed,
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Municipal Building erected.

Ridgewood Country Club amd Ridgewood Golf Club consolidated under the
name of former.

1912—The Cecilin Socicty organized.

Kenilworth Parents and Tenchers' Associntion organized,

Woman’s Club of Upper Ridgewonod organized.

Republiean Club organized.

Junior Auxilinry, Daughters of the Revolution organized. In 1913 name of
Lenclope von Princips Chapter, Junjor Sons and Daughters of the Revolu-
tion, adopted and changed in 1914 to Theodosia Durr Chapter.

Upper Ridgewood Primary School started.

White Star Athletic Club name changed to Town (lub,

West Side Colleginte Church organized, Present building erected in 1013, with
an additional wing in 1915,

Ridgewood entertained on May 25th a DPresident of the United States, for the
first time in its histoy, in the person of President Williwm IHoward Taft.

Present Post Office Building erected and occupied.

1913—Upper Ridgewond Community Chureh Society organized.

College Club (Woman) organized.

Woman's Political Union organized. In 191G absorbed by the Woman's Suf-
frage Association.

Citizens and Taxpayers’ Associntion organized.

New High Sclhool site and Athletic Field—Ieermance Place and Ridgewood
Avenue, was purchased.

Three portable school houses were placed on Beeeh Street school grounds.

Paramus Chapter, New Jersey Society, Sons of the American Revolution
organized.

West Side Collegiate Church dedicated.

Company L, 5th Regiment, N. G., N, J., formed.

Osman Building completed.

Ridgewood Country (lub House opened.

Town Club moved to new quarters formerly ocenpied by Ridgewood Golf Club,

Play House opened.

Opera House rehabilitated.

Police dogs introduced by Police Department.

1914—Ridgewood Council. Knights of Columbus, organized.

Local Option League organized,

Old elm at Ho-Ho-Kus marked by Ramapo Valley Chapter, D. R., as a route
of Washington's Army.

Tablet placed by New Jersey Society, S, .\ R., in conjunction with Paramus
Chapter No. G on Paramus Church to commemorate events of the Revolu-
tionary War conneeted with its history.

Garden Club of Ridgewond organized.

League for Creative Work organize

Recorder’s Court established.

Wilsey Building completed,

Reformed Church Tlouse completed and dedieated.

East Side Auto Bus Line established,

Public Serviee Railway Company’s trolley line to Paterson opened.

Fidelity Lodge, Free and Accepted Masons purchased old Town Club quarters.

1915—~Citizens’ dinner to members of G, A, R—50th Anmniversary of comenting of
peace between North and South.

Monroe Home and School Association organized,

Woman’s Christian Temperance Union orgnnized.

Ridgewood Rifle CTub organized.

Portion of northwestern part of Ridgewood nnnexed to Orvil Fownship.

Contract awarded for new station and surrounding improvements.

Maple Avenue improved—new Amasite roadway, Glen Rock to Ho-Ho-Kus.

Church of Our Lady of Mount Carmel, new building completed, Prospect and
Ifndson Streets.

1916—"Terhune’s and Jackson’s West Side Auto Bus Lines established,
Community Christmas Featival established.
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Citizens’ lligh School Association organized.

Vietoria School for Little Children established by Miss Vivia Vietorin and
named in memory of her mother, Metta Victoria Vietor, the authoress.

The Ridgeiwoud Thites established by J. Douglus Gessford.

Transcontinental Telephone Demonstration over lines of the American Tele-
phone & Telegraph Company between Ridgewood, San Francisco and Pase-
dena, Californin, The first time in history that oflicials of the Musonie
Order extended verbal greetings to ench other across the Continent.

Semi-Centenninl Association incorporated,

School Board redueed by citizens’ vote to five members,

Prepuredness Mass Meeting by citizens under the auspices of National Security
Lengue,

Day Nursery opened,

Company I, Fifth Regiment, N, G, N, J,, in Federal Service on Mexican
Border, stationed a1, Douglas, Arizona.

Infantile Paralysis Epidemie; Ridgewood afllicted with only one case, not
fatal,

lidgewood Chapter, Ameriean Red Cross, organjzed.

Grade Crossiugs at Ridgewood, Godwin and Franklin Avenues abolished,

New Erie Station, Godwin and Franklin Avenue, underpasses opened to the
publie.

New Upper Ridgewood Seliool completed,

Business Men’s Association organized.

Foderation of Womnn'’s Clubs of New Jersey held semi-annual meeting in
Ridgewood under the auspices of the Woman’s Clul of Ridgewood.

Emmanuel Baptist Church celebrated 25th Anniversary.

Ground broken for new Iigh School on Heermance Place.

Old Railrond Station removed from former site to point below Ackerman
Avenue on west bound tracks and turned into freight statjon.

John 1B, Van Dien, Ridgewood’s oldest citizen, celebrated his 98th birthday.

Slogan  adopted by  Semi-Centenninl  Association—TO LIVE—LIVE™ IN
RIDGEWOOD,
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APPENDIX

Semi-Centennial Asgociation

Grorce U. Winite

Grorce F. Brackerr
. J. FostER

BayLy Hirkins
FraNz ScHwARTZ

5. S, WarsTRUM

F. Z. Boanp

J. C. BogaRrT
Joskrn TurRNER

J. H. Curistorner

F. A. Disock
B. G. Smitn
C. C. MiLes
W. 8. Moorg

Mus. E. E. Autey
Mus. C. F. Sueers

Ridgewood, New Jersey

D. A. Garser, Mayor

ADVISORY BOARD

VILLAGE COMMISSIONERS

Dr. Joux B. Horrer

Dewrrr CrLiNton, Ji.

W. J. FuLLertoN -

J. D. Vax Essurcu

OFFICERS

FrepERICK PrEIFER
J. H. Sxyper
H. G. Wuire

CorxeLtus Doremus, Chairman
G. M. Scminzer, Vice-Chairman

WiLsur MoRRris, Secretary
S. 8. WawLstrUM, Treasurer

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Conxgrivs Doremus, Chairman
G. M. Scimszir, Viee-Chairman
Mus. C. H. Epoy
Mes. W. D. Fenrnes
1. W. CasLEn
WiLsur Mounris
Mags. C. M. VamL

PUBLICITY COMMITTEE

H. W, Casrer, Chairman

W. I, Scuminr, Vice-Chnirman
C. H. GreeN

D. R, DUSENBERRY

A, GampLe

W. W. Wisey

MUSIC COMMITTEE

Bevier Ssrri, Chairman
Epyoxp Monrey
Mus, Berrua E. Fritz
Epwanrn T. Wurrs
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S. 8. Warsrrom

R. T, WiLson

E. B, LiLLy
B. D. HiLtoN
H. R. Le Roy

Awngrt I Boyn
Fraxk Kasscnau
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ENTERTAINMENT COMMITTEE
Mpas. C. H. Evoy, Chairman
Ensest M. BuLy 0. B. SurprLEss Lewis R. CongLIN
Mus. A, P. Toreing J. D. Crata Mus. H. H. Hawes
F. V. WatsoN
FINANCE COMMITTEE
F. Z. Boarp, Chairman
. H. Bocanr ALBERT SHUMAN . C. Cunistiansox
W. J. FuLLerrox A. Fraxr HarstED Fraxk M. Srevess
PROGRAM COMMITTEE
Mus, C. M. Var, Chairman
Jons J. Gryss Mus. W, H. StraTTON W. 1. Hexpricksos
Hexny C. Ssurn Du. H. S. WiLLarp
PLAN AND SCOPE COMMITTEE
S. 8. Warstruy, Chairmun
CuanLes K. ALLES Fiaxz ScowaRTz Gronct T. Brackerr
R 1 B TRXEN EH Gronrge N. OrcuTr C. II. Woonmax
RECEPTION COMMITTEE
Mus, W, D. Ferres, Chairman

Evwano Browenr E. J. MvLLER W. 0. DietricH
J. W, Pransa. W. J. Dowuing F. C. Rossixs
T. J. Foste Hanrny G. WuiTE

HISTORICAL COMMITTEE
R. T. Wisoxn, Chairman

Praxk A, Baxren Jupce D. D. Zapriskie Miss ReEBecca W. Hawes
L W, TravELL J. H. Warp EvERETT ZABRISKIE

UTILITY COMMITTEE
J. H. Cuwisropneg, Chairman

C. C. ACKERMAN J. U, Wmite Isaac E. Hurron
Joun McGuiNsEss Cuantes D. SiLLECK Geronge R, Youxg

FIREWORKS COMMITTEE
Josepn Turxer, Chairman

Gronrae Consa J. J. LaNNUIER J. E. MapDEN
K. B. TruonxtoN W. II. Moone

DECORATIONS COMMITTEE
Mus, F, F. Kxotng, Chairman
J. E. Covie R. W. Muxss GEroRGE M. ScHINZEL
Mus, I, H, Wite GEonGe A. STEVENS
TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE

J. C. BogarTt, Chairman

WiLniam R, Boyce SamueL G. Graybox J. Bravvrrr Horrer
Grongk H, STEvENS W. L. Pratr
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Fullerton, W. J
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Garber, D.
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Green, C, H
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Gurney, Edward
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Harrison, A.

Hawes, Miss Rebecen
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Hilton, B

Hipkins, Bayly
Hollister, H, H.
Hopper, Dr. John B,
Hutton, Isaae
Kussehau, Frank
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Kemble, Geo. 1.
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Kuothe, Mrs,
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Nagle,
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Park, H. 8.

Parsons, 1. B.

Pearsall, J. W.
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Reichard, Miss Martha
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Schinzel, G. M.
Schmid, Gus G.
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The Semi-Centennial Songs of Ridgewood

RIDGEWOOD MARCHING ON
Air—"Battle Hymn of the Republic.”

Fifty years have we been waiting for the
coming of this day,
With its joy and pride and glory that shall
never fade away;
For ourselves and for our children have
these blessings come to stay,
While the years go marching on.

Chorus

Glory, glory, hallelujah!
Glory, glory, hallelujuh!
Glory, glory, hallelnjnh!
For Ridgewood's marching on.

God has given us a country that is heau-
tiful and free,
And the bands of steel that bind us,
now from sea to sea,
Muke us brothers of all
that are and are to be—
As the years go marching on,

reaching

nations—thuse

Chorus

Ours the task te keep our freedom in its
purity and might;
Ours to grow in strength and beauty, free
our land from every blight;
Ours to share with weaker brothers every
blessing in our sight,
While the years go marching on.

Chorus

Let our watchword then bhe *Progress™
toward the highest and the best.
Till we rench the goal we start for, let us
never pause to rest,
Living, loving, working, singing, with a
gladness and a zest,
While the years go marching on,

Chorus

Sing we now for dear old Ridgewood, tis
the best town that we know;
Let us work for it and love it, wherever we
may go;
Ever forward, ever onward, ever upward
muy it grow,
As the years go marching on.

Chorus
—Carric E. Fobes,
77 Sunset Avenue.

RIDGEWQOD'S NEW STATION

Air—** Marching Through Georgia.”

Let us sing a joyous song, now the task
is done,
Sing it as we ought to sing it, fifty summers

young;
Sing it so the cchoes shall resound our
homes among,
Ridgewood’s new Station is splendid!

Chorus

Hurrah, Hurrsh, just see what you can see!
Hurrah, Hurrah, it sure looks good to me.
So we join in one nccord—no one can dis-
agree—
Ridgewood is proud of the Erie!

We've got a dandy Station and we've got a
dandy town;
We'll have a dandy Tigh School and the
taxes will come down;
We need a Publie Library to deck our civic
crown,—
Ridgewood is proud of its people!

Chorus

Fifty years ugo to-day we hadn’t much to
hoast;

Our Duteh and Swedish forefathers were
honored at the most;

We never drenmed of bigness that came
on us like a host,

While they were marching to Ridgewood.

Chorus

Truly there are many here who scurce
enn hold their tears
When they sce this “crying need” we've
hungered for for years;
Let us all be unrestrained and greet it with
“three cheers’—
Ridgewood is proud of its Station!

Chorus

How the good old-timers swore the thing
could ne’er be done;
Tlow the newer residents grew wad and
poked their fun!
They little knew the blarney of Virginin's
fuvored son—
Ridgewood is proud of Mayor Garber!

Chorus

—John J. Glynn.
Melrose Place, July, 1016,

173






